

Università degli Studi di Padova

Università degli Studi di Padova

Padua Research Archive - Institutional Repository

Comparative Immunology of Marine Mammals

Original Citation:

Availability: This version is available at: 11577/3318884 since: 2020-01-05T08:36:32Z

Publisher: Frontiers Media S.A.

Published version: DOI: 10.3389/978-2-88963-203-9

Terms of use: Open Access

This article is made available under terms and conditions applicable to Open Access Guidelines, as described at http://www.unipd.it/download/file/fid/55401 (Italian only)

(Article begins on next page)

COMPARATIVE IMMUNOLOGY OF MARINE MAMMALS

EDITED BY: Giovanni Di Guardo, Michael F. Criscitiello, Eva Sierra and Sandro Mazzariol PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology







Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2019 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved. All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use. ISSN 1664-8714

ISBN 978-2-88963-203-9 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-203-9

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

COMPARATIVE IMMUNOLOGY OF MARINE MAMMALS

Topic Editors:

Giovanni Di Guardo, University of Teramo, Italy Michael F. Criscitiello, Texas A&M University, United States of America Eva Sierra, University of Las Palmas de Gran Canaria, Spain Sandro Mazzariol, University of Padova, Italy

Marine mammals (MMs) are regarded as valuable bioindicators with tremendous potential for public health. However, many aspects of their immune system remain poorly understood. Monitoring immune responses of MMs is pivotal for the health assessment of both individuals and populations, as well as providing the scientific basis for analyzing the anthropogenic environmental impact on marine ecosystems and marine-terrestrial interphases. For instance, the increasing susceptibility of Mediterranean whale and dolphin populations to various diseases has been linked to a possible negative influence of multiple environmental factors on the immune system of MMs.

The currently limited knowledge on MM immunology has mainly centered on: (i) lymphocyte transformation assays; (ii) natural killer cell activity; (iii) phagocytic activity and respiratory burst; (iv) humoral immune responses; (v) cytokines and (vi) acute phase immune responses. Therefore, further research is essential for deepening our understanding of the specificity of the host immune response in MMs, with a particular emphasis on the genesis and dynamics of (i) cytokine 'networks' or 'signatures'; (ii) transcriptional regulation of immune cells and (iii) major immunomodulators. High-throughput molecular techniques, such as transcriptomic analysis and RNA sequencing, may enable the characterization of immune gene responses at the transcriptomic level. This integrative and holistic approach requires sophisticated tools and methods capable of unveiling the diversity of immune cells and immunologically relevant molecules that orchestrate environmental adaptation and immune protection against pathogens in MMs.

This Research Topic aims to provide a comprehensive overview of the current knowledge of MM immunology with a particular emphasis on structural and functional studies at the protein and cellular level. We wish to encourage and coordinate studies and investigations in order to fill gaps of knowledge in this field. This article collection aims to help gain more data regarding: a) The characterization of the immune system in several species of MMs, i.e. cetaceans, pinnipeds and sirenians; b) The interplay between the host immune system and the most relevant pathogens, e.g., Morbillivirus, Brucella, Toxoplasma gondii and c) The possible interplay between the immune system and contaminants.

Citation: Di Guardo, G., Criscitiello, M. F., Sierra, E., Mazzariol, S., eds. (2019). Comparative Immunology of Marine Mammals. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-203-9

Table of Contents

- **04** Editorial: Comparative Immunology of Marine Mammals Giovanni Di Guardo, Michael Frederick Criscitiello, Eva Sierra and Sandro Mazzariol
- 07 Cetacean Host-Pathogen Interaction(s): Critical Knowledge Gaps Giovanni Di Guardo, Cinzia Centelleghe and Sandro Mazzariol
- 10 Transcriptional Profiles of California Sea Lion Peripheral NK and CD⁺⁸ T Cells Reflect Ecological Regionalization and Infection by Oncogenic Viruses

Ignacio Peñín, Mónica E. Figueroa-Cabañas, Fabiola Guerrero-de la Rosa, Luis A. Soto-García, Roberto Álvarez-Martínez, Adriana Flores-Morán and Karina Acevedo-Whitehouse

24 Comparative Immunopathology of Cetacean morbillivirus Infection in Free-Ranging Dolphins From Western Mediterranean, Northeast-Central, and Southwestern Atlantic

Josué Díaz-Delgado, Kátia R. Groch, Rodrigo Ressio, Isis P. J. Riskallah, Eva Sierra, Simona Sacchini, Óscar Quesada-Canales, Manuel Arbelo, Antonio Fernández, Elitieri Santos-Neto, Joana Ikeda, Rafael Ramos de Carvalho, Alexandre de Freitas Azevedo, Jose Lailson-Brito Jr., Leonardo Flach, Cristina T. Kanamura, Natália C. C. A. Fernandes, Bruno Cogliati, Cinzia Centelleghe, Sandro Mazzariol, Ludovica Di Renzo, Gabriella Di Francesco, Giovanni Di Guardo and José Luiz Catão-Dias

43 The Marine Mammal Class II Major Histocompatibility Complex Organization

André Luiz Alves de Sá, Breanna Breaux, Tibério Cesar Tortola Burlamaqui, Thaddeus Charles Deiss, Leonardo Sena, Michael Frederick Criscitiello and Maria Paula Cruz Schneider

57 Insights Into Dolphins' Immunology: Immuno-Phenotypic Study on Mediterranean and Atlantic Stranded Cetaceans

Cinzia Centelleghe, Laura Da Dalt, Letizia Marsili, Rossella Zanetti, Antonio Fernandez, Manuel Arbelo, Eva Sierra, Massimo Castagnaro, Giovanni Di Guardo and Sandro Mazzariol

68 Acute Phase Proteins in Marine Mammals: State of Art, Perspectives and Challenges

Maria Elena Gelain and Federico Bonsembiante

76 Insights Into Cetacean Immunology: Do Ecological and Biological Factors Make the Difference?

Letizia Marsili, Giovanni Di Guardo, Sandro Mazzariol and Silvia Casini

87 T Helper Cell Subsets and Their Functions in Common Bottlenose Dolphins (Tursiops truncatus)

Sylvain De Guise, Milton Levin, Lindsay Jasperse, Guillermo Risatti and Randall S. Wells





Editorial: Comparative Immunology of Marine Mammals

Giovanni Di Guardo^{1*}, Michael Frederick Criscitiello², Eva Sierra³ and Sandro Mazzariol⁴

¹ Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Teramo, Teramo, Italy, ² Department of Veterinary Pathobiology, College of Veterinary Medicine and Biomedical Sciences, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, United States, ³ Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Instituto Universitario de Sanidad Animal y Seguridad Alimentaria, University of Las Palmas de Gran Canaria, Las Palmas de Gran Canaria, Spain, ⁴ Department of Comparative Biomedicine and Food Science, University of Padua, Padua, Italy

Keywords: comparative immunology, innate immunity, acquired immunity, host-pathogen interaction, immunotoxic contaminants, marine mammals, cetaceans, pinnipeds

Editorial on the Research Topic

Comparative Immunology of Marine Mammals

Marine mammals rank among the most charismatic creatures inhabiting our planet. Yet despite their long evolutionary history, we have a limited knowledge of their biology, ecology, and behavior, including their morphofunctional adaptations to sea life. This is also frustrating for translational studies, as gas and fat embolic syndrome, a pathologic condition of *Ziphiidae* (deep-diving cetaceans), mimics decompression sickness (DCS) in human divers (1). Indeed, the development of a DCS-like condition in animals living exclusively in a marine environment for such a long evolutionary history was totally unpredictable!

Marine mammals, comprising cetaceans, pinnipeds, manatees, sea otters, and polar bears, are all included in the International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) Red List, being increasingly threatened worldwide by several anthropogenic and natural factors, often acting synergistically with each other, as in the case of infectious agents and immunotoxic environmental pollutants (2), high levels of which may be found in tissues from stranded cetaceans, especially dolphins, given their recognized role of "apex predators" (3). Despite the increased efforts made by the scientific community, a considerable knowledge gap still exists on many aspects of marine mammals' biology. This is especially true regarding their immune response(s) at both individual and population levels, an absolute prerequisite to understand their immunopathological counterparts (i.e., immunodeficiencies, hypersensitivity reactions, and autoimmunity), impaired by a substantial amount of data coming from studies performed on stranded animals, which are "not normal" by definition. Within such context, primary fibroblast cell cultures from skin biopsies of free-living pinnipeds and cetaceans have marked a significant progress in our capability of monitoring the effects of a wide range of persistent environmental pollutants on marine mammals' health, including their stress and immune response genetic control (4).

Still noteworthy, aquatic mammals are increasingly threatened by several infectious *noxae* like morbilliviruses, herpesviruses, *Brucella ceti*, *B. pinnipedialis*, and *Toxoplasma gondii*, just to cite a few (2). Indeed, cetacean morbillivirus (CeMV), phocine distemper virus (PDV), and canine distemper virus (CDV) have recently caused several mass die-offs among dolphin, whale, and seal populations across the globe (5, 6). Consequently, characterizing the host- and the virus-related factors driving the occurrence, the behavior and persistence of morbilliviral infection(s) inside a given marine mammal species and/or population are of paramount importance (7), together with the study of host innate and acquired antiviral immunity.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Brian Dixon, University of Waterloo, Canada

> *Correspondence: Giovanni Di Guardo gdiguardo@unite.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Comparative Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 22 July 2019 Accepted: 11 September 2019 Published: 01 October 2019

Citation:

Di Guardo G, Criscitiello MF, Sierra E and Mazzariol S (2019) Editorial: Comparative Immunology of Marine Mammals. Front. Immunol. 10:2300. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02300 No information is available, for instance, on the pathogenetic evolution of CeMV, PDV, and CDV infections in Th1-dominant vs. Th2-dominant individuals within susceptible dolphin, whale, and seal species (8). In this respect, ad hoc investigations on human immunodeficiency virus have clearly shown that Th2dominant patients are much more prone than Th1-dominant individuals to develop full-blown AIDS (9). Studying the host's antiviral immunity could also shed light on the "transmission barrier's jump," which has been repeatedly observed across the Western Mediterranean, in recent years, from CeMV-infected "donor" species (like striped dolphins, Stenella coeruleoalba) to "recipient" species like fin whales (Balaenoptera physalus) (10), sperm whales (Physeter macrocephalus) (11), Cuvier's beaked whales (Ziphius cavirostris) (12), and even common seals (Phoca vitulina) (13) and Eurasian otters (Lutra lutra) (14). Within such context, the possibility that CeMV infection may also spread transplacentally is of concern, given the less efficient immune response during pregnancy (15). A defective functioning of innate and acquired immunity could also represent a key factor underlying viral persistence inside the host's brain, exemplified by the peculiar "brain-only" forms of morbilliviral disease reported in CeMV-infected striped dolphins, which share neuropathologic similarities with subacute sclerosing panencephalitis in measles virus-infected humans and with old dog encephalitis in CDV-infected canines (8). Deepening our knowledge on the comparative immunology of marine mammals may additionally provide valuable insights into the interplay between the infectious pathogens of concern to and the microbiota of pinnipeds, cetaceans, and sea carnivores, on one side, and a wide range of immunotoxic pollutants, which may heavily accumulate inside their tissues, on the other (2, 3). These high contaminant tissue loads could also exert a celltransforming activity, as clearly shown in the beluga whale (Delphinapterus leucas) population residing in the St. Lawrence River Estuary, Canada, in which neoplastic disease was found in association with high tissue burdens of organochlorines, heavy metals, and benzo-a-pyrene. A direct and an indirect carcinogenic activity could have both been involved in the

REFERENCES

- Fernández A, Edwards JF, Rodríguez F, Espinosa de los Monteros A, Herráez P, Castro P, et al. "Gas and fat embolic syndrome" involving a mass stranding of beaked whales (family *Ziphiidae*) exposed to anthropogenic sonar signals. *Vet Pathol.* (2005) 42:446–57. doi: 10.1354/vp.42-4-446
- Van Bressem M-F, Raga JA, Di Guardo G, Jepson PD, Duignan PJ, Siebert U, et al. Emerging infectious diseases in cetaceans worldwide and the possible role of environmental stressors. *Dis Aquat Organ.* (2009) 86:143–57. doi: 10.3354/dao02101
- Fossi MC, Casini S, Marsili L. Potential toxicological hazard due to endocrinedisrupting chemicals on Mediterranean top predators: state of art, gender differences and methodological tools. *Environ Res.* (2007) 104:174–82. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2006.06.014
- Lunardi D, Abelli L, Panti C, Marsili L, Fossi MC, Mancia A. Transcriptomic analysis of bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*) skin biopsies to assess the effects of emerging contaminants. *Mar Environ Res.* (2016) 114:74–9. doi: 10.1016/j.marenvres.2016.01.002

development of the aforementioned neoplasms, together with an antitumor immune surveillance deficiency (16).

A critical component of all studies on the comparative immunology of marine mammals is that the vast majority of the laboratory reagents available on the market have been developed and "validated" only in "conventional" species. Therefore, *ad hoc* immunologic tools, specifically developed and/or validated also for marine mammals, are urgently needed.

The aforementioned issues represent the focus, along with several others, of the present Research Topic on the comparative immunology of marine mammals, hosting eight original contributions from leading scientists and scientific groups worldwide. In more detail, the monograph's contents address Thelper lymphocytes and other cellular and molecular effectors of cetaceans' immune response, acute-phase proteins and class II major histocompatibility complex in marine mammals, along with antioncogenic virus immune surveillance in California sea lions (Zalophus californianus), cetacean host-pathogen interaction(s), and the comparative immunopathology of CeMV infection in free-ranging dolphins. In this respect, we would like to express our most sincere feelings of appreciation and gratitude to Prof. Miki Nakao, chief editor of Frontiers in Immunology, who enthusiastically accepted our proposal to host this monographic collection in such an outstanding and prestigious Journal, as well as to Dr. Tara Sugrue, Research Topic team leader, Dr. Carmen E. Flores Nakandakare, and all the eminent scientists, associate editors, and reviewers who provided their valuable contributions for the present Research Topic.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GD wrote the first draft of the present Guest Editorial, which was subsequently revised by MC as well as by ES and SM, who provided their valuable and precious comments, remarks, and suggestions. The final Editorial's draft and the current Editorial's text were entirely agreed and approved by all the 4 Guest co-Editors of the present Research Topic, dealing with the Comparative Immunology of Marine Mammals.

- Duignan PJ, Van Bressem M-F, Baker JD, Barbieri M, Colegrove KM, De Guise S, et al. *Phocine distemper virus*: current knowledge and future directions. *Viruses*. (2014) 6:5093–134. doi: 10.3390/v6125093
- Van Bressem M-F, Duignan PJ, Banyard A, Barbieri M, Colegrove KM, De Guise S, et al. *Cetacean morbillivirus*: current knowledge and future directions. *Viruses*. (2014) 6:5145–81. doi: 10.3390/v6125145
- Jo WK, Osterhaus AD, Ludlow M. Transmission of morbilliviruses within and among marine mammal species. *Curr Opin Virol.* (2018) 28:133–41. doi: 10.1016/j.coviro.2017.12.005
- Di Guardo G, Mazzariol S. Cetacean morbillivirus-associated pathology: knowns and unknowns. Front Microbiol. (2016) 7:112. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.00112
- Romagnani S. T-cell subsets (Th1 versus Th2). Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. (2000) 85:9–18. doi: 10.1016/S1081-1206(10)62426-X
- Mazzariol S, Centelleghe C, Beffagna G, Povinelli M, Terracciano G, Cocumelli C, et al. Mediterranean fin whales (*Balaenoptera physalus*) threatened by *Dolphin Morbillivirus*. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2016) 22:302–5. doi: 10.3201/eid2202.150882

- Mazzariol S, Centelleghe C, Di Provvido A, Di Renzo L, Cardeti G, Cersini A, et al. *Dolphin Morbillivirus* associated with a mass stranding of sperm whales, Italy. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2017) 23:144–6. doi: 10.3201/eid2301.160239
- 12. Centelleghe C, Beffagna G, Palmisano G, Franzo G, Casalone C, Pautasso A, et al. *Dolphin Morbillivirus* in a Cuvier's beaked whale (*Ziphius cavirostris*), Italy. *Front Microbiol.* (2017) 8:111. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.00111
- Mazzariol S, Peletto S, Mondin A, Centelleghe C, Di Guardo G, Di Francesco CE, et al. Dolphin Morbillivirus infection in a captive harbor seal (Phoca vitulina). J Clin Microbiol. (2013) 51:708–11. doi: 10.1128/JCM.02710-12
- Padalino I, Di Guardo G, Carbone A, Troiano P, Parisi A, Galante D, et al. *Dolphin Morbillivirus* in Eurasian otters, Italy. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2019) 25:372–4. doi: 10.3201/eid2502.180256
- Sykes L, MacIntyre DA, Yap XJ, Teoh TG, Bennett PR. The Th1:Th2 dichotomy of pregnancy and preterm labour. *Mediators Inflamm.* (2012) 2012:967629. doi: 10.1155/2012/967629

 De Guise S, Lagacé A, Béland P. Tumors in St. Lawrence beluga whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*). Vet Pathol. (1994) 31:444–9.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Di Guardo, Criscitiello, Sierra and Mazzariol. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Cetacean Host-Pathogen Interaction(s): Critical Knowledge Gaps

Giovanni Di Guardo^{1*}, Cinzia Centelleghe² and Sandro Mazzariol²

¹ Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Teramo, Teramo, Italy, ² Department of Comparative Biomedicine and Food Science, University of Padua, Padova, Italy

Keywords: cetaceans, Cetacean Morbillivirus, Herpesvirus, Brucella ceti, Toxoplasma gondii, host-pathogen interaction, cell receptors, immunotoxic pollutants

Within the broad range of viral and non-viral pathogens infecting cetaceans, *Cetacean Morbillivirus* (CeMV), *Herpesvirus* (HV), *Brucella ceti*, and *Toxoplasma gondii* are of special concern, due to their impact(s) on the health and conservation of free-ranging cetacean populations worldwide (1). The most "paradigmatic" example in this direction is represented by CeMV, which throughout the last 3 decades has caused more than 10 mass mortality outbreaks among different cetacean species and populations across the globe (2, 3).

Cetaceans live permanently in the marine environment, a peculiar feature differentiating them from pinnipeds, that are also susceptible to morbilliviral infections. This has been clearly shown, for instance, by the dramatic *Phocine/Phocid Distemper Virus* (PDV) and *Canine Distemper Virus* (CDV) epidemics among North Sea common seals (*Phoca vitulina*) and Lake Bajkal seals (*Pusa siberica*) as well as Caspian seals (*Pusa caspica*), respectively (4). Due to their "in-water-only" life, stranded cetaceans play a key role as "sentinels" (potentially) able to "recapitulate" the "natural history, evolution, ecology, epidemiology, and encounters" of infectious *noxae*, on one side, and cetacean hosts, on the other. Consequently, based upon their crucial relevance as "health and conservation biomonitors" for their increasingly threatened "conspecifics and heterospecifics" living in the open sea, a detailed *post-mortem* examination of stranded cetaceans on behalf of specifically trained veterinarians is mandatory!

These concepts are nicely exemplified by the *motto* "*Hic est locus ubi mors gaudet succurrere vitae.*" This phrase, written in the nineteenth century by Luciano Armanni—the co-discoverer of "*Armanni-Ebstein Diabetic Nephropathy*" (5) -, stands at the entrance of the autopsy room of "Ospedale degli Incurabili" in Naples, Italy. Literally translated, it means "*This is the place where death is pleased to support life.*"

Taking into consideration all the above, we believe there are still a number of critical "knowledge gaps" regarding "cetacean host(s)-pathogen(s) interaction(s)," with special emphasis on the 4 herein dealt infectious *noxae* and, most likely, also in relation to any other pathogen infecting wild cetaceans.

These "knowledge-deficient areas" may be identified as follows: (1) characterization of the cell receptor(s) allowing infection; (2) interaction(s) and effects of chemical pollutants on the expression levels of the aforementioned cell receptors; (3) pathogenetic evolution of the concerned infections in T helper 1 (Th1)-dominant versus (vs.) Th2-dominant cetacean individuals; (4) effects of pregnancy-associated immune *status* on the infectious potential of the herein dealt pathogens; (5) usefulness of cetaceans and their pathogens as models for human disease.

The present Opinion Article, after a brief introduction on these 5 issues, will critically address each of the aforementioned knowledge gaps.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fabrizio Ceciliani, Università degli Studi di Milano, Italy

Reviewed by:

Francisco Javier Aznar, University of Valencia, Spain

*Correspondence: Giovanni Di Guardo

gdiguardo@unite.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Comparative Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 14 September 2018 Accepted: 14 November 2018 Published: 28 November 2018

Citation:

Di Guardo G, Centelleghe C and Mazzariol S (2018) Cetacean Host-Pathogen Interaction(s): Critical Knowledge Gaps. Front. Immunol. 9:2815. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02815

7

As far as issue (1) is specifically concerned, CeMV, HV, *B. ceti*, and *T. gondii* may infect several cetacean hosts, with the latter 2 agents also carrying a zoonotic potential (1). Since different tissues from susceptible cetaceans may be colonized by the 4 herein dealt pathogens (1, 2), a detailed characterization of the cell receptor(s) allowing their entry into (and subsequent shedding from) host's tissues would be of paramount relevance. In this respect, as with other animal and human morbilliviruses, the lymphotropic behavior typically displayed by CeMV is specified by the lymphoid cell receptor "*Signaling Lymphocyte Activation Molecule*" (SLAM/CD150) (2). Notwithstanding the above, the cell receptor(s) targeted by this lympho-epithelioneurotropic virus within the central nervous system (CNS) from susceptible cetacean hosts is/are still unknown (6, 7).

Noteworthy, striped dolphins (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) infected by *Dolphin Morbillivirus* (DMV, a CeMV strain) may occasionally develop a peculiar, "brain-only" form of infection sharing neuropathologic similarities with "*Subacute Sclerosing Panencephalitis*" (SSPE) and "*Old Dog Encephalitis*" (ODE) in *Measles Virus* (MeV)-infected humans and CDV-infected canines, respectively (2, 8–10). Despite the recent characterization of the neuronal and non-neuronal cell populations residing in the brain from striped dolphins affected by such neuropathy (11), the receptor(s) allowing viral persistence and spread within their brains—as well as in those from SSPE-afflicted patients and ODE-affected dogs—is/are also undetermined (6, 7, 12).

Identical considerations apply to HV, *B. ceti*, and *T. gondii*, provided that the cell receptor(s) allowing their entry into and subsequent dissemination throughout cetacean hosts' tissues have not been yet identified, to the best of our knowledge. Making specific reference to *B. ceti*, the host's cellular prion protein (PrP^{C}) has been recently hypothesized to serve as a neuronal cell receptor for this zoonotic microorganism causing fatal neurobrucellosis in striped dolphins (13). Indeed, PrP^{C} had been previously recognized as a receptor for *B. abortus* heat shock protein (HSP)60—a member of the GroEL family of chaperonins—on murine macrophages, thereby allowing bacterial internalization and establishment of *B. abortus* infection inside these cells (14).

As far as concerns issue (2), it is well established that a wide range of persistent environmental pollutants may heavily accumulate in cetacean tissues, especially in those of "top predators" like dolphins and other Odontocetes, with simultaneous "biomagnification" processes additionally occurring in most cases (15). Many of these pollutants, as in the case of lipophilic polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), dioxins and dioxin-like substances, along with methylmercury (MeHg), have also been shown to exert powerful immunotoxic effects (16). Notwithstanding the above, we are not aware of any study investigating the relationship(s), if any, between pollutant-related immunotoxicity, on one side, and the tissue expression profiles, on the other, of given cell receptors (e.g., SLAM/CD150) for highly immunosuppressive agents like CeMV (6). This should be regarded as another critical knowledge gap within the general framework of "cetacean host(s)-pathogen(s) interaction dynamics." Within such context, the growing concerns over the exponentially increasing plastic pollution of oceans and seas across the entire globe should be also taken into account. As a matter of fact, relevant health- and conservation-related issues arise for fish, birds and aquatic mammals, due to their prolonged exposure to micro-nanoplastics through the marine food web(s). Furthermore, the documented roles of "plastic debris" as an "attractor and concentrator" for many persistent pollutants like PCBs, dioxins and other organochlorine (OC) and non-OC compounds (15), as well as for a huge number of invertebrate organisms (17), would deserve special consideration. In this respect, plastics/micronanoplastics-based "rafts" have been recently hypothesized to play a role also in the ecology and epidemiology of T. gondii infection (18). This could be of interest, provided that the Scientific Community has not yet clarified by which modalities and dynamics striped dolphins and other typically "pelagic" or "offshore" cetaceans may acquire an "oro-faecally transmitted infection" characterized by a "land-to-sea flow," as in the case of that caused by the zoonotic protozoan T. gondii (19).

As far as issue (3) is specifically concerned, among the many lessons provided by natural history of *Human Immunodeficiency Virus* (HIV) infection in mankind, we have learned that Th2-dominant patients are much more prone than their Th1-dominant "counterparts" to develop "full-blown AIDS" ("*Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome*") in the time course of HIV infection (20). In this respect, while in recent years we have also learned quite a bit on the pathogenetic evolution of other human and animal viral and non-viral infections in Th1dominant vs. Th2-dominant individuals, we are unaware, on the contrary, of any published reports dealing with the pathogenetic behavior of CeMV infection—as well as of HV, *T. gondii*, and *B. ceti* infections—among Th1-dominant vs. Th2-dominant cetacean hosts.

This could of relevance also in relation to issue (4), given that a reduced efficiency of host's immune response is physiologically observed during pregnancy (21). Indeed, several cases of DMV infection have been recently described both in newborns and in cetacean fetuses (6, 22–24). This concern and its related knowledge gap are additionally amplified by the documented occurrence of cases of DMV infection in cetacean species mainly from the Western Mediterranean Sea—into which the virus has apparently "jumped," most likely as the result of recent "spillovers" from DMV-infected striped dolphins (22–24).

Finally, with specific reference to the last of the 5 herein dealt issues, the potential role of cetaceans as "models for human disease" should be also taken into account (25). In fact, as recently reported for Alzheimer's disease-related neuropathology in striped and bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) (26, 27), and as previously described for the aforementioned "brain-only" forms of DMV infection among striped dolphins (6, 8–10), cetaceans and—more in general—aquatic mammals could serve as valuable "models" also in "*Comparative Immunology and Immunopathology*."

This could apply, in parallel with the herein dealt "host(s)pathogen(s) interaction dynamics," also to the "ontogeny" and "evolutionary phylogeny" of cetaceans' immune response as well as to further key issues like "immune tolerance," "autoimmunity," and "immune surveillance against neoplasia," just to cite a few.

In conclusion, deepening our understanding of "host(s)-pathogen(s) interaction(s)" in cetaceans and, more broadly, in marine mammals, may provide not only a very useful and insightful "set of tools" to monitor and protect their increasingly threatened health and conservation, but also a reliable and precious source of knowledge highlighting the simultaneous role of cetaceans as putative "models for human (and animal)

REFERENCES

- Van Bressem MF, Raga JA, Di Guardo G, Jepson PD, Duignan PJ, Siebert U, et al. Emerging infectious diseases in cetaceans worldwide and the possible role of environmental stressors. *Dis Aquat Organ.* (2009) 86:143–57. doi: 10.3354/dao02101
- Van Bressem MF, Duignan PJ, Banyard A, Barbieri M, Colegrove KM, De Guise S, et al. *Cetacean Morbillivirus*: current knowledge and future directions. *Viruses* (2014) 6:5145–81. doi: 10.3390/v6125145
- Jo WK, Osterhaus AD, Ludlow M. Transmission of morbilliviruses within and among marine mammal species. *Curr Opin Virol.* (2018) 28:133–41. doi: 10.1016/j.coviro.2017.12.005
- Duignan PJ, Van Bressem M-F, Baker JD, Barbieri M, Colegrove KM, De Guise S, et al. *Phocine Distemper Virus*: current knowledge and future directions. *Viruses* (2014) 6:5093–134. doi: 10.3390/v6125093
- Ritchie S, Waugh D. The pathology of Armanni-Ebstein diabetic nephropathy. *Am J Pathol.* (1957) 33:1035–57.
- Di Guardo G, Mazzariol S. Cetacean morbillivirus-associated pathology: knowns and unknowns. Front Microbiol. (2016) 7:112. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.00112
- Di Guardo G, Giacominelli-Stuffler R, Mazzariol S. Commentary: SLAMand Nectin-4-independent noncytolytic spread of *Canine Distemper Virus* in astrocytes. *Front Microbiol.* (2016) 7:2011. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.02011
- Domingo M, Vilafranca M, Visa J, Prats N, Trudgett A, Visser I. Evidence for chronic *Morbillivirus* infection in the Mediterranean striped dolphin (*Stenella coeruleoalba*). *Vet Microbiol*. (1995) 44:229–39.
- 9. Di Guardo G, Cocumelli C, Scholl F, Di Francesco CE, Speranza R, Pennelli M, et al. Morbilliviral encephalitis in a striped dolphin *Stenella coeruleoalba* calf from Italy. *Dis Aquat Organ.* (2011) 95:247–51. doi: 10.3354/dao02355
- Soto S, Alba A, Ganges L, Vidal E, Raga JA, Alegre F, et al. Postepizootic chronic *Dolphin Morbillivirus* infection in Mediterranean striped dolphins *Stenella coeruleoalba*. *Dis Aquat Organ*. (2011) 96:187–94. doi: 10.3354/dao02387
- Lucá R, Giacominelli-Stuffler R, Mazzariol S, Roperto S, Cocumelli C, Di Guardo G. Neuronal and astrocytic involvement in striped dolphins (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) with morbilliviral encephalitis. *Acta Virol.* (2017) 61:495–7. doi: 10.4149/av_2017_414
- Alves L, Khosravi M, Avila M, Ader-Ebert N, Bringolf F, Zurbriggen A, et al. SLAM- and nectin-4-independent noncytolytic spread of canine distemper virus in astrocytes. J Virol. (2015) 89:5724–33. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00004-15
- Di Guardo G, Mazzariol S. Commentary: advancement of knowledge of *brucella* over the past 50 years. *Front Vet Sci.* (2015) 2:27. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2015.00027
- Watarai M, Kim S, Erdenebaatar J, Makino S, Horiuchi M, Shirahata T, et al. Cellular prion protein promotes *Brucella* infection into macrophages. *J Exp Med.* (2003) 198:5–17. doi: 10.1084/jem.20021980
- Fossi MC, Panti C, Baini M, Lavers JL. A review of plastic-associated pressures: cetaceans of the mediterranean sea and Eastern Australian shearwaters as case studies. *Front Mar Sci.* (2018) 5:173. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2018.00173

disease" as well as for "Comparative Immunology and Immunopathology."

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GDG wrote the first draft as well as the first revision's draft of the present Opinion Article, to be included in the Research Topic *Comparative Immunology of Marine Mammals*, with CC and SM subsequently integrating and providing a thorough and critical revision of both the aforementioned manuscript's drafts.

- Desforges JP, Sonne C, Levin M, Siebert U, De Guise S, Dietz R. Immunotoxic effects of environmental pollutants in marine mammals. *Environ Int.* (2016) 86:126–39. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2015.10.007
- Carlton JT, Chapman JW, Geller JB, Miller JA, Carlton DA, McCuller MI, et al. Tsunami-driven rafting: transoceanic species dispersal and implications for marine biogeography. *Science* (2017) 357:1402–6. doi: 10.1126/science.aao1498
- Di Guardo G, Mazzariol S. Tsunami and microbial pathogens (eLetter). Science 357 (2017). Available online at: https://science.sciencemag.org/ content/357/6358/1402/tab-e-letters
- Di Guardo G, Mazzariol S. *Toxoplasma gondii*: clues from stranded dolphins. *Vet Pathol.* (2013) 50:737. doi: 10.1177/03009858134 86816
- Romagnani S. T-cell subsets (Th1 versus Th2). Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. (2000) 85:9–18. doi: 10.1016/S1081-1206(10)62426-X
- Sykes L, MacIntyre DA, Yap XJ, Teoh TG, Bennett PR. The Th1:Th2 dichotomy of pregnancy and preterm labour. *Mediators Inflamm.* (2012) 2012:967629. doi: 10.1155/2012/967629
- 22. Mazzariol S, Centelleghe C, Beffagna G, Povinelli M, Terracciano G, Cocumelli C, et al. Mediterranean fin whales (*Balaenoptera physalus*) threatened by *Dolphin Morbillivirus. Emerg Infect Dis.* (2016) 22:302–5. doi: 10.3201/eid2202.15-0882
- Centelleghe C, Beffagna G, Palmisano G, Franzo G, Casalone C, Pautasso A, et al. *Dolphin Morbillivirus* in a Cuvier's Beaked Whale (*Ziphius cavirostris*), Italy. *Front Microbiol.* (2017) 8:111. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.00111
- Mazzariol S, Centelleghe C, Di Provvido A, Di Renzo L, Cardeti G, Cersini A, et al. *Dolphin Morbillivirus* associated with a mass stranding of sperm whales, Italy. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2017) 23:144–6. doi: 10.3201/eid2301.1 60239
- 25. Di Guardo G. Cetaceans, models for human disease? *Res Vet Sci.* (2018) 119:43–4. doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2018.05.012
- Gunn-Moore D, Kaidanovich-Beilin O, Gallego Iradi MC, Gunn-Moore F, Lovestone S. Alzheimer's disease in humans and other animals: A consequence of postreproductive life span and longevity rather than aging. *Alzheimers Dement.* (2018) 14:195–204. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2017.08.014
- 27. Di Guardo G. Alzheimer's disease, cellular prion protein, and dolphins. *Alzheimers Dement.* (2018) 14:259–60. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2017.12.002

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Di Guardo, Centelleghe and Mazzariol. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Transcriptional Profiles of California Sea Lion Peripheral NK and CD⁺⁸ T Cells Reflect Ecological Regionalization and Infection by Oncogenic Viruses

Ignacio Peñín¹, Mónica E. Figueroa-Cabañas¹, Fabiola Guerrero-de la Rosa¹, Luis A. Soto-García¹, Roberto Álvarez-Martínez¹, Adriana Flores-Morán¹ and Karina Acevedo-Whitehouse^{1,2*}

¹ Unit for Basic and Applied Microbiology, School of Natural Sciences, Autonomous University of Queretaro, Santiago de Queretaro, Mexico, ² The Marine Mammal Center, Sausalito, CA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mike Criscitiello, Texas A&M University, United States

Reviewed by:

Jorge Galindo-Villegas, Nord University, Norway Javier Santander, Memorial University of Newfoundland, Canada

*Correspondence:

Karina Acevedo-Whitehouse karina.acevedo.whitehouse@uaq.mx

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Comparative Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 13 October 2018 Accepted: 15 February 2019 Published: 12 March 2019

Citation:

Peñín I, Figueroa-Cabañas ME, Guerrero-de la Rosa F, Soto-García LA, Álvarez-Martínez R, Flores-Morán A and Acevedo-Whitehouse K (2019) Transcriptional Profiles of California Sea Lion Peripheral NK and CD⁺⁸ T Cells Reflect Ecological Regionalization and Infection by Oncogenic Viruses. Front. Immunol. 10:413. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00413 The California sea lion is one of the few wild mammals prone to develop cancer, particularly urogenital carcinoma (UGC), whose prevalence is currently estimated at 25% of dead adult sea lions stranded along the California coastline. Genetic factors, viruses and organochlorines have been identified as factors that increase the risk of occurrence of this pathology. Given that no cases of UGC have as yet been reported for the species along its distribution in Mexican waters, the potential relevance of contaminants for the development of urogenital carcinoma is highlighted even more as blubber levels of organochlorines are more than two orders of magnitude lower in the Gulf of California and Mexican Pacific than in California. In vitro studies have shown that organochlorines can modulate anti-viral and tumor-surveillance activities of NK and cytotoxic T-cells of marine mammals, but little is known about the activity of these effectors in live, free-living sea lions. Here, we examine leukocyte transcriptional profiles of free-ranging adult California sea lions for eight genes (Eomes, Granzyme B, Perforin, Ly49, STAT1, Tbx21, GATA3, and FoxP3) selected for their key role in anti-viral and tumor-surveillance, and investigate patterns of transcription that could be indicative of differences in ecological variables and exposure to two oncogenic viruses: sea lion type one gammaherpesvirus (OtHV-1) and sea lion papillomavirus type 1 (ZcPV-1) and systemic inflammation. We observed regional differences in the expression of genes related to Th1 responses and immune modulation, and detected clear patterns of differential regulation of gene expression in sea lions infected by genital papillomavirus compared to those infected by genital gammaherpesvirus or for simultaneous infections, similar to what is known about herpesvirus and papillomavirus infections in humans. Our study is a first approach to profile the transcriptional patterns of key immune effectors of free-ranging California sea lions and their association with ecological regions and oncogenic viruses. The observed results add insight to our understanding of immune competence of marine mammals, and may help elucidate the marked difference in the number of cases of urogenital carcinoma in sea lions from US waters and other areas of their distribution.

Keywords: California sea lion, cytotoxicity, NK, CD⁸⁺ T cells, otarine gammaherpesvirus, sea lion papillomavirus

INTRODUCTION

The California sea lion (*Zalophus californianus*) is one of the few wild mammals prone to develop cancer under natural conditions. Since the initial report in the early 80's, the prevalence of urogenital carcinoma has remained consistently high, with *post mortem* examination of dead individuals revealing a prevalence of up to 25% in adult sea lions necropsied after stranding along the California coast (1). The high incidence of such an aggressive and fatal pathology in a long-lived top predator of the coastal marine ecosystem warrants studies to increase our understanding of the factors that contribute to its occurrence.

As is the case for most cancers, sea lion urogenital carcinoma appears to be multifactorial, and various risk factors have been identified. These factors include an oncogenic genital gammaherpesvirus, named OtHV-1 (2, 3) and genetic components (4-6). Furthermore, high concentrations of organochlorines have been detected in the blubber of sea lions with urogenital carcinoma (7). This latter association is particularly relevant as studies conducted in laboratory animals have shown that organochlorines can induce carcinogenesis, either directly at high concentrations (8) or indirectly by modulating immune responses, particularly when exposure is low (9-11). In vitro experiments with different marine mammal cells have shown that organochlorines modulate NK and cytotoxic T-cell activity (12-14). Based on their known anti-viral and tumor surveillance activity (15-17), and the evidence of organochlorine-induced modulation, it is parsimonious to speculate that NK and cytotoxic T-cells play an important role in preventing the development of urogenital carcinoma in the California sea lion, and that these immune effectors are sensitive to extrinsic and intrinsic factors.

Despite its high prevalence in California, urogenital carcinoma has not been observed in sea lions inhabiting the Gulf of California, in spite of systematic surveys of the breeding colonies by researchers and park managers. However, precancerous transformation of the genital epithelium, including binucleation and koilocytes, do appear to be relatively common in California sea lions from the Gulf of California (18). In humans, the presence of these cellular phenotypes is considered the first step toward carcinogenesis if the abnormal cells are not promptly detected and destroyed by tumor-surveillant and cytotoxic immune cells (19). Interestingly, compared to values reported for sea lions in California (7), blubber PCB levels are three orders of magnitude lower (20) in sea lions from the Gulf of California, and two orders of magnitude lower in sea lions from the Mexican North Pacific (21). This implies that there could be differences in NK and cytotoxic T-cell activity (12-14), which could, in turn, result in differences in oncogenesis.

Within the Gulf of California, 13 sea lion breeding colonies are spread along 177,000 km², from the northernmost colony, Rocas Consag, located at less than 100 km from the Colorado River Delta, to the southernmost colony, Islotes, 29 km from the city of La Paz, in the tip of the peninsula of Baja California. Oceanographic and ecological differences among zones have led to regionalization of the Gulf of California, and colonies are grouped in four main regions (22), largely defined by upwelling and phytoplankton profiles (23) that influence the availability of resources (24, 25). Sea lion colonies vary per region in terms of population trends (26), genetic substructure (27, 28) and pathogen exposure (29). In terms of pollutants, there is a marked latitudinal gradient, with the northern region being more polluted than the southern region due to deposition from the Colorado River Delta (30).

Based on the species' genetic substructure in the Gulf of California, and on spatial differences in oceanographic and ecological factors, it is plausible to assume that California sea lions experience intra- and interregional differences in terms of their exposure to organochlorine pollutants and other extrinsic factors that could impact their tumor surveillance and cytotoxic capability, as well as induce chronic inflammation. Furthermore, as disposable energy in a region is limited by its productivity, prey availability, and feeding range (25), it is unlikely that a sea lion's investment of resources for immune activities will be independent of its environment. Some evidence for this phenomenon has already been reported for this species (31).

Lymphocyte development and activation are characterized by marked changes in gene expression (32). Thus, we hypothesized that transcription of key genes relevant to immune surveillance of tumors and cytotoxic responses of California sea lions differs spatially and is related to genital infection by two oncogenic viruses, sea lion type one gammaherpesvirus (OtHV-1) and sea lion papillomavirus type 1 (ZcPV-1), and systemic inflammation. To challenge our hypotheses, we examined transcription patterns of key genes expressed by NK, CD^{8+} T cells and by T regulatory cells in the blood of apparently healthy adult females sampled at breeding colonies within the Gulf of California and the Mexican North Pacific.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Collection of Samples

During the summer of 2016 we visited 12 California sea lion breeding colonies in the Gulf of California. Based on the ecological regionalization proposed (22), we sampled sea lions in three colonies in the Northern region (Rocas Consag, San Jorge, and Lobos), three in the North-Central (Midriff) region (Granito, Cantiles, and Los Machos) five in the Central region (Partido, El Rasito, San Esteban, San Pedro Mártir, and San Pedro Nolasco), and one (Los Islotes) in the far South region (**Figure 1**).

Samples of peripheral blood were collected from 54 apparently healthy adult female California sea lions, which had been captured using hoop nets, and manually restrained before using inhaled anesthesia (Isoflurane). Once anesthetized, a trained veterinarian examined the sea lions in order to determine their general health, and to monitor their heart rate and respiratory frequency throughout the procedure, which lasted 10–12 min. All sea lions were considered to be in good body condition, with at least 20 mm of lateral blubber depth (skin fold thickness measured with calipers). Two 7-ml blood samples were collected from the caudal gluteal vein of each sea lion with vacuum tubes (Vacutainer), one of them coated with sodium heparin and one with EDTA. Genital epithelial swabs were also collected. Briefly, a sterile genital speculum was introduced to visualize the cervix



and the cervical mucosa was scraped with a sterile cytobrush. The swabs were stored in a vial containing 96% ethanol and were protected from sunlight until staining in the laboratory. The blood samples were centrifuged using a clinical centrifuge (Clay Adams compact II, Daigger Scientific, USA) for 10 min at a fixed speed of 3,200 rpm within 3 h after collection. The buffy coat was separated using a sterile Pasteur pipette and stored immediately in cryogenic tubes prior to snap-freezing in liquid nitrogen, where kept until processing. EDTA-preserved blood was used to total and differential leukocyte counts. Based on the hematological information, we determined the neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio (NLR) as a measure of chronic systemic inflammation and stress (33), which has been shown to be a useful marker in the California sea lion (34). We also had equivalent samples from nine adult female sea lions, which had been captured during the summer of 2014 at a colony situated in the Archipelago of San Benito, in the Mexican North Pacific (see Figure 1). Sampling and processing of these samples was performed as described above. Adult males were not included in our study due to the difficulty and extremely high-risk of capturing and restraining these individuals in the field.

All procedures were approved by the Bioethics committee of the Universidad Autónoma de Queretaro (Mexico), and were conducted under permits SGPA/DGVS/11744/13 (for samples collected in 2014) and SGPA/DGVS/09004/15 (for samples collected in 2016) issued by the Secretariá de Medio Ambiente y Recursos Naturales through the Direccioń General de Vida Silvestre in Mexico.

Relative Quantification of Gene Expression in Lymphoid Subpopulations

We extracted total RNA from the buffy coat samples using Trizol (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) as per the manufacturer's instructions. We treated the solubilized RNA with DNA-freeTM DNA removal kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) as per the manufacturer's instructions. RNA integrity was assessed by electrophoresis in a 1% agarose gel stained with ethidium bromide and purity was determined by Nanodrop spectrophotometry (Qiagen, USA). Good quality samples were those that had no evidence of RNA degradation, showed clear 28S and 18S rRNA bands (see Figure S1), and whose A₂₆₀/A₂₈₀ ratio was between 1.75 and 2.10. Five of the RNA samples did not clearly show the two rRNA bands despite having a good A₂₆₀/A₂₈₀ ratio. In these cases, we re-extracted the RNA and reassessed the quality. In all of these cases, we were able to confirm that quality was adequate to proceed with reverse transcription (see Supplementary Material for more details).

Reverse transcription was performed for each sample with a QuantiTect Reverse Transcription Kit (Qiagen, USA) using 200 ng of RNA in 20 μ L reactions. As per the manufacturer's

instructions, the procedure included a 2 min. incubation at 42° C with gDNA wipeout buffer to further ensure the elimination of genomic DNA contamination. cDNA was frozen in aliquots to avoid repeated freeze-thaw cycles.

The levels of transcription of eight genes were assessed by real time quantitative PCR (RT-qPCR). The genes were selected a priori to represent the activity of different lymphocyte subpopulations and immune activities relevant to antiviral and antitumor activities (see Table 1 for genes and primers). RPS5 and HpRT were used as reference (housekeeping) genes as they are expressed in all nucleated cells, and we have previously shown their transcription levels to be stable in California sea lion peripheral white blood cells (35). In order to comply with the Minimum Information for Publication of Quantitative Real-Time PCR Experiments (MIQE) guidelines (36), we used a subset of 10 samples to run RT-qPCR to evaluate expression stability. This allowed us to confirm that both genes were appropriate to use as reference genes (see details and Figure S2). All primers were designed to span exon-exon junctions. All primer pairs were evaluated for their efficiency. The efficiency of the primers ranged between 90 and 112%, and the coefficient of determination (R^2) was >0.95 (E and R^2 results for all the primers used for RT-qPCR can be seen as Figures S3, S4).

RT-qPCR reactions contained 4 microliters of cDNA (1:4 to 1:16 of template generated by retrotranscription of 10 ng/µL of RNA), 0.15 μ L of each primer (at 0.2 μ M each), 5 μ L SYBR^(R) Green master mix (Thermo Fisher), and 0.7 μL of water to reach 10 μL of final volume. The reactions were run on a CFX ConnectTM Real-Time PCR Detection System (BioRad, USA) as follows: 95°C for 15 min, followed by 40 cycles of 15 s at 95°C, 1 min at 55C (during which the plate was read) and 72°C for 1 min. The ending cycle was kept at 95°C for 15s and a final step for the melting curve at 60 to 90°C (0.5°C increase and 15s of wave length measurement for each temperature). Reaction specificity was monitored by melting curve analysis using a final data acquisition phase of 60 cycles of 65°C for 30 s. The threshold was established manually after amplification take-off. Optimal results were achieved when using 1:2-1:8 of cDNA. For each primer pair, a reaction mixture containing water, but no cDNA, was used as a non-template control (NTC) to monitor contamination and primer dimer formation; a noreverse transcriptase (-RT) mixture was included as a control to monitor DNA contamination. Gene expression levels were determined by relative quantification (i.e., transcription of the target gene relative to the average of the reference genes) as per the Δ Ct method (37). The data were considered reliable if the difference between replicates was below one cycle. If the reliability of the reference genes failed, the samples were rerun for all the primer pairs of a plate. Optimal results were achieved when using 1:2-1:8 of cDNA.

Molecular Detection of Oncogenic Viruses

Genomic DNA was extracted from the ethanol-preserved genital swabs using a routine proteinase K digestion followed by a phenol-chloroform protocol and isopropanol precipitation. DNA was quantified and quality was assessed using a spectrophotometer (Nanodrop 2000, Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). We amplified a 210 bp fragment of the DNA polymerase (Dpol) gene of OtVH-1 in genital swabs. Primers used were Dpol 697 5'- GCGGGAACGCAACTATATCCT and Dpol 65 5'-TCT TCGTCCAGTATCATTG; (38). For ZcPV-1, we used GenBank sequence NC_015325 (*Zalophus californianus* papillomavirus 1) as a reference to design a pair of primers that amplified a 450 bp fragment of gene L2 (ZcPV_F5957-ATACAGGACGGGGACA TGG, ZcPV_R6495-TCATATTCCTCAGCGTGCCT).

All 12.5 μ l PCR reactions were performed on an ABI 3100 thermal cycler (Applied Biosystems, Inc.) and were conducted in duplicate. Cycling conditions were 95°C for 15 min, 30 cycles of 94°C for 40 s, 52°C (OtHV-1) or 53°C (ZcPV-1) for 30 s and 72°C for 40 s, and a final extension step at 72°C for 10 min. A template free (template free reaction) was included with every PCR. Amplified products were electrophoresed on an ethidium bromide stained 1.8% agarose gel and visualized on a UV transilluminator. To ensure the amplified products were not the result of non-specific amplification, for each pathogen, two bands selected at random were gel excised, column purified (QiaQuick, Qiagen, USA), cloned and bi-directionally sequenced for confirmation. Each sequence was visually inspected and compared to those reported in GenBank (http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/genbank/).

Statistical Analyses

Before beginning the analyses, we examined the normality and homoscedasticity of the relative level of transcription of each target gene with Shapiro and Bartlett tests, respectively. None of the gene expression levels showed deviation of normality or heteroscedasticity. We used Spearman correlations to identify relationships between gene transcripts. The *GATA3* to *Tbx21* (hereafter Ga/Tb) ratio, a measure of Th1/Th2 profile (39) deviated from expectations of normality and, based on a Cullen and Frey graph, appeared to follow a beta distribution. Goodness of fit was examined with a Kolmogorov test.

To challenge our hypotheses, we first built generalized linear models (GLM) for each of the genes, and the Ga/Tb ratio defining the error family as per the distribution of the error (40), and indicating the region where each sea lion was sampled as the explanatory variable. We next used independent GLMs to examine whether the transcription level of each gene and the Ga/Tb ratio was affected by the presence of OtHV-1, ZcPV-1, or simultaneous infection by both viruses in the genital epithelium, and whether gene transcription levels were influenced by systemic inflammation, as assessed by the NLR of the sea lions. For genes whose transcription levels varied among regions, we included this variable in the respective models. We used a top-down strategy to determine which variables explained a significant fraction of the data (40), and we examined the residual distribution by inspecting Q-Q plots, Cook distance and plots of the adjusted residuals vs. the obtained residuals to validate the model. As lower ΔCt values represent higher levels of expression, interpretation was made easier by using a negative transformation of the response variable ($-\log \Delta Ct$). To account for differences in prevalence of OtVH-1, ZcPV-1 and simultaneous infection among regions, we built contingency

TABLE 1 Genes selected as markers of NK and CD8-	cytotoxicity, Th2 responses and immunomodulation.
--	---

Gene	Encoded protein and function	Primers (5'-3')
Ly49	Inhibitory receptor of NK cells.	F. TGTCAGAGAGGAAATGAAGGCA R. TGGCAAGTCTGTTTACATCCGT
Granzyme B	Cytotoxic serum protease that induces apoptosis of target cells. Exerts antiviral and antitumoral responses.	F. CACTCTGCAAGTAGTGAGGCT R. CAGCTGAATGGTGTGGTCGTA
Perforin	Glycoprotein responsible for forming pores in the cell membrane of target cells. Mediator required for apoptosis; Relevant for antiviral and antitumoral responses.	F. CCTGCTGCAGTTCTTCCAAC R. CTGGCACTGACCGACTGG
Eomes	Eomesodermin (T-box brain protein 2). Leads activation and differentiation of TCD ⁸⁺ ; reflects antitumoral responses.	F. TCAGTCCTTCTCCCGGAGC R. GGTTGACCACCTTTCGTTCTG
STAT-1	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 1. Mediates responses to interferon and cytokines; induces antiviral state.	F. GGTGAACTGGACCCCAGTCT R. CTATGGGACCGCACCTTCAA
Tbx21	T cell associated transcription factor (Tbet). Member of the T-box family of transcription factors expressed in Th1 cells. Directs T-cell differentiation and represses Th2 responses.	F. GAGGCTGAGTTTCGAGCAGT R. AGTAGGACATGGTGGGTCCG
GATA-3	Trans-acting T-cell-specific transcription factor. Promotes secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokines by Th2 cells; inhibits the expression of IFNγ; suppresses differentiation of naïve T-helpers to Th1 cells. Expressed by T cells, NK cells and CD1-restricted NKT cells.	F. CATGACACGCTGGAGGACTT R. AGGGAGGTCATGTGTCTGGA
FoxP3	Transcription factor forkhead box protein P3. Anti-inflammatory and anti.apoptotic role. Shapes immune tolerance.	F. TGCAGTCTCTGGAACAGCAG R. TTTGGTCAGGGCCATCTTCC

tables and ran Fisher exact tests. In all cases we considered results statistically significant if the *p*-value was less than 0.05.

Our second approach was to analyze gene transcription profiles with no pre-defined regionalization to allow natural clustering of immune profiles. For this, data were subjected to hierarchical clustering to generate heat maps and dendrograms of the gene transcripts according to the degree of similarity of the transcriptional profiles. Multiple imputation chain equation was used to account for missing values. We first used the full set of target genes, as the "complete profile" of each individual. Next, we used the relative expression of genes representative of responses relevant to this study: (i) NK and CD⁸⁺ activity and differentiation (Ly49, perforin, granzyme, STAT-1, Tbx21, and *Eomes*), (ii) Th2 and immune modulation (*GATA3* and *FoxP3*), and (iii) Th1/Th2 ratio (Tbx21 and GATA3). The number of natural clusters was determined according to a rarefaction curve and two dendrograms were initially created for each set of genes. Algorithms used were Ward.D2 and Average (41). Goodness of fit of the models was based on the cophenetic correlation coefficient, with an optimality value of ≥ 0.8 . As values were lower than 0.8 for all models, we used an Euclidean approach to build the final dendrogram (42). All statistical analyses were conducted in R v3.4.2 (43) using core packages as well as cluster, dendextend, factoextra, fitdistrplus, mice, prevalence and ggplot2.

RESULTS

NK and CD⁸⁺ Activity

Most of the transcription levels of the six genes involved with NK and CD^{8+} activity were significantly correlated to each other (**Table 2**), with correlation coefficients ranging from 0.75 to 0.31. The exceptions were *Ly49* and *perforin*, both of which were not correlated to *STAT-1*.

Transcription levels of *Ly49*, *perforin* and *granzyme B* did not vary significantly among regions [GLM; *Ly49*: $F_{(4,49)} = 0.21$, p =

TABLE 2] Spearman's correlation coefficients of genes expressed by NK and $\mbox{CD}^{8+}\mbox{ T cells}.$

	Eomes	STAT-1	Tbx21	Granzyme B	Perforin	Ly49
Eomes	_	0.55	0.83	0.63	0.70	0.36
STAT-1	0.0008	-	0.62	0.33	0.30	0.17
Tbx21	0.0000	0.0000	-	0.37	0.58	0.40
Granzyme B	0.0000	0.0452	0.0240	-	0.50	0.44
Perforin	0.0000	0.0880	0.0004	0.0021	-	0.34
Ly49	0.0412	0.2316	0.0028	0.0059	0.0477	-

The bottom half of the table shows p-values.

0.932, **Figure 2C**; *perforin*: $F_{(4, 31)} = 1.44$, p = 0.244, **Figure 2B**; *granzyme B*: $F_{(4, 34)} = 1.26$, p = 0.304; **Figure 2A**]. In nearly all sea lions, *granzyme B* was upregulated more than 2-fold with respect to the reference genes, while *perforin* showed the inverse pattern, being downregulated on average 2.73-fold; *Ly49* was slightly downregulated in all but a few individuals, with only a few sea lions showing upregulation.

Transcription of the three transcription factors involved with Th1 development varied among regions [GLM; Eomes: $F_{(4,30)}$ = 2.64, p = 0.049, Figure 2D; *Tbx21*: $F_{(4,49)} = 6.22$, p = 0.016, **Figure 2E**; *STAT-1*: $F_{(4, 49)} = 3.58$, p = 0.012; **Figure 2F**]. *Eomes* was slightly downregulated (average: 0.93-fold) with respect to the reference genes in the majority of sea lions from colonies within the midriff and central regions, and upregulated in the northern and southern regions, as well as in the Mexican North Pacific (average: 0.38-fold). Tbx21 was mostly downregulated, and levels increased across samples collected from north to south within the Gulf of California, reaching the highest values in animals from the Mexican North Pacific (Adj. $R^2 = 0.09$, df = 52, p = 0.016; Figure 2E). In contrast to the other genes indicative of Th1 development, STAT-1 was generally upregulated, and levels of transcription also exhibited a north to south trend within the Gulf of California, reaching the highest values in the sea lions



FIGURE 2 | Transcription levels of selected genes in California sea lion blood sampled at different regions. (A) *Granzyme B*, (B) *Perforin*, (C) *Ly49*, (D) *Eomes*, (E) *Tbx21*, (F) *STAT-1*, (G) *GATA3*, (H) *FoxP3*. *Ly49*, *perforin*, *granzyme B* and *FoxP3* did not vary significantly among regions. *Eomes* was slightly downregulated in sea lions from the midriff and central regions, and upregulated in the northern and southern regions, and the Mexican North Pacific. *Tbx21*, *STAT-1* and *GATA3* increased from north to south within the Gulf of California and reached highest levels in the Mexican North Pacific. The plot shows the median (thick line), first and third quartile (box), and 95% confidence interval of the median (whiskers).

from the Mexican North Pacific (Adj. $R^2 = 0.11$, df = 52, p = 0.007; Figure 2F).

Th2 and Immune Modulation

GATA3 and *FoxP3* were significantly correlated (r = 0.39, p = 0.006). Transcription of *GATA3* varied significantly among regions [GLM; $F_{(4,49)} = 3.19$, 0.017], with a north-to-south increasing gradient within the Gulf of California, and showing the highest levels of transcription in sea lions from the Mexican

North Pacific (Adj $r^2 = 0.12$, df = 52, p = 0.006; **Figure 2G**). *FoxP3* was consistently downregulated (average: 5.29-fold), with no significant differences among regions [GLM; $F_{(4,44)} = 1.35 p = 0.268$; **Figure 2H**].

Th1/Th2 Ratio

There was a wide variation in Ga/Tb, with values ranging to 45.29 to -1.49 (mean = 1.64), and there was no evidence of differences among regions [GLM; $F_{(4,49)} = 0.81$, p = 0.528].



Patterns of Gene Transcription Levels Using no Pre-defined Regionalization

When considering transcriptional patterns of all target genes together, no clear grouping emerged (see Figure S5). A few sea lions had a distinct pattern, and each belonged to a different region. The transcriptional profile related to the NK and CD⁸⁺ cells (considering Ly49, perforin, granzyme, STAT-1, Tbx21, and Eomes transcription levels) showed some heterogeneity and clustering among sea lions (Figure 3A), and the best dendrogram separated the samples in three main branches (Figure 3B). One of the branches harbored 92% (12/13) of the sea lions sampled in the northern region, and 90.1% (10/11) of the sea lions sampled in the midriff region. Furthermore, sea lions from these regions were grouped into smaller clusters, separating them from samples from the central and southern regions, as well as from the Mexican North Pacific. The second main branch grouped only one sea lion from the northern Gulf of California, two from the midriff region, and a mixture of sea lions from southern and central regions, and from the Mexican North Pacific. The third main branch separated a single sea lion sampled in the southern Gulf of California.

The clustering analysis of Th2 and immune modulation profiles revealed some heterogeneity and clustering (**Figure 4A**), and the dendrogram separated the samples in three main branches (**Figure 4B**); the first branch grouped all of the sea lions from the northern region, 91% (10/11) of the sea lions from the midriff region and a few sea lions from the other regions; namely, four from the central region, one from the southern region and two the Mexican North Pacific. The second branch harbored sea lions from the southern (7/8) and central (8/11) regions, and from the Mexican North Pacific (8/11). One sea

lion from the central region was separated from the rest in its own branch.

Clustering patterns of Th1/Th2 profiles were less clear than observed for the other profiles (**Figure 5A**). The dendrogram separated the samples in four main branches (**Figure 5B**); one grouping 92% (12/13) of the sea lions sampled in the northern region, 91% (10/11) of the sea lions from the midriff region, 42% (5/12) of the sea lions sampled in the central region, and 18% (2/11) of the sea lions from the Mexican North Pacific. The second and third branches grouped a mixture of sea lions from the central and south regions, and from the Mexican North Pacific. The fourth main branch separated a single sea lion sampled in the central region.

Gene Transcription and Genital Infection by Oncogenic Viruses

The prevalence of genital viral infections varied significantly across regions (**Figure 6**). Genital ZcPV-1 infections were highest in the Mexican North Pacific followed by the midriff and southern Gulf of California (Pearson's Chi² = 11.32, df = 4, p = 0.042), while OtHV-1 infections were highest in the central region, followed by the northern and midriff regions (Pearson's Chi² = 26.39, df = 4, $p = 2.71 \times 10^{-06}$). The prevalence of simultaneous infections by both viruses also varied among regions, with a similar pattern to that observed for OtHV-1 (Chi² = 11.757, df = 4, p = 0.0231).

Infection status impacted transcription of four genes related to cytotoxicity, even when accounting for spatial differences [GLM; *Eomes*: $F_{(3,29)} = 4.21$, p = 0.015, **Figure 7A**; *perforin*: $F_{(3,30)} = 4.743$, p = 0.008, **Figure 7B**; *Tbx21*: $F_{(3,48)} = 4.16$, p = 0.012, **Figure 7C**] granzyme B: $F_{(3,33)} = 3.39$, p = 0.012, Figure 7C] granzyme B: $F_{(3,33)} = 3.39$, p = 0.012, Figure 7C] granzyme B: $F_{(3,33)} = 3.39$, p = 0.012, Figure 7C] granzyme B: $F_{(3,33)} = 3.39$, p = 0.012, Figure 7C] granzyme B: $F_{(3,33)} = 0.008$, Figure 7C] granzyme B: Figure





0.036, **Figure 7D**. The pattern was consistent and contrasting between viruses. Namely, sea lions infected by OtHV-1 had transcription levels similar to or lower than those of non-infected sea lions and sea lions simultaneously infected by both viruses. In contrast, sea lions infected by ZcPV-1 had significantly higher transcription levels. None of the other target genes were significantly influenced by genital infection status.

In order to examine whether the expression levels of Tbx21 and *Eomes* in sea lions with single infections (either ZcPV-1 or OtHV-1) or with concomitant infections were associated with the up-regulation of inhibitory receptors or suggested a skewed maturation phenotype, we examined the relationship of transcription levels of these genes with those of the inhibitory receptor *Ly49*. We found no correlation for sea lions infected



FIGURE 6 | Prevalence of infection by oncogenic viruses in the genital epithelium of California sea lions according to ecological regions within the Gulf of California and the Mexican North Pacific (MNP). ZcPV-1 infections were highest in the Mexican North Pacific followed by the midriff and southern Gulf of California, OtHV-1 infections were highest in the central region, followed by the northern and midriff regions, and concurrent infections by both viruses varied significantly among regions, following the pattern observed for OtHV-1. Bars = \pm s.e.

simultaneously by both viruses ($r^2 = 0.04$, p = 0.52), nor was there a significant relationship for sea lions that were infected only by OtHV-1 ($r^2 = 9.11$, p = 0.43) or only by papillomavirus ($r^2 = 0.12$, p = 0.26; see **Figure S6**).

Gene Transcription and Inflammation

The marker of chronic systemic inflammation and stress here used, NLR, did not vary significantly across regions. However, the variance differed significantly [*F*-test; $F_{(39,55)} = 0.37$, p = 0.002], being larger for sea lions from the northern and midriff regions (**Figure 8A**). Eight percent of the variation in transcription levels of *Ly49* was influenced by the NLR, and higher NLR values were associated with lower levels of transcription [$F_{(1,38)} = 4.19$, p = 0.048, **Figure 8B**]. None of the other target genes were significantly impacted by the NLR of the sea lions sampled.

DISCUSSION

Our study examined the transcriptional levels of key genes related to cytotoxic responses to viruses and tumor cells, as well as those that are involved with immune modulation in free ranging California sea lions. We found indication of regional differences in the expression of genes related to Th1 responses and immune modulation, and detected different transcription levels in sea lions infected by genital papillomavirus compared to those infected by genital gammaherpesvirus. Furthermore, when

analyzing the gene expression profiles according to functional groupings, a north to south division became apparent, where sea lions from the northern and midriff regions were clustered together, while most sea lions from the central and southern regions, as well as from the Mexican North Pacific, clustered together in another group. As is unavoidably the case when studying free-ranging species, our results are correlative, and impede the inference of direct causation. Furthermore, given that we focused on gene transcription rather than on protein expression, we cannot make inferences regarding the expression of the gene products themselves. Nonetheless, the patterns observed were consistent with what is known for herpesvirus and papillomavirus infections in humans and model species, and the relationships in gene expression levels between the markers selected are strongly suggestive of differential ecological impacts on immune effectors. Owing to the paucity of information regarding pinniped immunity, we will discuss our findings in light of what is known for humans and model animals.

Transcription of two genes, granzyme B and perforin, directly involved with cytotoxic responses did not vary amongst ecological regions. Granzyme B and perforin are expressed by NK and CD⁸⁺ T cells, and are crucial to induce apoptosis of transformed or virus-infected cells (44). Both genes are induced progressively upon activation by antigen-presenting cells. Granzyme B encodes a serine protease (granzyme B) that is released together with perforin, a glycoprotein encoded by the perforin gene. Perforin forms a pore in the membrane of the target cell, allowing granzyme B to enter the target cell and trigger apoptosis via the activation of various caspases, generation of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species, and DNA fragmentation (45). The nearly 5-fold difference in transcription levels between both genes implies that individual sea lion NK and CD⁸⁺ T cells transcribe different combinations of perforin and granzyme B, and that each gene is differentially regulated at the single cell level (46). It is possible that, as has been reported for humans (47), granzyme B could exhibit some perforin-independent activity in the California sea lion, Alternatively, it is also plausible that the results indicate that for every transcribed mRNA of *perforin*, more granzyme B transcription is required.

We also selected Ly49 as a marker of NK function, and found its expression to be slightly downregulated with respect to the reference genes in nearly all of the sea lions. Ly49 encodes functional inhibitory NK cell transmembrane receptors in the California sea lion (48). Inhibitory NK receptors are essential for detecting missing or altered MHC class I molecules in target cells (49). The low levels of expression of Ly49 could reflect that the adult sea lions have a small population of peripheral mature NK cells that are undergoing Ly49 gene activation. If so, most of the granzyme B and perforin would have been transcribed by peripheral CD⁸⁺ cells, as they tend to be more abundant than NK cells in blood (50). This possibility is strengthened by the loose correlation observed between the transcription levels of Ly49 and those of granzyme B and perforin. Future studies should aim to explore the functional role of other NK cell transmembrane receptors, such as the killer cell lectin like receptor 1 gene (*nkg2d*), whose role for modulating cytotoxicity has been associated with susceptibility to papillomavirus-related cancers in humans (51).



FIGURE 7 | Gene transcription levels varied according to genital infection status. (A) Eomes, (B) Perforin, (C) Tbx21, (D) Granzyme. The plot shows the median (thick line), first and third quartile (box), and 95% confidence interval of the median (whiskers).



(B) Relative transcription levels of Ly49 are explained by the NLR of California sea lions. Higher NLR values were associated with lower levels of transcription (Adjusted $R^2 = 0.078$).

Relative expression levels of *Eomes*, *Tbx21*, and *STAT-1*, genes also expressed by NK and CD^{8+} T cells (52), was closely correlated, as would be expected in a Th1 (pro-inflammatory) environment (53, 54). Furthermore, these genes exhibited regional variation in transcription. Eomes was downregulated in most sea lions from the midriff and central regions, but upregulated in sea lions from the northern and southern regions, as well as in the Mexican North Pacific, while Tbx21 and STAT-1 transcription levels showed a clear north-to-south increase within the Gulf of California and reached highest levels in the Mexican North Pacific. When considering the

transcriptional profile of NK and CD⁸⁺ cells, the hierarchal clustering analysis revealed two main profiles. Sea lions from the northern and midriff regions exhibited one of them, while most sea lions from the southern region and the Mexican North Pacific exhibited the other. Sea lions from the central region exhibited one or the other profile, and a few sea lions from the southern region and the Mexican North Pacific exhibited a more "northern" transcriptional profile. This suggests a spatial difference in the prevalence of intracellular pathogens or differential exposure to other factors that could cause cellular insults.

The encoded products of Eomes, Tbx21, and STAT-1 (Eomesodermin, T-bet, and STAT-1, respectively) are essential to Th1 cell differentiation, and are consequently important for downstream anti-viral and anti-tumoral responses (16). Eomes gene expression can be upregulated by type I interferon signaling in CD^{8+} T cells (55), while *Tbx21* is upregulated in response to stimulation by antigens and macrophage-derived cytokines (56). STAT-1 regulates Tbx21 transcription, and in turn, high levels of Tbx21 influence the transcription of perforin and granzyme B in antigen-stimulated cells (57). Furthermore, T-bet promotes and sustains virus-specific CD^{8+} responses, particularly during chronic infections (58). The relatively higher transcription levels observed in sea lions from the southern Gulf of California and Northern Pacific could indicate increased exposure to intracellular pathogens or anti-tumoral activity. Two results add support for this proposed explanation. First, sea lions with genital infections by papillomavirus had increased expression of *Eomes*, Tbx21, and perforin, and second, papillomavirus infections were significantly higher in the southern Gulf of California and Mexican North Pacific. Research on human papillomavirus has shown that the oncogenic proteins E6 and E7 can induce Tcell responses in individuals with a functional immune system. The responses, characterized by higher densities of T cells that express eomesodermin (16), T-bet (17), and perforin, among other markers help clear, or avoid, the occurrence of cervical neoplasia (17). Based on our results, we suggest that ZcPV-1 induces systemic immune responses in otherwise healthy California sea lions.

An opposite pattern was observed for OtHV-1. Here, genetic expression of Eomes, Tbx21, and perforin was lower in infected sea lions. In marked contrast to papillomavirus, whose tropism is restricted to the basal layer of the epithelium (59), gammaherpesviruses have a wider tropism that includes epithelial cells and B-lymphocytes (60). In humans, active gammaherpesvirus infections are most often associated with severe immunosuppression, and the viruses can switch to latency, establishing lifelong persistent infections, which can then lead to lymphomas and carcinomas, as well as lymphoproliferative disorders of NK and T cells (61). Immune control of gammaherpesviruses infections is complicated, as they have evolved various immune evasion strategies (62). Unfortunately, knowledge about OtHV-1 pathogenesis is currently limited, but based on our results, it is tempting to speculate that detectable infections in the genital tract will be much more common in sea lions with a suboptimal immune status, and that infections will, in turn, avoid cytotoxic immune responses, further increasing the risk of malignant transformation of infected cells. This hypothesis is strengthened by two findings: one, a relative decrease in lymphocyte counts was observed in herpesvirusinfected sea lions compared to sea lions with papillomavirus or those with no apparent infections (see Figure S7); and two, when comparing levels of transcription of genes related to cytotoxicity among apparently uninfected sea lions, sea lions infected by OtHV-1, ZcPV-1, and by both viruses simulaneously, levels of *Eomes, perforin, and tbx21* of sea lions infected by OtHV-1 were equal to or lower than uninfected sea lions. Interestingly, simultaneous infection of the genital epithelium by OtHV-1 and ZcPV-1 resulted in a pattern of transcription similar to that of OtHV-1 alone. This was unexpected, and implies that coinfections might be an important risk factor for transformation of the genital epithelium, owing to a reduction in anti-viral and anti-tumor activity. A recent study reported coinfection by herpesviruses and papillomaviruses in genital tumors of Atlantic bottlenose dolphins, *Tursiops truncatus* (63) and it has already been shown that co-infections by oncogenic papillomaviruses and herpesviruses increase the risk of cervical carcinoma in humans (64). Based on our results, we believe that the potential role of papillomavirus as a co-factor in for sea lion urogenital carcinoma should be reconsidered [see (3)].

Transcription levels of the two genes selected as markers of Th2 responses and immune modulation varied among regions, once again with a north to south gradient. GATA3 was downregulated in sea lions from the northern and midriff Gulf of California, and upregulated in sea lions from the central and southern Gulf of California and Mexican North Pacific, where levels were the highest. FoxP3 mirrored the spatial pattern, although transcription levels of this gene were, on average 4.5fold lower than that of GATA3. Both genes were correlated, as would be expected since GATA3 modulates FoxP3 expression and activity (65), however, GATA3 only explained 13% of the variation in FoxP3 levels, and a number of individuals deviated greatly from the predicted regression. GATA3 is a transcription factor expressed by mature CD^{8+} T cells, and it plays a key role in leading to the differentiation of Th2 cells, regulating T cell development, proliferation, metabolism, and maintenance. In particular, it promotes development of anti-inflammatory Th2 and Th9 cells, and suppresses pro-inflammatory Th1 and Th17 differentiation as well as B cell development (65). In turn, FoxP3 is highly expressed by CD⁴⁺ T regulatory (Treg) cells, and it is essential to ensure immune homeostasis by suppressing (or destroying) active leukocytes via stimulating direct cytotoxicity, depleting growth factors in the extracellular environment, and secreting anti-inflammatory cytokines and co-inhibitory molecules that can modulate the activity of antigen-presenting cells (65). Expression of FoxP3 is particularly important to control excessive anti-viral responses and limit the extent of immunopathology (66). Based on the fact that (i) several of the genes involved with promoting pro-inflammatory and cytotoxic responses were upregulated in sea lions from the central and southern Gulf of California and Mexican North Pacific, and (ii) these are the regions where transcription of GATA3 was increased, and that expression of GATA3 is known to be tightly regulated by TCR and pro-inflammatory cytokine stimulation, which in turn responds to active CD^{8+} and NK activity (67), it is possible that sea lions in these regions are experiencing active responses to one or more viruses, and are, at the same time, experiencing some level of immunomodulation to avoid damage associated with these responses. The hierarchal analysis showed some support for this explanation, as the dendrogram revealed two large groups that separated sea lions from the northern and midriff region from those from the central and southern Gulf of California, and the Mexican North Pacific. Thus, it is likely that differences in viral exposure, as well as other as yet unidentified environmental and ecological variables are impacting sea lion immune modulation in addition to their cytotoxic immune activity. Having found that the NLR was higher in sea lions from the northern and midriff region implies that these individuals are undergoing chronic inflammation. However, as our study focused exclusively on assessing gene transcription levels, rather than proteins, this possibility will need to be examined in more detail in the future by quantifying cytokine levels in the blood.

The ratio of *GATA3* to *Tbx21* (here Ga/Tb) is an indirect measure of the Th1/Th2 profile of an individual (39). Both transcription factors cross-regulate each other, as T-bet modulates GATA-3 function and Th2 cytokines block Th1 differentiation (66). The interrelationship of these molecules and the effector responses that they regulate define the host response and, therefore, influence the outcome of a given infection. While mean Ga/Tb did not vary among regions, when analyzing the Th1/Th2 profile by hierarchal clustering, a north to south pattern emerged once again, with one group comprised by sea lions from the midriff, northern, and one comprised by sea lions from the southern region. As observed for transcriptional markers of cytotoxicity, sea lions from the central region exhibited either one the responses.

The observed patterns in the transcriptional profiles of genes related to cytotoxicity, Th2 and immunomodulation, and Th1/Th2 balance were congruent. In all cases there appeared to be a distinction between patterns exhibited by sea lions from the northern and midriff regions and those exhibited from the southern region and the Mexican North Pacific. While differences in transcription levels do not necessarily indicate differences in the synthesis of the proteins of interest due to transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulation (68), the congruence in the transcriptional profiles observed cannot be ignored. In particular, these profiles appear to be related to genital infection by two oncogenic viruses, and are likely to reflect other ecological and environmental factors, such as differences in contaminant levels (7, 20, 21) and availability of energetic resources (25) to implement immune responses (32). These possibilities will need to be addressed in future studies. Given the role of NK and CD8+ cells for tumor surveillance and anti-viral responses (15-17), the significance of OtHV-1 in the development of sea lion urogenital carcinoma (2, 3), the potential importance of ZcPV-1 in oncogenesis (63), and the stark difference in the prevalence of urogenital carcinoma between sea lions from the US and Mexican waters (18), the patterns observed are likely to be biologically significant.

Marine mammals, as apex predators, are continuously exposed to xenobiotics that can impact their immune competence. This is particularly problematic, given the growing number of emerging pathogens in the marine environment and the rise in disease conditions and unusual mortality events in the past decades. In this context, it is relevant and timely to increase our understanding of the factors that can hinder different immune effectors of these species (69), particularly of those that are prone to develop chronic and deadly diseases, such

REFERENCES

1. Deming AC, Colegrove KM, Duignan PJ, Hall AJ, Wellehan JFX, Gulland FMD. Prevalence of urogenital carcinoma in stranded california sea lions

as urogenital carcinoma, which could be considered sentinels of immune competence (70). Our study is a first approach to profile the transcriptional patterns of key immune effectors of free-ranging California sea lions, and their association with ecological regions and infection by oncogenic viruses. The observed results and suggested patterns add insight to our understanding of immune competence of marine mammals, and may help elucidate the marked difference in the number of cases of urogenital carcinoma in sea lions from US waters and other areas of their distribution.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KA-W conceived, designed and coordinated the study. IP conducted gene expression assays, statistical analyses, and drafted the manuscript. AF-M conducted hematological analysis; MF-C and RÁ-M assisted with statistical design, analysis and interpretation of data. FG-dlR and LS-G performed pathogen detection assays. All authors read and commented the final draft of the manuscript and gave final approval for publication.

FUNDING

This study was funded by grant CONACYT-*Fronteras de la Ciencia* 446 awarded to KA-W. IP was funded by a CONACYT PhD studentship (298065). AF-M was funded by a CONACYT PhD studentship (287579).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Marina Banuet-Martínez, Daniela Bárcenas, Cecilia Barragán-Vargas, Rafael Chávez, Carlos Domínguez-Sánchez, Fernando Elorriaga-Verplancken, and Manuel Vargas for their help with animal capture and restraint and processing of samples in the field. Diego Ruiz and The Museo de la Ballena staff kindly provided logistical support during fieldwork while aboard the Narval ship. Erika Vargas Perusquia greatly helped with grant administration. We are grateful to Frances Gulland for reading an early draft of the manuscript and providing feedback that greatly improved the paper.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2019.00413/full#supplementary-material

(Zalophus californianus) from 2005–2015. J Wildl Dis. (2018). 54:581–6. doi: 10.7589/2017-08-208

2. Lipscomb TP, Scott DP, Garber RL, Krafft AE, Tsai MM, Lichy JH, et al. Common metastatic carcinoma of California sea lions (Zalophus

californianus): evidence of genital origin and association with novel gammaherpesvirus. *Vet Pathol.* (2000) 37:609–17. doi: 10.1354/vp.37-6-609

- Buckles EL, Lowenstine LJ, Funke C, Vittore RK, Wong HN, St Leger JA, et al. Otarine herpesvirus-1, not papillomavirus, is associated with endemic tumours in California sea lions (*Zalophus californianus*). J Comp Pathol. (2006) 135:183–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jcpa.2006.06.007
- Acevedo-Whitehouse K, Gulland F, Greig D, Amos W. Inbreeding: disease susceptibility in California sea lions. *Nature*. (2003) 422:35. doi: 10.1038/422035a
- Bowen L, Aldridge BM, Delong R, Melin S, Buckles EL, Gulland F, et al. An immunogenetic basis for the high prevalence of urogenital cancer in a free-ranging population of California sea lions (*Zalophus californianus*). *Immunogenetics*. (2005) 56:846–8. doi: 10.1007/s00251-004-0757-z
- Browning HM, Acevedo-Whitehouse K, Gulland FMD, Hall AJ, Finlayson J, Dagleish M P, et al. Evidence for a genetic basis of urogenital carcinoma in the wild California sea lion. *Proc Biol Sci.* (2014) 281:20140240. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2014.0240
- Ylitalo GM, Stein JE, Hom T, Johnson LL, Tilbury KL, Hall AJ, et al. The role of organochlorines in cancer-associated mortality in California sea lions (*Zalophus californianus*). *Mar Poll Bull*. (2005) 50:30–9. doi: 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2004.08.005
- Levin M, Morsey B, Mori C, Guise SD. Specific non-coplanar PCBmediated modulation of bottlenose dolphin and beluga whale phagocytosis upon *in vitro* exposure. *J Toxicol Environ Health A*. (2004) 67:1517–35. doi: 10.1080/15287390490486761
- Levin M, Leibrecht H, Mori C, Jessup D, De Guise S. Immunomodulatory effects of organochlorine mixtures upon in vitro exposure of peripheral blood leukocytes differ between free-ranging and captive southern sea otters (*Enhydra lutris*). Vet Immunol Immunopathol. (2007) 119:269–77. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2007.06.003
- Desforges JP, Sonne C, Levin M, Siebert U, De Guise S, Dietz R. Immunotoxic effects of environmental pollutants in marine mammals. *Environ Intern.* (2016) 86:126–39. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2015.10.007
- de Guise SD. Effects of *in vitro* exposure of beluga whale leukocytes to selected organochlorines. J Toxicol Environ Health A. (1998) 55:479–93. doi: 10.1080/009841098158287
- Mori C, Morsey B, Levin M, Nambiar PR, De Guise S. Immunomodulatory effects of in vitro exposure to organochlorines on T-cell proliferation in marine mammals and mice. *J Toxicol Environ Health A*. (2006) 69:283–302. doi: 10.1080/15287390500227472
- Mori C, Morsey B, Levin M, Gorton TS, De Guise S. Effects of organochlorines, individually and in mixtures, on B-cell proliferation in marine mammals and mice. J Toxicol Environ Health A. (2008) 71:266–75. doi: 10.1080/15287390701612860
- Peñín I, Levin M, Acevedo-Whitehouse K, Jasperse L, Gebhard E, Gulland FMD, et al. Effects of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCB) on California sea lion (*Zalophus californianus*) lymphocyte functions upon *in vitro* exposure. *Environ Res.* (in press). 167:708–17. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2018. 08.028
- Zhu J, Paul WE. Peripheral CD4+ T-cell differentiation regulated by networks of cytokines and transcription factors. *Immunol Rev.* (2010) 238:247–62. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2010.00951.x
- Bartkowiak T, Singh S, Yang G, Galvan G, Haria D, Ai M, et al. Unique potential of 4–1BB agonist antibody to promote durable regression of HPV+ tumors when combined with an E6/E7 peptide vaccine. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (2015) 112:E5290–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1514418112
- Origoni M, Parma M, Dell'Antonio G, Gelardi C, Stefani C, Salvatore S, et al. Prognostic significance of immunohistochemical phenotypes in patients treated for high-grade cervical intraepithelial neoplasia. *Biomed Res Int.* (2013) 7:831907. doi: 10.1155/2013/831907
- Barragán-Vargas C, Montano-Frías JE, Silva-Rosales GR, Godínez-Reyes CR, Acevedo-Whitehouse K. Transformation of the genital epithelial tract occurs early in California sea lion development. *R Soc Open Sci.* (2016) 3:150419. doi: 10.1098/rsos.150419
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell*. (2011) 144:646–74. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- 20. Niño-Torres CA, Gardner SC, Zenteno-Savín T, Ylitalo GM. Organochlorine pesticides and polychlorinated biphenyls in California sea lions (Zalophus

californianus californianus) from the Gulf of California, México. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol. (2009) 56:350–9. doi: 10.1007/s00244-008-9181-y

- Del Toro L, Heckel G, Camacho-Ibar VF, Schramm Y. California sea lions (*Zalophus californianus californianus*) have lower chlorinated hydrocarbon contents in northern Baja California, México, than in California, USA. *Environ Pollut.* (2006) 142:83–92. doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2005.09.019
- Szteren D, Aurioles-Gamboa D. Ecological regionalization of Zalophus californianus rookeries, as a tool for conservation in the Gulf of California. *Ciencias Mar.* (2011) 37:349–68. doi: 10.7773/cm.v37i3.1818
- Lluch-Cota SE. Coastal upwelling in the eastern Gulf of California. Oceanologica Acta. (2000) 23:731–40. doi: 10.1016/S0399-1784(00)00121-3
- Santamaría-del-Angel E, Alvarez-Borrego S, Müller-Karger FE. Gulf of California biogeographic regions based on coastal zone color scanner imagery. *J Geophys Res.* (1994) 99:7411–21. doi: 10.1029/93JC02154
- 25. Aurioles-Gamboa D, Silverberg N, Aguirre-Bahena F. Possible relation between enrichment of δ 15N in the top predator *Zalophus californianus* and the expansion of the oxygen minimum zone. *Mar Biol.* (2017) 164:157. doi: 10.1007/s00227-017-3189-7
- 26. Ward JE, Chirakkal H, González-Suárez M, Aurioles-Gamboa D, Holmes EE, Gerber L. Inferring spatial structure from time-series data: using multivariate state-space models to detect metapopulation structure of California sea lions in the Gulf of California, Mexico. J Appl Ecol. (2010) 47:47–56. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2664.2009.01745.x
- Maldonado JE, Davila FO, Stewart BS, Geffen E, Wayne RK. Intraspecific genetic differentiation in California sea lions (*Zalophus californianus*) from southern California and the Gulf of California. *Mar Mamm Sci.* (1995) 11:46–58. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-7692.1995.tb00273.x
- Schramm Y, Mesnick SL, de la Rosa J, Palacios DM, Lowry MS, Aurioles-Gamboa D, et al. Phylogeography of California and Galápagos sea lions and population structure within the California sea lion. *Mar Biol.* (2009) 156:1375. doi: 10.1007/s00227-009-1178-1
- Avalos-Téllez R, Carrillo-Casas EM, Atilano-López D, Godínez-Reyes CR, Díaz-Aparicio E, Ramírez-Delgado D, et al. Pathogenic *Leptospira* serovars in free-living sea lions in the Gulf of California and along the Baja California coast of Mexico. J Wildl Dis. (2016) 52:199–208. doi: 10.7589/2015-06-133
- Garciá-Hernández J, King KA, Velasco AL, Shumilin E, Mora MA, Glenna EP. Selenium, selected inorganic elements, and organochlorine pesticides in bottom material and biota from the Colorado River delta. *J Arid Environ*. (2001) 49:65–89. doi: 10.1006/jare.2001.0836
- Banuet-Martínez M, Espinosa de Aquino W, Elorriaga-Verplancken FR, Flores-Moran A, García OP, Camacho M, et al. Climatic anomaly affects the immune competence of California sea lions. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0179359. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0179359
- Turner M. Is transcription the dominant force during dynamic changes in gene expression? Adv Exp Med Biol. (2011) 780:1–13. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4419-5632-3_1
- Forget P, Khalifa C, Defour JP, Latinne D, Van Pel MC, De Kock M. What is the normal value of the neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio? *BMC Res Notes*. (2017) 10:12. doi: 10.1186/s13104-016-2335-5
- Vera-Massieu C, Brock PM, Godínez-Reyes C, Acevedo-Whitehouse K. Activation of an inflammatory response is context-dependent during early development of the California sea lion. *Royal Soc Open Sci.* (2015) 2:150108. doi: 10.1098/rsos.150108
- Montano-Frías JE, Vera-Massieu C, Álvarez-Martínez R, Flores-Morán A, Aeevedo-Whitehouse J. MHC class II transcription is associated with inflammatory responses in a wild marine mammal. *Inf Gen Evol.* (2016) 42:77–82. doi: 10.1016/j.meegid.2016.04.022
- Schmittgen TD, Livak KJ. Analyzing real-time PCR data by the comparative CT method. Nat Protoc. (2008) 3:1101–8. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2008.73
- Bustin SA, Benes V, Garson JA, Hellemans J, Huggett J, Kubista M, et al. The MIQE guidelines: minimum information for publication of quantitative real-time PCR experiments. *Clin Chem.* (2009) 55:611–22. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2008.112797
- Velez MM. (2012) Identification of Accurate Sampling Techniques to Detect OtHV-1 in California sea Lions. dissertation/master's thesis. San Francisco, CA: San Francisco State University.
- Chakir H, Wang H, Lefebvre DE, Webb J, Scott FW. T-bet/GATA-3 ratio as a measure of the Th1/Th2 cytokine profile in mixed cell populations:

predominant role of GATA-3. J Immunol Methods. (2003) 278:157-169. doi: 10.1016/S0022-1759(03)00200-X

- Zuur A, Ieno EN, Walker N, Saveliev AA, Smith GM. Mixed Effects Models and Extensions in Ecology with R. New York, NY: Springer Press (2009). p. 574.
- Murtag F, Legendre P. Ward's hierarchical agglomerative clustering method: which algorithms implement ward's criterion? J Classif. (2014) 31:274–95. doi: 10.1007/s00357-014-9161-z
- Sokal RR, Rohlf FJ. The comparison of dendrograms by objective methods. *Taxon*. (1962) 11:33–40. doi: 10.2307/1217208
- R Development Core Team. R: A language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. (2017). Available online at: http://www.R-project.org. ISBN 3-900051-07-0
- Della Chiesa M, Marcenaro E, Sivori S, Carlomagno S, Pesce S, Moretta A. Human NK cell response to pathogens. *Semin Immunol.* (2014) 26:152–60. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2014.02.001
- Afonina IS, Cullen SP, Martin SJ. Cytotoxic and non-cytotoxic roles of the CTL/NK protease granzyme B. *Immunol Rev.* (2010) 235:105–16. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2010.00908.x
- 46. Kelso A, Costelloe EO, Johnson BJ, Groves P, Buttigieg K, Fitzpatrick DR. The genes for perforin, granzymes A-C and IFN-gamma are differentially expressed in single CD⁸⁽⁺⁾ T cells during primary activation. *Int Immunol.* (2002) 14:605–13. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxf028
- 47. Choy JC, Hung VH, Hunter AL, Cheung PK, Motyka B, Goping IS, et al. Granzyme B induces smooth muscle cell apoptosis in the absence of perforin: involvement of extracellular matrix degradation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2004) 24:2245–50. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000147162.5 1930.b7
- Hammond JA, Guethlein LA, Abi-Rached L, Moesta AK, Parham P. Evolution and survival of marine carnivores did not require a diversity of killer cell Ig-like receptors or Ly49 NK cell receptors. *J Immunol.* (2009) 182:3618–27. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0803026
- Di Santo JP. Natural killer cell developmental pathways: a question of balance. Annu Rev Immunol. (2006) 24:257–86. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.24.021605.090700
- Knox JJ, Cosma GL, Betts MR, McLane LM. Characterization of T-bet and eomes in peripheral human immune cells. *Front Immunol.* (2014) 5:217. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00217
- Espinoza JL, Nguyen VH, Ichimura H, Pham TTT, Nguyen CH, Pham TV, et al. A functional polymorphism in the NKG2D gene modulates NK-cell cytotoxicity and is associated with susceptibility to human Papilloma virusrelated cancers. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:39231. doi: 10.1038/srep39231
- Gotthardt D, Sexl V. STATs in NK-Cells: the good, the bad, and the ugly. Front Immunol. (2017) 7:694. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00694
- Szabo SJ, Kim ST, Costa GL, Zhang X, Fathman CG, Glimcher LH. A novel transcription factor, T-bet, directs Th1 lineage commitment. *Cell.* (2000) 100:655–69. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80702-3
- 54. Iwata S, Mikami Y, Sun HW, Brooks SR, Jankovic D, Hirahara K, et al. The transcription factor T-bet limits amplification of type I IFN transcriptome and circuitry in T helper 1 cells. *Immunity*. (2017) 46:983– 91.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.05.005
- 55. Martinet V, Tonon S, Torres D, Azouz A, Nguyen M, Kohler A, et al. Type I interferons regulate eomesodermin expression and the development of unconventional memory CD⁸⁽⁺⁾ T cells. *Nat Commun.* (2015) 6:7089. doi: 10.1038/ncomms8089
- Afkarian M, Sedy JR, Yang J, Jacobson NG, Cereb N, Yang SY, et al. T-bet is a STAT1-induced regulator of IL-12R expression in naïve CD4+ T cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2002) 3:549–57. doi: 10.1038/ni794
- 57. Takemoto N, Intlekofer AM, Northrup JT, Wherry EJ, Reiner SL. Cutting edge: IL-12 inversely regulates T-bet and eomesodermin expression during

pathogen-induced ${\rm CD}^{8+}$ T cell differentiation. JImmunol. (2006) 177:7515–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.11.7515

- Kao C, Oestreich KJ, Paley MA, Crawford A, Angelosanto JM, Ali MA, et al. Transcription factor T-bet represses expression of the inhibitory receptor PD-1 and sustains virus-specific CD⁸⁺ T cell responses during chronic infection. *Nat Immunol.* (2011) 12:663–71. doi: 10.1038/ni.2046
- Shigehara K, Sasagawa T, Namiki M. Human papillomavirus infection and pathogenesis in urothelial cells: a mini-review. J Infect Chemother. (2014) 20:741–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jiac.2014.08.033
- Möhl BS, Chen J, Sathiyamoorthy K, Jardetzky TS, Longnecker R. Structural and mechanistic insights into the tropism of epstein-barr virus. *Mol Cells*. (2016) 39:286–91. doi: 10.14348/molcells.2016.0066
- Miller CS, Berger JR, Mootoor Y, Avdiushko SA, Zhu H, Kryscio RJ. High prevalence of multiple human herpesviruses in saliva from human immunodeficiency virus-infected persons in the era of highly active antiretroviral therapy. J Clin Microbiol. (2006) 44:2409–15. doi: 10.1128/JCM.00256-06
- Feng P, Moses A, Früh K. Evasion of adaptive and innate immune response mechanisms by γ-herpesviruses. *Curr Opin Virol.* (2013) 3:285–95. doi: 10.1016/j.coviro.2013.05.011
- Rehtanz M, Bossart GD, Fair PA, Reif JS, Ghim S, Jenson AB. Papillomaviruses and herpesviruses: who is who in genital tumor development of free-ranging Atlantic bottlenose dolphins (Tursiops truncatus)? *Vet Microbiol.* (2012) 160:297–304. doi: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2012.05.042
- Amirian ES, Adler-Storthz K, Scheurer ME. Associations between human herpesvirus-6, human papillomavirus and cervical cancer. *Cancer Lett.* (2013) 336:18–23. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2013.04.023
- 65. Wan YY. GATA3: A master of many trades in immune regulation. *Trends Immunol.* (2014) 35:233–42. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2014.04.002
- 66. Mercer F, Unutmaz D. The biology of foxp3: a key player in immune suppression during infections, autoimmune diseases and cancer. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* (2009) 665:47–59. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4419-1599-3_4
- Lu L, Barbi J, Pan F. The regulation of immune tolerance by foxp3. Nat Rev Immunol. (2017) 17:703–17. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.75
- Vogel C, Marcotte EM. Insights into the regulation of protein abundance from proteomic and transcriptomic analyses. *Nat Rev Genet.* (2012) 13:227–32. doi: 10.1038/nrg3185
- 69. Bowen L, Miles AK, Murray M, Haulena M, Tuttle J, Van Bonn W, et al. Gene transcription in sea otters (*Enhydra lutris*); development of a diagnostic tool for sea otter and ecosystem health. *Mol Ecol Resour.* (2012) 12:67–74. doi: 10.1111/j.1755-0998.2011.03060.x
- Randhawa N, Gulland F, Ylitalo GM, DeLong R, Mazet JAK. Sentinel California sea lions provide insight into legacy organochlorine exposure trends and their association with cancer and infectious disease. One Health. (2015) 1:37–43. doi: 10.1016/j.onehlt.2015. 08.003

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Peñín, Figueroa-Cabañas, Guerrero-de la Rosa, Soto-García, Álvarez-Martínez, Flores-Morán and Acevedo-Whitehouse. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Comparative Immunopathology of *Cetacean morbillivirus* Infection in Free-Ranging Dolphins From Western Mediterranean, Northeast-Central, and Southwestern Atlantic

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Brian Dixon, University of Waterloo, Canada

Reviewed by:

John Reif, Colorado State University, United States Sylvain De Guise, University of Connecticut, United States

*Correspondence:

Josué Díaz-Delgado josue.diaz101@alu.ulpgc.es

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Comparative Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 13 December 2018 Accepted: 22 February 2019 Published: 18 March 2019

Citation:

Díaz-Delgado J, Groch KR, Ressio R, Riskallah IPJ, Sierra E, Sacchini S, Quesada-Canales Ó, Arbelo M, Fernández A. Santos-Neto E. Ikeda J. Carvalho RR. Azevedo AF. Lailson-Brito J Jr, Flach L, Kanamura CT, Fernandes NCCA, Cogliati B, Centelleghe C, Mazzariol S, Di Renzo L, Di Francesco G, Di Guardo G and Catão-Dias JL (2019) Comparative Immunopathology of Cetacean morbillivirus Infection in Free-Ranging Dolphins From Western Mediterranean, Northeast-Central, and Southwestern Atlantic. Front, Immunol, 10:485. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00485 Josué Díaz-Delgado^{1*}, Kátia R. Groch¹, Rodrigo Ressio², Isis P. J. Riskallah^{2,3}, Eva Sierra⁴, Simona Sacchini⁴, Óscar Quesada-Canales⁴, Manuel Arbelo⁴, Antonio Fernández⁴, Elitieri Santos-Neto⁵, Joana Ikeda⁵, Rafael Ramos de Carvalho⁵, Alexandre de Freitas Azevedo⁵, Jose Lailson-Brito Jr.⁵, Leonardo Flach⁶, Cristina T. Kanamura², Natália C. C. A. Fernandes², Bruno Cogliati³, Cinzia Centelleghe⁷, Sandro Mazzariol⁷, Ludovica Di Renzo⁸, Gabriella Di Francesco⁸, Giovanni Di Guardo⁹ and José Luiz Catão-Dias¹

¹ Laboratory of Wildlife Comparative Pathology, Department of Pathology, School of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science, University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil, ² Pathology Center, Adolfo Lutz Institute, São Paulo, Brazil, ³ Laboratory of Morphologic and Molecular Pathology, Department of Pathology, School of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science, University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil, ⁴ School of Veterinary Medicine, Institute for Animal Health and Food Safety, University of Las Palmas of Gran Canaria, Arucas, Spain, ⁵ Laboratory of Aquatic Mammals and Bioindicators: Profa Izabel M. G. do N. Gurgel' (MAQUA), Faculty of Oceanography, Rio de Janeiro State University, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, ⁶ Instituto Boto Cinza, Mangaratiba, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, ⁷ Department of Comparative Biomedicine and Food Hygiene (BCA), University of Padova, Legnaro, Italy, ⁸ Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale dell'Abruzzo e del Molise "G. Caporale", Teramo, Italy, ⁹ Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Teramo, Teramo, Italy

Cetacean morbillivirus (CeMV; Paramyxoviridae) causes epizootic and interepizootic fatalities in odontocetes and mysticetes worldwide. Studies suggest there is different species-specific susceptibility to CeMV infection, with striped dolphins (Stenella coeruleoalba), bottlenose dolphins (Tursiops truncatus), and Guiana dolphins (Sotalia guianensis) ranking among the most susceptible cetacean hosts. The pathogenesis of CeMV infection is not fully resolved. Since no previous studies have evaluated the organ-specific immunopathogenetic features of CeMV infection in tissues from infected dolphins, this study was aimed at characterizing and comparing immunophenotypic profiles of local immune responses in lymphoid organs (lymph nodes, spleen), lung and CNS in CeMV-molecularly (RT-PCR)-positive cetaceans from Western Mediterranean, Northeast-Central, and Southwestern Atlantic. Immunohistochemical (IHC) analyses targeted molecules of immunologic interest: caspase 3, CD3, CD20, CD57, CD68, FoxP3, MHCII, Iba1, IFN_γ, IgG, IL4, IL10, Iysozyme, TGFβ, and PAX5. We detected consistent CeMV-associated inflammatory response patterns. Within CNS, inflammation was dominated by CD3+ (T cells), and CD20+ and PAX5+ (B cells) lymphocytes, accompanied by fewer Iba1+, CD68+, and lysozyme+ histiocytes, mainly in striped dolphins and bottlenose dolphins. Multicentric lymphoid depletion was characterized by reduced numbers of T cells and B cells, more pronounced in Guiana dolphins. Striped dolphins and bottlenose dolphins often had hyperplastic (regenerative) phenomena involving the aforementioned cell populations, particularly chronically infected animals. In the lung, there was mild to moderate increase in T cells, B cells, and histiocytes. Additionally, there was a generalized increased expression of caspase 3 in lymphoid, lung, and CNS tissues. Apoptosis, therefore, is believed to play a major role in generalized lymphoid depletion and likely overt immunosuppression during CeMV infection. No differences were detected regarding cytokine immunoreactivity in lymph nodes, spleen, and lung from infected and non-infected dolphins by semiquantitative analysis; however, there was striking immunoreactivity for IFN γ in the CNS of infected dolphins. These novel results set the basis for tissue-specific immunophenotypic responses during CeMV infection in three highly susceptible delphinid species. They also suggest a complex interplay between viral and host's immune factors, thereby contributing to gain valuable insights into similarities, and differences of CeMV infection's immunopathogenesis in relation to body tissues, CeMV strains, and cetacean hosts.

Keywords: Cetacean morbillivirus, immunopathogenesis, neuroimmunopathology, lymphocytes, histiocytes, apoptosis, cytokines

INTRODUCTION

Cetacean morbillivirus (CeMV; genus Morbillivirus, family Paramyxoviridae) has caused multiple outbreaks of lethal disease in odontocetes and mysticetes worldwide. Interepizootic or endemic morbidity and mortality is also recorded (1). There are three well characterized CeMV strains (porpoise MV, dolphin [D]-MV, and pilot whale MV) mainly in northern hemisphere, and three novel strains, one of them detected in Brazil, i.e., Guiana dolphin (GD)-MV, which is also considered the first reported example of CeMV infection among cetaceans from South America (2, 3). Studies suggest there is different species-specific susceptibility to CeMV infection with bottlenose dolphins (Tursiops truncatus), striped dolphins (Stenella coeruleoalba), and Guiana dolphins (Sotalia guianensis) ranking among the most susceptible cetacean hosts, with fatal epizootics (1, 3, 4). CeMV may cause severe lymphoid, respiratory, and neurologic disease in susceptible species, leading to stranding and death. Four major presentations of CeMV-associated pathology (CeMV-AP) are currently recognized, which bear resemblance to the pathologic features of measles virus (MeV) and canine distemper virus (CDV) infections, the major morbilliviral diseases in humans and dogs, respectively (5, 6).

The pathogenesis of infections by terrestrial morbilliviruses (TMVs) involve initial replication in lymphoid tissues, followed by viral dissemination in infected lymphocytes through the lymphatics and blood stream ("leukocyte trafficking"), and eventual spread to epithelial and nervous cells (6, 7). Immunohistochemical (IHC) studies on naturally occurring CeMV infections in cetaceans support the above pathogenesis, with a predominant aerogenous transmission (1). Several studies have focused on the immunophenotypic characterization of local inflammatory responses (LIRs) in TMV infections, especially

in measles (in both humans and non-human primates) and distemper (in canids and susceptible non-canid carnivore species), with major emphasis on lymphoid tissues, lung, and central nervous system (CNS) (8, 9). In measles and distemper, various lymphocytic, histiocytic, and cytokine patterns have been shown to vary depending on disease chronology and other factors. Furthermore, cytokine imbalance in Th1 and Th2 immune responses (early and advanced disease stages, respectively) plays a major role in disease susceptibility and progression in MeV- and CDV-infected individuals (5, 8, 9). Nevertheless, there are no published studies focused on the pathogenetic evolution of CeMV infection in Th1-dominant vs. Th2-dominant cetacean hosts (10). Immunophenotypic studies on LIR during CeMV infection are also lacking, except for a previous study focused on peripheral blood leukocytes (PBLs) in a set of bottlenose dolphins with subclinical infection (11). In order to partially fill in this knowledge gap, the present study was aimed at characterizing and comparing the immunophenotypic profiles of CeMV-associated LIR in lymphoid, lung and CNS tissues of infected cetaceans from Western Mediterranean (Italy), Northeast-Central (Canary Islands), and Southwestern Atlantic (Brazil).

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Data and Sample Collection

The marine mammal databases and tissue banks of collaborative research institutions, namely the "Laboratory of Wildlife Comparative Pathology—LAPCOM" (São Paulo, Brazil), the "Laboratory of Aquatic Mammals and Bioindicators Profa. Izabel M. G. do N. Gurgel—MAQUA" (Rio de Janeiro, Brazil), the "Institute for Animal Health and Food Safety—IUSA" (Canary Islands, Spain), the "Department of Comparative Biomedicine and Food Science of the Faculty of Veterinary

The Immunopathology of Cetacean morbillivirosis

Medicine of the University of Padua (Legnaro, Italy)," the "Laboratories of Histopathology and Immunohistochemistry of Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale dell'Abruzzo e Molise G. Caporale," and the "Faculty of Veterinary Medicine of the University of Teramo (Teramo, Italy)," were queried based upon the following criteria: "Sotalia guianensis," "Stenella coeruleoalba," "Tursiops truncatus," "CeMV reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR)-positive" "Toxoplasma gondii PCR-negative." Only individuals in a "fresh" (code 2) post mortem preservation status, or in a "moderate post mortem autolysis" (code 3) condition (12), which could also warrant a sufficient amount of formalin-fixed, paraffinembedded (FFPE), and frozen tissues for extensive analysis, including immunohistochemical (IHC) and cytokine gene expression investigations (parallel manuscript) on target organs (lymph nodes, spleen, lung, brain), were included. Additionally, tissues from three CeMV-negative dolphins including one striped dolphin (Canary Islands), one bottlenose dolphin (Italy), and one Guiana dolphin (Brazil) that were fresh, in good body condition and died as result of bycatch and/or traumatic interaction(s) and lacked morphological and molecular evidence of any infectious etiology were used as "controls" for IHC comparison purposes. The tissue samples came from complete standard necropsies. Epidemiologic and biologic data, along with necropsy reports, photographic material, and ancillary diagnostic techniques were retrieved and further analyzed. Required permissions for the management of tissues from cetaceans found stranded along the coasts of Brazil, the Canarian archipelago, and Italy were issued by the respective official authorities. All dolphins had spontaneous naturally occurring CeMV infection and no experiments were performed on live animals. Detailed comparative histopathologic investigations and viral IHC results for these animals will be published elsewhere.

Immunohistochemistry

Selected FFPE tissues including lymph nodes (mediastinal/tracheobronchial, pulmonary, mesenteric, prescapular) and spleen, lung, and CNS (cerebrum, cerebellum, brain stem, spinal cord) were subjected to IHC using the following primary antibodies (pAbs): cleaved caspase 3 (CAS3) [final apoptosis pathway], cluster of differentiation (CD)-3 [T cell], CD20 [B cell], CD57 [natural killer cell], CD68 [histiocyte], Forkhead Box (Fox)-P3 [regulatory T cell], human leukocyte antigen (HLA-DRa; syn. major histocompatibility complex II, MHCII) [antigen presenting cell], ionized calcium binding adaptor molecule 1 (Iba1) [histiocyte/microglia], interferon gamma (IFNy), immunoglobulin (Ig)-G, interleukin (IL)-4, IL10, lysozyme, transforming growth factor beta (TGF β), and paired box protein (PAX)-5 [B-cell]. Most of this IHC panel was standardized with successful cross-reactivity in cetacean tissues (13). Further details on the IHC protocol are recorded in Table 1. Briefly, serial sections at 3 μ m-thick were cut and collected onto coated slides. Antigen retrieval was followed by endogenous peroxidase blocking and nonspecific binding blocking with normal serum of same species where pAbs were raised. PAbs were incubated overnight (18 h, $4C^{\circ}$). Amplification and visualization was achieved by the HiDef DetectionTM HRP Polymer System (Cell Marque, Rocklin, California, USA) followed by diaminobenzidine (DAB D-5637; Sigma, St. Louis, Missouri, USA) chromogen and counterstaining with Harris' haematoxylin. Normal human, mouse and franciscana (*Pontoporia blainvillei*) lymph node, spleen, lung, and brain were used as positive controls (13). Tissue sections in which the pAbs were replaced by non-immune homologous serum served as negative controls.

For immunophenotypic characterization of local inflammatory cell populations, the number of immunopositive cells was semiguantitatively evaluated for each marker in lymphoid (lymph nodes, spleen), lung, and CNS tissues according to following score: -, no; +, <10%; ++, 10-50%; +++, 51–90%, and ++++, >90% immunopositive cells, in 10 high-power (400x) fields. The histo-anatomical compartments analyzed were: lymph nodes (primary and secondary follicles, paracortex, medullary cords and cortical, paracortical, and medullary sinuses; afferent/efferent lymphatics); spleen (follicles, perifollicular zone, periarteriolar lymphoid sheath [PALS], red pulp sinuses, and cords); lung (bronchial/bronchiolar mucosa and submucosa including glands and associated lymphoid tissue [BALT]; alveolar spaces and septa; interstitium; pleura; vasculature including lymphatics); brain (cerebral cortex, cerebellum, brain stem, spinal cord) (13, 14). Additionally, IHC expression intensity was subjectively scored (increasing intensity) as 1, 2, and 3. The results were compared between CeMV-infected and non-infected "control" dolphins.

RESULTS

Twenty-seven CeMV-positive dolphins, including 13 striped dolphins, 11 Guiana dolphins, and 3 bottlenose dolphins met the inclusion criteria. Guiana dolphins were infected by GD-CeMV (2, 3), while striped dolphins and bottlenose dolphins were infected by DMV (15–18). Epidemiologic and biologic data as well as CeMV-RT-PCR-positive tissues are recorded in **Table 2**. CeMV-positive animals included: calves (n = 2), juveniles (n = 11), and adults (n = 14). All CeMV-negative dolphins were calves. Detailed gross and microscopic pathologic findings with most probable cause(s) of stranding and/or death for CeMV-positive are published elsewhere and for CeMV-negative dolphins are recorded in **Supplemental Table S1**.

Consistent immunolabeling (with variations according to LIR) was detected for CAS3, CD3, CD20, CD57, CD68, FoxP3, MHCII, Iba1, IFN γ , IgG, IL4, IL10, lysozyme, TGF β , and PAX5 in all organs/tissue sections examined. The following alterations in immunophenotypic profiles of LIRs are referred as to comparisons to "control" animals. "Normal" or "physiologic" antigen cell distribution and intensity for the pAbs aforementioned in control animals (cases 28, 29, and 30) were similar to those previously reported (13) (**Supplemental Figure**).

Lymphoid Tissues: Lymph Nodes, Spleen

CeMV-LIR often overlapped focally with verminous lymphadenitis-associated LIR, especially in Guiana dolphins. The following changes had somewhat similar distribution patterns in all lymph nodes (mediastinal/tracheobronchial, pulmonary, TABLE 1 | Tested antigen, clone, species of origin, clonality, antigen retrieval methods, working dilutions for primary antibodies and amplification and visualization method for immunohistochemistry of selected immune components in formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded lymphoid tissues of striped dolphins (*Stenella coeruleoalba*), bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*), and Guiana dolphins (*Sotalia guianensis*).

Antigen	Clone	Species	Clonality	Retrieval	[Antibody]	Amplification/visualization
Caspase 3 ^a	Asp175	Rabbit	Pol	pH6	1:200	PoH/DAB ^{i/j}
CD3 ^b	A0452	Rabbit	Pol	pH9	1:1000	PoH/DAB ⁱ
CD20 ^c	RB9013P	Rabbit	Pol	pH9	1:100	PoH/DAB ⁱ
CD57 ^d	NKNE1	Mouse	Mon	pH6	1:400	PoH/DAB ⁱ
CD68 ^b	KP1	Mouse	Mon	pH6	1:3000	PoH/DAB ⁱ
FoxP3 ^a	D2W8E	Mouse	Mon	pH9	1:10	PoH/DAB ⁱ
HLA-DRα ^b	TAL1B5	Mouse	Mon	pH9	1:400	PoH/DAB ⁱ
lba-1 ^e	NCNP24	Rabbit	Pol	pH9	1:500	PoH/DAB ⁱ
IFNγ ^f	DBNE1	Mouse	Mon	pH6	1:1000	PoH/DAB ⁱ
lgG ^b	A0423	Rabbit	Pol	pH9	1:1000	PoH/DAB ⁱ
IL49	ab9811	Rabbit	Pol	pH9	1:400	PoH/DAB ⁱ
IL10 ^g	ab34843	Rabbit	Pol	pH9	1:400	PoH/DAB ⁱ
Lysozyme ^b	A0099	Rabbit	Pol	pH6	1:3000	PoH/DAB ⁱ
TGF-β ^g	213NE4.4	Mouse	Mon	pH9	1:200	PoH/DAB ⁱ
PAX-5 ^h	BC/24	Mouse	Mon	pH9	1:300	PoH/DAB ⁱ

CD, cluster of differentiation; FoxP3, Forkhead Box P3; HLA, human leukocyte antigen (synonym major histocompatibility complex); IFN, interferon; Ig, immunoglobulin; IL, interleukin; TGF, transforming growth factor; Pax-5, paired box 5; Mon, monoclonal; Pol, polyclonal; PK, proteinase K; NE: not evaluated; PoH; HiDef DetectionTM Polymer System; DAB, Diaminobenzidine. Best antigen retrieval and primary antibody concentrations are indicated in bold. pH6, citrate; pH9, EDTA, Ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid. ^aCell signaling (Danvers, MA, USA), ^bDako-Agilent (Santa Clara, CA, USA), ^cThermo (Fremont, CA, USA), ^dNovocastra-Leica (Nussloch, Germany), ^eWako Pure Chemical (Richmond, VA, USA), ^fBio-Rad (Hercules, CA, USA), ^gProteintech (Rosemont, IL, USA), ^hBiocare (Pacheco, CA, USA), ¹Cell Marque (Rocklin, CA, USA), ^jDAB, 3,3'-Diaminobenzidine (D-5637; Sigma, St. Louis, Missouri, USA).

mesenteric, prescapular) and spleens evaluated (Table 3). There was an overall increased CAS3 expression in mononuclear cells (MNCs), including lymphocytes and histiocytes (often with engulfed apoptotic debris) in the cortex and paracortex, and histiocytes of subcortical sinuses and medullary cords (Figure 1A) in lymph nodes of CeMV-infected dolphins. While there was a consistently decreased number of CD3+ (Figure 2A), CD20+ (Figure 3A), and PAX5+ (Figure 4A) lymphocytes (hereafter, T cells, and B cells, respectively) in lymph nodes of most Guiana dolphins, striped dolphins, and bottlenose dolphins often had cortical, paracortical, and medullary cord expansion of T cells and B cells in addition to milder multifocal depletion phenomena. MHCII expression varied between CeMV-infected and uninfected animals. Approximately half of the dolphins, more predominantly in Guiana dolphins, infected by CeMV had reduced MHCII expression associated with diminished B-cells; however, there were increased MHCII+ histiocytes (see below) influx (Figure 5A). Fewer MHCII+ MNCs were detected in the paracortex and subcortical medullary cords. Iba1+ histiocytes (macrophages, monocytes, dendritic cells) (Figure 6A) correlated with CD68+ (Figure 7A) and lysozyme+ (Figure 8A) histiocytes; however, Iba1+ tended to label a greater number of histiocytic cells. Increased histiocytes (dendritic cells and circulating monocytes/macrophages) were common in depleted follicles, paracortex, and sinuses of infected dolphins. Occasional syncytia were Iba1+ and CD68+. CD57+ MNCs in lymph nodes varied slightly among CeMV-infected dolphins but overall did not differ considerably from "control" dolphins, with only few scattered immunoreactive cells in cortex and paracortex. Furthermore, the number of IgG+ lymphocytes varied among CeMV-infected dolphins; however, they tended to be slightly more numerous than in "control" animals, being mostly detected in germinal centers (**Figure 9A**) and paracortex and to a lesser extent in medullary cords and occasionally within sinuses. Scattered FoxP3+ lymphocytes were seen in the cortex, paracortex, and medullary cords of CeMV-infected and control dolphins with no apparent differences from "control" dolphins.

In the spleen, there was increased CAS3 expression in MNCs of white pulp and to a lesser extent in red pulp (Figure 1B). There was a consistently reduced number of T cells (Figure 2B) and B cells (Figures 3B, 4B), especially prominent in Guiana dolphins; however, striped dolphins and bottlenose dolphins occasionally presented "reactive (regenerative) hyperplasia" in addition to multifocal lymphoid depletion. As observed in lymph nodes, infected dolphins tended to have reduced expression of MHCII in B cell areas (Figure 5B); however, increased MHCII+ histiocytes contributed to overall similar semiguantitative results for MHCII expression in spleen of "control" animals. Iba1+ (Figure 6B) histiocytes correlated to CD68+ (Figure 7B) and lysozyme+ (Figure 8B) histiocytes, and were more numerous in the red pulp. Rare CD57+ MNCs were detected in the white pulp with no evident difference regarding "control" dolphins. IgG+ lymphocytes were more common in the white pulp and to a lesser extent in the red pulp (Figure 9B) of infected dolphins, particularly in striped dolphins from the Canary Islands and Italy, in contrast to Guiana dolphins. No differences were detected regarding FoxP3+ lymphocytes in CeMV-infected and uninfected "control" dolphins.

TABLE 2 Epidemiologic and biologic data of Guiana dolphins (Sotalia guianensis), striped dolphins (Stenella coeruleoalba),	and bottlenose dolphins (Tursiops truncatus)
included in this study.		

No	Species	Stranding	Coordinates (country)	BL (cm)	Age	Sex	NS	DC	SC	CeMV chronicity
1	S. guianensis ^a	09-Nov-2017	23°10′6″S; 44°20′82″W (BR)	177	Ad	Fe	Po	2	D	AS
2	S. guianensis ^a	14-Nov-2017	23°00′47″S; 44°26′32″W (BR)	94	Ca	Ма	Mo	2	D	AS
3	S. guianensis ^a	17-Dec-2017	22°56′27″S; 43°59′34″W (BR)	164	Ju	Ма	Mo	3	D	SS
4	S. guianensis ^a	17-Dec-2017	23°03′08″S; 44°04′13″W (BR)	93	Ca	Fe	Go	3	D	AS
5	S. guianensis ^a	23-Dec-2017	22°58′43″S; 43°57′46″W (BR)	149	Ju	Ma	Mo	2	D	AS
6	S. guianensis ^a	25-Dec-2017	23°00′11″S; 43°56′46″W (BR)	125	Ju	Ma	Po	3	D	AS
7	S. guianensis ^a	26-Dec-2017	22°59′49″S; 43°55′12″W (BR)	188	Ad	Fe	ND	3	D	AS
8	S. guianensis ^a	27-Dec-2017	22°56′47″S; 44°00′35″W (BR)	176	Ad	Ma	Mo	3	D	AS
9	S. guianensis ^a	27-Dec-2017	22°56′50″S; 44°02′16″W (BR)	183	Ad	Ma	Mo	3	D	AS
10	S. guianensis ^a	27-Dec-2017	23°01′08″S; 43°54′06″W (BR)	186	Ad	Ма	Po	3	D	AS
11	S. guianensis ^a	15-Jan-2018	22°56′45″S; 43°54′26″W (BR)	130	Ju	Fe	Po	2	D	SS
12	S. coeruleoalba ^a	13-Nov-2002	28°9'2"N; 15°32'8"W (SP)	224	Ad	Ma	Go	2	А	CS
13	T. truncatus ^a	18-Jul-2005	29°7′41″N;13°27′58″W (SP)	250	Ju	Fe	Мо	2	А	SS
14	S. coeruleoalba ^a	16-Aug-2005	28°0'24"N; 15°22'35"W (SP)	168	Ju	Fe	Go	2	А	AS
15	S. coeruleoalba ^a	16-Apr-2007	28°33'28"'N; 16°20'1"W (SP)	195	Ju	Ma	Po	2	D	AS
16	S. coeruleoalba ^a	02-May-2008	28°29'53"N; 13°50'59"W (SP)	194	Ju	Fe	Po	3	D	BOFDI
17	S. coeruleoalba ^a	22-Jan-2009	28°28′2″N; 13°51′37″W (SP)	212	Ad	Fe	Go	2	D	BOFDI
18	S. coeruleoalba ^a	10-Feb-2011	28°54′18″N; 13°44′20″W (SP)	215	Ad	Fe	Go	2	D	CS
19	S. coeruleoalba ^a	28-Apr-2012	28°55′57″N; 13°49′46″W (SP)	203	Ju	Ma	Mo	2	D	AS
20	S. coeruleoalba ^a	04-Jul-2011	40°06′38.5″N 15°13′10.1″E (IT)	205	Ad	Ma	Mo	3	D	BOFDI
21	S. coeruleoalba ^a	20-Oct-2013	40°54′15.4″N 14°01′47.3″E (IT)	NR	Ad	Ma	ND	3	D	AS
22	S. coeruleoalba ^a	02-Feb-2013	40°38′04.6″N 14°49′47.3″E (IT)	NR	Ad	Fe	ND	3	D	CS
23	T. truncatus ^a	20-Mar-2013	43°09′48.9″N 10°32′20.9″E (IT)	203	Ju	Ma	ND	2	D	AS
24	S. coeruleoalba ^a	05-Feb-2013	38°12′57.1″N 15°13′50.8″E (IT)	202	Ad	Ma	ND	2	D	CS
25	T. truncatus ^a	30-Jun-2011	41°37′32.6″N 12°27′18.2″E (IT)	297	Ad	Ma	Mo	2	А	SS
26	S. coeruleoalba ^a	12-Oct-2017	42°28'05"'N 14°13'27"'E (IT)	200	Ad	Fe	Mo	2	D	AS
27	S. coeruleoalba ^a	10-Nov-2017	42°10'37"N 14°41'33"E (IT)	188	Ju	Fe	Mo	3	D	SS
28	S.coeruleoalba ^b	29-Apr-09	28.002990, -15.373500 (SP)	105	Ca	Fe	Go	2	D	Not infected
29	T. Truncatus ^b	15-Oct-2008	44.006247, 12.662941 (IT)	118	Ca	Ma	Mo	2	D	Not infected
30	S. guianensis ^b	26-Nov-17	23°00′57″S; 43°55′23″W (BR)	89	Ca	Ma	Mo	2	D	Not infected

^a CeMV-positive; ^bCeMV-negative; NR, not recorded; Ca, calf; Ju, juvenile; Ad, adult; Fe, female; Ma, male; NS, nutritional status; Po, poor; Mo, moderate; G, good; DC, decomposition code (2, fresh; 3, moderate autolysis); SC, stranding condition (A: alive; D: dead). AS, acute systemic; SS, subacute systemic, CS, chronic systemic; BOFDI, brain only form of DMV infection.

Approximately a third of the infected dolphins had increased IFN γ immunoreactivity in lymph nodes and/or spleen tissue compared to uninfected dolphins. IFN γ was variably expressed in MNCs (lymphocytes, macrophages), rare syncytia and extracellularly in lymph nodes, and spleen (**Figures 10A,B**). Except for few dolphins, most infected dolphins showed no immunohistochemically evident difference regarding TGF β , IL4, and IL10 immunoreactivity in lymph nodes and spleen. Occasional MNCs expressed TGF β , rarely expressed also by syncytia (case 25). Scattered IL4+ and IL10+ MNCs along with occasional extracellular labeling were noted in cortex and paracortex (lymph nodes) and white pulp (spleen), and to a lesser extent in lymph node and spleen sinuses.

Lung

CeMV-LIR often overlapped focally with verminous pneumoniaassociated LIR, especially in Guiana dolphins. IHC results in lung tissue are recorded in Table 4. There was increased CAS3 expression in circulating, infiltrating, and exocytosing/exudating MNCs as well as luminal cell debris (Figure 1C). There was a mildly to moderately increased number of T cells (Figure 2C) and B cells (Figures 3C, 4C) in alveolar septa, interstitium, and bronchial/bronchiolar mucosa/submucosa including BALT. Lung from "control" dolphins had scattered detectable T cells and B cells. Case 25 (with concomitant septicemia by Staphylococcus aureus) had abundant T cell and B cell infiltrates around bronchi/bronchioles, and alveoli (Figure 2C). Overall, the number and intensity of CAS3+ and T cells and B cells was greater in parasitic inflammatory foci. MHCII immunoexpression was consistently increased and involved presumed resident and circulating MNCs, including putative pulmonary intravascular macrophages (PIVMs), and infiltrating inflammatory MNCs (Figure 5C), being more abundant in foci of parasitic injury. Histiocytes were increased

is)	
S	
é	
a	
1	
0	
lia	
Ct6	
Š.	
ő	
Ë	
Ë	
븡	
ŏ	
đ	
B	
Ē	
U	
g	
a	
÷	
S	
ati	
ğ	
5	
t	
SC	
ō.	
rs	
12	
) s	
Ľ.	
Ļ	
븟	
б	
Ð	
SC	
ŭ	
tle	
ot	
ā	
,	
ĝ	
a	
8	
Ē	
Ģ	
8	
ñ	
10	
ŭ	
te	
S	
S	
.' <u>⊢</u>	
C .	
h	
lolph	
I dolph	
ed dolph	
iped dolph	
striped dolph	
f striped dolph	
of striped dolph	
en of striped dolph	
leen of striped dolph	
spleen of striped dolph	
d spleen of striped dolph	
nd spleen of striped dolph	
and spleen of striped dolph	
es and spleen of striped dolph	
odes and spleen of striped dolph	
nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
h nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
hh nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
ymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
s in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
ers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
kers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
arkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
markers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
nomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
unomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
munomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
immunomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
d immunomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
ted immunomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
ected immunomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
elected immunomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
selected immunomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
or selected immunomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
s for selected immunomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
ilts for selected immunomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
sults for selected immunomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
results for selected immunomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
ie results for selected immunomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
the results for selected immunomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
of the results for selected immunomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	
y of the results for selected immunomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
lary of the results for selected immunomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	udy.
imary of the results for selected immunomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	study
immary of the results for selected immunomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	is study.
Summary of the results for selected immunomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	this study.
Summary of the results for selected immunomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	in this study.
3 Summary of the results for selected immunomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	d in this study.
.E 3 Summary of the results for selected immunomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	led in this study.
3LE 3 Summary of the results for selected immunomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	uded in this study.
ABLE 3 Summary of the results for selected immunomarkers in lymph nodes and spleen of striped dolph	oluded in this study.

	inded III mis	study.														
Ň	Organ	CAS3	CD3	CD20	CD57	CD68	FoxP3	HLA-DRα	lba1	IFNγ	IgG	IL4	IL10	Lysozyme	TGFβ	PAX-5
-	LNs	++/3	+/3	+/3	0/-	++/2	+/2	++/3	+/3	+/3	+/3	+/3	+/2	++/3	+/2	+/2
	Spleen	+ + +/3	+/3	+/3	+/3	++/3	0/-	+,++/3	++/3	+/3	++/3	+/2	++/2	++/3	+/2	+/2
N	LNS	++/2	+/3	+,++/3	0/	+,++/2	+/2	++,+++/3	+/3	+/3	+/3	+/2	+/2	++/3	+/3	+,++/2
	Spleen	+/2	+/3	+,++/3	+/2	+,++/2	0/-	++/3	++/3	+/2	+/3	+/3	+/2	++/3	+/3	+,++/3
За	LNs	+/2	+/3	+/3	+/3	++/3	+/2	+,++/3	+/2	++/2	+/3	+/2	+,++/2	+,+++/3	+/2	+/2
	Spleen	+/2	+/2	+/3	0/	+/2	0/-	+/3	+,++/3	+/2	+/2	+/3	+/2	++/3	+/3	+/2
4	LNs	+ + +/2	+/3	+/3	+/2	+,++/2	+/3	++,+++/3	+,++/3	+/2	+/2	+/2	+/2	++,+++/3	+/2	+/2
	Spleen	+/2	+/3	+/3	0/	+,++/2	+/2	++/3	++/3	ШN	NE	ШN	ШN	+,++/3	NE	+/2
ŝ	LNs	+ + +/3	++/3	+,++/3	0/-	+/2	+/3	++/3	+,++/3	+/2	+,++/3	+,++/3	+,++/2	++/3	+/3	+/3
	Spleen	+/2	+/3	+,++/3	0/-	++/3	+/2	+,++/3	+ + +/2	+/3	+,++/2	+/2	+,++/2	++,++/3	+/2	+,++/2
9	LNs	+/2	+/2	+/3	+/3	+/3	+/2	++/3	++/2	+/2	+/2	+/2	+/2	+/3	+/2	+/2
	Spleen	+/2	+/2	+/3	+/2	+/3	+/2	+,++/3	+,++/3	0/-	+/2	+/2	+/2	++/3	+/2	+/3
7	LNs	+/3	+/3	+/3	ШN	NE	+/2	NE	+,++/3	ЫN	NE	+/2	+/2	NE	NE	+/3
	Spleen	+/3	+/2	+/3	ШN	NE	+/2	ШN	+,++/3	ШN	NE	ШN	ШN	NE	NE	+/3
œ	LNs	+/3	+/3	+/3	+/2	++/3	+/2	+,++/3	+/3	+/3	+/3	+/3	+/3	+,++/3	+/2	+/3
	Spleen	++/3	+/3	+/3	+/2	++/3	0/-	++/3	+/3	+/2	+/2	+/3	+/2	++,+++/3	+,++/2	+/3
6	LNs	++/3	++/3	+,++/3	+/3	++/3	+/3	++/3	+/3	ШN	+/3	+/3	ШN	++,+++/3	NE	+//2
	Spleen	+/2	++/2	+,++/3	+/3	++/2	+/3	+/2	+/3	+/3	+/3	+/2	+/2	++/3	+/2	+,++/2
10	LNs	+ + +/3	++/3	+,++/3	+/2	++/2	+/3	+,++/3	+/3	+/2	+/3	+/2	+/3	++/3	+/2	+,++/2
	Spleen	+/2	++/3	+/3	+/2	++/3	+/2	+/3	++/2	+/2	+/3	+,++/2	+,++/2	++,++/3	+/2	+/2
115	o LNs	+/2	+/3	+/3	+/2	+/3	+/2	+/3	+/3	+3	+,++/3	+/3	+/2	++/3	+/2	+/2
	Spleen	+/2	+/3	+/3	0/-	++/3	0/-	+/3	+,++/3	+/3	+,++/3	+/2	+,++/3	+/3	+,++/2	+/2
12	LNs	+/3	++,++/3	+,++/3	+/3	+,++/2	+/3	++/3	++,+++/3	+/3	++,+++/3	+/3	+/2	+,++/3	+/3	+,++/3
	Spleen	++/2	++/2	++/3	+/3	+,++/3	+/3	++,+++/2	++,+++/3	+,++/3	+,++/3	+/2	+/3	++/3	+/2	+/3
130	s LNs	++/3	+/3	+,++/3	+/3	++/2	+/3	++,+++/3	++,+++/3	+/3	++/3	+/2	+/3	+,++/3	+/2	+/2
	Spleen	++/2	+/3	+/3	+/2	+,++/3	+/3	++/3	++,+++/3	+/3	++/3	+/3	+/3	++/3	+/3	+/2
14	LNs	+ + +/2	+ + +/2	++/3	+/2	+,++/2	+/3	++,+++/3	++,+++/3	+/3	+/2	+/2	+/2	+,++/3	+/2	++/2
	Spleen	++/3	++,++/3	++/3	+/2	+,++/2	+/3	++,+++/3	++,+++/3	+/3	+/3	+/2	+/2	++/3	+/2	++/2
15	LNs	+++/3	+,++/3	+,++/3	+/3	++/2	+/3	++/3	++/3	+,++/3	+,++/3	+/3	+/3	++/2	+,++/2	+,++/2
	Spleen	+ + +/3	++/2	++/3	+/3	+/2	+/3	++/3	++,++/3	+,++/3	++/3	+/2	+/3	++/2	+/2	++/2
16	LNs	++/3	+/2	+,++/3	+,++/3	+/3	+/2	+,++/3	++/3	+,++/2	++/2	+/2	+/3	+,++/2	+/3	+,++/2
	Spleen	++/3	++/3	+,++/3	+/3	+,++/2	+/2	+,++/3	++/3	+/3	+/3	+/3	+/2	+/2	+/2	+,++/2
17	LNs	+++/3	++/3	++,+++/3	+/3	+,++/3	+/3	+,++/3	++/3	+/3	+,++/3	+/3	+/3	+,++/3	+/3	+,+++/3
	Spleen	++/3	++/3	+,++/3	0/-	+,++/2	+/3	++/3	++/3	+/3	++/3	+/3	+/3	+,++/3	+/2	+,++/3
18	LNs	++/3	++/3	+,++/3	+/3	+,++/2	+/3	++/3	++/3	+,++/3	+/3	+/3	+/3	++/3	+/2	+,+ + +/3
	Spleen	++/3	++,++/3	+,++/2	+/2	+/2	+/3	++/3	++/3	+/3	+,++/3	+/2	+/2	++/2	+/2	+,+ + +/3
19	LNs	+++/2	+ + +/2	+,++/3	++/3	++3	+/3	++,+++/3	++,+++/3	+,++/3	+/3	+/3	+,++/3	++,+++/3	+/2	++/2
																(Continued)

No. No. <th>٩</th> <th>Organ</th> <th>CAS3</th> <th>CD3</th> <th>CD20</th> <th>CD57</th> <th>CD68</th> <th>FoxP3</th> <th>HLA-DR₀</th> <th>lba1</th> <th>IFNy</th> <th>lgG</th> <th>IL4</th> <th>IL10</th> <th>Lysozyme</th> <th>TGFβ</th> <th>PAX-5</th>	٩	Organ	CAS3	CD3	CD20	CD57	CD68	FoxP3	HLA-DR ₀	lba1	IFNy	lgG	IL4	IL10	Lysozyme	TGFβ	PAX-5	
Speen +++2 +++3 ++++3 ++++++++++++3 ++++3 +++++3 ++++3 ++++3 ++++3 ++++3 ++++3 ++++3 ++++3 ++++3 +++3 ++++3 ++14 ++14 ++14 ++14 ++14 ++14 ++14 ++14 ++14 ++14 ++14 ++14 ++14 ++14 ++14 ++14 +14 +14 +14 +14 +14 +14 +14 +14 +14 +14 +14 +14 +14 +14 +14 +14 +14 +14 <																		
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Spleen	++/2	++/3	+/2	+,++/3	+,++/3	+/3	++,+++/3 -	++,+++/3	+/3	+,++/3	+/2	++/2	++/3	+/2	+/2	
Speen $+3$ $++12$ $++13$ -10 $+12$ $++13$ $++12$ $+13$ $++12$ $+13$ $+14$	20	LNs	+/3	+/3	+,++/3	+/2	+,++/2	0/	+,++/3	++/3	ШN	NE	ШN	NE	NE	NE	+/2	
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Spleen	+/3	++/2	++/3	0/-	+/2	+/3	+,++/3	++/2	+/2	+/2	+/2	+/2	++/3	+/2	+/2	
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	21	LNs	++/3	++/2	++/3	+/2	NE	+/3	+,++/3	++/3	ΒN	Ш	ШN	NE	NE	ЫN	++/2	
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Spleen	+ + +/3	++,++/2	++,+++/3	+/3	++/3	+/2	+,++/3	+,++/3	+/3	+/3	+,++/2	+/3	++/3	+,++/2	++/2	
Speen $++3$ $++13$ $++12$ $++12$ $++12$ $++12$ $++12$ $++12$ $++12$ $++12$ $++12$ $++14$ $+12$ $++12$ $++12$ $++12$ $++12$ $++12$ $++12$ $++13$ $+13$ $+12$ $++12$ $++13$ $+13$ $+12$ $++12$ $++13$ $+12$ $++13$ $+12$ $++13$ $+12$ $++13$ $+12$ $++13$ $+12$ $++13$ $+12$ $++13$ $+12$ $++13$ $+12$ $+13$ $+12$ $+13$ $+12$ $+13$ $+12$ $+14$ $+14$ $+14$ $+12$ $+14$ $+12$ $+14$ $+12$ $+14$ $+12$ $+14$ $+12$ $+14$ $+12$ $+14$ $+12$ $+14$	22	LNs	++/3	+ + +/3	++,+++/3	+/2	++/2	+/3	++/3	+,++/2	+/2	++,+++/3	+/3	+/2	+ to ++/3	+/2	++,+++/3	
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Spleen	++/3	++/3	++,+++/3	+/2	+,++/2	+/3	++/3	+,++/2	++/3	++/3	+/3	+/2	++/3	+/2	++/2	
Splee ++1/2 ++1/3 ++1/3 +1/2 ++1/3 ++1/3 +1/3 +1/3 +1/3 +1/3 +1/3 +1/3 +1/3 +1/3 NE ++1/3 +1/3 <th>23</th> <th>LNs</th> <td>++/2</td> <td>+ + +/2</td> <td>++,+++/3</td> <td>+/3</td> <td>+/3</td> <td>+/2</td> <td>++/2</td> <td>++/3</td> <td></td> <td>+/2</td> <td>+/2</td> <td>+/2</td> <td>+/3</td> <td>+/2</td> <td>++/2</td>	23	LNs	++/2	+ + +/2	++,+++/3	+/3	+/3	+/2	++/2	++/3		+/2	+/2	+/2	+/3	+/2	++/2	
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Spleen	++/2	++/2	++/3	+/2	NE	+/2	+,++/2 -	++,++/2	+,++/2	+/2	ШN	NE	++/3	NE	++/2	
Spleen $++7$ $++3$ $++14$ $+14$ $+$	24	LNs	++/2	++/3	++/3	+/3	++,++/2	+/2	+,++/3	++/3		ШN	+,++/2	NE	NE	NE	++/3	
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Spleen	++/2	++/3	++/3	+/3	+,++/3	+/3	+,++/3	+ + +/2	+/3	+,++/3	+/3	+/2	++/3	+/3	++/3	
Spleen $+++/3$ $++/2$ $++/3$ $+/7$	25 ^d	LNs	++/3	++,+++/3	+,++/3	+,++/3	++,++/2	+/3	++/3	++/2	+,++/2	++/3	++/2	+/3	++/+++/3	+/3	+,++/2	
26 LNs +/3 +/3 +/3 +/3 +/3 H/3 H/4 H/3 H/4 H/4 H/3 H/4 H/4 H/3 H/4 H/		Spleen	+ + +/3	++/2	++/3	+/3	++,+++/3	+/3	++/3	++/3	+/2	+/3	+/2	+/3	++/3	+/2	++/2	
Splean +/3 +/3 +/3 +/3 NE NE +/3 +/3 NE	26	LNs	+/3	+/3	+/3	NE	NE	+/2	++/3	++/3	ΒN	Ш	ШN	NE	NE	ЫN	+/3	
27 ^e LNs NE NE <th></th> <th>Spleen</th> <td>+/3</td> <td>+/3</td> <td>++/3</td> <td>NE</td> <td>NE</td> <td>+/2</td> <td>++/3</td> <td>++/3</td> <td>ШN</td> <td>NE</td> <td>ШN</td> <td>NE</td> <td>NE</td> <td>NE</td> <td>+/3</td>		Spleen	+/3	+/3	++/3	NE	NE	+/2	++/3	++/3	ШN	NE	ШN	NE	NE	NE	+/3	
Spleen +/3 +/3 ++/3 NE	27 ^e	LNs	NE	NE	ШN	NE	NE	ШN	NE	NE	ШN	ШN	ШN	NE	NE	NE	ШN	
28 LNs +/3 ++,++/3 +/3 -/0 +/3 ++,++/3 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/3 -/0 ++,++/2 Spleen +/3 ++/3 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/1++/2 29 LNs +/3 ++/3 +/2 -/0 +/1+/3 +/3 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/1 +/++/2 29 LNs +/3 +/3 +/3 +/2 -/0 +/2 +/1 +/1 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/1 +/1 +/1 +/2 +/1 +/1 +/1 +/1 +/1 +/1 +/1 +/1 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/1 +/1 +/1 +/1 +/1 +/1 +/1 +/1 +/1 +/1 +/1 +/1 +/1 +/1 +/1 +/1 +/2 +/1 +/1 +/1 +/1 +/1		Spleen	+/3	+/3	++/3	NE	NE	+/2	++/3 -	++,+++/3	ΒN	NE	ШN	NE	NE	ШN	ШN	
Spleen +/3 ++/3 ++/+ +/2 <th 2<="" th=""> +/2 +/2 <t< th=""><th>28</th><th>LNs</th><td>+/3</td><td>++,+++/3</td><td>++,+++/3</td><td>+/3</td><td>0/-</td><td>+/3</td><td>++,+++/3 -</td><td>++,+++/3</td><td>0/-</td><td>+/2</td><td>+/2</td><td>+/2</td><td>+/3</td><td>0/-</td><td>++,+++/2</td></t<></th>	+/2 +/2 <t< th=""><th>28</th><th>LNs</th><td>+/3</td><td>++,+++/3</td><td>++,+++/3</td><td>+/3</td><td>0/-</td><td>+/3</td><td>++,+++/3 -</td><td>++,+++/3</td><td>0/-</td><td>+/2</td><td>+/2</td><td>+/2</td><td>+/3</td><td>0/-</td><td>++,+++/2</td></t<>	28	LNs	+/3	++,+++/3	++,+++/3	+/3	0/-	+/3	++,+++/3 -	++,+++/3	0/-	+/2	+/2	+/2	+/3	0/-	++,+++/2
29 LNs +/3 +,+++/3 +,++ +,2 -/0 +,2 +,++/2 +/3 +/2 +,++/2 +/3 +/2 +,+++/2 +/3 +/2 +/4 +,+++/2 +/3 +/2 +/3 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/4 +/4 +/4 +/4 +/4 +/4 +/4 +/4 +/4 +/4 +/4 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/2 +/4 +/		Spleen	+/3	++/3	++,+++/3	+/2	+/2	0/	+,++/3	++/2	0/-	+/2	+/2	+/2	+/2	+/2	++,+++/2	
Spleen +/3 ++/3 +/2 -/0 -/0 +,++/3 +/3 +/2	29	LNs	+/3	++,+++/3	++,+++/3	++/2	0/-	+/2	++,+++/3	++/3	+/3	+/2	0/-	+,++/2	+/3	+/2	++,+++/2	
30 LNs +/3 ++,+++/3 +/2 +/2 +/3 +/2 +/2 +/3 +/3 +/3 +/4 +/4 +/4 +/4 +/4 +/4 +/4 +/4 +/4 +/4 +/4 +/4 +/4 +/4 +/2 +/3 +/3 +/3 +/4 <		Spleen	+/3	++/3	++,+++/3	+/2	0/-	0/	+,++/3	++/3	+/3	+/2	+/2	+/2	+/2	+/2	++,+++/2	
Spleen +/3 ++/+ ++/3 +/2 +/2 +/2 ++/++/3 ++/3	30	LNs	+/3	++,++/3	++,+++/3	+/2	+/2	+/3	++/3	++/3	+/3	+/2	+/2	+,++/2	+/3	+/3	++,+++/2	
		Spleen	+/3	++/3	++,+++/3	+/2	+/2	+/2	++,+++/3	++/3	+/2	+/2	+/2	+/2	+/2	+/2	++,+++/2	

5; NE, not evaluated. Semiquantitative analysis of immunopositive cells: -, no; +, <10%; ++, 10–50%; +++, 50–90%, and ++++, >90% immunopositive cells. Subjective labeling intensity score of immunopositive cells: 0, 1, 2, and 3.

^a Multisystemic hyphate mycosis (lung, kidney).

^bHyphate mycosis (lung).

°Suspect Brucella coinfection (primarily CNS lesions).
^dSepsis by Staphylococcus aureus (particularly severe CNS and lung lesions).
^eMultisystemic hyphate mycosis (lung, cerebrum).



FIGURE 1 | Caspase 3 (CAS3) immunohistochemical findings. (A) Lymph node (case 22). Increased expression of CAS3 throughout the cortex. 100×. Inset: lymph node (case 22). Detail of increased CAS3 expression in mononuclear cells (MNCs) of mantle and paracortex. 400×. (B) Spleen (case 21). Increased expression of CAS3 throughout the white and red pulp. 100×. Inset: spleen (case 21). Detail of increased expression of CAS3 in white and red pulp. 400×. (C) Lung (case 18). Increased expression of CAS3 in proliferative and necrotizing bronchiolitis. 100×. Inset: lung (case 21). Detail of CAS3+ circulating MNCs in alveolar capillaries. 200×. (D) Cerebrum (case 24). Increased CAS3 expression in inflammatory cell infiltrates in Virchow-Robins space and adjacent neuroparenchyma. 400×. Inset: cerebrum (case 26). Detail of CAS3+ neurons, neuroglia, and infiltrating MNCs. 400×.



FIGURE 2 | Cluster of differentiation (CD)-3 immunohistochemical findings. (A) Lymph node (case 4). Markedly depleted CD3⁺ lymphocytes of cortex and paracortex. 100×. Inset: lymph node (case 22). CD3⁺ lymphocyte hyperplasia in paracortex (interfollicular). 400×. (B) Spleen (case 24). Reduced CD3⁺ lymphocytes through white pulp. 100×. Inset: spleen (case 17) CD3⁺ hyperplasia in white pulp and red pulp districts. 200×. (C) Lung (case 17). Mild, multifocal circulating and infiltrating CD3⁺ lymphocytes in alveolar walls and interstitium. 200×. Inset: lung (case 25). Marked CD3⁺ lymphocyte bronchiolar hyperplasia. 100×. (D) Cerebrum (case 24). Multiple Virchow-Robin spaces are expanded by CD3⁺ lymphocytes, which also infiltrate the adjacent parenchyma. 40×. Inset: cerebrum (case 24). Detail of abundant CD3⁺ lymphocytes perivascular and neuroparenchymal infiltration. 400×.



FIGURE 3 | Cluster of differentiation (CD)-20 immunohistochemical findings. (A) Lymph node (case 18). Moderate depletion of CD20 lymphocytes in cortical areas. 40×. Upper inset: lymph node (case 22). CD20⁺ lymphocyte hyperplasia. 40×. Lower inset: lymph node (case 18). CD20⁺ lymphocyte hyperplasia in medullary cords. 400×. (B) Spleen (case 21). Mild to moderate multifocal CD20-expressing lymphocyte depletion in white pulp. 40×. Inset: spleen (case 21). Detail of relatively normal CD20⁺ lymphocyte number in follicle. (C) Lung (case 13). Multifocal parabronchiolar, interstitial/alveolar septa CD20⁺ lymphocytic infiltrates. 100×. Inset: lung (case 25). Marked, multifocal peribronchiolar CD20⁺ lymphocytic infiltrates. 100×. (D) Spinal cord (case 13). Marked CD20⁺ leptomeningeal infiltration. 40×. Inset: cerebrum (case 26). Subpial CD20 perivascular and leptomeningeal CD20⁺ infiltrates. 400×.

in CeMV-infected dolphins. Iba1+ histiocytes were seen circulating as well as infiltrating the bronchial/bronchiolar mucosa/submucosa, BALT, interstitium, and exocytosing and filling the alveolar lumina (**Figure 6C**). CD68+ (**Figure 7C**) and lysozyme+ (**Figure 8C**) histiocytes paralleled Iba-expressing

cells yet they were often less numerous. Histiocytes and lysozyme+ neutrophils were overall more abundant in parasitic inflammatory foci. Hyperplastic (type II) pneumocytes and alveolar exudates expressed lysozyme in many animals, including parasitic and fungal pneumonia cases. CD57+ MNCs were



FIGURE 4 | Paired box protein (PAX)-5 immunohistochemical findings. (A) Lymph node (case 17). Mild to moderate PAX5⁺ lymphocyte depletion in cortical area. 100×. Left inset: lymph node (case 17). Detail of mild PAX5⁺ lymphocyte depletion in follicle. 400×. Right inset: lymph node (case 18). PAX5⁺ lymphocyte hyperplasia in medullary cord. 400×. (B) Spleen (case 17). Mild PAX5⁺ lymphocyte follicular depletion. 200×. (C) Lung (case 18). Increased numbers of PAX5⁺ lymphocytes in lung interstitium. 400×. (D) Cerebrum (case 13). Moderate infiltration of PAX5 lymphocytes in leptomeninges. 200×. Inset: cerebrum (case 13). Detail of leptomeningeal infiltrating PAX5⁺ lymphocytes. 400×.



FIGURE 5 | Major histocompatibility (MHC) class II immunohistochemical findings. (A) Lymph node (case 12). MHCII expression in cortical cell elements mainly B-cell areas and sinuses. 100×. (B) Spleen (case 2). MHCII expression mostly in white pulp cell elements and red pulp. 100×. (C) Lung (case 9). Increased expression of MHCII in inflamed alveolus and exudative cells including reactive and binucleated histiocytes and syncytia. 400×. Inset: lung (case 12). Abundant MHCII-expressing inflammatory cells in inflamed distal bronchus. 100×. (D) Spinal cord (case 13). Overexpression of MHCII in spinal nerve root cell elements and infiltrating inflammatory cells. 200×. Inset: cerebrum (case 18). Overexpression of MHCII in perivascular inflammatory cells and vascular and neuroparenchymal cell elements. 200×.



FIGURE 6 | lonized calcium binding adaptor molecule (lba)-1 immunohistochemical findings. (A) Lymph node (case 17). Small to moderate amounts of lba1-expressing histiocytes (including intra- and interfollicular dendritic cells, and sinus histiocytes) in cortex/paracortex interface and medullary cords. 100×. Upper inset: lymph node (case 17). Detail of lba1+ follicular dendritic cells. 400×. Lower inset: lymph node (case 18). Detail of lba1-expressing sinus histiocytes and hyperplastic medullary cords. 400×. (B) Spleen (case 15). Abundant expression of lba1+ in histiocytic populations in red and white pulp. 100×. Inset: spleen (case 15). Detail of lba1-expressing histiocytic cells in follicle and perifollicular zone. 400×. (C) Lung (case 19). Striking alveolar lba1+ histiocytic inflammatory response including reactive, binucleated, and multinucleate macrophages/syncytia. 400×. (D) Cerebellum (case 25). Marked infiltration of lba1+ histiocytic interfoliar leptomeninges. 100×. Upper inset: cerebellum (case 25). Detail of lba+ meningeal inflammatory infiltrate. 400×. Lower inset: prominent perivascular histiocytic infiltration including macrophages and microgliosis. 400×.

rare in the lung; no differences were noted compared to control animals. IgG+ lymphocytes were increased in CeMV-infected dolphins and were detected mainly in BALT (**Figure 9C**) and to a lesser extent in alveolar septa and interstitium; they were especially prominent in parasitic LIR. Intra-alveolar syncytia were generally Iba1+. Rare FoxP3+ lymphocytes

were seen in lung of some CeMV-infected dolphins; by contrast, no FoxP3-expressing lymphocytes were seen in control dolphins.

All "control" dolphins had scattered MNCs immunoreactive and multifocal extracellular signal for IFN γ , IL4, IL10, and TGF β in lung tissue. However, even though these cytokines appeared



FIGURE 7 | Cluster of differentiation (CD)-68 immunohistochemical findings. (A) Lymph node (case 25). Detail of CD68⁺ follicular and interfollicular dendritic (histiocytes) cells. 400×. (B) Spleen (case 25). Abundant sinus histiocytic cells expressing CD68. 100×. Inset: spleen (case 25). Detail of perifollicular CD68⁺ histiocytic cells. 400×. (C) Lung (case 25). Abundant intrabronchiolar and intraalveolar histiocytes express CD68. Inset: lung (case 25). Detail of intraalveolar histiocytes expressing CD68. 400×. (D) Cerebellum (case 25). Detail of CD68⁺ histiocytes infiltrating the leptomeninges. 400×.



FIGURE 8 | Lysozyme immunohistochemical findings. (A) Lymph node (case 25). Lysozyme⁺ histiocytic cells in cortical and paracortical area. 200×. Inset: lymph node (case 25). Abundant intrasinus lysozyme-expressing histiocytes. 200×. (B) Spleen (case 14). Lysozyme⁺ histiocytes through the red pulp. 40×. Inset: spleen (case 14). Detail of lysozyme histiocytes in red pulp. 400×. (C) Lung (case 11). Overexpression of lysozyme by inflammatory cells and exudate in inflamed bronchioles and alveoli associated with CeMV and concomitant verminous pneumonia. 40×. Upper inset: lung (case 13). Circulating MNCs (including presumed pulmonary intravascular macrophages) are lysozyme⁺. 400×. Lower inset: lung (case 21). Increased lysozyme₊ (mainly histiocytes) cells within inflammatory focus. 400×. (D) Spinal cord (case 13). Moderate number of lysozyme₊ histiocytes in spinal cord leptomeninges. 100×. Inset: spinal cord (case 13). Detail of lysozyme₊ histiocyte meningeal infiltrate. 400×.



FIGURE 9 | IgG immunohistochemical findings. (A) Lymph node (case 18). Scattered IgG⁺ cells in follicular and parafollicular areas. 200×. Left inset: lymph node (case 15). Increased IgG-expressing cells in follicular and parafollicular areas. 200×. Right inset: lymph node (case 12). IgG⁺ cell hyperplasia in medullary cord. 400×. (B) Spleen (case 13). Scattered IgG⁺ cells at white/red pulp interface. 200×. Inset: spleen (case 17). Increased IgG⁺ cells in white/red pulp interface. 400×. (C) Lung (case 12). IgG⁺ cells in hyperplastic BALT of inflamed bronchiole. 400×. (D) Cerebrum (case 14). Scattered IgG⁺ cells in leptomeninges. 400×. Inset: cerebrum (case 14). Detail of IgG⁺ cells in meningeal infiltrates. 400×.

expressed by a slightly greater number of MNCs in lung of infected dolphins they represented <10% of the inflammatory cells (including BALT and interstitium); thus, no IHC evident differences were noted based on the proposed semiquantitative approach. IFN γ was mainly expressed by exudating MNCs including alveolar macrophages and syncytia (**Figure 10C**), and fewer infiltrating macrophages and lymphocytes, and

occasional epithelial cells with an extracellular signal in inflammatory foci. Both, IL4 and IL10 were expressed by infiltrating and circulating MNCs compatible with histiocytes and lymphocytes, and extracellularly. TGF β + cells were less numerous and typically involved alveolar macrophages, bronchial/bronchiolar epithelia, exocytosing MNCs, and occasional mesenchymal cells.



FIGURE 10 Interferon (IFN)- γ immunohistochemical findings. **(A)** Lymph node (case 17). Scattered MNCs including lymphocytes and histiocytes express IFN γ in cortex, paracortex and subcapsular/marginal sinus (square). Right inset: lymph node (case 17). IFN γ -expressing histiocyte within subcapsular/marginal sinus. 400×. Left inset: lymph node (case 17). IFN γ -expressing histiocyte within paracortical/medullary sinuses. **(B)** Spleen (case 22). Scattered IFN γ -expressing cells in white and red pulp. Detail of IFN γ -expressing cells. 100×. Inset: 22. 400×. **(C)** Lung (case 23). IFN γ -expressing cells mainly include alveolar macrophages and scattered interstitial mononuclear cells. 100×. Inset: lung (case 23). Detail of IFN γ -expressing cells within perialveolar lymphocytic aggregate and rare alveolar macrophage. 400×. **(D)** Cerebrum (case 9). Meningeal and neuroparenchymal IFN γ -expressing cells. 400×.

Central Nervous System

IHC results are recorded in Table 5. CAS3+ MNCs were seen in meningeal, parenchymal, Virchow-Robin spaces (VRSs), and neuroparenchymal inflammatory infiltrates as well as in circulating MNCs (Figure 1D). In areas of marked neurodegeneration, neurons and neuroglia occasionally expressed CAS3. In decreasing order, T cells (Figure 2D) and B cells (Figures 3D, 4D) predominated in meningeal, VRSs, and neuroparenchymal inflammatory infiltrates in striped dolphins and bottlenose dolphins with varying degrees of CNS inflammation. B-cells were comparatively more numerous in case 13, a case with a suspect Brucella co-infection based on cellular inflammatory components and neuroanatomical distribution of lesions. Rare T cells were seen circulating and/or in meningeal perivascular spaces in three Guiana dolphins, likely representing early CNS inflammation. CAS3+ cells appeared to involve mostly T and B cells. MHCII was widely overexpressed, involving MNCs either circulating or expanding the VRS and/or infiltrating the neuroparenchyma, along with vascular endothelial cells (Figure 5D). Occasionally, neuroglia (microglia and astrocytes) expressed MHCII. Few animals additionally exhibited MHCII labeling in roots of spinal nerves and meningeal mesenchyme. Inflamed CNS tissues often harbored Iba1+ histiocytes, either circulating or located within the vessel walls, expanding the VRSs and infiltrating the neuroparenchyma (Figure 6D). Microglia was consistently labeled by Iba1. In few cases, degenerating neurons expressed Iba1+. Lysozyme+ MNCs were rare in the CNS, except for cases 13 and 25 (Figure 7D). CD68+ MNCs were rarely seen in CNS inflammatory foci (Figure 8D). CD57+ cells were not detected in CNS tissues examined. Small numbers of IgG+ lymphocytes were common in meningeal inflammatory infiltrates and VRS (Figure 9D) of striped dolphins. Case 13, a bottlenose dolphin with a suspect coinfection by Brucella sp. had greater numbers of IgG-expressing cells and histiocytes. Only cases 13 and 14 showed rare FoxP3+ cells intermingled with perivascular inflammatory infiltrates in CNS tissue sections examined.

Brain tissue from "control" dolphins had no immunoreactivity to any of the cytokines evaluated (IFN γ , IL4, IL10, TGF β);

however, CeMV-infected striped dolphins and bottlenose dolphins had consistent IFN γ (**Figure 10D**) and occasional IL4 immunoexpression in CNS tissue sections examined. Overall, there was a more consistent number of IFN γ + cells in all these cases, but scattered IL4+ cells could be also observed. IFN γ was mainly expressed by MNCs and neuroparenchymal elements. IL4 was expressed by scattered circulating MNCs. Five striped dolphins and one bottlenose dolphin had detectable TGF β and/or IL10 immunoexpression. The latter involved MNCs in inflamed choroid plexus of fourth ventricle (case 25).

DISCUSSION

Comparative analyses of LIRs are of paramount relevance as they help unraveling local immunopathogenetic mechanisms of disease processes. While in humans and in given domestic and livestock animal species, as well as in laboratory animals there is a considerable body of knowledge, the immunopathogenetic bases of disease including LIRs in cetaceans remain largely unknown (11). We have herein characterized, by means of a set of lymphocytic, histiocytic, antigen-presenting cell-, cell deathrelated and cytokine immunomarkers, LIRs among CeMVinfected dolphins from the Western Mediterranean as well as from the Northeast-Central and the Southwestern Atlantic, with special emphasis on their lymphoid, pulmonary, and CNS tissues. There are no previous data on the LIRs in cetaceans infected by CeMV, except for a previous study focused on PBLs in a set of free-ranging bottlenose dolphins with subclinical infection (11). In that study, dolphins with subclinical CeMV infection had elevated lysozyme concentrations, marginally significant increases in monocytic phagocytosis, reduced mitogen-induced T lymphocyte proliferation responses, and marginally significant CD4+ decreases in PBLs compared to seronegative dolphins (11). We will discuss our results tissue by tissue and correlate them with the tissue-specific immunopathology and immunopathogenesis of MeV (6) and CDV infections (5) whenever appropriate. This IHC-based approach was coupled with inferred CeMV disease presentation forms for all animals included in this study (data published elsewhere).
DN I	00400	CD3	CD20	CD57	CD68	FoxP3	HLA-DR∝	Iba1	ΙFN _γ	lgG	IL4	IL10	Lysozyme	TGFβ	PAX-5
	+/2	+/2	+/3	0/-	+/2	0/-	+/3	+/3	+/2	+,++/3	+/3	+/2	+/3	+/2	+/2
N	+/2	+/3	+/3	+/3	+/3	0/-	+/3	+/3	+/3	+,++/3	+/3	+/2	+/3	+/2	+/2
Зa	++/2	+/3	+/3	0/-	++/2	+/2	+,++/3	+/3	+,++/2	+,++/3	+/3	+,++/2	++,+++/3	+/2	+/2
4	+/2	+/3	+/3	0/-	++/2	0/-	+/3	+/3	++/3	+/3	+/3	+/2	+/3	+/2	+/2
5	+/3	+/3	+/3	0/-	+/2	+/2	+/3	++/3	+/3	+/2	+/2	+,++/2	++/3	+/2	+/3
9	+/2	+/2	+/3	+/3	+/3	0/-	+/3	+/2	+/2	+/3	+/2	+/2	+/3	+/2	+/2
7	+/2	+/3	+/3	+/2	+/3	+/2	+/3	+/2	+/3	+/2	+/2	+/2	+/3	+/2	+/2
œ	+/2	+/3	+/3	0/-	+/3	+/3	+/2	+/3	+/3	+,++/3	+/2	+/2	+,++/3	+/2	+/2
6	++/3	++,+++/3	+/3	0/-	+/3	+/3	++/3	++/3	+/2	+,++/3	+,++/2	+,++/2	+/3	+/2	+/2
10	++/2	+/3	+/3	0/-	+/3	+/3	+/3	+/3	+/2	+/3	+/2	+/2	++/3	+/2	+/2
11 ^b	++/2	+/2	+/3	0/-	+/2	+/2	+/3	++/3	+/3	+/3	+,++/2	++,+++/3	++,+++/3	+/2	+/2
12	+/3	+/3	+,++/3	+/3	++/3	+/3	+,+ + +/3	++/3	+/3	++/3	+/3	+,++/3	+/3	+/3	+/3
13 ^c	++/3	+/2	+,++/3	0/-	++/3	+/2	+,++/3	++/3	+/3	+/3	+/3	++,+++/3	++,+++/3		++/2
14	++/3	+/2	+/2	0/-	+/3	+/2	+/3	+,++/3	+/3	+/2	+/2	+/3	+/3	+/2	+/2
15	+/3	+/3	+,++/3	+/3	+/3	+/3	++/3	+,++/3	+,++/3	+,++/3	+/3	++,+++/3	++/2	+/2	+/3
16	++/3	++/3	+/3	0/-	+/3	+/2	+/3	+,++/3	+/3	+/2	+/2	+/2	+/3	+/2	+/3
17	++/3	++/3	++/3	+/2	+/3	+/3	+,++/3	+,++/3	+,++/3	+/3	+/3	+,++/2	+,++/2	+/3	+/2
18	++/3	++/3	++/3	+/3	++/3	+/3	++,+++/3	++/3	+/3	++/3	+/2	+,++/3	++/3	+/2	+,++/3
19	+ + +/3	++/3	+,++/2	+/2	+/2	+/3	+,++/3	++++/3	+++/3	++/3	+,++/3	++,+++/2	+,++/3	+/3	+/2
20	+/3	+/2	+/3	0/-	+/2	+/3	+/3	+,++/3	+/3	+/3	+/3	+/3	+,++/3	0/-	+/2
21	+/3	+/3	+/3	+/2	+/2	+/2	+/3	+/3	+/3	+/3	+/2	+/3	+,++/3	+/2	+/2
22	++/3	+,++/3	+/3	+/2	+/2	+/2	+,+ + +/3	+/3	+/2	+/2	+,++/2	+/2	+/3	+/2	+/3
23	+/2	+/3	+/3	+/2	+/3	+/2	+,++/3	+/3	+,++/3	+/3	+/2	+/3	+/3	+/2	+/2
24	+/3	+/3	+/3	0/-	+/3	+/2	+/3	+/3	+/2	+/3	+/3	+/3	+/3	+/2	+/2
25 ^d	++/3	++++/3	++,+++/3	+/3	++,+++/3	+/3	+,++/3	+/3	+/3	+,++/3	++,+++/2	+/3	++,+++/3	+/2	+,++/3
26	+/3	+/3	+/3	NE	NE	NE	ЫR	+/3	+/3	+/3	NE	NE	NE	ШN	ШN
27 ^e	+/3	+/2	+/3	0/-	+,++/3	+/2	+/2	+/2	+/2	+/3	+/2	+/2	+,++/3	+/2	+/2
28	+/3	+/3	+/3	0/-	0/-	0/-	+/3	+/3	0/-	0/-	+/2	+/2	0/	0/-	+/3
29	+/3	+/3	+/3	0/-	0/-	0/-	+/3	+/3	+/3	+/2	+/2	+,++/2	0/-	+/3	+/3
30	+/3	+/3	+/3	0/-	0/-	0/-	+/3	+/3	0/-	+/2	+/2	+/2	+/2	+/2	+/3

Díaz-Delgado et al.

Frontiers in Immunology | www.frontiersin.org

The Immunopathology of Cetacean morbillivirosis

^a Multisystemic hyphate mycosis (lung, kidney).

^b Hyphate mycosis (lung). ^cSuspect Brucella coinfection (primarily CNS lesions). ^d Sepsis by Staphylococcus aureus (particularly severe CNS and lung lesions). ^eMultisystemic hyphate mycosis (lung, cerebrum).

bottlenose	
, and I	
oeruleoalba)	
(Stenella co	
dolphins	
s), stripec	
guianensi:	
ns (Sotalia	
na dolphir	
d of Guiar	
spinal cor	
em, and :	
n, brain st	
cerebellur	
n cerebrum,	
omarkers ir	
d immune	his study.
or selecte	sluded in t
of results t	ncatus) inc
ummary (siops trur
: 5 S	IN (Tur
TABLE	dolphir

dolphir	ns (Tursiops tru	ncatus) included	in this study.												
No	CAS3	CD3	CD20	CD57	CD68	FoxP3	HLA-DRα	lba1	IFNY	lgG	IL4	IL10	Lysozyme	TGFβ	PAX-5
-	+/2	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	+/3	0/-	+/3	0/-	0/-	0/-	+/3	0/-	0/-
0	+/2	0/-	0/-	0/	0/-	0/	+/3	+/2	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	+/3	0/-	0/-
З ^а	+/3	0/-	0/-	0/	0/-	0/	+/3	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-
4	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	+/3	+/2	0/-	0/-	+/2	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-
5	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/	0/-	0/	+/3	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	+/3	0/-	0/-
9	+/2	0/-	0/-	0/	+/2	0/	+/3	+/3	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	+/3	0/-	0/-
7	+/3	+/3	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	+/3	0/-	+/3	0/-	+/2	0/-	+/2	0/-	0/-
00	+/3	0/-	0/-	0/	0/-	0/	+/3	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	+/3	0/-	0/
o	+/2	+/3	0/-	0/	0/-	0/	+/3	+/3	+/3	+/2	0/-	0/-	+/3	0/-	0/-
10	+/3	+/3	0/-	0/-	+/2	0/-	+/3	+/3	+/3	0/-	+/2	0/-	+/3	0/-	0/-
11 ^b	+/2	0/-	0/-	0/-	+/2	0/	+/3	+/3	0/	0/-	0/-	0/-	+/3	0/-	0/-
12	+/3	++/2	+/2	0/-	+/2	0/	+/2	+/3	+/3	+/3	0/-	+/2	+/3	0/-	+/2
13 ^c	+/3	++/2	++,+++/3	+/3	+/2	+/3	+++/3	++,+++/3	++/3	++/3	+/2	0/-	+,++/3	0/-	++/3
14	+/3	++/2	+,++/2	0/-	+/2	+/2	++/3	+/3	+/3	+/3	+/2	+/3	+/3	0/-	+/2
15	+/2	+/3	+/3	0/-	+/2	0/-	++/3	+/3	+/3	+/3	+/2	0/-	+/2	0/-	+/2
16	+/2	++/2	+/2	0/-	+/2	0/-	++/3	+/3	+/2	+/2	+/2	0/-	+/3	0/-	+/2
17	+/2	++/3	+/2	0/-	+/2	0/-	++/3	+/3	+/3	+/3	+/3	0/-	+/3	0/-	+/2
18	+/2	++/3	+,++/3	0/	+/2	0/-	++/3	+,++/3	+/2	+/3	+/3	0/-	+/3	0/-	+/2
19	++/3	++/3	+,++/3	0/-	+/2	0/-	+ + +/3	++/3	+/3	+/2	+/3	+/2	+/3	0/-	+/2
20	+/2	+/2	+/2	0/-	0/-	0/-	+/3	+/2	+/2	+/2	+/3	0/-	+/2	0/-	0/-
21	+/2	+/3	+/2	0/	+/3	0/-	+/2	+/3	+,++/3	0/-	+/2	0/-	+/3	0/-	0/-
22	+/2	+/3	+/3	0/-	+/2	0/-	+/2	+/3	+/3	+/3	0/-	0/-	+/2	+/2	+/2
23	+/3	+/3	+/3	0/-	+/2	0/-	+/3	+/2	+/3	+/2	+/2	0/-	+/3	0/-	0/-
24	+,++/3	+ + +/3	+/3	0/-	+/3	0/-	+,+ + +/3	+/2	+/3	+/2	+/2	0/-	+/3	0/-	+/2
25 ^d	+,++/2	+,+ ++/3	++/3	+/3	+/3	0/-	++/3	+,+++/3	+/3	+,++/3	+/2	+/3	+,+ ++/3	+/3	+/2
26	++/3	+ + +/3	+/3	+/3	+/2	0/-	+,++/3	++/3	+,++/2	+/3	+/2	0/-	+/3	0/-	+/2
27 ^e	++/3	+/3	+/2	0/-	+/2	0/-	+/3	+/2	0/-	+/3	+/3	0/-	+,++/3	0/-	0/-
28	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-
29	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-
30	+/3	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	+/2	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-	0/-
CD, clu 5; NE, r	ster of differenti ort evaluated. S	ation; FoxP3, Fork Semiquantitative an	head Box P3; HLA, ialysis of immunopc	human leukoo sitive cells: –,	cyte antigen (no; +, <109	synonym majo %; ++, 10–50	or histocompatibilit %; + + +, 50–90	y complex); IFN, int %, and + + ++, >.	erferon; Ig, imm 90% immunopo	unoglobulin; IL sitive cells. Su	, interleukin; bjective lab€	TGF, trans. ling intensi	forming growth fac ty score of immuno	tor; Pax-5, p positive cell	baired box s: 0, 1, 2,
and 3. ^a Multisy	vstemic hyphate	t mycosis (lung, kia	they).												
^b Hypha	ate mycosis (lun,	g). footion forimorily (
^d Sepsis Multisy	s by Staphyloco stemic hyphate	ocus aureus (partic mycosis (lung, cei	rebrum). rebrum).	and lung lesio	ns).										

36

Humoral and cellular immune responses to MeV (6, 19) and CDV (20-23) are crucial for viral clearance and recovery, as well as for the establishment of a "lifelong" protective immunity. However, they are also the pathological basis of measles and distemper morbidity and mortality (5, 9). In both, early immunosuppression is associated with viremia and lysis of lymphocytes and macrophages (6, 24). B-cells, follicular dendritic cells, and T-cells, especially CD4+, and CD8+ cells, are initially targeted by MeV and CDV resulting in generalized lymphoid depletion in lymph nodes and spleen, mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT), and tonsils (5, 6). Hyperplasia of reticular cells (sinus histiocytosis) in the medullary region of lymph nodes typically accompanies this early phase of infection (24, 25). In this study, we observed consistently decreased numbers of T cells and B cells in Guiana dolphins, striped dolphins, and bottlenose dolphins; however, lymphoid cell depletion appeared to be more severe in Guiana dolphins and in acute/subacute cases from the Canary Islands (cases 13, 14, and 19) and Mediterranean Sea (cases 21, 25, 26, and 27). Additionally, we observed increased sinus histiocytosis (Iba1-, CD68-, and lysozyme-expressing cells) in these dolphins, recapitulating features observed in acute/subacute measles and distemper (5, 9).

CAS3 is a frequently activated death protease, catalyzing the specific cleavage of many key cellular proteins and playing a major role in apoptosis (26). In MeV and CDV infections, upregulation/overexpression of CAS3 is commonly observed in infected lymphocytes and uninfected lymphocytes, suggesting the existence of virus-dependent, and virus-independent mechanisms of apoptosis (27-29). We detected an overall increased CAS3 expression mainly in lymphocytes and histiocytes of cortex and paracortex, but to a lesser extent in histiocytes of subcortical sinuses and medullary cords in lymph nodes. These findings suggest apoptosis is a major cell death mechanism (30) also in the time course of CeMV infection, as it is in measles and distemper (27, 31, 32). Although in these cases viral-induced apoptosis may be the major triggering factor (27, 31, 33), the pathogenetic intricacies of such phenomenon, including viral-independent apoptosis pathways remain undetermined in CeMV infection. Altogether, the above findings concerning lymphocytic and histiocytic disarrangements and generalized immunoexpression of CAS3 in CeMV-infected dolphins provide compelling morphological and IHC evidence of a compromised immune response capacity in these animals.

If the host survives, incipient MeV and CDV infections are generally followed by regeneration of lymphoid organs (5, 6). Repopulation and germinal center formation in lymphoid tissues from persistently infected and convalescent hosts are common in this stage (5, 6). Detection of such "persistently infected" and/or "convalescent" dolphins is complicated; however, we observed similar regenerative findings in several cases from the Canary Islands and the Mediterranean Sea largely involving those animals with chronic systemic and chronic localized "brain only forms" of CeMV infection [supported by IHC and PCR results [data published elsewhere]] (1, 14). These changes were characterized by follicular, paracortical, and medullary cord expansion (reactive hyperplasia), typically encompassing distorted or poorly delineated lymphocytic growths including T cells and B cells accompanied by slightly increased numbers of IgG+ cells. Thus, we detected IHC evidence of a somewhat similar immune response progression in CeMV-infected dolphins compared to MeV- and CDV-infected individuals (5, 6). Nonetheless, further conclusions are limited by the lack of other means of infection's chronology surrogates, including serological profiling. Future studies addressing these limiting factors would allow more accurate comparisons with TMVs. Interestingly, morphologically intact appearing compartments after lymphoid repopulation and virus clearance from lymphoid tissues does not necessarily result in complete functional regeneration of the immune response (22, 34, 35). This may also apply to CeMV infection, so that apparently "normal" lymphocytic density and distribution patterns in lymphoid districts from CeMV-infected cetaceans may not necessarily be associated with appropriate immunological fitness. In chronic measles and distemper, often this multicentric repopulation is accompanied by CD4- and CD8-dominated inflammatory responses in the CNS (22, 36, 37). This remains to be evaluated in cetaceans.

Mammals differ in their expression of MHCII molecules (38). In this study, we observed MHCII expression was largely confined to MNCs consistent with B-lymphocytes, dendritic cells, and macrophages (especially sinus histiocytes) which are considered professional antigen-presenting cells (38). Also, there were small numbers of MHCII-expressing MNCs in the paracortex and subcortical medullary cords, diminishing centripetally. This distribution pattern is consistent with reports in other species, including rodents (38); however, more accurate inferences may be obtained by double immunolabeling analyses. We suspect certain T-cell lymphocytes could also express MHCII in CeMV-infected animals; however, greater T cell numbers, including resting ones, as reported in pigs, dogs, cats, mink, and horses (38), were not a feature in CeMV-infected or "control" animals. No significant alterations in MHCII immunoexpression were observed between infected and control animals on the basis of semiguantitative comparative analysis.

Comparatively, fewer studies have addressed in detail the immune disarrangements in the spleen of MeV and CDV cases (5, 6). Typically, there is a generalized depletion of T and B cell compartments in the spleen (5, 22). In our study, most findings observed in lymph nodes were paralleled to some extent by those detected in the spleen, with divergences dependent upon T-cell and B-cell topographic locations. There was an overall decreased number of T cells and B cells in PALS and follicles, respectively, along with an increased CAS3 immunoreactivity and increased number of histiocytes. These findings are in agreement with observations in MeV and CDV infections (5, 6, 22). IgG-expressing cells were slightly increased, as reported in measles (39).

There is relatively limited knowledge on cytokine networks and interplay in LIR in TMV infections, especially concerning IHC investigations. In cetaceans, there is a complete lack of information on "*in situ*" cytokine expression. Th1 responses evoke cell-mediated immunity and phagocyte-dependent inflammation. Th2 cells evoke strong antibody responses

and eosinophil accumulation, but inhibit several functions of phagocytic cells (phagocyte-independent inflammation). Furthermore, Th1/Th2 balance can be evaluated by the ratio of their polarizing cytokines (i.e., IFNy/IL4), and animals with imbalanced Th1/Th2 response may be more susceptible to certain kinds of infections. Since cytokine imbalance is implicated in the pathogenesis and outcomes of MeV and CDV infections, we aimed at evaluating, for the first time, Th1 and Th2 in situ cytokine immunoexpression and potential associations with CeMV-AD. We employed a set of commercially available non-cetacean-specific but cross-reactive proinflammatory cytokines to evaluate Th1 cells (IFNy-secreting) and Th2 cells (IL4-, IL10-secreting) (13). In distemper, a lack of detectable cytokine expression in peripheral blood leukocytes is associated with a high viral load and viremia, indicating that an overwhelming virus infection may suppress cytokine production in lymphoid cells (40, 41). Plasma IFNy levels (consistent with a predominant Th1 immune response) are increased during the acute phase of measles, whereas, a subsequent Th2 response promotes the development of protective MeV-specific antibodies and is characterized by high concentrations of IL4, IL10, IL13, and IL17 (9). This shift may promote B cell maturation and contribute to the continued production of antibody-secreting cells (9). In the present study, no IHC-based differences were detected regarding cytokine immunoreactivity in lymph nodes and spleen between infected and uninfected dolphins. Severe cytokine "storms" are often ascribed as to the cause of multiorgan dysfunction and death in infectious diseases. IHC analysis may not be as sensitive and specific as PCR-based mRNA transcript quantification; therefore, ongoing studies are aimed at quantifying cytokines by molecular techniques to better address this issue.

Few studies have evaluated the LIR to MeV infection in lung (42) and presumably no information is available on CDVassociated LIR (5). MeV-infected children may display severe depletion of CD4+, CD20+, CD68+, NK+, and S100+ cells in alveoli and BALT without depletion of CD8+ T-cells (42). Also, there is prominent apoptosis of dendritic, CD4+ and NK cells (42). In our study, comparisons made with "control" dolphins-all of which were regarded as calves-revealed mild to moderate increase in T cells and B cells and histiocytes in lung of CeMV-infected dolphins, which also contrasts with observation in children with measles (42). Further studies involving "age-matched control" dolphins, an extremely difficult setting when dealing with free-ranging cetaceans, may help elucidate potential age-related bias in CeMV-LIRs, including lung tissue. Furthermore, there were increased CAS3+ cells in CeMV-infected dolphins mainly involving inflammatory MNC populations and epithelial cells (27). The number and intensity of CAS3-expressing cells was greater in parasitic inflammatory foci. This novel finding also adds to the limited available knowledge on the immunopathogenesis of verminous pneumonia in dolphins (43). Cases 3, 11, and 27 had concomitant pulmonary hyphate mycosis, which accounted for increased numbers of lymphocytes, macrophages, and exudating neutrophils and necrosis, primarily associated with fungal elements. Fungal coinfections are common and exacerbate pneumonia in measles (44), distemper (45), and CeMV infections (46-48). Case 25 presented a consistently expanded BALT and alveolar septa harboring abundant T cells and B cells. To the authors' knowledge, this inflammatory pattern is unusual in dolphins, yet it recapitulates features of *Mycoplasmataceae* infection ("cuffing pneumonia") in other Cetartiodactyla members. The etiopathogenesis of this finding remains unknown. Furthermore, we detected increased expression of MHCII chiefly involving circulating MNCs, including presumed PIVMs, and infiltrating inflammatory MNCs (lymphocytes and histiocytes) and exocytosing/exudating MNCs. This was more prominent in parasitic LIRs. Putative PIVMs appeared to consistently express Iba1, lysozyme and CD68; these results broaden the repertoire of immunomarkers for PIVMs in cetacean species (49). IgG+ lymphocytes were mainly around bronchioles/bronchi (in BALT) and scattered in the interstitium, especially in dolphins with concomitant verminous pneumonia. No evident differences were detected for CD57- and FoxP3-expressing cells in lymphoid organs between infected and uninfected cetaceans.

Scarce studies on measles lung LIR indicated depletion of IL-10+ and IL-12+ cells in infected children; however, there was a greater number of IL-1+, IFN+, and IL-4+ cells (42). Recently, IFN γ -secreting cells were shown to be more abundant early and IL-17+ cells late in lung of rhesus macaques (*Macaca mulatta*) experimentally infected with wild type MeV. Both CD4+ and CD8+ T cells were sources of IFN γ (19). In the present study, we detected some "basal" immunoreactivity for IFN γ , IL4, IL10, and TGF β in lung tissue of "control" dolphins and even though these cytokines appeared expressed by a slightly greater number of MNCs in lung of infected dolphins we did not find evident differences based on the proposed IHC semiquantitative approach. To better address potential cytokine differences in lung between CeMV-infected and uninfected dolphins we are currently focusing on quantitative molecular cytokine analysis.

The three main MeV-CNS complications include: acute disseminated encephalomyelitis, measles inclusion body encephalitis, and subacute sclerosing panencephalitis (SSPE). CDV-CNS disease may show distinctive manifestations: acute fulminant encephalopathy and encephalitis, postvaccinal encephalitis, old dog encephalitis, inclusion body polioencephalitis, and demyelinating leukoencephalitis (CDV-DL) (5, 50). Their etiopathogenesis is known to vary and except for SSPE and CDV-DL, their LIR remain largely undetermined (51-53). In this study, we observed varying degrees of CNS inflammation in CeMV-infected dolphins, predominantly in striped dolphins and bottlenose dolphins with DMV. Overall, the LIR in these cases was dominated by (in decreasing order) by T cells, B cells, and histiocytes accompanied by scattered IgG+ plasma cells, regardless of the CeMV-associated presentation. These findings, particularly concerning lymphocytic LIR in CeMV-infected dolphins resemble CNS lymphocytic LIR in measles (53) and distemper (54); however, an in-depth analysis of CD4+ and CD8+ lymphocytes (both subpopulations representing CD3+ cell subtypes) is hampered by the lack of reliable CD4 and CD8 markers applicable in cetacean FFPE tissues (13). Divergences of CeMV-CNS LIR were evident in cases 13 and 25. The former was a suspect case of CeMV and *Brucella* coinfection. In this case, a greater number of histiocytes, multifocally characterized by a granulomatous phenotype and B cells were observed. Case 25 had a confirmed septicemia by *Staphylococcus aureus*, with major CNS involvement (16). Immunophenotypic divergences in the latter included greater number of histiocytes, along with the presence of a suppurative exudate compared to the other herein investigated genuine cases of CeMV infection with CNS involvement. CD57- and FoxP3-expressing cells were very rarely detected in CNS tissue sections.

We observed consistently increased numbers of CAS3+ in CNS tissue, mainly involving lymphocytes and histiocytes circulating and infiltrating the meninges, expanding the VRS and infiltrating the neuroparenchyma. Occasionally, neurons and neuroglia expressed CAS3 in areas of marked neurodegeneration. These findings are in agreement with previous observations in MeV- and CDV-neurologic disease (55, 56). MHCII was only expressed in CeMV-infected dolphins, thereby involving a consistent fraction of the aforementioned inflammatory cells and occasionally vascular cells. Neuroglial cells, namely microglia and astrocytes, rarely expressed MHCII. MHCI, a major viral antigenpresenting molecule, awaits development of reliable antibodies for use in FFPE cetacean tissues (13). Overall, these findings are in agreement with previous reports of MeV- and CDV-associated neurological disease (8, 39, 51, 53, 57).

Previous studies suggested there is a cytokine imbalance in SSPE. INF γ and TNF α are overexpressed in endothelial and glial cells from SSPE-affected patients (51). Furthermore, in CDV-DL, there is IHC evidence of increased pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL1, IL6, IL8, IL12, and TNF in early stages, whereas, IL1, IL6, and IL12 would predominate in advanced diseases stages (58). By contrast, the expression of anti-inflammatory cytokines, e.g., IL-10 and TGF-ß appears to be restricted to animals with inactive or chronic disease stages (59). Interestingly, the cerebrospinal fluid of naturally infected dogs may contain detectable levels of TNFa and IL-6 mRNA as well as of IL10 and TGFB RNA transcripts simultaneously, so that the staging of the disease becomes troublesome (5). In the present study, CeMV-infected striped dolphins and bottlenose dolphins had consistent IFNy and occasional IL4 immunoexpression in CNS tissue sections examined. Overall, there was greater number of IFNy+ cells in all these cases, suggesting a Th1-CNS polarization at the time of death, regardless acute or chronic CeMV-AD presentation. By contrast, brain tissue from "control" dolphins appeared immunologically quiescent (60). IFNy is pivotal in the CNS-MeV infection (61). Deficient CNS-MeV IFNy responses render individuals highly susceptible (62). The IFNy immunoreactivity observed in the present study suggests IFNy plays a role in the infection's neuropathogenesis also in CeMV-infected dolphins. The detection of occasional simultaneous IL4+ cells suggests Th1/Th2 cytokine interplay during the course of CeMV. Finer quantitative methodologies and in vitro analyses may allow better assessment of the roles of these two "mutually inhibitory" cytokines in CNS-CeMV infection. The participation of IL10+ and TGF β + cells, detected in much smaller numbers in CNS tissue sections, remains unclear. Further studies are necessary to understand the neuroimmunopathogenesis of CeMV infections, with special emphasis on cytokine networks.

To the best of our knowledge, this study represents the first attempt to characterize and compare the LIR in cetaceans infected with CeMV other than in PBLs (11). It would be appropriate to comment on various limiting factors of the present study, some inherent to dealing with carcasses of freeranging cetaceans and some inherent to laboratory diagnostics. Although we prioritized fresh carcasses, some of the tissues showed mild post-mortem autolysis/decomposition phenomena that could have negatively interfered with IHC reactions. Additionally, although we used pAbs standardized for their use in cetacean species and we based our judgment(s) of suitable cross-reactivities upon cellular morphologic features and cellular immunostaining patterns similar to human and mouse and other cetacean control tissues (13), future studies involving cetaceanspecific antibodies should revisit these findings. A relevant factor in this study concerned the "control" group. In this respect, it is extremely difficult to find "perfectly healthy" or "gold-standard" control animals in natural settings, with special reference to free-ranging cetaceans; however, the application of strict inclusion criteria (targeting at least one individual for each species) retrieved three calves. Based on histologic analysis and IHC results, these animals had developed lymphoid systems and did not show overt variations in comparison to a previous report including a female juvenile and two male calves (13). Thus, no evident age-related bias was readily apparent in these animals and comparisons with CeMV-infected dolphins were deemed to be appropriate.

These results indicate a complex interplay between lymphocytic, histiocytic, antigen-presenting cell-, cell deathrelated, and cytokine elements in LIRs to DMV and GD-CeMV infections in striped dolphins, bottlenose dolphins, and Guiana dolphins, respectively. We detected consistent CeMV-associated inflammatory response patterns with some similarities and few differences between DMV-infected striped and bottlenose dolphins, and GDCeMV-infected Guiana dolphins. These are summarized as follows. In the lymphoid system (lymph nodes, spleen), (a) there was multicentric lymphoid depletion, characterized by reduced numbers of T cells and B cells in all three species infected by CeMV; however, lymphoid depletion phenomena were more pronounced in Guiana dolphins infected with GDCeMV; (b) striped dolphins and bottlenose dolphins, infected with DMV, often had hyperplastic (regenerative) phenomena involving the aforementioned cell populations, particularly chronically infected animals; (c) there was generalized increased expression of caspase 3 in all three species; and (d) no differences were detected regarding cytokine immunoreactivity. In the lung, (a) there was a mild to moderate increase in T cells, B cells, and histiocytes in all three species; and (b) no differences were detected regarding cytokine immunoreactivity. Concerning the CNS: (a) inflammation was a consistent feature in DMV-infected striped and bottlenose dolphins in contrast to Guiana dolphins infected by GDCeMV; (b) inflammation was dominated by T cells and B cells, accompanied by fewer Iba1+, CD68+, and lysozyme+ histiocytes; (c) there was increased expression of caspase 3; and (d) no differences were detected regarding cytokine immunoreactivity except for IFN γ in the CNS of infected dolphins of all three species.

In conclusion, these novel results delineate the local immunophenotypic response during CeMV infection in three highly susceptible delphinid species. They also suggest a complex interplay between viral and host's immune factors, thereby contributing to gain valuable insights into similarities and differences of CeMV infection's immunopathogenesis in relation to body tissues, CeMV strains and cetacean hosts. Finally, the herein presented IHC investigation results may help elucidating the immunopathogenetic bases, including the kinetics of LIRs in other infectious and non-infectious disease processes in cetaceans, with major applications in ecotoxicological pathology.

DATA AVAILABILITY

All data for this study are included in the manuscript and/or the supplementary files.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JD-D, KG, and JC-D contributed conception and design of the study. JD-D, KG, ES, SS, ÓQ-C, MA, AF, ES-N, JI, RC, JL-B, LF, CC, SM, LD, GDF, GDG, and JC-D contributed to organization of the databases and/or collected samples for histopathological, immunohistochemical, and molecular analyses. JD-D, KG, RR, IR, CK, NF, and BC contributed to immunohistochemical analyses and laboratorial resources. JD-D, KG, ES, CC, LD, and GDF conducted molecular analyses. JD-D wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- Van Bressem MF, Duignan PJ, Banyard A, Barbieri M, Colegrove KM, De Guise S, et al. *Cetacean morbillivirus*: current knowledge and future directions. *Viruses*. (2014) 6:5145–81. doi: 10.3390/v61 25145
- Groch KR, Colosio AC, Marcondes MC, Zucca D, Diaz-Delgado J, Niemeyer C, et al. Novel cetacean morbillivirus in Guiana dolphin, Brazil. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2014) 20:511–3. doi: 10.3201/eid2003.131557
- Groch KR, Santos-Neto EB, Diaz-Delgado J, Ikeda JMP, Carvalho RR, Oliveira RB, et al. Guiana dolphin unusual mortality event and link to cetacean morbillivirus, Brazil. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2018) 24:1349–54. doi: 10.3201/eid2407.180139
- Fernández A, Esperón F, Herraéz P, de los Monteros AE, Clavel C, Bernabé A, et al. Morbillivirus and pilot whale deaths, Mediterranean Sea. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2008) 14:792–4. doi: 10.3201/eid1405.070948
- Beineke A, Puff C, Seehusen F, Baumgartner W. Pathogenesis and immunopathology of systemic and nervous canine distemper. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2009) 127:1–18. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2008.09.023
- 6. Moss WJ. Measles. Lancet. (2017) 390:2490–502. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31463-0
- Zachary JF. Mechanisms of microbial infections. In: Zachary JF, editor. *Pathologic Basis of Veterinary Disease*. 6th ed. St. Louis, MO: Elsevier (2017). p. 132–241.e1.

FUNDING

This study was designed and conducted in partial fullfiment with a post-doctoral fellowship project funded by São Paulo Research Foundation (FAPESP Grants #2017/243352; #2017/02223-8; #2018/01876).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

In loving memory of our dearest colleague and friend Thamires Oliveira Goes who now rests in peace; we shall see you soon. The authors are grateful to volunteers and official members of the several stranding networks that somehow were involved in biologic material collection employed in this study. Special thanks to Prof. Bruno Cozzi for kindly sharing samples of some of the Italian specimens included in this study. Programa de Conservação dos botos-cinza e outros cetáceos das baías da Ilha Grande e de Sepetiba (MAQUA/UERJ, Associação Cultural e de Pesquisa Noel Rosa, INEA, Transpetro) and Projeto de Monitoramento de Praias da Bacia de Santos (PMP-BS) (MAQUA/UERJ, CTA Meio Ambiente, Instituto Boto Cinza, Petrobras) support cetacean research in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. PMP-BS is a monitoring program demanded by the federal environmental licensing conducted by IBAMA. Sampling and pathological examinations on cetaceans stranded in the Canary Islands is funded by a National Project CGL2015/71498P.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2019.00485/full#supplementary-material

- Carvalho OV, Botelho CV, Ferreira CG, Scherer PO, Soares-Martins JA, Almeida MR, et al. Immunopathogenic and neurological mechanisms of canine distemper virus. *Adv Virol.* (2012) 2012:163860. doi: 10.1155/2012/163860
- 9. Griffin DE. The immune response in measles: virus control, clearance and protective immunity. *Viruses.* (2016) 8:E282. doi: 10.3390/v8100282
- Di Guardo G, Centelleghe C, Mazzariol S. Cetacean host-pathogen interaction (s): critical knowledge gaps. Front Immunol. (2018) 9:2815. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02815
- Bossart GD, Romano TA, Peden-Adams MM, Schaefer A, McCulloch S, Goldstein JD, et al. Clinicoimmunopathologic findings in Atlantic bottlenose dolphins *Tursiops truncatus* with positive cetacean morbillivirus antibody titers. *Dis Aquat Organ.* (2011) 97:103–12. doi: 10.3354/dao02410
- 12. Geraci JR, Lounsbury VJ. *Marine Mammals Ashore: A Field Guide for Strandings.* Baltimore, MD: National Aquarium in Baltimore (2005).
- Díaz-Delgado J, Ressio R, Groch KR, Catão-Dias JL. Immunohistochemical investigation of the cross-reactivity of selected cell markers in formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded lymphoid tissues of Franciscana (*Pontoporia blainvillei*). Vet Immunol Immunopathol. (2018) 200:52–8. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2018.04.009
- Díaz-Delgado J, Groch RK, Sierra E, Sacchini S, Zucca D, Quesada-Canales O, et al. Comparative histopathologic and viral immunohistochemical studies on CeMV infection among Western Mediterranean, Northeast-Central, and Southwestern Atlantic cetaceans. *PLoS ONE.* (2018).

- Centelleghe C, Beffagna G, Zanetti R, Zappulli V, Di Guardo G, Mazzariol S. Molecular analysis of dolphin morbillivirus: a new sensitive detection method based on nested RT-PCR. J Virol Methods. (2016) 235:85–91. doi: 10.1016/j.jviromet.2016.05.005
- Di Guardo G, Di Francesco CE, Eleni C, Cocumelli C, Scholl F, Casalone C, et al. Morbillivirus infection in cetaceans stranded along the Italian coastline: pathological, immunohistochemical and biomolecular findings. *Res Vet Sci.* (2013) 94:132–7. doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2012.07.030
- Sierra E, Sanchez S, Saliki JT, Blas-Machado U, Arbelo M, Zucca D, et al. Retrospective study of etiologic agents associated with nonsuppurative meningoencephalitis in stranded cetaceans in the canary islands. *J Clin Microbiol.* (2014) 52:2390–7. doi: 10.1128/JCM.02906-13
- Sierra E, Zucca D, Arbelo M, Garcia-Alvarez N, Andrada M, Deniz S, et al. Fatal systemic morbillivirus infection in bottlenose dolphin, canary islands, Spain. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2014) 20:269–71. doi: 10.3201/ eid2002.131463
- Nelson AN, Putnam N, Hauer D, Baxter VK, Adams RJ, Griffin DE. Evolution of T cell responses during measles virus infection and RNA clearance. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:11474. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-10965-z
- Appel MJ, Shek WR, Summers BA. Lymphocyte-mediated immune cytotoxicity in dogs infected with virulent canine distemper virus. *Infect Immun.* (1982) 37:592–600.
- Gerber JD, Marron AE. Cell-mediated immunity and age at vaccination associated with measles inoculation and protection of dogs against canine distemper. Am J Vet Res. (1976) 37:133–8.
- Krakowka S, Higgins RJ, Koestner A. Canine distemper virus: review of structural and functional modulations in lymphoid tissues. *Am J Vet Res.* (1980) 41:284–92.
- Rima BK, Duffy N, Mitchell WJ, Summers BA, Appel MJG. Correlation between humoral immune responses and presence of virus in the CNS in dogs experimentally infected with canine distemper virus. *Arch Virol.* (1991) 121:1–8. doi: 10.1007/BF01316739
- Iwatsuki K, Okita M, Ochikubo F, Gemma T, Shin YS, Miyashita N, et al. Immunohistochemical analysis of the lymphoid organs of dogs naturally infected with canine distemper virus. *J Comp Pathol.* (1995) 113:185–90. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9975(05)80033-7
- Wunschmann A, Kremmer E, Baumgartner W. Phenotypical characterization of T and B cell areas in lymphoid tissues of dogs with spontaneous distemper. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2000) 73:83–98. doi: 10.1016/S0165-2427(99)00156-7
- Porter AG, Janicke RU. Emerging roles of caspase-3 in apoptosis. *Cell Death Differ*. (1999) 6:99–104. doi: 10.1038/sj.cdd.4400476
- Kumagai K, Yamaguchi R, Uchida K, Tateyama S. Lymphoid apoptosis in acute canine distemper. J Vet Med Sci. (2004) 66:175–81. doi: 10.1292/jvms.66.175
- Moro L, de Sousa Martins A, de Moraes Alves C, de Araujo Santos FG, dos Santos Nunes JE, Carneiro RA, et al. Apoptosis in canine distemper. *Arch Virol.* (2003) 148:153–64. doi: 10.1007/s00705-002-0903-6
- Schobesberger M, Summerfield A, Doherr MG, Zurbriggen A, Griot C. Canine distemper virus-induced depletion of uninfected lymphocytes is associated with apoptosis. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2005) 104:33–44. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2004.09.032
- Kiraz Y, Adan A, Yandim MK, Baran Y. Major apoptotic mechanisms and genes involved in apoptosis. *Tumor Biol.* (2016) 37:8471–86. doi: 10.1007/s13277-016-5035-9
- 31. Esolen LM, Park SW, Hardwick JM, Griffin DE. Apoptosis as a cause of death in measles virus-infected cells. *J Virol.* (1995) 69:3955–8.
- 32. Okada H, Kobune F, Sato TA, Kohama T, Takeuchi Y, Abe T, et al. Extensive lymphopenia due to apoptosis of uninfected lymphocytes in acute measles patients. *Arch Virol.* (2000) 145:905–20. doi: 10.1007/s0070500 50683
- Razvi ES, Welsh RM. Apoptosis in viral infections. Adv Virus Res. (1995) 45:1–60. doi: 10.1016/S0065-3527(08)60057-3
- Krakowka S, Cockerell G, Koestner A. Effects of canine distemper virus infection on lymphoid functions *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Infect Immun*. (1975) 11:1069–78.
- 35. Cerruti-Sola S, Kristensen F, Vandevelde M, Bichsel P, Kihm U. Lymphocyte responsiveness to lectin and myelin antigens in canine distemper infection in

relation to the development of demyelinating lesions. *J Neuroimmunol.* (1983) 4:77–90. doi: 10.1016/0165-5728(83)90013-9

- Friedlander JM, Summers BA, Appel MJ. Persistence of virulent canine distemper virus in lymphoblastoid cell lines. Arch Virol. (1985) 86:47–62. doi: 10.1007/BF01314113
- 37. McCullough B, Krakowka S, Koestner A. Experimental canine distemper virus-induced lymphoid depletion. *Am J Pathol.* (1974) 74:155–70.
- Tizard IR. The major histocompatibility complex. In: Tizard IR, editor. Vet Immunol. St. Louis, MO: Saunders (2011). p. 102–12.
- Esiri MM, Oppenheimer DR, Brownell B, Haire M. Distribution of measles antigen and immunoglobulin-containing cells in the CNS in subacute sclerosing panencephalitis (SSPE) and atypical measles encephalitis. *J Neurol Sci.* (1982) 53:29–43. doi: 10.1016/0022-510X(82)90078-8
- Grone A, Frisk AL, Baumgartner W. Cytokine mRNA expression in whole blood samples from dogs with natural canine distemper virus infection. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (1998) 65:11–27. doi: 10.1016/S0165-2427(98)00170-6
- Svitek N, von Messling V. Early cytokine mRNA expression profiles predict Morbillivirus disease outcome in ferrets. *Virology*. (2007) 362:404–10. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2007.01.002
- Moussallem TM, Guedes F, Fernandes ER, Pagliari C, Lancellotti CL, de Andrade HF Jr, et al. Lung involvement in childhood measles: severe immune dysfunction revealed by quantitative immunohistochemistry. *Hum Pathol.* (2007) 38:1239–47. doi: 10.1016/j.humpath.2007.01.015
- Zafra R, Jaber JR, Perez J, de la Fuente J, Arbelo M, Andrada M, et al. Immunohistochemical characterisation of parasitic pneumonias of dolphins stranded in the Canary Islands. *Res Vet Sci.* (2015) 100:207–12. doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2015.03.021
- Beckford AP, Kaschula RO, Stephen C. Factors associated with fatal cases of measles. A retrospective autopsy study. S Afr Med J. (1985) 68:858–63.
- 45. Poonacha KB, Smith HL. Naturally occurring Tyzzer's disease as a complication of distemper and mycotic pneumonia in a dog. *J Am Vet Med Assoc.* (1976) 169:419–20.
- 46. Cassle SE, Landrau-Giovannetti N, Farina LL, Leone A, Wellehan JF Jr, Stacy NI, et al. Coinfection by *Cetacean* morbillivirus and *Aspergillus fumigatus* in a juvenile bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*) in the Gulf of Mexico. *J Vet Diagn Invest.* (2016) 28:729–34. doi: 10.1177/1040638716664761
- Domingo M, Visa J, Pumarola M, Marco AJ, Ferrer L, Rabanal R, et al. Pathologic and immunocytochemical studies of morbillivirus infection in striped dolphins (*Stenella coeruleoalba*). *Vet Pathol.* (1992) 29:1–10. doi: 10.1177/030098589202900101
- Lipscomb TP, Schulman FY, Moffett D, Kennedy S. Morbilliviral disease in Atlantic bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) from the 1987–1988 epizootic. J Wildl Dis. (1994) 30:567–71. doi: 10.7589/0090-3558-30.4.567
- Kawashima M, Kuwamura M, Takeya M, Yamate J. Morphologic characteristics of pulmonary macrophages in cetaceans: particular reference to pulmonary intravascular macrophages as a newly identified type. *Vet Pathol.* (2004) 41:682–6. doi: 10.1354/vp.41-6-682
- Greene CE, Vandevelde M. Canine distemper. In: Greene CE, editor. *Infectious Diseases of the Dog and Cat-E-Book.* St. Louis, MO: Elsevier Health Sciences (2013). p. 25–42.
- Anlar B, Soylemezoglu F, Aysun S, Kose G, Belen D, Yalaz K. Tissue inflammatory response in subacute sclerosing panencephalitis (SSPE). J Child Neurol. (2001) 16:895–900. doi: 10.1177/088307380101601206
- Wunschmann A, Alldinger S, Kremmer E, Baumgartner W. Identification of CD4+ and CD8+ T cell subsets and B cells in the brain of dogs with spontaneous acute, subacute-, and chronic-demyelinating distemper encephalitis. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (1999) 67:101–16. doi: 10.1016/S0165-2427(98)00216-5
- Griffin DE. Measles virus and the nervous system. In: Tselis AC, Booss J, editors. *Handbook of Clinical Neurology, Neurovirology, Vol. 123*. Baltimore, MD: Elsevier (2014). p. 577–90.
- Lempp C, Spitzbarth I, Puff C, Cana A, Kegler K, Techangamsuwan S, et al. New aspects of the pathogenesis of canine distemper leukoencephalitis. *Viruses.* (2014) 6:2571–601. doi: 10.3390/v6072571
- McQuaid S, McMahon J, Herron B, Cosby SL. Apoptosis in measles virusinfected human central nervous system tissues. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol.* (1997) 23:218–24. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2990.1997.tb01205.x

- Moro L, Martins AS, Alves CM, Santos FG, Del Puerto HL, Vasconcelos AC. Apoptosis in the cerebellum of dogs with distemper. J Vet Med B Infect Dis Vet Public Health. (2003) 50:221–5. doi: 10.1046/j.1439-0450.2003.00657.x
- 57. Alldinger S, Wunschmann A, Baumgartner W, Voss C, Kremmer E. Up-regulation of major histocompatibility complex class II antigen expression in the central nervous system of dogs with spontaneous canine distemper virus encephalitis. *Acta Neuropathol.* (1996) 92:273–80. doi: 10.1007/s004010050518
- Grone A, Alldinger S, Baumgartner W. Interleukin-1beta, -6, -12 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha expression in brains of dogs with canine distemper virus infection. J Neuroimmunol. (2000) 110:20–30. doi: 10.1016/S0165-5728(00)00332-5
- Spitzbarth I, Baumgartner W, Beineke A. The role of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines in the pathogenesis of spontaneous canine CNS diseases. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2012) 147:6–24. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2012.04.005
- Sethna MP, Lampson LA. Immune modulation within the brain: recruitment of inflammatory cells and increased major histocompatibility antigen expression following intracerebral injection of interferon-γ. J Neuroimmunol. (1991) 34:121–32. doi: 10.1016/0165-5728(91)90121-M

- Finke D, Brinckmann UG, Termeulen V, Liebert UG. Gamma-Interferon is a major mediator of antiviral defense in experimental measles virus-induced encephalitis. J Virol. (1995) 69:5469–74.
- Chesler DA, Reiss CS. The role of IFN-γ in immune responses to viral infections of the central nervous system. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* (2002) 13:441–54. doi: 10.1016/S1359-6101(02)00044-8

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Díaz-Delgado, Groch, Ressio, Riskallah, Sierra, Sacchini, Quesada-Canales, Arbelo, Fernàndez, Santos-Neto, Ikeda, Carvalho, Azevedo, Lailson-Brito, Flach, Kanamura, Fernandes, Cogliati, Centelleghe, Mazzariol, Di Renzo, Di Francesco, Di Guardo and Catão-Dias. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Marine Mammal Class II Major Histocompatibility Complex Organization

André Luiz Alves de Sá^{1,2*}, Breanna Breaux³, Tibério Cesar Tortola Burlamaqui⁴, Thaddeus Charles Deiss³, Leonardo Sena⁵, Michael Frederick Criscitiello^{3*} and Maria Paula Cruz Schneider²

¹ Laboratory of Applied Genetics, Socio-Environmental and Water Resources Institute, Federal Rural University of the Amazon, Belém, Brazil, ² Laboratory of Genomics and Biotechnology, Biological Sciences Institute, Federal University of Pará, Belém, Brazil, ³ Comparative Immunogenetics Laboratory, Department of Veterinary Pathobiology, College of Veterinary Medicine and Biomedical Sciences, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, United States, ⁴ Center for Technological Innovation, Evandro Chagas Institute, Belém, Brazil, ⁵ Center of Biodiversity Advanced Studies, Biological Sciences Institute, Federal University of Pará, Belém, Brazil

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Brian Dixon, University of Waterloo, Canada

Reviewed by:

Unni Grimholt, Norwegian Veterinary Institute, Norway Pierre Boudinot, Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique (INRA), France Ben F. Koop, University of Victoria, Canada

*Correspondence:

André Luiz Alves de Sá andre.luiz.sa@hotmail.com Michael Frederick Criscitiello mcriscitiello@cvm.tamu.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Comparative Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 30 November 2018 Accepted: 13 March 2019 Published: 04 April 2019

Citation:

Sá ALA, Breaux B, Burlamaqui TCT, Deiss TC, Sena L, Criscitiello MF and Schneider MPC (2019) The Marine Mammal Class II Major Histocompatibility Complex Organization. Front. Immunol. 10:696. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00696

Sirenians share with cetaceans and pinnipeds several convergent traits selected for the aquatic lifestyle. Living in water poses new challenges not only for locomotion and feeding but also for combating new pathogens, which may render the immune system one of the best tools aquatic mammals have for dealing with aquatic microbial threats. So far, only cetaceans have had their class II Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) organization characterized, despite the importance of MHC genes for adaptive immune responses. This study aims to characterize the organization of the marine mammal class II MHC using publicly available genomes. We located class II sequences in the genomes of one sirenian, four pinnipeds and eight cetaceans using NCBI-BLAST and reannotated the sequences using local BLAST search with exon and intron libraries. Scaffolds containing class II sequences were compared using dotplot analysis and introns were used for phylogenetic analysis. The manatee class II region shares overall synteny with other mammals, however most DR loci were translocated from the canonical location, past the extended class II region. Detailed analysis of the genomes of closely related taxa revealed that this presumed translocation is shared with all other living afrotherians. Other presumptive chromosome rearrangements in Afrotheria are the deletion of DQ loci in Afrosoricida and deletion of DP in E. telfairi. Pinnipeds share the main features of dog MHC: lack of a functional pair of DPA/DPB genes and inverted DRB locus between DQ and DO subregions. All cetaceans share the Cetartiodactyla inversion separating class II genes into two subregions: class IIa, with DR and DQ genes, and class IIb, with non-classic genes and a DRB pseudogene. These results point to three distinct and unheralded class II MHC structures in marine mammals: one canonical organization but lacking DP genes in pinnipeds; one bearing an inversion separating IIa and IIb subregions lacking DP genes found in cetaceans; and one with a translocation separating the most diverse class II gene from the MHC found in afrotherians and presumptive functional DR, DQ, and DP genes. Future functional research will reveal how these aquatic mammals cope with pathogen pressures with these divergent MHC organizations.

Keywords: molecular evolution, genomics, marine mammals, manatee, MHC, immunogenetics, pinnipeds, cetaceans

INTRODUCTION

The transition from terrestrial to aquatic habitat has occurred in several terrestrial vertebrate lineages. In mammals, early after the Cretaceous period, independent ancestral lineages of afrotherian, cetartiodactyl, and carnivore would begin their path to return to aquatic environments which would lead to current sirenian, cetacean, and pinniped species of marine mammals. Those three lineages have further undergone adaptive radiation and their descendants are found in both oceanic and freshwater habitats.

The order Sirenia is represented by one species of dugong (Dugong dugon) and three species of manatees (Trichechus manatus, T. senegalensis, and T. inunguis), all of them exclusively herbivorous and whose closest living relatives are the elephants. The order Cetacea have approximately 89 species divided into two suborders: Odontoceti (toothed whales) and Mysticeti (baleen whales), and is closely related to hippopotamuses. Pinnipedia comprises a carnivore suborder with three families (Otaridae, Phocidae, and Odobenidae) of around 34 species of aquatic fin-footed mammals (seal, sea-lions, and walrus), closely related to bears and musteloids (e.g., raccoons and skunks), which are still dependent on the land to live, in contrast to sirenians and cetaceans, which are totally adapted to the aquatic environment. Aquatic mammals share several convergent traits selected for fresh water and marine habitats, including morphologic and genetic traits (1-4).

Living in water poses new challenges not only for locomotion and feeding but also for combating new pathogens. How the three major independent aquatic mammal lineages just detailed dealt with the genetic constraints of their ancestry and to what extent their recent history in similar habitats led to convergent evolution in their immune system is not clear. Several marine mammals lack major predators in the adult phase, so infectious disease may be an important cause of mortality (5). This may make the immune system of these aquatic lineages particularly important for their fitness and fecundity. Compared to their terrestrial relatives, marine mammals face distinct diversity of pathogens, disease ecology, and epidemiology (6–8), which may create distinct selective pressures on immune genetic systems, including the Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC).

The MHC encodes many immune (and many non-immune) genes, canonically divided in class I, II, and III regions in vertebrates. The class II region includes classical (e.g., DR, DQ, DP) MHC, non-classical (e.g., DO, DM) MHC, antigen processing (e.g., TAP, PSMB) and other genes. Classical class II alpha and beta genes encode a protein heterodimer that presents antigens for T lymphocytes to detect infections and other danger signals. Classical MHC genes are highly polymorphic, confer resistance or susceptibility to diseases, and may be used as genetic markers for species conservation (9, 10). Several studies have reported the diversity of class II genes in cetaceans (11-19) and pinnipeds (5, 20-25). Past evidence also showed that class II MHC genes may be important genetic markers for survival in a seal species (5). Despite its proposed importance for marine mammals, so far only a representative of cetacean has had their class II MHC organization characterized (26). Therefore, we aimed to compare the genomic organization and evolution of the MHC class II region in sirenians, cetaceans, and pinnipeds, using genome assemblies from representatives of these groups available in public databases. We also included other mammals from different eutherian lineages for a better understanding of the evolution of marine mammals and the eutherian class II MHC region.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

MHC Class II Genes Identification and Reannotation

The marine mammals investigated in this research were: the sirenian Florida manatee (*Trichechus manatus latirostris*); the cetaceans minke whale (*Balaenoptera acutorostrata scammoni*), sperm whale (*Physeter catodon*), baiji (*Lipotes vexillifer*), beluga whale (*Delphinapterus leucas*), finless porpoise (*Neophocaena asiaeorientalis*), bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*), Pacific white-sided dolphin (*Lagenorhynchus obliquens*), and killer whale (*Orcinus orca*); and the pinnipeds walrus (*Odobenus rosmarus*), Northern fur seal (*Callorhinus ursinus*), Hawaiian monk seal (*Neomonachus schauinslandi*), and Weddell seal (*Leptonychotes wedelli*). We included in the analysis other mammals as outgroups and representatives of other major eutherian branches. A summary of the assembly reports from each analyzed species is provided in **Supplementary File S1**.

Preliminary search on the NCBI database identified annotated MHC class II genes in the genomes of cetaceans, afrotherians, and pinnipeds. All predicted mRNA gene sequences were aligned to their human homologs. We selected presumptive wellannotated classical genes based on the presence of full-length sequences, presence of all exons, and no evidence of pseudogene misidentification (presence of stop codons and lack of homology in any exons). Those predicted genes and their human homologs were used to perform megablast and discontiguous megablast searches in the genomes of marine mammals and other mammals representative of the main eutherian branches. Gene references used were: DMA, NM_006120.3; DMB, NM_002118.4; DOA, NM_002119.3; DOB, NM_002120.3; DRA, NM_019111.4 and XM_007951302.1; DRB, NM_002124.3 and XM_003423461.2; DPA, NM_001242525.1 and XM_006882197.1; DPB, NM_002121.5 and XM_012559980.1; DQA, NM_002122.3 and XM_003421050.1; DQB, NM_001243961.1.

We checked all predicted class II gene and pseudogene sequences for proper annotation using Geneious 9 (27). MAFFT (28) alignments with the predicted coding sequence were used to check for missing or poorly annotated exons. We constructed local BLAST libraries containing exons and introns for each gene and performed blast on scaffolds containing class II sequences. Nomenclature used for class II genes of non-model species included a prefix formed by the first two letters of the genus and species (i.e., *Loxodonta africana*, Loaf; *Trichechus manatus*, Trma; *Orycteropus afer*, Oraf; *Elephantulus edwardii*, Eled; *Chrysochloris asiatica*, Chas; *Echinops telfairi*, Ecte; *Dasypus novemcintus*, Dano; *B. acutorostrata*, Baac; *D. leucas*; Dele; *L. vexillifer*, Live; *N. asiaeorientalis*, Neas; *O. orca*, Oror; *L. obliquidens*, Laob; *T. truncates*, Tutr; *P. catodon*, Phca; *C. ursinus*, Caur; *N. schauinslandi*, Nesc; *L. weddelli*, Lewe; *O. rosmarus*, Odro; *Pteropus alecto*, Ptal; *Equus caballus*, Eqca) (29, 30); BoLA, DLA, H2 and HLA were used for bovine, dog, mouse and human genes, respectively.

Predicted coding sequences with no stop codons or frameshift mutations were presumed to be functional and annotated as genes (including incomplete coding sequence due to assembly gaps); sequences with at least one stop codon or frameshift mutations were annotated as pseudogenes. Thus, for clarity, in this manuscript "locus/loci" will be used when broadly referring to sequences from a gene family, including both presumed genes and pseudogenes; "gene" will be used when referring only to presumed functional sequences; and "pseudogene" will be used for presumed non-functional sequences. New annotations and reannotation CDS, as well as the summary of the loci used in this study are provided here as **Supplementary Files S2,S3**.

Comparative Genomics Analysis

To construct dot plot graphs, the manatee, Northern fur seal and sperm whale were chosen as representatives of the main marine mammal branches. Scaffolds containing class II genes were first submitted to RepeatMasker (31) and resulting masking files were used along with sequence and gene annotations on PipMaker (32). For the manatee, scaffolds covering the class II MHC region were concatenated. Part of the annotations and sequences from the extended class II region were removed to provide a better view of the identity of key regions.

Species	Scaffold	DRA	DRB	DQA	DQB	DPA	DPB	DOA	DOB	DMA	DMB	DYA/DYB
T. manatus	NW_004444001	0	Ο (1ψ)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	NW_004444197	0	0	0	0	0 (1ψ)	0 (4ψ)	0	0	0	0	0
	NW_004444318	0	0	0	0 (2ψ)	1	1	1	1	1	1	0
	NW_004444391	1	0	1	1 (1ψ)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	NW_004444463	0	Ο (1ψ)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	NW_004444511	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0
	NW_004444627	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
	NW_004446990	0	Ο (1ψ)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
B. acutorostrata	NW_006728570	0	Ο (1ψ)	0	0	0	Ο (1ψ)	1	1	1	1	0
	NW_006732678	1	1 (1ψ)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	NW_006731889	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
D. leucas	NW_019160881	1	2 (1ψ)	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	0
L. vexillifer	NW_006778796	0	Ο (1ψ)	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	NW_006787800	0	Ο (1ψ)	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	0
	NW_006786873	1	1 (1ψ)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
N. asiaeorientalis	NW_020174277	1	1 (1ψ)	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	NW_020175393	0	Ο (1ψ)	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	0
O. orca	NW_004438437	0	Ο (1ψ)	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	0
	NW_004438672	1	2	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
L. obliquidens	NW_020837975	1	1 (2ψ)	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	0
T. truncatus	NW_017842945	0	Ο (1ψ)	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	0
	NW_017844288	1	2 (1ψ)	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
P. catodon	NW_019873557	1	2 (1ψ)	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	0
C. ursinus	NW_020313370	1	1 (1ψ)	1	1	Ο (1ψ)	0 (2ψ)	1	1	1	1	0
	NW_020319034	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	NW_020321179	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
N. schauinslandi	NW_018734297	0	0	1	1	0 (1ψ)	0 (1ψ)	1	1	1	1	0
	NW_018734368	Ο (1ψ)	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
L. weddellii	NW_006383774	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	NW_006383968	0	1	1	1	0 (1ψ)	1	0	1	1	1	0
	NW_006386795	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
O. rosmarus	NW_004450609	0	1	0	0	0 (1ψ)	Ο (1ψ)	1	1	1	1	0
	NW_004450757	2	1 (1ψ)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	NW_004452682	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

TABLE 1 | Number^a of MHC class II genes and pseudogenes in each marine mammal scaffolds.

^a The number of presumptive functional genes are outside of brackets, and number of pseudogenes (ψ) between brackets.



Phylogenetic Analysis

We constructed phylogenetic trees using the exons and introns from classical MHC class II genes and pseudogenes (when they could be accurately determined). We chose to use only loci located in scaffolds that allowed us to determine their location. Introns were separately aligned using MAFFT online service (33) and the alignments cleaned in GBlocks (34) under default settings and allowing gaps in all sequences. Intron alignments were then concatenated for the rest of the analysis. Exons were also aligned using MAFFT. Best-fit partition scheme and corresponding nucleotide substitution model was checked on PartitionFinder (35); each intron was discriminated for the search of all possible partition schemes and each codon position was treated as a partition. Maximum likelihood trees were constructed in CIPRES (36) using RAxML (37), with 1,000 bootstrap iterations. All phylogenetic tests were performed in triplicate. Trees were constructed on iTOL (38). Exon phylogenies did not change the main conclusions of this study, therefore we present only intron phylogenies since they are more comprehensive.

RESULTS

The Marine Mammal Genomes and Class II MHC Synteny

All marine mammal genomes in our analysis were *de novo* assembled using varying assembly methods (**Supplementary File S1**). The manatee genome was made using Illumina Hi-seq technology with a 150x coverage; pinniped genomes were also made using Illumina reads with coverage ranging from 27.44x to 200x; and cetacean genomes were made using Illumina or BGISEQ-500 technology, with coverage ranging from 35.68x to 248x (**Supplementary File S1**).

The manatee class II sequences were distributed over eight scaffolds, while other marine mammals had their class II MHC distributed on 1–3 scaffolds (**Table 1**). Overall, we were able to locate one copy of each non-classical gene in all marine

mammals, whereas the classical genes varied across taxa. MHC class II genes showed conservation in sequence length and number of exons when compared to human homologs, although many entries were only partial due to gaps in the genome or difficulty in determining exon boundaries.

We chose a representative of each marine mammal lineage to construct dot plot graphs against the human MHC. The manatee class II region maintain the overall synteny compared to human, but all *DRB* loci are located after the extended class II region (**Figure 1A**). The Northern fur seal class II region also have the main features of the human MHC class II organization; however it lacks conservation in the *DP* subregion and possesses an inverted *DRB* pseudogene between its *DQ* and *DO* subregions (**Figure 1B**). The sperm whale class II region is divided in two subregions due to an inversion separating the *DR* and *DQ* genes from the non-classic genes (**Figure 1C**); the cetacean also lacks identity in the *DP* subregion and possesses a *DRB* pseudogene between *DOB* and *GCLC* (**Figure 1C**).

Main Features of the Marine Mammal MHC Class II Region

Due to the fragmentation of the manatee class II region in distinct scaffolds, we turned our attention to other afrotherians to understand their organization. The genomes investigated here were all sequenced and assembled by the Broad Institute. *L. africana* was the first sequenced *afrotherian* genome, assembled with Sanger reads; other *afrotherian* genomes were sequenced by NGS Illumina Hi-seq technology. All genomes were *de novo* assembled, with coverage ranging from 44x to 150x for the Illumina assembled genomes (**Supplementary File S1**). *C. asiatica* and *E. edwardii* have all class II loci in the same scaffold, evidence that class II sequences lie in the same chromosome. All analyzed afrotherian share the presumptive translocation of *DR* loci (**Figure 2**); this translocation was not found in other boreoeutherian or xenarthran genomes analyzed here (data not shown). Other presumptive chromosomal rearrangements were



the deletion of *DQ* in the ancestor of *Afrosoricida* (i.e., *C. asiatica* and *E. telfairi*) and deletion of *DP* in *E. telfairi* (**Figure 2**).

The pinniped class II region has the same composition found in the dog DLA (**Figure 3**). Like the Northern fur seal, walrus and Weddell seal also possess *DRB* loci between *DOB* and *DQB*. Pinniped genomes have varied numbers of *DR* loci but a single pair of presumed *DQ* genes. Most *DP* loci seem to be pseudogenes in pinnipeds (**Figure 3**).

All cetaceans share with terrestrial Cetartiodactyla the inversion separating class II genes in two subregions: IIa, including DR and DQ loci; and IIb, including non-classic genes (**Figure 4**). Cetaceans have one DRA gene and up to three DRB loci in class IIa and a presumed DRB pseudogene next to DOB on class IIb region. Despite lying in the same location occupied by DYB and DSB in cattle, those sequences share a higher homology with DRB exons and introns and therefore were

annotated as such. Most cetaceans have only one pair of DQ genes, whereas no DQ loci was found in the minke whale genome. Like cattle, cetaceans seem to have lost DP loci altogether, with only remnants of a DPB pseudogene found in the minke whale class IIb region. No DY loci was found in any cetacean (**Figure 4**).

Non-classical Class II and Antigen Processing Genes

Overall, non-classical genes were already annotated in the genomes analyzed here, but some entries needed a refined prediction of exon boundaries. The gene content and organization across marine mammals is highly conserved, as found in other mammals. Notably, *D. leucas* and *E. telfairi DOB* had to be separated from the *TAP2* gene annotations. *L. vexillifer* and *C. asiatica DOB* have a stop codon at exon 5, therefore were annotated as presumed pseudogene despite



FIGURE 3 | Model of pinniped class II MHC evolution. On the top of image, the pinniped phylogeny and divergence time (Ma, million years before present) proposed by Nyakatura and Bininda-Emonds (40). On the left, dog class II MHC region is depicted as an outgroup and model of the Carnivora genome organization. Arrows represent genes and pseudogenes (shown as "p" in the end of the gene's name). Only informative scaffolds of the MHC structure are displayed. In color, a schematic view of class II loci helps to understand the evolution of class II loci (*DR*—red; *DQ*—purple; *DP*—green; *DO/TAP/PSMB/DM*—yellow). *TAP/PSMB* represents *TAP1*, *TAP2*, *PSMB8*, *PSMB9*.

being the only predicted *DOB* locus in their genomes. Protein alignments showed conservation of exon sizes, with most differences related to missing exons due to gaps in assembly (**Supplementary Files S4–S7**).

Classical Class II Genes DR Loci

Most *DR* loci had to be reannotated, especially the small exons 5 and 6 from *DRB*. Protein alignments of *DR* genes are provided in **Supplementary Files S8**, **S9**. In the three orders of marine mammals we were able to find *DRA* and *DRB* genes, despite manatee having most of its sequences outside the canonical class II region. The translocation of *DR* loci in *Afrotheria* split sequences into four subregions (**Figure 2**): within the canonical class II region (not translocated, "nt"), between *C6orf106* and *SNRPC* (translocation 1, "tr1"; ~2.3 Mb distant from nt), between *TULP1* and *FKBP5* (tr2; mean ~3.2 Mb distant from nt), and between *CLPS* and *LHFPL5* (tr3; mean \sim 3.9Mb distant from nt). The manatee has presumptive functional *DRA* and *DRB* genes at the nt and tr2 region, respectively, this *DRB* gene has a 16 codon gap in exon 3 but was considered a functional gene since no stop codons were found. The *DR* subregion in manatee have several assembly gaps, which hinders a clearer definition of number of genes. Tr1 was only found in *Paenungulata* (i.e., *L. africana* and *T. manatus*). All afrotherians seem to have lost functional *DRB* from nt, whereas *E. edwardii* lack all *DR* loci in the region (**Figure 2**). Afrotherian species seem to maintain only one subregion with presumed functional *DRB* genes, either tr2 (Paenungulata, *O. afer*, and *Afrosoricida*) or tr3 (*E. edwardii*).

Pinnipeds possess *DRB* and *DRA* loci; walrus have an *in tandem* duplication of *DR* loci in the nt. The only *DRA* locus from Hawaiian monk seal has a 1-bp deletion in exon 2 leading to several stop codons, and therefore was annotated as a pseudogene. However, this species has a presumptive functional *DRB* gene. Pinnipeds (except the Hawaiian monk seal) also share with dog a *DRB* locus between *DQB* and *DOB* (termed "nt2" region) that seems to be functional in walrus and Weddell seal (**Figure 3**).

Cetaceans have one bona fide *DRA* gene and one to three *DRB* loci (**Figure 4**). The cetaceans and cattle share a one codon deletion on the first exon of *DRA* genes (**Supplementary File S8**). The cetacean *DRB* pseudogene in the class IIb region lies in a location similar to *DSB* in cattle (**Figure 4**). The position and direction of class IIb *DRB* pseudogenes are compatible to that of nt2 *DRB* in the non-inverted class II region of other mammals.

DRA phylogenies formed well-supported clusters separating Carnivora, Cetartiodactyla and Afrotheria loci (**Figure 5A**). The afrotherian translocated loci from different locations did not form a well-supported cluster on the phylogenies; overall, *DR* loci grouped by species and not by genomic position on the phylogenetic trees. The only evidence of orthology from different afrotherian species occurred in the Paenungulata *DRA* nt genes (**Figure 5**). Carnivora formed 2 well-supported clusters in *DRB* phylogeny separating nt from nt2 sequences, although horse nt2 loci did not cluster with the Carnivora nt2 loci (**Figure 5B**). Similarly, cetacean IIb loci formed a well-supported cluster apart from nt2 loci from horse and carnivores (**Figure 5B**). Cetacean IIa loci formed two clusters separating most *DRB* pseudogenes from the genes, and therefore the ancestor of cetaceans probably had one *DRB* gene and one pseudogene.

DQ Loci

The marine mammals have a similar DQ subregion, with at least a pair of DQA and DQB functional genes annotated in most species analyzed here. The manatee genome has one DQA gene and four DQB loci, although only one seems to be functional. Most afrotherians also have a single DQA gene, while the number of DQB loci varied across taxa. The only species analyzed with multiple presumptive functional DQB genes is *L. africana*. We could not find any DQ loci in the genome of *C. asiatica* and *E. telfairi*. Pinnipeds and cetaceans have a pair of DQA and DQBgenes, however, no DQ loci was located in the minke whale genome, possibly due to the abundance of assembly gaps in



the DQ subregion. DQ genes maintained overall conservation of exon length, with differences only in exon 1 of DQB (**Supplementary Files S10, S11**). Most manatee loci clustered with elephant sequences in the phylogenies (**Figure 6**), but one manatee DQB pseudogene clustered with *P. alecto* pseudogene, suggesting this pseudogene was present in the ancestor of eutherians (**Figure 6B**). Carnivora and Cetartiodactyla DQA and DQB genes clustered inside their groups; cetacean DQA is orthologous to BoLA-DQA2 (**Figure 6A**).

DP Loci

We reannotated most *DP* loci, mainly due to difficulty in assigning exon 1 for *DPA* and exon 5 for *DPB*. Most *DPA* loci were annotated with a small exon 1, because the start codon seemed to have mutated (coding for a valine instead of methionine). Protein alignments are provided in **Supplementary Files S12, S13**. Among the marine mammals, the only species with a pair of presumptive functional *DPA* and

DPB genes is the manatee (**Supplementary File S3, Table 1**); the manatee possesses three *DPA* and four *DPB* loci, but only two *DPA* and one *DPB* are presumptive genes. Inside Afrotheria, *O. afer* possesses four *in tandem* duplications of the *DP* loci, while *E. telfairi* lost all *DP* loci (**Figure 2**). Most pinniped's *DP* loci are pseudogenes, except one *DPB* gene in Weddell seal and one *DPA* in Northern fur seal (**Figure 3**); *Caur-DPA* lacks homology in the end of exon 4 and *Lewe-DPB* is a partial sequence including only exons three and four. Cetaceans lack *DP* loci altogether, with the exception of a remnant of a *DPB* pseudogene (homology only to the exon 3) found in minke whale (**Figure 4**).

Four *DPA* genes (three from *O. afer* and one from *E. edwardii*) and two pseudogenes (one from *O. afer* and one from *L. africana*) possess a distinctive three codon insertion in exon 3, which may be evidence of an ancestral form of *DPA* in the afrotherian lineage (**Supplementary Files S3, S12**). However, sequences with this insertion did not form a well-supported cluster in the phylogenies (**Figure 6C**). *DPA* showed



alecto, Ptal; E. caballus, Egca; B. taurus, BoLA; H. sapiens, HLA; M. musculus, H2; C. I. familiaris, DLA.

signs of orthology in Paenungulata; *DPB* pseudogenes showed signs of orthology between Paenungulata and *O. afer* (**Figure 6**). The ancestor of eutherians seems to have had two *in tandem* duplications of DP loci, one with functional genes and the other with pseudogenes; the manatee has loci from both clusters (**Figure 6**). Most Carnivora loci grouped inside pseudogene clusters; the presence of *Caur-DPA* and *Lewe-DPB* inside this cluster of Carnivora pseudogenes suggests both may not be functional (**Figure 6**).

DISCUSSION

Here we report the organization of the marine mammal class II MHC and the first model for the evolution of this region in afrotherians, *sirenians* and pinnipeds, including species from the families Otaridae, Phocidae, and Odobenidae. We also expanded the number of class II MHC organization reports in cetaceans, including species from Mysticeti and Odontoceti lineages. We found that the manatee MHC includes the main classical



caballus, Eqca; B. taurus, BoLA; H. sapiens, HLA; M. musculus, H2; C. I. familiaris, DLA.

mammalian class II genes while most DR loci were translocated a feature manatee shares with the other afrotherians analyzed here. Both pinnipeds and cetaceans have presumptive functional DQ and DR genes, probably lost functional DP genes, and have one DRB locus lying next to DOB. These findings fill a gap in the study of marine mammal immunogenetics and eutherian MHC evolution, providing evidence of new chromosomal rearrangements events that led to changes in the organization of the mammalian MHC.

The afrotherian MHC is poorly studied as a whole—to our knowledge, the only reports on afrotherian MHC are two studies on the DQA polymorphisms in elephant and wooly mammoth (42, 43). Based on genomic resources analyzed here, the manatees share with other afrotherians a unique DR translocation separating it from the core class II region. Despite manatee genes being distributed over four main scaffolds, all class II MHC sequences, including translocated DR loci, presumably lie on the same chromosome, based on other

afrotherian class II regions and data from chromosome painting in manatee (44). The similarity between the manatee and elephant class II organization suggests that elephant may serve as a model for understanding the manatee MHC function. Antigen presentation in manatee presumably uses DR, DQ, and DP, with evidence of DQ duplications. Future research addressing the expression and polymorphism of class II genes in both species is needed. Afrotherians also have other unique features: a three-codon insertion on exon 3 in some of the DPA loci and deletion of DQ and DP loci during Afrosoricida (tenrec and golden mole) evolution. It is important to notice that tenrec (E. telfairi) seem to have one of the simplest mammalian MHC class II regions. We found three DRA genes and only one DRB gene on the tenrec assembly (Figure 2; Supplementary File S3), which may represent a mammalian "minimal essential" MHC class II, like in chickens-with only two classical class II genes, coding the alpha and beta peptides (45).

Despite several reports on class II gene polymorphisms in pinnipeds, to our knowledge this is the first analysis of MHC structure in this clade. The class II MHC of pinnipeds is similar to the DLA organization (46). The lack of a pair of presumed functional *DPA* and *DPB* genes in pinnipeds suggests their MHC may function similarly to cetaceans—using primarily *DR* and *DQ* molecules—and may provide opportunities to investigate convergence in class II evolution in both clades. Most pinnipeds also have an inverted *DRB* locus between *DQB* and *DOB*, which is not only present in carnivores such as dogs (46) and cats (47) but also in horses (48). This inversion event is thought to have occurred in the ancestor of Laurasitheria (48) and this *DRB* may be functional in walrus and Weddell seal.

Despite several studies focused on class II gene polymorphism in cetaceans, their MHC structure was only recently characterized (26). Most cetaceans analyzed here and the previously reported Yangtze finless porpoise MHC (26) have one *DRA* and two *DRB* loci in class IIa, a *DRB* pseudogene in class IIb, a single *DQ* pair, and lack *DP* and *DY* genes. On the other hand, cattle have *DYA*, *DYB*, *DSB*, and duplicated *DQ* genes; therefore using cattle as a model for cetacean immunogenetics should be cautionary until further characterization of expression and MHC haplotype variation in cetaceans. Notably, the only *Mysticeti* species analyzed here lacks *DQ* loci in its assembly, probably due to the large assembly gaps in this region, since there are reports of *DQ* polymorphisms in baleen whales (16, 19).

The difficulties of assembling the MHC region is widely known, due to extensive variation in gene sequence and haplotype composition of multigene families. However, due to increasing availability of good non-model species genomes, researchers have started using publicly available genomes to analyze the MHC region (49-56). Despite the challenges, to our knowledge, there are no reports that such difficulties resulted in artifactual chromosomal rearrangements of MHC loci, such as the translocations seen in Afrotheria. This mutation event is supported by the fact that two different sequencing technologies (long-reads from Sanger and short-reads from Illumina) and two different de novo assembly algorithms [ARACHNE and ALLSPATH (57, 58)] resulted in the same translocated subregions across the afrotherian genomes. Thus, if the translocation was an assembly artifact, the same misassembly would have to be repeated six times independently with datasets from different species, generated with different sequencing methodologies and different assembly algorithms. It is important to note that no other mammals analyzed here or elsewhere had similar events. The MHC organization of the other analyzed marine mammals were highly consistent with the organization of their eutherian lineages. Similarly, the deletion of DQ in Afrosoricida is supported by the evolutionary relationship of *C*. asiatica and E. telfairi-a deletion shared by two independent assemblies of animals from the same lineage and by the overall reduction in MHC size in the species scaffolds especially in the DQ/DP subregion. Another way to provide physical evidence for the translocation or deletion would be to use fluorescent in situ hybridization or sequence BAC libraries containing MHC genes, which was beyond the scope of the present study.

The DR phylogenies clustered sequences by species, although we expected that all translocated loci across afrotherians would form a well-supported cluster in the phylogenies, separated from non-translocated sequences. DRB loci in the nt2-IIb region and DPA with a three-codon insertion also did not cluster in the phylogenies. Previous research, using class II MHC genes from laurasitherians, also had similar results (48). Orthologous relationships were particularly observed inside Cetacea and Carnivora in which species diverged < 60 Ma (40, 41). A better resolution of orthology among translocated loci would probably be achieved using less divergent taxa, since the clades analyzed here diverged early in afrotherian evolution. For instance, one of the closest pair of species studied here is the African elephant and the Florida manatee, with estimates of 70~65 million years of divergence (39, 59). The non-translocated DRA from manatee indeed clustered with the non-translocated elephant homolog, but the lack of other sequences (i.e., translocated Trma-DRA and non-translocated Trma-DRB) presently hinders a more comprehensive analysis.

In a simplistic scenario of the ancestral Afrotheria MHC, the translocated loci would diverge, and a phylogenetic analysis would separate loci from both regions (**Figure 7A**). However, in a realistic scenario, birth-and-death evolution (see below), natural selection, occasional gene conversion-like events and recombination may blur the evolutionary relationship among loci (**Figure 7B**). Those evolutionary processes may result in no true orthologs for MHC genes between distantly related taxa (60, 61). Similar processes may also explain why nt2 *DRB* loci and *DPA* loci with a three-codon insertion did not form a well-supported group in the phylogeny (since it is unlikely that both are cases of homoplasy).

The birth-and-death model of evolution for gene familiesin which duplication, deletion and pseudogenization of genes lead to expansion and contraction of gene families (61)-affects both MHC class I and II genes but is more pronounced in the former, which usually results in lack of orthology when comparing animals from different families/orders (60). It has been proposed that the class I region evolves faster in eutherians due to its separation from the antigen processing genes (62); in addition, teleost classical class II genes are separated from the rest of the MHC and evolve similarly to eutherian class I genes (62). The variation in the number of DR loci in the afrotherian translocated regions suggests that the separation of DR loci from the class II region may have allowed genes to evolve faster, which could account for the loss of orthology seen in the phylogenies. Even though the translocation separated two DR subregions, the coded proteins still must form a functional heterodimeric class II protein that can interact with the TCR/CD4 complex of T lymphocytes. Thus, alpha and beta DR genes may coevolve and converge irrespective of their position in the genome, which again may impact phylogenies.

The clustering of genes related to antigen processing and presentation in the MHC and their conserved organization in eutherians is thought to be of functional importance (63). In mammals, early evidence of disruption in this organization was found in ruminants, in which an inversion split their class II region into two subregions (64, 65), an event now known to



have taken place in the Cetartiodactyla ancestor (26). Since then, other studies revealed additional events disrupting this seemingly conserved organization: an inversion on distal class I region and loss of functional DQ and DP in felines (66); loss of DR in mole rats (67); disruption of the MHC organization and pseudoautosomal localization in monotremes (68); and several rearrangements in class I and II regions in wallaby (69). Those reports, including ours, provide opportunities to investigate how the MHC function evolves in different genomic landscapes and may challenge the functional importance of conserving the MHC organization (70). We also note that no afrotherian or xenarthran mammals had their entire MHC organization characterized, therefore our results show that the separation of class I and class II genes took place in the ancestor of all living eutherians after the split with marsupials [~170 million years ago (59, 71)], as suggested by Belov et al. (72).

The comparative study of the MHC in marine mammals may address how each lineage dealt with unique pathogen pressures in marine environments with the proposed distinct MHC class II genomic organization: the sirenians, with three classical gene families and the presumptive afrotherian translocated DR loci; the pinnipeds, with two classical gene families and inverted DRB loci; and the cetaceans, with two classical gene families and the cetartiodactyl inversion separating class IIa and IIb. Due to the lack of gene expression studies, the presumed annotation of genes and pseudogenes presented here should be interpreted with caution. Therefore, our results mandate future studies focusing upon in depth characterization of the structure, function and expression of the MHC as well as other important immunogenetic systems—such as TLR, Ig, and TCR, already in progress for some lineages and genes (73–78)—in the three marine mammal lineages. Direct sequencing and transcriptomic data will help clarify which sequences are functional, the degree of polymorphisms and any functional specialization of duplicated or translocated loci. Future research may use data provided here to carefully design amplification schemes that target canonical, translocated, inverted or IIb *DRB* loci.

Taken together, our results indicate a unique class II MHC architecture in each major marine mammal lineage. The evidence presented here also shows a sequential loss of two classical class II genes during Afrosoricida evolution, which may have resulted in the simplification of the class II region in *E. telfairi*, with only one classical class II protein encoded. Those results point to the separation of MHC class I and II regions in the ancestor of all living eutherians and reiterates the challenges to uncovering evolutionary relationships between MHC genes in distantly-related taxa. The occurrence of rearrangements in the mammalian MHC suggests this highly conserved system may be more malleable than once thought.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AS, LS, MC, and MS designed the study. AS performed all analysis and prepared figures. AS, BB, and TD reannotated the class II genes and performed dot plot analysis. AS and TB performed the phylogenetic analysis. LS, MC, and MS supervised all analysis. AS, BB, LS, and MC prepared the manuscript. All authors reviewed and approved the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by: Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior, Brazil (CAPES) and Texas A&M University Collaborative Research Grant Program (CAPES/TAMU 001/2014). MC, BB, and TD were supported by US National Science Foundation award IOS-16568790 to MC. MS was supported by Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq). LS was supported by Programa

REFERENCES

- 1. Uhen MD. Evolution of marine mammals: back to the sea after 300 million years. *Anat Rec.* (2007) 290:514–22. doi: 10.1002/ar.20545
- Foote AD, Liu Y, Thomas GWC, Vinař T, Alföldi J, Deng J, et al. Convergent evolution of the genomes of marine mammals. *Nat Genet.* (2015) 47:272–5. doi: 10.1038/ng.3198
- Kelley NP, Pyenson ND. Evolutionary innovation and ecology in marine tetrapods from the Triassic to the Anthropocene. *Science*. (2015) 348:a3716. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa3716
- Chikina M, Robinson JD, Clark NL. Hundreds of genes experienced convergent shifts in selective pressure in marine mammals. *Mol Biol Evol.* (2016) 33:2182–92. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msw112
- De Assunção-Franco M, Hoffman JI, Harwood J, Amos W. MHC genotype and near-deterministic mortality in grey seals. *Sci Rep.* (2012) 2:1–3. doi: 10.1038/srep00659
- McCallum HI, Kuris A, Harvell CD, Lafferty KD, Smith GW, Porter J. Does terrestrial epidemiology apply to marine systems? *Trends Ecol Evol.* (2004) 19:585–91. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2004.08.009
- Suttle C A. Marine viruses-major players in the global ecosystem. Nat Rev Microbiol. (2007) 5:801–12. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro1750
- Lafferty KD. Marine infectious disease ecology. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst. (2017) 48:473–96. doi: 10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-121415-032147
- Ujvari B, Belov K. Major histocompatibility complex (MHC) markers in conservation biology. Int J Mol Sci. (2011) 12:5168–86. doi: 10.3390/ijms12085168
- Trowsdale J, Knight JC. Major histocompatibility complex genomics and human disease. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet. (2013) 14:301–23. doi: 10.1146/annurev-genom-091212-153455
- Pagán HJT, Ferrer T, O'Corry-Crowe G. Positive selection in coding regions and motif duplication in regulatory regions of bottlenose dolphin MHC class II genes. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:1–27. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0203450
- Zhang X, Lin W, Zhou R, Gui D, Yu X, Wu Y. Low major histocompatibility complex class ii variation in the endangered indo-pacific humpback dolphin (*Sousa chinensis*): inferences about the role of balancing selection. *J Hered.* (2016) 107:143–52. doi: 10.1093/jhered/esv138
- Moreno-Santillán DD, Lacey EA, Gendron D, Ortega J. Genetic variation at exon 2 of the MHC class II DQB locus in blue whale (*Balaenoptera musculus*) from the Gulf of California. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0141296. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0141296
- Cammen KM, Wilcox LA, Rosel PE, Wells RS, Read AJ. From genome-wide to candidate gene: an investigation of variation at the major histocompatibility complex in common bottlenose dolphins exposed to harmful algal blooms. *Immunogenetics.* (2015) 67:125–33. doi: 10.1007/s00251-014-0818-x
- Gillett RM, Murray BW, White BN. Characterization of class i- and class iilike major histocompatibility complex loci in pedigrees of north atlantic right whales. J Hered. (2014) 105:188–202. doi: 10.1093/jhered/est095
- Nigenda-Morales S, Flores-Ramírez S, Urbán-RJ, Vázquez-Juárez R. MHC DQB-1 polymorphism in the Gulf of California fin whale (*Balaenoptera physalus*) population. *J Hered.* (2008) 99:14–21. doi: 10.1093/jhered/ esm087
- Munguia-Vega A, Esquer-Garrigos Y, Rojas-Bracho L, Vazquez-Juarez R, Castro-Prieto A, Flores-Ramirez S. Genetic drift vs. natural selection in a long-term small isolated population: Major histocompatibility complex class

de Apoio à Cooperação Internacional (PACI) from Pró-Reitoria de Pós-Graduação and Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa da UFPA (UFPA-PROPESP/FADESP).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2019.00696/full#supplementary-material

II variation in the Gulf of California endemic porpoise (*Phocoena sinus*). *Mol Ecol.* (2007) 16:4051–65. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-294X.2007.03319.x

- Martínez-Agüero M, Flores-Ramírez S, Ruiz-García M. First report of major histocompatibility complex class II loci from the Amazon pink river dolphin (genus Inia). Genet Mol Res. (2006) 5:421–31.
- Baker CS, Vant MD, Dalebout ML, Lento GM, O'Brien SJ, Yuhki N. Diversity and duplication of DQB and DRB-like genes of the MHC in baleen whales (suborder: *Mysticeti*). *Immunogenetics*. (2006) 58:283–96. doi: 10.1007/s00251-006-0080-y
- Lau Q, Chow N, Gray R, Gongora J, Higgins DP. Diversity of MHC DQB and DRB genes in the endangered Australian sea lion (*Neophoca cinerea*). J Hered. (2015) 106:395–402. doi: 10.1093/jhered/esv022
- Gao XG, Han JB, Lu ZC, Zhang PJ, He CB. Sequence variation and gene duplication at the MHC DRB loci of the spotted seal Phoca largha. *Genet Mol Res.* (2015) 14:2055–62. doi: 10.4238/2015.March.20.15
- Osborne AJ, Zavodna M, Chilvers BL, Robertson BC, Negro SS, Kennedy MA, et al. Extensive variation at MHC DRB in the New Zealand sea lion (Phocarctos hookeri) provides evidence for balancing selection. *Heredity*. (2013) 111:44–56. doi: 10.1038/hdy.2013.18
- Cammen K, Hoffman JI, Knapp LA, Harwood J, Amos W. Geographic variation of the major histocompatibility complex in Eastern Atlantic grey seals (*Halichoerus grypus*). Mol Ecol. (2011) 20:740–52. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-294X.2010.04975.x
- Weber DS, Stewart BS, Schienman J, Lehman N. Major histocompatibility complex variation at three class II loci in the northern elephant seal. *Mol Ecol.* (2004) 13:711–8. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-294X.2004. 02095.x
- Decker DJ, Stewart BS, Lehman N. Major histocompatibility complex class II DOA sequences from three Antarctic seal species verify stabilizing selection on the DO locus. *Tissue Antigens*. (2002) 60:534–38. doi: 10.1034/j.1399-0039.2002.600610.x
- Ruan R, Ruan J, Wan X-L, Zheng Y, Chen M-M, Zheng J-S, et al. Organization and characteristics of the major histocompatibility complex class II region in the Yangtze finless porpoise (*Neophocaena asiaeorientalis asiaeorientalis*). Sci Rep. (2016) 6:22471. doi: 10.1038/srep22471
- Kearse M, Moir R, Wilson A, Stones-Havas S, Cheung M, Sturrock S, et al. Geneious basic: an integrated and extendable desktop software platform for the organization and analysis of sequence data. *Bioinformatics*. (2012) 28:1647–9. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/bts199
- Katoh K, Misawa K, Kuma K, Miyata T. MAFFT: a novel method for rapid multiple sequence alignment based on fast Fourier transform. *Nucl Acids Res.* (2002) 30:3059–66. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkf436
- Ballingall KT, Bontrop RE, Ellis SA, Grimholt U, Hammond JA, Ho C, et al. *Comparative MHC nomenclature : report from the ISAG / IUIS-VIC committee* 2018 (2018)
- Maccari G, Robinson J, Bontrop RE, Otting N, Groot NG De, Ho C, et al. IPD-MHC : nomenclature requirements for the non-human major histocompatibility complex in the next-generation sequencing era. *Immunogenetics.* (2018) 70:619–23. doi: 10.1007/s00251-018-1072-4
- Smit A, Hubley R, Green P. RepeatMasker Open-4.0. (2013) Available online at: http://www.repeatmasker.org (accessed March 22, 2019).
- Schwartz S, Zhang Z, Frazer KA, Smit A, Riemer C, Bouck J, et al. PipMakera web server for aligning two genomic DNA sequences. *Genome Res.* (2000) 10:577–86. doi: 10.1101/GR.10.4.577

- Katoh K, Rozewicki J, Yamada KD. MAFFT online service : multiple sequence alignment, interactive sequence choice and visualization. *Brief Bioinform.* (2017) bbx108. doi: 10.1093/bib/bbx108
- Talavera G, Castresana J. Improvement of phylogenies after removing divergent and ambiguously aligned blocks from protein sequence alignments. *Syst Biol.* (2007) 56:564–77. doi: 10.1080/10635150701472164
- Lanfear R, Frandsen PB, Wright AM, Senfeld T, Calcott B. PartitionFinder 2: new methods for selecting partitioned models of evolution for molecular and morphological phylogenetic analyses. *Mol Biol Evol.* (2016) 34:msw260. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msw260
- Miller MA, Pfeiffer W, Schwartz T. Creating the CIPRES Science Gateway for inference of large phylogenetic trees. In: 2010 Gateway Computing Environments Workshop (GCE) IEEE (2010). p. 1–8. doi: 10.1109/GCE.2010.5676129
- Stamatakis A. RAXML-VI-HPC: maximum likelihood-based phylogenetic analyses with thousands of taxa and mixed models. *Bioinformatics*. (2006) 22:2688–90. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btl446
- Letunic I, Bork P. Interactive tree of life (iTOL) v3: an online tool for the display and annotation of phylogenetic and other trees. *Nucl Acids Res.* (2016) 1:1–4. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkw290
- 39. Springer MS, Signore AV, Paijmans JLA, Vélez-Juarbe J, Domning DP, Bauer CE, et al. Interordinal gene capture, the phylogenetic position of Steller's sea cow based on molecular and morphological data, and the macroevolutionary history of Sirenia. *Mol Phylogenet Evol.* (2015) 91:178–93. doi: 10.1016/j.ympev.2015.05.022
- Nyakatura K, Bininda-Emonds ORP. Updating the evolutionary history of Carnivora (*Mammalia*): A new species-level supertree complete with divergence time estimates. *BMC Biol.* (2012) 10:1–31. doi: 10.1186/1741-70 07-10-12
- Zurano JP, Magalhães FM, Asato AE, Silva G, Bidau CJ, Mesquita DO, Costa GC. Cetartiodactyla: updating a time-calibrated molecular phylogeny. *Mol Phylogenet Evol.* (2019) 133:256–62. doi: 10.1016/J.YMPEV.2018. 12.015
- Pečnerová P, Díez-Del-Molino D, Vartanyan S, Dalén L. Changes in variation at the MHC class II DQA locus during the final demise of the woolly mammoth. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:1–11. doi: 10.1038/srep25274
- Archie EA, Henry T, Maldonado JE, Moss CJ, Poole JH, Pearson VR, et al. Major histocompatibility complex variation and evolution at a single, expressed DQA locus in two genera of elephants. *Immunogenetics*. (2010) 62:85–100. doi: 10.1007/s00251-009-0413-8
- Kellogg ME, Burkett S, Dennis TR, Stone G, Gray BA, McGuire PM, et al. Chromosome painting in the manatee supports *Afrotheria* and *Paenungulata*. *BMC Evol Biol.* (2007) 7:1–7. doi: 10.1186/1471-2148-7-6
- Kaufman J, Milne S, Göbel TWF, Walker BA, Jacob JP, Auffray C, et al. The chicken B locus is a minimal essential major histocompatibility complex. *Nature*. (1999) 401:923–25. doi: 10.1038/44856
- Debenham SL, Hart EA, Ashurst JL, Howe KL, Quail MA, Ollier WER, et al. Genomic sequence of the class II region of the canine MHC: comparison with the MHC of other mammalian species. *Genomics*. (2005) 85:48–59. doi: 10.1016/j.ygeno.2004.09.009
- Yuhki N, Beck T, Stephens RM, Nishigaki Y, Newmann K, O'Brien SJ. Comparative genome organization of human, murine, and feline MHC Class II region. *Genome Res.* (2003) 13:1169–79. doi: 10.1101/gr.976103
- Viłuma A, Mikko S, Hahn D, Skow L, Andersson G, Bergström TF. Genomic structure of the horse major histocompatibility complex class II region resolved using PacBio long-read sequencing technology. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:1–12. doi: 10.1038/srep45518
- Ng JHJ, Tachedjian M, Wang LF, Baker ML. Insights into the ancestral organisation of the mammalian MHC class II region from the genome of the pteropid bat, Pteropus alecto. *BMC Genomics*. (2017) 18:19–21. doi: 10.1186/s12864-017-3760-0
- Ng JHJ, Tachedjian M, Deakin J, Wynne JW, Cui J, Haring V, et al. Evolution and comparative analysis of the bat MHC-I region. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:1–18. doi: 10.1038/srep21256
- Braasch I, Gehrke AR, Smith JJ, Kawasaki K, Manousaki T, Pasquier J, et al. The spotted gar genome illuminates vertebrate evolution and facilitates human-teleost comparisons. *Nat Genet.* (2016) 48:427–37. doi: 10.1038/ng.3526

- Venkatesh B, Lee AP, Ravi V, Maurya AK, Lian MM, Swann JB, et al. Elephant shark genome provides unique insights into gnathostome evolution. *Nature*. (2014) 505:174–9. doi: 10.1038/nature12826
- Saha NR, Ota T, Litman GW, Hansen J, Parra Z, Hsu E, et al. Genome complexity in the coelacanth is reflected in its adaptive immune system. J Exp Zool Part B Mol Dev Evol. (2014) 322:438–63. doi: 10.1002/jez.b.22558
- Dijkstra JM, Grimholt U, Leong J, Koop BF, Hashimoto K. Comprehensive analysis of MHC class II genes in teleost fish genomes reveals dispensability of the peptide-loading DM system in a large part of vertebrates. *BMC Evol Biol.* (2013) 13:260. doi: 10.1186/1471-2148-13-260
- Star B, Nederbragt AJ, Jentoft S, Grimholt U, Malmstrøm M, Gregers TF, et al. The genome sequence of Atlantic cod reveals a unique immune system. *Nature*. (2011) 477:207–10. doi: 10.1038/nature10342
- Sambrook JG, Figueroa F, Beck S. A genome-wide survey of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) genes and their paralogues in zebrafish. *BMC Genomics*. (2005) 6:1–10. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-6-152
- Batzoglou S, Jaffe DB, Stanley K, Butler J, Gnerre S, Mauceli E, et al. ARACHNE: a whole-genome shotgun assembler. *Genome Res.* (2002) 12:177–89. doi: 10.1101/gr.208902
- Gnerre S, MacCallum I, Przybylski D, Ribeiro FJ, Burton JN, Walker BJ, et al. High-quality draft assemblies of mammalian genomes from massively parallel sequence data. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2011) 108:1513–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1017351108
- Foley NM, Springer MS, Teeling EC. Mammal madness: is the mammal tree of life not yet resolved? *Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci.* (2016) 371. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2015.0140
- Nei M, Rooney AP. Concerted and birth-and-death evolution of multigene families. *Annu Rev Genet.* (2005) 39:121–52. doi: 10.1146/annurev.genet.39.073003.112240
- Eirín-López JM, Rebordinos L, Rooney AP, Rozas J. The birth-and-death evolution of multigene families revisited. *Genome Dyn.* (2012) 7:170–96. doi: 10.1159/000337119
- Flajnik MF, Kasahara M, Street WB. Comparative genomics of the MHC : glimpses into the evolution review university of maryland at Baltimore. *Immunity*. (2001) 15:351–62. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00198-4
- Trowsdale J. The gentle art of gene arrangement: the meaning of gene clusters. *Genome Biol.* (2002) 3:comment2002.1. doi: 10.1186/gb-2002-3-3-comment2002
- Andersson L, Lundén A, Sigurdardottir S, Davies CJ, Rask L. Linkage relationships in the bovine MHC region. High recombination frequency between class II subregions. *Immunogenetics*. (1988) 27:273–80.
- van Eijk MJ, Russ I, Lewin HA. Order of bovine DRB3, DYA, and PRL determined by sperm typing. *Mamm Genome*. (1993) 4:113–8.
- 66. Beck TW, Menninger J, Murphy WJ, Nash WG, O'Brien SJ, Yuhki N. The feline major histocompatibility complex is rearranged by an inversion with a breakpoint in the distal class I region. *Immunogenetics*. (2005) 56:702–9. doi: 10.1007/s00251-004-0742-6
- Nizetic D, Figueroa F, Dembic Z, Nevo E, Klein J. Major histocompatibility complex gene organization in the mole rat Spalax ehrenbergi: Evidence for transfer of function between class II genes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1987) 84:5828–32. doi: 10.1073/pnas.84.16.5828
- Dohm JC, Tsend-Ayush E, Reinhardt R, Grützner F, Himmelbauer H. Disruption and pseudoautosomal localization of the major histocompatibility complex in monotremes. *Genome Biol.* (2007) 8:1–16. doi: 10.1186/gb-2007-8-8-r175
- Siddle HV, Deakin JE, Coggil P, Whilming L, Harrow J, Kaufman J, et al. The tammar wallaby major histocompatibility complex shows evidence of past genomic instability. *BMC Genomics*. (2011) 12:421. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-12-421
- Miller HC, O'Meally D, Ezaz T, Amemiya C, Marshall-Graves JA, Edwards S. Major histocompatibility complex genes map to two chromosomes in an evolutionarily ancient reptile, the tuatara sphenodon punctatus. *G3 (Bethesda)*. (2015) 5:1439–51. doi: 10.1534/g3.115.0 17467
- Tarver JE, Dos Reis M, Mirarab S, Moran RJ, Parker S, O'Reilly JE, et al. The interrelationships of placental mammals and the limits of phylogenetic inference. *Genome Biol Evol.* (2016) 8:330–44. doi: 10.1093/gbe/ evv261

- Belov K, Deakin JE, Papenfuss AT, Baker ML, Melman SD, Siddle HV, et al. Reconstructing an ancestral mammalian immune supercomplex from a marsupial major histocompatibility complex. *PLoS Biol.* (2006) 4:0317–28. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.00 40046
- Villanueva-Noriega MJ, Baker CS, Medrano-González L. Evolution of the MHC-DQB exon 2 in marine and terrestrial mammals. *Immunogenetics*. (2013) 65:47-61. doi: 10.1007/s00251-012-0647-8
- 74. Breaux B, Deiss TC, Chen PL, Cruz-Schneider MP, Sena L, Hunter ME, et al. The Florida manatee (*Trichechus manatus latirostris*) immunoglobulin heavy chain suggests the importance of clan III variable segments in repertoire diversity. *Dev Comp Immunol.* (2017) 72:57–68. doi: 10.1016/J.DCI.2017.01.022
- Breaux B, Hunter ME, Cruz-Schneider MP, Sena L, Bonde RK, Criscitiello MF. The Florida manatee (*Trichechus manatus latirostris*) T cell receptor loci exhibit V subgroup synteny and chain-specific evolution. *Dev Comp Immunol.* (2018) 85:71–85. doi: 10.1016/J.DCI.2018.04.007
- Li L, Rong X, Li G, Wang Y, Chen B, Ren W, Yang G, Xu S. Genomic organization and adaptive evolution of IGHC genes in marine mammals. *Mol Immunol.* (2018) 99:75–81. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2018.04.011

- Woodman S, Gibson AJ, García AR, Contreras GS, Rossen JW, Werling D, Offord V. Structural characterisation of Toll-like receptor 1 (TLR1) and Toll-like receptor 6 (TLR6) in elephant and harbor seals. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2016) 169:10–14. doi: 10.1016/J.VETIMM.2015.11.006
- Shen T, Xu S, Wang X, Yu W, Zhou K, Yang G. Adaptive evolution and functional constraint at TLR4 during the secondary aquatic adaptation and diversification of cetaceans. *BMC Evol Biol.* (2012) 12:39. doi: 10.1186/1471-2148-12-39

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Sá, Breaux, Burlamaqui, Deiss, Sena, Criscitiello and Schneider. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Insights Into Dolphins' Immunology: Immuno-Phenotypic Study on Mediterranean and Atlantic Stranded Cetaceans

Cinzia Centelleghe^{1*}, Laura Da Dalt¹, Letizia Marsili², Rossella Zanetti¹, Antonio Fernandez³, Manuel Arbelo³, Eva Sierra³, Massimo Castagnaro¹, Giovanni Di Guardo⁴ and Sandro Mazzariol¹

¹ Department of Comparative Biomedicine and Food Science, University of Padova, Legnaro, Italy, ² Department of Physical Sciences, Earth and Environment, University of Siena, Siena, Italy, ³ Institute of Animal Health and Food Safety, Universitad de Las Palmas de Gran Canaria, Las Palmas, Spain, ⁴ Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Teramo, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fabrizio Ceciliani, University of Milan, Italy

Reviewed by:

Salvatore Siciliano, Oswaldo Cruz Foundation, Brazil Stephen Raverty, Animal Health Center, Canada

> *Correspondence: Cinzia Centelleghe

cinzia.centelleghe@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Comparative Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 14 December 2018 Accepted: 05 April 2019 Published: 24 April 2019

Citation:

Centelleghe C, Da Dalt L, Marsili L, Zanetti R, Fernandez A, Arbelo M, Sierra E, Castagnaro M, Di Guardo G and Mazzariol S (2019) Insights Into Dolphins' Immunology: Immuno-Phenotypic Study on Mediterranean and Atlantic Stranded Cetaceans. Front. Immunol. 10:888. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00888 Immunology of marine mammals is a relatively understudied field and its monitoring plays an important role in the individual and group management of these animals, along with an increasing value as an environmental health indicator. This study was aimed at implementing the knowledge on the immune response in cetaceans stranded along the Italian coastline to provide a baseline useful for assessing the immune status of bottlenose (Tursiops truncatus) and striped (Stenella coeruleoalba) dolphins. In particular, since the Mediterranean Sea is considered a heavily polluted basin, a comparison with animals living in open waters such as the Atlantic Ocean was made. Formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded spleen, thymus, and lymph node tissues from 16 animals stranded along Italian and 11 cetaceans from the Canary Island shores were sampled within 48 h from death. Information regarding stranding sites, gender, and age as well as virologic, microbiological, and parasitological investigations, and the cause and/or the death mechanism were also collected in order to carry out statistical analyses. Selected tissues were routinely stained with hematoxylin-eosin (H&E) and with immunohistochemical techniques (IHC). For IHC analysis, anti-human CD5 monoclonal mouse antibody to identify T lymphocytes, CD20 monoclonal mouse antibody for the identification of mature B lymphocytes and HLA-DR antigen (alpha-chain) monoclonal mouse antibody for the identification of the major histocompatibility complex type II were previously validated for both species by Western-blotting technique. T-test method applied to quantitative evaluation of IHC positive cells showed a significant relationship between the number of (expression) of CD20 stained lymphocytes and normal and hypoplastic lymph nodes, respectively. No other significant correlations were noticed. Analyses for organochlorines (OC) compounds were performed in animals (n°5) having frozen blubber tissue available. A simple linear regression was calculated to predict if the amount of OCs could influence

the number of inflammatory cell subpopulations and a moderate negative correlation was found between the presence of high quantity of contaminants and the number of T lymphocytes. Future analysis should be aimed to understand the effect of the major immunomodulatory pathogens on sub-populations of B and T cells.

Keywords: striped dolphin, bottlenose dolphin, immunohistochemistry, lymphocytes, organochlorine

INTRODUCTION

Investigating the lymphoid tissues and, more in general, the immunology, and immunopathology of whales and dolphins is relevant to understand the delicate host-pathogen interactions in some of the most relevant infections of cetaceans. For example, Cetacean Morbillivirus (CeMV) enters the immune system and induces an extensive lymphocytolysis causing a generalized lymphoid cell depletion in lymphoid organs. The subsequent immune impairment can then result in an increased susceptibility to secondary infections (1). Beside the direct action of this viral pathogen, a contaminantinduced immunosuppression as a trigger for infectious disease susceptibility's enhancement has been frequently advocated (2-5), highlighting the possible hazards associated with exposure to environmental contaminants, in particular persistent organochlorine (OC) pollutants bioaccumulating in these top predators (6, 7).

Despite the relevance of these studies, descriptions regarding relevant features of the lymphoid system are scanty, fragmented and generally dated, with the first record of lymphoid organs' microscopic anatomy in selected species by Simpson and Gardner (8). Notable exceptions include belugas (*Delphinapterus leucas*) and bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*), in which the morphological architecture of lymphoid organs was extensively investigated (9, 10). Furthermore, an evaluation of cellular and humoral immune responses was carried out again in belugas and harbor porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*) with an immunophenotyping of their lymphoid cells by an immunohistochemical evaluation of cluster of differentiation (CD) antigens (11).

The specificity of cross-reacting bovine, human, ovine, and murine monoclonal antibodies raised against different leukocyte subsets and the major histocompatibility complex class (MHC) class II antigens of peripheral blood lymphocytes of beluga whales and bottlenose dolphins has been confirmed by immunoprecipitation and flow cytometry (9, 12, 13). Furthermore, cross-reacting antibodies directed against various cell surface antigens of the hematopoietic system, including T cell, B cell, histiocytic, and MHC II antigens have been established for common dolphin (Delphinus delphis), striped dolphin (Stenella coeruleoalba), bottlenose dolphin, and harbor porpoise lymphoid tissues using immunohistochemistry (14, 15). Similarly, histiocytic cells, particularly resident and inflammatory macrophages can be detected by cross-reacting human antibodies raised against the macrophage-associated antigens CD163, CD204, and lysozyme in short-finned pilot whales (Globicephala macrorhynchus) and Risso's dolphins (Grampus griseus) using immunohistochemistry (16, 17). Bottlenose dolphin specific monoclonal antibodies for the detection of CD2, CD19, CD21, and CD45R antigens as well as the adhesion molecule beta-2-integrin have been produced and characterized by flow cytometry and immunoprecipitation (13, 18). Furthermore, T cells are recognized by the CD2 marker, while B lymphocytes are predominantly labeled by monoclonal anti-CD19 and -CD21 specific antibodies, using immunohistochemistry (13). Still notably, B cells and a subset of T cells are labeled through the CD45R biomarker (19).

The present investigation was aimed at increasing our knowledge on the immune system of cetaceans, in order to partially fill the existing gaps. Besides characterizing some primary commercial antibodies against cetaceans' leucocytes, this study investigates any possible variations of B and T cells in stranded bottlenose and striped dolphins related both to intrinsic host's factors and to extrinsic insults.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals and Sampling

Formalin-fixed and paraffin embedded lymphoid tissue samples (spleen, lymph nodes, and/or thymus) coming from 27 cetaceans were collected as follow. Tissues from 12 striped dolphins and 4 bottlenose dolphins stranded along the Italian coastlines, or died in aquaria were retrieved from the Mediterranean Marine Mammals Tissue Bank (www.marinemammals.eu). In order to have a comparison with animal coming from different geographical areas, features, 8 striped dolphins, 2 common dolphins, and 1 Risso's dolphin from Canary Island, which succumbed due to ship strikes and with no other pathological findings and/or molecular evidences of infection, were included in the study as "control specimens." Available data concerning all selected animals and their respective data are summarized in **Table 1**.

Briefly, specimens were selected considering the carcass preservation degree [codes 1 and 2 according to Geraci and Loundsbury (21)], along with anamnestic data including sex, age category (calf, juvenile, adult) estimated on total body length and/or on teeth microscopic examination (21), *post mortem* findings. Microbiological and biomolecular investigations for *Morbillivirus* and *T. gondii* were also performed on all major organs (brain, lungs, liver, spleen, lymph nodes, kidnesys) according to already published methodologies [respectively (22, 23)]. Finally, 5 out of the 16 Italian dolphins were selected for ecotoxicological analyses (due to the relevant economic costs of such analyses).

TABLE 1 | Data concerning the 27 cetaceans under study*.

ID	Species	Sex	Age class	Stranding place	Conserv. code	Stranding condition	Body condition [§]	Ongoing infections	Other relevant findings
145	Tursiops truncatus	Μ	Calf	UHC	2	None	Moderate	None	Mild hemorrhagic omphalitis; sub-acute moderate diffuse interstitial pneumonia; moderate to severe multifocal ulcerative gastritis; mild chronic enteritis and moderate chronic colitis with reactive hyperplasia of the GALT.
167	Stenella coeruleoalba	Μ	Adult	Collesalvetti (LI)	2	Dead	Good	None	Nutritional panniculitis, exacerbated by an abnormal localization of Pholeter spp which has significantly reduced the lumen between the first and second gastric chambers.
170	Stenella coeruleoalba	F	Adult	Capalbio (GR)	2	Dead	Thin	None	Mild diffuse pyogranulomatous parasitic pneumonia; mild multifocal granulomatous parasitic gastritis associated with a foreign body; acute moderate diffuse catarral enteritis with parasitic infestation.
196	Tursiops truncatus	Μ	Adult	Cervia (RA)	2	Alive	Thin	Toxoplasma spp.	Multifocal moderate pyogranulomatous bronchopneumonia with pulmonary fibrosis and multifocal mild chronic interstitial pneumonia; multifocal severe chronic hepatitis with foci of necrosis and biliary stasis; chronic severe meningo-encephalo-myelitis.
212	Stenella coeruleoalba	F	Adult	Livorno (LI)	2	Dead	Moderate	None	Severe diffuse pyogranulomatous pneumonia; mild diffuse chronic endometritis; mild multifocal chronic interstitial nephritis.
214	Stenella coeruleoalba	F	Adult	Porto Garibaldi (FE)	3	Dead	Thin	None	Acute moderate multifocal ulcerative esophagitis and stomatitis; severe chronic multifocal parasitic ulcerative gastritis; acute diffuse severe catarrhal gastro-enteritis.
218	Stenella coeruleoalba	Μ	Adult	Lido di Classe (RA)	2	Alive	Good	None	Multifocal mild granulomatous parasitic pneumonia; multifocal moderate ulcerative parasitic gastritis caused by Anisakis spp.; severe diffuse acute catarrhal enteritis; severe multifocal chronic hepatitis.
221	Stenella coeruleoalba	Μ	Adult	Lido di Volano (FE)	2	Alive	Moderate	None	Severe esophageal and gastric food impaction.
229	Tursiops truncatus	Μ	Calf	UHC	1	None	Moderate	None	Moderate multifocal chronic ulcerative gastritis; sub-acute severe diffuse catarral enteritis; meningeal hemorrhages with cerebral edema.
251	Stenella coeruleoalba	Μ	Juvenile	Giugliano (NA)	2	Dead	Good	Morbillivirus	n.a.
255	Stenella coeruleoalba	F	Calf	Civitavecchia (RO)	. 1	Alive	Moderate	None	Moderate multifocal chronic ulcerative stomatitis; severe disseminated granulomatous pneumonia; severe chronic granulomatous parasitic gastritis with partial obstruction of the gastric lumen; severe acute multifocal enteritis.
262	Stenella coeruleoalba	Μ	Juvenile	Napoli (NA)	2	Dead	Moderate	Morbillivirus	n.a.
267	Stenella coeruleoalba	F	Adult	Ortoliuzzo (ME)	2	Dead	Good	None	n.a.
273	Stenella coeruleoalba	Μ	Juvenile	Salerno (SA)	2	Dead	Moderate	None	n.a.

(Continued)

ID	Species	Sex	Age class	Stranding place	Conserv. code	Stranding condition	Body condition [§]	Ongoing infections	Other relevant findings
327	Stenella coeruleoalba	Μ	Calf	Brancaleone Marina (RC)	1	Alive	Thin	None	Capture myopathy.
343	Tursiops truncatus	Μ	Calf	UHC	1	None	Good	None	Mild to moderate multifocal chronic bronchitis; diffuse and severe hepatic degeneration with capsular multifocal fibrosis; moderate multifocal chronic interstitial nephritis with segmental membranous glomerulopathy.
CET 131	Delphinus delphis	Μ	Calf	Guía de Isora (Tenerife)	2	Dead	Good	None	Trauma by fishing utensil.
CET 151	Stenella coeruleoalba	Μ	Juvenile	La Graciosa (La Graciosa)	1	Alive	Thin	None	Entanglement.
CET 281	Stenella coeruleoalba	F	Adult	Puerto del Carmen (Lanzarote)	2	Dead	Good	None	Trauma due to intra/interspecific interaction.
CET 293	Stenella coeruleoalba	Μ	Adult	Arico (Tenerife)	2	Dead	Good	None	Trauma by fishing utensil.
CET 371	Stenella coeruleoalba	F	Adult	Arona (Tenerife)	2	Dead	Good	None	Trauma by fishing utensil.
CET 374	Stenella coeruleoalba	Μ	Adult	Playa Tebeto (Fuerteventur	2 a)	Dead	Moderate	None	Trauma.
CET 406	Delphinus delphis	Μ	Calf	Santiago (Tenerife)	2	Dead	Moderate	None	Trauma due to intra/interspecific interaction.
CET 483	Grampus griseus	Μ	Adult	Puerto del Rosario (Fuerteventur	2 a)	Dead	Good	None	Trauma due to intra/interspecific interaction.
CET 606	Stenella coeruleoalba	F	Adult	Teguise (Lanzarote)	2	Dead	Good	None	Fishing interaction.
CET 616	Stenella coeruleoalba	F	Adult	Mogan (Gran Canaria)	2	Alive	Good	None	Collision with ship.
CET 698	Stenella coeruleoalba	F	Adult	Los Giunchos (La Palma)	2	Dead	Moderate	None	Trauma consequent to fishing interaction.

TABLE 1 | Continued

*M, male; F, female; UHC, under human care; n.a., not available.

§, Body condition were defined according to Joblon et al. (20).

Western Blotting Analysis

Bottlenose dolphin and striped dolphin (1 g frozen tissue at -80° C) tissue were homogenized using Potter glass (Vetrotecnica, Italia) in 5 ml of buffer A (10 mM Tris-Base, 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA, pH 7.2 and cocktail inhibitor— Sigma, Milan, Italy) and centrifuged at 10,000 g for 30 min. The supernatant was then centrifuged at 125,000 g for 1 h (Optima L-90K, Beckman, Italy) and the pellet proteins were dissolved in 0.2 ml of buffer B (10 mM Tris, 150 mM pH 7.2 NaCl). Total protein concentration was determined using BCA Protein Assay Kit (Pierce Biotechnology, USA). The samples were diluted 1:1 in 2x Laemmli sample buffer (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), boiled for 5 min at 95°C and separated by 12% SDS–PAGE in a mini-gel apparatus (Hoefer SE 260, GE Healthcare, UK) under denaturing and reducing conditions in according to Laemmli protocol (24). Homogenate of human tonsil was used as a positive control to test the binding with specific antibodies. Following electrophoresis, gels were blotted (350 V, 1 h, 4°C) onto nitrocellulose membranes (0.45 μ m; GE Healthcare, UK) in Laemmli transfer buffer (25 mM TRIS-base, 192 mM Glycine and 20% Methanol, pH 8.3) using a trans blot apparatus (Elettrofor, Rovigo, Italy). Membranes were carefully washed in deionized water and blocked overnight at room temperature with 10% skimmed milk and 0.1% Tween-20 (Sigma–Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA). Each single membrane was incubated for 1 h at room temperature using the specific antibody diluted in PBS with 0.1% Tween-20 and 5% skim milk. Membranes were washed three times for 10 min with washing buffer (0.1% Tween-20 in PBS) and then incubated for 1 h at room temperature with a horse radish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated.

Dilution of anti-CD5 (monoclonal rabbit anti-Human; Biocare Medical, USA), anti-CD20 (monoclonal rabbit anti-Human; Thermo Scientific, UK) and anti-HLA-DR (monoclonal mouse anti-Human HLA-DR antigen, Alpha-Chain; DakoCytomation) antibodies (Abs) were defined after appropriate dilution tests and cross-reaction with the secondary anti-rabbit or anti-mouse antibody horse radish peroxidase-conjugated (GAR-HRP and GAM-HRP; BioRad, USA) (Table 2). Finally, the membranes were washed three times with the same washing buffers, and the antigens were visualized by Immobilon Western Chemiluminescent HRP Substrate (MILLIPORE, Billerica, USA) and exposure to autoradiographic films (GE Healthcare, Amersham, UK). Protein bands in autoradiographic films were scanned using an ImageScanner apparatus (Amersham Biosciences, NJ, USA) and analyzed by the software ImageMaster (Total Lab, Amersham Biosciences, NJ, USA).

Microscopic, Immunohistochemical (IHC), and Semi-quantitative Analyses

All the samples were tested by routine microscopic examination and immunohistochemistry (IHC): pre-scapular and/or mediastinal lymph nodes and/or spleen and/or thymus were fixed in 4% buffered formalin, embedded in paraffin and stained for routine microscopic examination using hematoxylin and eosin. In particular, according to Elmore (25) and Valli et al. (26) a lymph node was considered normal if include all the physiological structures (i.e., capsule, subcapsular sinus, cortex, composed by standard predominately B-cell follicles and germinal centers, T-cell-rich paracortical area, medullary sinuses, medullary cords and hilus). Hyperplastic changes were identified by an increase in number and size of follicles and conversion to secondary follicles, involving the B-cell-rich follicles and/or the T-cell-rich paracortex. Reactive follicles were usually larger than the unstimulated ones and had a paler staining germinal center with large lymphoblasts and increased numbers of apoptotic lymphocytes. On the other site, the lack of secondary follicles in the lymph nodes together with the reduced number of primary

TABLE 2	Priman	/ Ah	dilutions	for Western	Blotting	analyses*
	1 i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	7.00	anations	101 110310111	Diotting	unury 505 .

		Anti-CD5	Anti-CD20	Anti-HLA-DR
	mw	58	33	33
Primary Ab		1:500	1:2000	1:2000
Secondary Ab GAR-HRP		1:50000	1:50000	
Secondary Ab GAM-HRP				1:8000

*mw, molecular weight; GAR-HRP, anti-rabbit antibody horseradish peroxidaseconjugated; GAM-HRP, anti-mouse antibody horseradish peroxidase-conjugated. follicles and the decreased size of their paracortex were indicative of lymph node hypoplasia.

For IHC analysis, staining was performed using an automatic immunostainer (Ventana Benchmark XT, Roche-Diagnostic), which uses a kit with a secondary antibody and with a horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated polymer that binds mouse and rabbit primary antibodies (ultraViews Universal DAB, Ventana Medical System). All reagents were dispensed automatically except for the primary antibody, which was dispensed by hand. Then we used the anti-CD5 Ab at a dilution of 1:50 and the anti-CD20 Ab at a dilution of 1:800 both incubated for 13 min at room temperature and the anti-HLA-DR, alfa-chain Ab at a dilution of 1:50 incubated for 32 min at room temperature (**Table 3**).

A semi-quantitative analysis was performed using a slide scanner for digital pathology (D-sight, A. Menarini diagnostic). Each IHC-processed section was scanned and immunolabelled cells were counted by two operators within 10 microscopic fields at high power field (40x objective), considered to be representative of the entire lymphoid tissues under investigation. The count was performed manually using an open source image processing program designed for scientific multidimensional images (ImageJ, LOCI, University of Wisconsin-Madison).

Statistical analyses were performed to find possible correlations between the different immune cell populations and independent variables such as species, gender, age class, regional areas, and the presence of ongoing infections.

For statistical analysis the *T*-test was chosen because of the heterogeneity of the samples and the amount of data. A statistically significant threshold was set at a *p*-value of 0.05; a *p*-value <0.05 was considered indicative of a strong association.

Toxicological and Statistical Analysis

Hexachlorobenzene Analyses for (HCB), dichlorodiphenvltrichloroethane compounds (DDTs) and polychlorobiphenyl compounds (PCBs) were performed according to methods recommended by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) 8081/8082 with modifications (27) in animals having frozen blubber tissue available at The Mediterranean Marine Mammal Tissue Bank (ID196, ID214, ID218, ID221, and ID229). Blubber samples were lyophilized, and about 1g each was extracted with n-hexane for gas chromatography (Merck) in a Soxhlet apparatus for analysis of organochlorine compounds. Each sample was spiked with surrogate compound (2,4,6-trichlorobiphenyls-IUPAC number 30) (28) prior to extraction. This compound was quantified and its recovery calculated. Surrogate recovery was reported with the sample results. The samples were then purified. Decachlorobiphenyl (DCBP-IUPAC number 209) was used as an internal standard, added to each sample extract prior to analysis, and included in the calibration standard, constituted by a mixture of specific compounds (Arochlor 1260, HCB and pp'- and op'-DDT, DDD and DDE). The analytical method used was High Resolution Capillary Gas Chromatography with an Agilent 6890 N and a 63Ni ECD and an SBP-5 bonded phase capillary column (30 m long, 0.2 mm i.d.). The carrier gas was nitrogen with a head pressure of 15.5 psi (splitting ratio 50/1). The scavenger gas was argon/methane (95/5) at 40 ml/min.

TABLE 3	Primary Abs used for IHC analysis	

• •				
Mono/ Polyclonal	Antibody name	Clone	Target cells	Antigen localization
Monoclonal Mouse	Anti-human CD5	4C7	T lymphocytes	Cytoplasmic and cell membrane
Monoclonal Rabbit	Anti-human CD20		B lymphocytes	Cell membrane and cytoplasm
Monoclonal Mouse	Anti-human HLA-DR Alpha-chain	TAL.1B5	Antigen presenting cells	Cell membrane

Oven temperature was 100°C for the first 10 min, after which it was increased to 280°C at 5°C/min. Injector and detector temperatures were 200 and 280°C, respectively. The extracted organic material (EOM%) from freeze-dried samples was calculated in all samples. Capillary gas chromatography revealed op'- and pp'- isomers of DDT and its derivatives DDD and DDE, and about 30 PCB congeners. Total PCBs were quantified as the sum of all congeners. These congeners constituted 80% of the total peak area of PCBs in the samples. Total DDTs was calculated as the sum of op'DDT, pp'DDT, op'DDD, pp'DDD, op'DDE, and pp'DE. The results were expressed in ng/g lipid weight (ng/g lipid weight).

Linear regression analysis was used to study if there was a relationship between the number of the different cellular populations and organochlorines (OC) amount presents in their tissues.

RESULTS

The present investigation was carried out on a total of 27 dolphins: 20 striped dolphins, 4 bottlenose dolphins, 2 common dolphins and 1 Risso's dolphin; as far as the gender is concerned, 10 individuals were females (37%) and 17 males (63%). Furthermore, 7 of the animals under study (25.9%) were calves, while 4 (14.8%) juveniles and 16 (59.3%) were adults.

Western Blotting Analysis

Western blotting analysis performed to verify possible crossreactions of CD5, CD20, and HLA-DR antigens against the secondary antibody did not show specific binding in correspondence of the antigens molecular weight (images not showed). The expression of the CD5 and CD20 antigens was visible at 58kDa and 35kDa and antigens were less visible in striped dolphin (SC) than in bottlenose dolphin (TT) (**Supplementary Figures 1A,B**). Anti-HLA-DR Ab reacted to the antigens of SC and TT showing a signal corresponding to proteins with a molecular weight of 33kDa with greater intensity in man (Hu) than in SC and TT. The other visible bands were due to non-specific interactions with proteins with molecular weight >50kDa that did not interfere with the proteins of our interest (**Supplementary Figure 1C**).

The band intensity difference between Hu and SC or TT was probably due to the different antigen concentration of the sample. In the two dolphin's samples there was only cellular membrane extracted and the antigen was more than in the total cellular human tonsil purified.

Microscopic, Immunohistochemical (IHC), and Semi-quantitative Analyses

The normal microscopic architecture of the lymph nodes varied depending upon location: the major differences involved the amounts of muscle tissue within the *capsula* and the *trabeculae*. The pre-scapular lymph nodes generally showed very little smooth muscle in this location, while in the visceral ones (mainly in mediastinal lymph nodes) smooth muscle encapsulated the node itself and in addition to extending along *trabeculae*, formed an interlacing network throughout the node.

The cetaceans' spleen showed a white pulp composed by lymphoid nodules located at the arterial terminals, evenly distributed throughout the red pulp. Lymphoid nodules were composed of small to medium-sized lymphocytes.

The results of microscopic examinations carried out on the lymphoid organs of the selected specimens are summarized in **Table 4**. A total of 11 dolphins showed normal lymphoid tissues, whereas 11 and 5 out of them showed hyperplastic and hypoplastic lymphoid tissues, respectively (**Figure 1**).

More in detail, positive immunolabeling with the antihuman CD20 Ab was evident within lymphocytes located in the germinal centers, as well as in the mantle and marginal zones of the lymphoid follicles (**Figure 2A**). As expected, a positive immunostaining reaction against anti-human CD5 Ab was additionally found in lymphocytes located in the paracortical zone (**Figure 2B**). The medullary area was formed by both CD20 and CD5 positively labeled cells. Cells immunoreactive to antihuman HLA-DR Ab were detected throughout the entire lymph node structure, where antigen-presenting cells were also found to be distributed (**Figure 2C**).

Normal cetacean thymus follows the typical mammalian organization with a cortex, medulla, and Hassall's corpuscles. The presence of T lymphocytes was demonstrated using the monoclonal anti-human CD5 Ab, with T lymphocytes dominating the entire thymic parenchyma. Few scattered cell clusters lacked MHC class II antigen expression in the thymus.

The average number of B lymphocytes (CD20immunoreactive, IR), T lymphocytes (CD5-IR) and cells presenting the MHC-II membrane antigen was higher in lymph nodes than in spleen. As anticipated during the IHC qualitative analysis, the thymus did not show CD20-IR lymphocyte. The results of the semi-quantitative analyses on cetacean lymphoid tissues are summarized in **Table 5**.

Statistical analysis was performed to evaluate the existence of possible correlations between immune cells populations expression and independent variables such as species, gender, age class, geographic origin/location TABLE 4 | Results of histological analyses on the lymphoid tissues of the cetaceans under study.

	Total n° of specimen	Animal with ongoing diseases	Stenella coeruleoalba (20 animal)	Tursiops truncates (4 animals)	Other species (3 animals)	Mediterranean basin	Atlantic basin
Normal histology	11	0 (11)	9 (11)	1 (11)	1 (11)	6 (11)	4 (11)
Lymphoid hyperplasia	11	1 (11)	6 (11)	3 (11)	2 (11)	3 (11)	6 (11)
Lymphoid hypoplasia	5	2 (5)	4 (5)	1 (5)	0 (5)	4 (5)	1 (5)



FIGURE 1 | (A) Striped dolphin (Stenella coeruleoalba) ID 218, normal lymph node, hematoxylin & eosin (H&E), 4X magnification; (B) Bottlenose dolphin (Tursiops truncatus) ID 229, lymph node hypoplasia characterized by lack of secondary follicles together with the reduced number of primary follicles, H&E, 4X magnification; (C,D) Bottlenose dolphin (Tursiops truncatus) ID 196, lymph node presenting hyperplastic changes such as reactive follicles which had a paler staining germinal center, H&E, 2X, and 10X magnification respectively.



FIGURE 2 | Striped dolphin (Stenella coeruleoalba) ID212, lymph node. (A) positive cell membrane staining of CD20 antigen; (B) positive cell membrane staining of CD5 antigen; (C) positive cell membrane staining of HLA-DR antigen (Mayer hematoxylin counterstained; original magnification 40X).

and the presence of ongoing infections. The only value was obtained comparing the total number of CD20-IR that approached a strong association (p-value <0.05) cells (B lymphocytes) in normal and hypoplastic lymph

TABLE 5 | Number of immunoreactive cells in cetacean lymphoid tissues.

	CD5*	CD20*	HLA-DR*
Lymph node	2391.72 ± 1053,96	$2398.64 \pm 965,97$	2158.64 ± 808.91
Spleen	1293.67 ± 877.45	1524.17 ± 336.99	1158.17 ± 438.77
Thymus	2570.67 ± 1694.94	0	3181 ± 1587.98

*Results expressed as mean \pm standard deviation of immunoreactive cells per organ.

nodes (0.09). No other statistically significant correlations were found.

No other factor, either intrinsic or extrinsic, appeared to influence the different lymphoid cell marker expression in the specimens under study.

Toxicological and Statistical Analysis

The blubber organochlorine (OC) levels of IDs 196, 214, 218, 221, and 229 specimens are shown in Table 6. HCB was the contaminant present with the lowest levels in all specimens, with the 3 bottlenose dolphins showing greater concentrations of the all striped dolphins. PCBs were generally higher than DDTs, except for samples of IDs 218 and 221. The main DDT component was pp' DDE. The higher levels of DDTs and PCBs were in one bottlenose dolphin (ID 196), which had about 1124 ppm lipid weight of PCBs and about 430 ppm lipid weight of DDTs, which represent very high levels at an absolute level (29). Very low percentages of extracted organic matter, showing a relevant depletion of blubber layer, indicates a high metabolic stress of the specimens that have mobilized many of your fatty acids, probably due to a sudden weight loss. IDs 214 and 299 had the lowest concentrations of chlorinated xenobiotics, and shows much lower levels compared to other specimens. Despite this, PCB levels of all specimens were greater than the estimated toxicity threshold (17 mg/kg l.w.) set by Jepson et al. (30) and Kannan et al. (31) for cetaceans. This could suggest an important toxicological stress for these cetaceans.

A simple linear regression was calculated to predict if the amount of OCs could influence the number of inflammatory cell subpopulations. A moderate negative correlation was found between the presence of high quantity of contaminants (PCBs and DDTs) and the number of T lymphocytes (r = 0.82 and 0.80, respectively) (**Figure 3**).

DISCUSSION

The validation of a panel of antibodies reacting against some cetacean antigens opens the possibility of a better understanding of the morpho-functional organization of cetaceans' lymphoid tissues. Although monoclonal antibodies identifying distinct immune cell populations and sub-populations are essential to investigate the role of these cells in the pathogenesis and evolution of different infectious disease conditions, the information about cross-reactivities of antibodies between phylogenetically distant species are important to correctly interpret data obtained from their use (32). Antibodies against

TABLE 6 | Results of toxicological analyses.

Compound	ID 196	ID 214	ID 218	ID 221	ID 229
НСВ	334.84	89.48	44.95	6n.r.	439.62
30	451.23	266.09	n.r.	56.28	n.r.
95	16588.07	584.08	469.96	799.87	1106.31
op'DDE	1823.45	342.50	441.47	615.93	306.74
101	7267.45	647.43	623.33	1179.92	1062.45
99	113.34	45.86	21.54	39.93	41.13
pp'DDE	306193.29	13268.39	45267.65	52130.65	13803.44
op'DDD	3848.19	243.82	335.49	534.22	315.88
151	23021.64	416.01	622.48	1042.45	650.70
144+135	11355.44	429.08	616.55	967.36	1359.61
149+118	65791.62	1795.42	3112.24	5411.77	3388.50
pp'DDD	11435.87	298.43	981.60	1480.01	965.84
op'DDT	6239.51	309.64	1146.77	1415.65	364.09
146	21296.80	661.01	1212.64	2056.73	1098.32
153	231180.34	3378.12	7414.99	13113.22	4749.11
141	14616.87	206.97	419.90	731.71	219.55
pp'DDT	8387.76	597.06	1249.44	1979.78	658.78
138	124897.00	1743.53	4229.88	7683.19	3391.53
178	12815.13	198.39	419.35	830.33	956.76
187	64919.21	1207.60	2363.71	4366.82	1017.67
183	23533.58	348.56	645.61	1251.99	167.59
128	11117.99	146.62	428.19	764.03	273.17
174	20942.67	335.64	796.84	1544.77	327.74
177	17088.20	224.54	549.64	1025.84	247.06
156 + 171 + 202	11683.37	200.10	424.70	867.35	171.46
172	3338.75	105.79	199.20	467.22	158.07
180	95382.50	1643.69	3222.03	5842.16	631.96
199	619.97	17.61	42.80	46.62	3.82
170	55203.49	786.33	1766.05	3395.17	280.53
196	16114.29	420.94	490.62	1005.19	92.91
201	14128.10	339.57	390.15	719.23	43.03
195	8113.46	267.99	229.00	540.01	38.68
194	9650.27	235.34	260.04	533.63	196.43
206	1191.47	66.28	n.r.	117.87	n.r.
209	418.35	n.r.	n.r.	45.75	n.r.
PCB tot ps	881971.01	16452.51	30971.45	56344.39	21674.07
DDT tot ps	337928.05	15059.84	49422.41	58156.23	16414.76
OC tot ps	1220233.90	31601.83	80438.82	114560.63	38528.46
EOM%	78.50	88.40	51.00	61.80	76.50
HCB bl	426.55	101.23	88.14	97.09	574.67
PCB tot bl	1123529.95	18611.44	60728.34	91172.15	28332.12
DDT tot bl	430481.60	17036.01	96906.69	94103.94	21457.20
OC tot bl	1554438.10	35748.68	157723.17	185373.18	50363.99

human, bovine, mouse and ovine surface antigens such as HLA-DR, CD2, CD4, B cells, and TCR have already been reported to label leukocytes of beluga whale and bottlenose dolphin (9, 13) and different monoclonal antibodies targeting lymphocyte surface antigens for cetaceans were also used in several previous studies aimed at investigating the leukocyte populations residing in cetaceans' lymph nodes (13, 32).



In the present investigation, the antibody specificity validation was achieved following standard guidelines for veterinary laboratories which include, beside the immunoreactivity pattern and the proper use of positive and negative control tissues/matrices, the demonstration of specific immunoreactivity with the respective antigen(s) by Western Blotting analyses (33). The herein investigated Abs resulted valuable for on formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded IHC application tissues of striped dolphins and bottlenose dolphins, thus mirroring the immunoreactivity patterns observed in other mammalian species (34, 35). Despite the small number of samples, leukocyte subsets' counting and the subsequent statistical analysis revealed that hypoplastic lymphoid tissues were associated with a lower number of B lymphocytes. Interestingly, many animals showing these features (40%) suffered from an ongoing infection, albeit not showing any other morphological alterations.

A possible reason for the decreased B lymphocytes' number could be related to the immune response impairment cause by pathogens like cetacean morbillivirus (CeMV), as already reported in the literature (1). Morbilliviral infections have long been known to result in host immune suppression (36–38), although the most relevant viral effects are a decreased mitogeninduced proliferation and an increase in lysozyme concentration of CD4+ T lymphocytes and a marginally significant increase in monocyte phagocytosis (38).

In this respect, our data seem to be in contrast to those available in the literature, with special reference to CeMV/DMV infection. One of the possible explanation of these apparent discrepancies could be the result of the cetacean host's dominant "immunophenotype." In this respect, however, despite its pivotal role in driving the evolution and the final outcome of many infectious disease processes, as the natural history of *Human Immunodeficiency Virus* (HIV) infection has taught us (39), we are not aware, thus far, of any study focused on the pathogenetic evolution of CeMV/DMV infection—as well as of *Herpesvirus*, *Toxoplasma gondii*, and *Brucella ceti* infections—among T helper 1 (Th1)-dominant vs. Th2-dominant cetacean hosts (40).

In addition to infectious agents, lymphoid cell depletion might be caused by environmental contaminants in cetaceans.

Although a strong real effect of xenobiotics on the immune system, especially for the dioxin-like poly-chloro-biphenyl compounds (PCBs), has been well established in laboratory rodents (41). Only few studies are focused on the influence of xenobiotics on the immune function of whales and dolphins. In our investigation, preliminary in-depth ecotoxicological analyses carried out on 5 specimens revealed a moderate negative correlation between high tissue levels of PCBs and DDTs and the number of CD3-IR cells (T-lymphocytes). A reduced mitogen-induced T cell proliferation associated with elevated PCB and p,p0-dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT) blood levels has been reported in free-ranging bottlenose dolphins on the coast of Florida, suggestive of a contaminantinduced inhibition of the cellular immune response (42). However, definitive conclusions about the impact of the pollutants under study on the health status were limited by the small number of investigated dolphins and by the lack of controls specimens (42). Lymphoid tissue hypoplasia is primarily associated with elevated polybrominated diphenyl ether (PBDE) tissue levels, while there is no apparent correlation with the health and nutritional status in bycaught animals, supporting the hypothesis of a contaminant-induced immune deficiency (43). The immunotoxicity of several xenobiotics on cetacean blood leukocytes at concentrations equivalent to those observed in wild marine mammal populations has been also verified in vitro. Noteworthy, DDT and noncoplanar PCB congeners inhibited spontaneous and mitogeninduced proliferation of beluga whale lymphoid cells, while coplanar (dioxin-like) PCB congeners and TCDD failed to modulate leukocyte function (19). Further in vitro experiments have confirmed the aforementioned inhibitory effects on phagocytosis of neutrophils and monocytes of bottlenose dolphins and beluga whales. The dominating effect of noncoplanar PCB congeners is suggestive of a modulation of the leukocyte function in an aryl hydrocarbon receptorindependent manner in these marine mammals (44). Similarly to T lymphocytes, mitogen-induced proliferation is mainly modulated by POPs and PCBs also in marine mammal B cells (44, 45), although clear-cut effects have not been defined on either lymphocyte populations.

In this respect, the limited number of the investigated cetacean specimens do not allow definitive conclusions. Indeed, nonuniform results were reported also in human beings after chronic exposure to PCBs. For instance, the consumption of pilot whale's (*Globicephala melas*) meat harboring high PCB levels has been associated, in a cohort of children from the Faroe Islands, with a reduced antibody production in response to vaccination against some infectious pathogens as an indirect indicator of the effects on B cell populations (46). On the other hand, children living in highly polluted areas showed a significant increase in B lymphocytes related to chronic PCB exposure, along with a T cell increase and an NK cell decrease, respectively (47).

Recent publications highlighting the re-emerging threats of these substances increase our concerns for marine mammals' health and conservation (7, 48). Future research on wild cetaceans and, more in general, on free-living aquatic mammals should be aimed at evaluating the effect of environmental pollutants on host-pathogen interaction dynamics, thereby assessing whether contaminant-induced immunotoxicity could be related to a CD4+ T helper cells and/or to a CD8+ cytotoxic T cell reduction, together with a decreased splenic humoral immune response, as it happens in laboratory rodents exposed to lipophilic environmental contaminants (11). Further studies are also needed to precisely define the effective role of CeMV/DMV as an immune-suppressive pathogen, with special emphasis on the viral effects on T and B cell populations, along with its interplay with a progressively increasing number of persistent environmental pollutants.

REFERENCES

- Van Bressem MF, Duignan PJ, Banyard A, Barbieri M, Colegrove KM, De Guise S, et al. Cetacean Morbillivirus: current knowledge and future directions. Viruses. (2014) 6:5145–81. doi: 10.3390/v6125145
- Aguilar A, Borrell A. Abnormally high polychlorinated biphenyl levels in striped dolphins (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) affected by the 1990– 1992 Mediterranean epizootic. *Sci Total Environ.* (1994) 154:237–47. doi: 10.1016/0048-9697(94)90091-4
- Duignan PJ, House C, Geraci JR, Duffy N, Rima BK, Walsh MT, et al. Morbillivirus infection in cetaceans of the western Atlantic. *Veter Microbiol*. (1995) 44:241–9. doi: 10.1016/0378-1135(95)00017-5
- Hall AJ. Morbilliviruses in marine mammals. *Trends Microbiol.* (1995) 3:4–9. doi: 10.1016/S0966-842X(00)88861-7
- Härkönen T, Dietz R, Reijnders P, Teilmann J, Harding K, Hall A, et al. The 1988 and 2002 phocine distemper virus epidemics in European harbour seals. *Dis Aquat Organ.* (2006) 68:115–30. doi: 10.3354/ dao068115
- Siebert U, Joiris C, Holsbeek L, Benke H, Failing K, Frese K, et al. Potential relation between mercury concentrations and necropsy findings in cetaceans from German waters of the North and Baltic Seas. *Mar Pollut Bull.* (1999) 38:285–95. doi: 10.1016/S0025-326X(98)00147-7
- Jepson PD, Deaville R, Barber JL, Agiular A, Borell A, Murphy S, et al. PCB pollution continues to impact populations of orcas and other dolphins in European Waters. *Scientific Report.* (2016) 6:18573. doi: 10.1038/srep 18573
- Simpson JG, Gardner MB. Comparative microscopic anatomy of selected marine mammals. In: Ridgway SH, editor, *Mammals of the Sea-Biology and Medicine*. Springfield, IL: Charles C Thomas; Springfield (1972). p. 298–402.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Tissues for this project have been provided by the Mediterranean Marine Mammal Tissue Bank, Department of Comparative Biomedicine and Food Science, University of Padova, and by Institute of Animal Health (University of Las Palmas de Gran Canaria).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CC and SM performed Mediterranean dolphins' necropsy, tissue sampling, and contributed to manuscript writing. LD performed western blot analysis, while CC and RZ executed IHC analysis and LM toxicological analysis and all of them contributed to manuscript writing. AF, MA, and ES performed Atlantic dolphins' post-mortem examination and tissue sampling. MC and GDG reviewed critically the manuscript. All authors reviewed and agreed on the current version of the manuscript.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2019.00888/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Figure 1 | Western blot analysis was performed by loading 4 μ g of human tonsil (Hu), 2.5 ug of striped dolphin (SC) and bottlenose dolphin (TT) cell membrane extract from lymph node onto an 12% SDS polyacrylamide gel. **(A)** CD5 monoclonal rabbit antibody (Biocare medical, USA product CRM 328) at a dilution of 1:500. **(B)** CD20 polyclonal rabbit antibody (Thermo Scientific product RB-9013) at a dilution of 1:2,000. **(C)** HLA-DR monoclonal mouse antibody (DakoCytomation, Denmark product M0746) at a dilution of 1:2,000.

- Romano TA, Felten SY, Olschowka JA, Felten DL. A microscopic investigation of the lymphoid organs of the beluga, *Delphinapterus leucas. J Morphol.* (1993) 215:261–87. doi: 10.1002/jmor.1052150307
- Cowan D, Smith T. Morphology of the lymphoid organs of the bottlenose dolphin, *Tursiops truncatus. J Anatomy*. (1999) 194:505–17. doi: 10.1046/j.1469-7580.1999.19440505.x
- Beineke A, Siebert U, Wohlsein P, Baumga W. Immunology of whales and dolphins. *Veter Immunol Immunopathol.* (2010) 133:81–94. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2009.06.019
- Shirai K, Sakai T, Oike T. Molecular cloning of bottlenosed dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*) MHC class I cDNA. J Vet Med Sci. (1998) 60:1093–6. doi: 10.1292/jvms.60.1093
- De Guise S, Erickson K, Blanchard M, Dimolfetto L, Lepper HD, Wang J, et al. Monoclonal antibodies to lymphocyte surface antigens for cetacean homologues to CD2, CD19 and CD21. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2002) 4:209–21. doi: 10.1016/S0165-2427(01)00409-3
- Beineke A, Siebert U, Wunschmann A, Stott JL, Prengel I, Kremmer E, et al. Immunohistochemical investigation of the cross-reactivity of selected cell markers from various species for characterization of lymphatic tissues in the harbour porpoise (*Phocoena phocoena*). J Comp Pathol. (2001) 5:311–7. doi: 10.1053/jcpa.2001.0509
- Zabka TS, Romano TA. Distribution of MHC II (+) cells in skin of the Atlantic bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*): an initial investigation of dolphin dendritic cells. *Anat Rec A Discov Mol Cell Evol Biol.* (2003) 273:636–47. doi: 10.1002/ar.a.10077
- Kawashima M, Nakanishi M, Kuwamura M, Takeya M, Yamate J. Immunohistochemical detection of macrophages in the short-finned pilot whale (*Globicephala macrorhynchus*) and Risso's dolphin (*Grampus griseus*). *J Comp Pathol.* (2004) 130:32–40. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9975(03)00066-5

- Komohara Y, Hirahara J, Horikawa T, Kawamura K, Kiyota E, Sakashita N, et al. AM-3K, an anti-macrophage antibody, recognizes CD163, a molecule associated with an anti-inflammatory macrophage phenotype. *J Histochem Cytochem*. (2006) 54:763–71. doi: 10.1369/jhc.5A6871.2006
- De Guise S, Erickson K, Blanchard M, DiMolfetto L, Lepper HD, Stott JL, et al. Characterization of F21.A, a monoclonal antibody that recognize a leucocyte surface antigen for killer whale homologue to beta-2 integrin. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2004) 97:195–206. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2003.09.006
- De Guise S, Martineau D, Beland P, Fournier M. Effects of in vitro exposure of beluga whale leukocytes to selected organochlorines. *J Toxicol Environ Health*. (1998) 55:479–93. doi: 10.1080/009841098158287
- Joblon MJ, Pokras MA, Morse B, Harry CT, Rose KS, Sharp SM, et al. Body condition scoring system for delphinids based on short-beaked common dolphins (*Delphinus delphis*). J Marine Anim Their Ecol. (2014) 7:5–13.
- Geraci JR, Lounsbury VJ. Chapter: GIS Applications, Marine mammals ashore: a field guide for strandings. In: Geraci JR and Lounsbury VJ, editors. *MArine Mammals Ashore*, 2nd Edn. Baltimore, MD: National Aquarium (2005).
- Centelleghe C, Beffagna G, Zanetti R, Zappulli V, Di Guardo G, Mazzariol S. Molecular analysis of dolphin morbillivirus: a new sensitive detection method based on nested RT-PCR. J Virol Methods. (2016) 235:85–91. doi: 10.1016/j.jviromet.2016.05.005
- Di Guardo G, Proietto U, Di Francesco CE, Marsilio F, Zaccaroni A, Scaravelli D, et al. Cerebral toxoplasmosis in striped dolphins (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) stranded along the Ligurian Sea coast of Italy. *Vet Pathol.* (2010) 47:245–53.8. doi: 10.1177/0300985809358036
- 24. Laemmli UK. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. *Nature*. (1970) 227:680–5. doi: 10.1038/227680a0
- Elmore SA. Histopathology of the lymph nodes. *Toxicol Pathol.* (2006) 34:425–54. doi: 10.1080/01926230600964722
- Valli VEO, Kiupel M, Bienzle D. Hematopoietic system. In: Grant Maxie M, editor. *Pathology of Domestic Animals*, 6th Edn. St. Louis, MO (2016). p. 102–268.
- Marsili L, Focardi S. Chlorinated hydrocarbon (HCB, DDTs and PCBs) levels in cetaceans stranded along the Italian coasts: an overview. *Environ Monitor Assessm.* (1997) 45:129–80. doi: 10.1023/A:1005786627533
- Ballaschmiter K, Zell M. Baseline studies of the global pollution. Int J Environ Anal Chem. (1980) 8:15–35.
- Marsili L, Jiménez B, Asunción Borrell A. Chapter 7 Persistent organic pollutants in cetaceans living in a hotspot area: the Mediterranean Sea. In: Fossi MC, Panti C, editors. *Marine Mammal Ecotoxicology, Impacts of Multiple Stressors on Population Health*. London, UK: Academic Press; Elsevier (2018). p. 185–212. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-812144-3.00007-3
- Jepson PD, Bennett PM, Deaville R, Allchin CR, Baker JR, Law RJ. Relationships between polychlorinated biphenyls and health status in harbor porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*) stranded in the United Kingdom. *Environ Toxicol Chem.* (2005) 24:238–48. doi: 10.1897/03-663.1
- 31. Kannan K, Ueda M, Shelby JA, Mendonca MT, Kawano M, Matsuda M, et al. Polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins (PCDDs), dibenzofurans (PCDFs), biphenyls (PCBs), and organochlorine pesticides in yellow-blotched map turtle from the Pascagoula River basin, Mississippi, U. S A. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol. (2000) 38:362–70. doi: 10.1007/s002449910048
- 32. Jaber JR, Fernandez A, Herraez P, Espinosa de los Monteros A, Ramirez GA, Garcia PM, et al. Cross-reactivity of human and bovine antibodies in striped dolphin paraffin wax-embedded tissues. *Veter Immunol Immunopathol.* (2003) 96:65–72. doi: 10.1016/S0165-2427(03)00158-2
- Ramos-Vara JA, Kiupel M, Baszler T, Bliven L, Brodersen B, Chelack B, et al. American association of veterinary laboratory diagnosticians subcommittee on standardization of immunohistochemistry. Suggested guidelines for immunohistochemical techniques in veterinary diagnostic laboratories. *J Vet Diagn Invest.* (2008) 20:393–413. doi: 10.1177/1040638708020 00401
- Kaufmann O, Flath B, Späth-Schwalbe E, Possinger K, Dietel M. Immunohistochemical detection of CD5 with monoclonal antibody

4C7 on paraffin sections. Am J Clin Pathol. (1997) 108:669-73. doi: 10.1093/ajcp/108.6.669

- 35. D'cruze L, Dutta R, Rao S, Anuradha R, Varadarajan S, and Kuruvilla S. The role of immunohistochemistry in the analysis of the spectrum of small round cell tumors at a tertiary care centre. *J Clin Diagn Res.* (2013) 7:1377–82. doi: 10.7860/JCDR/2013/5127.3132
- Appel MJ, Shek WR, Summers BA. Lymphocyte-mediated immune cytotoxicity in dogs infected with virulent canine distemper virus. *Infect Immun.* (1982) 37:592–600.
- Griffin DE, Ward BJ, Esolen LM. Pathogenesis of measles virus infection: an hypothesis for altered immune responses. J Infect Dis. (1994) 170:S24–S31. doi: 10.1093/infdis/170.Supplement_1.S24
- Bossart GD, Romano TA, Peden-Adams MM, Schaefer A, McCulloch S, Goldstein JD, et al. Clinico-immunopathologic findings in atlantic bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) with positive cetacean morbillivirus antibody titers. *Dis Aquat Organ.* (2011) 97:103–12. doi: 10.3354/dao02410
- Romagnani S. T-cell subsets (Th1 versus Th2). Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. (2000) 85:9–18. doi: 10.1016/S1081-1206(10)62426-X
- Di Guardo G, Centelleghe C, Mazzariol S. Cetacean host-pathogen interaction(s): critical knowledge gaps. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2815. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02815
- Ross PS, de Swart RL, Van der Vliet H, Willemsen L, de Klerk A, van Amerongen G, et al. Impaired cellular immune response in rats exposed perinatally to Baltic Sea herring oil or 2,3,7,8-TCDD. *Arch Toxicol.* (1997) 17:563–74. doi: 10.1007/s002040050428
- 42. Lahvis GP, Wells RS, Kuehl DW, Stewart JL, Rhinehart HL, Via CS. Decreased lymphocyte responses in free-ranging bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) are associated with increased concentrations of PCBs and DDT in peripheral blood. *Environ Health Perspect.* (1995) 103 (Suppl. 4):67– 72.
- Beineke A, Siebert U, McLachlan M, Bruhn R, Thron K, Failing K, et al. Investigations of the potential influence of environmental contaminants on the thymus and spleen of harbor porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*). *Environ Sci Technol.* (2005) 39:3933–8. doi: 10.1021/es048709j
- 44. Levin M, Morsey B, Mori C, De Guise S. Specific non-coplanar PCBmediated modulation of bottlenose dolphin and beluga whale phagocytosis upon in vitro exposure. *J Toxicol Environ Health*. (2004) 67:1517–35. doi: 10.1080/15287390490486761
- Mori C, Morsey B, Levin M, Gorton TS, De Guise S. Effects of organochlorines, individually and in mixtures, on B-cell proliferation in marine mammals and mice. *J Toxicol Environ Health.* (2008) 71:266–75. doi: 10.1080/15287390701612860
- Heilmann C, Budtz-Jørgensen E, Nielsen F, Heinzow B, Weihe P, Grandjean P. Serum concentrations of antibodies against vaccine toxoids in children exposed perinatally to immunotoxicants. *Environ Health Perspect.* (2010) 118:1434–8. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1001975
- Horváthová M, Jahnová E, Palkovičová L, Trnovec T, Hertz-Picciotto I. Dynamics of lymphocyte subsets in children living in an area polluted by polychlorinated biphenyls. *J Immunotoxicol.* (2011) 8:333–45. doi: 10.3109/1547691X.2011.615767
- Desforges JP, Hall A, McConnell B, Rosing-Asvid A, Barber JL, Brownlow A, et al. Predicting global killer whale population collapse from PCB pollution. *Science*. (2018) 361:1373–6. doi: 10.1126/science.aat1953

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Centelleghe, Da Dalt, Marsili, Zanetti, Fernandez, Arbelo, Sierra, Castagnaro, Di Guardo and Mazzariol. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Acute Phase Proteins in Marine Mammals: State of Art, Perspectives and Challenges

Maria Elena Gelain^{1*} and Federico Bonsembiante^{1,2}

¹ Department of Comparative Biomedicine and Food Science (BCA), University of Padova, Padova, Italy, ² Department of Animal Medicine, Productions and Health, University of Padova, Padova, Italy

The term "acute phase response" (APR) is referred to a nonspecific and complex reaction of an organism that occurs shortly after any tissue damage, such as infection, trauma, neoplasia, inflammation, and stress. The APR can be identified and monitored with some laboratory tests, such as the concentration of several plasma proteins, the acute phase proteins (APPs). The APPs are components of the non-specific innate immune response, and their plasma concentration is proportional to the severity and/or the extent of tissue damage. The evaluation of health status of marine mammals is difficult because the classical clinical signs of illness used for human and domestic animals are difficult to recognize and understand. For this reason, in the past years, several efforts were done to identify laboratory markers of disease in these animals. The APPs have demonstrated their role as early markers of inflammation in veterinary medicine, thus several APPs were tested in marine mammals, such as C-reactive protein (CRP), serum amyloid-A (SAA), and Haptoglobin (Hp). However, the difficulty to extrapolate the knowledge about APPs in one species to another, the lack of specie-specific reagents, the absence of data about negative APPs have hampered their extent use in marine mammals. Herein, the state of art of APPs in marine mammals is reviewed, with particular attention to pre-analytical and analytical factors that should be taken into account in validation and interpretation of APPs assays. Moreover, the current application, potential utility and the future developments of APPs in marine mammals is highlighted and discussed.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mike Criscitiello, Texas A & M University, United States

Reviewed by:

Annalisa Pinsino, Istituto di Biomedicina e di Immunologia Molecolare Alberto Monroy (IBIM), Italy Cara Lisa Field, Marine Mammal Center, United States

> *Correspondence: Maria Elena Gelain mariaelena.gelain@unipd.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Comparative Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 29 November 2018 Accepted: 13 May 2019 Published: 29 May 2019

Citation:

Gelain ME and Bonsembiante F (2019) Acute Phase Proteins in Marine Mammals: State of Art, Perspectives and Challenges. Front. Immunol. 10:1220. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01220 Keywords: marine mammals, immune system, acute phase reaction, acute phase proteins, serum proteins

INTRODUCTION

The mammalian immune system includes innate or nonspecific immunity as well as adaptive or specific immunity. The responses of these two different pathways are distinct, but highly interconnected. The first reaction of an organism to different pathological conditions is an innate, non-specific response (1), a more conserved response during evolution which aim is the immediate reaction against pathological stimuli (2). After the initial recognition of pathogens or tissue damages by the tissue-resident macrophages, which express the pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), a variety of different inflammatory mediators are produced by leukocytes, endothelial cells, tissue cells or are derived from plasma proteins. These mediators include different chemokine, cytokine, vasoactive amines and products of the arachidonic acid: their primary effect is to elicit inflammatory response locally and to recruit leukocytes and plasma proteins in the site of injury (3).

68

At the same time, many of these inflammatory mediators influence the function of many tissues and organs throughout all the organisms, inducing the acute phase response.

The activated macrophages on the site of injury are also responsible of the activation of the adaptive immune response, a more slowly, but more focused response. The expression of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II antigens, combined with foreign antigen, by tissue macrophages leads to the antigendependent activation of T-cells and start the precise immune response against that specific target. T-cells can differentiate in different kinds of T-helper (Th) lymphocytes with the expression of different cytokine pattern. Th1 cells coordinate the interaction between innate and cell-mediated adaptive response by means of different cytokines, among them IFN- γ and IL-2. Differently, Th2 cells, which produce IL-4 and IL-5, promote humoral immune response, the differentiation of B-cell into plasma cells, but have also an anti-inflammatory activity by producing IL-10 (4).

The term "acute phase response" (APR) refers to a nonspecific and complex reaction that occurs shortly after tissue damage due to several conditions such as infection, trauma, neoplasia, inflammation, and stress (5). The reaction of APR includes systemic consequences, such as fever, leucocytosis, increased release of several hormones and drastic rearrangement of plasma protein synthesis (6). These changes include a decrease of plasma low and high density lipoproteins-bound cholesterol, an increase of ACTH and glucocorticoids, the activation of complement and coagulation system, a decrease of calcium, zinc, iron, vitamin A, and α -tocopherol serum levels. All these changes in blood plasma composition induced by APR are beneficial to the organism because they prevent microbial growth and help restore of homeostasis (1). Moreover, a considerable change in concentration of several plasma proteins, the acute phase proteins (APPs), is evident few hours after an inflammatory stimulus (7).

APPs are a group of blood proteins that change in concentration in animals subjected to external or internal challenges, such as infection, inflammation, trauma or stress, proportionally to the severity of the disorder and/or the extent of tissue damage (8). They are synthesized primarily by hepatocytes stimulated by cytokines or endogenous glucocorticoids (9, 10). APPs are classified based on the direction of change: synthesis of positive APPs is upregulated with a resulting increase in blood concentration, and synthesis of negative APPs is downregulated with a resulting decrease in blood concentration (11). Positive APPs are further classified as major, moderate or minor based on the magnitude of increase: major APPs showed an increase of 10to 100-fold, moderate APPs showed an increase of 2- to 10-fold, and minor APPs have only a slight increase (5). Also the rate of the concentration increase varies between major, moderate, and minor positive APPs: major APPs usually have a marked increase within 48 h after a pathogen stimulus and a subsequent rapid decline after the cessation of stimulus due to their short half-life (12). Moderate and minor APPs usually have a slower increase, but also a slower decline to normal value and so they usually increase during chronic inflammatory process (5). However, the APPs response varies between species: the major APP in dogs and men is C-reactive protein (CRP) (13), in cats is a1-acid glycoprotein (AGP) (9), in ruminants is Haptoglobin (Hp) (14); in horse is Serum Amyloid A (SAA) (15) and in pigs are Hp, SAA, and major acute phase protein (MAP) (10).

Recently, in veterinary medicine, studies on the role of APPs as markers of infectious, inflammatory and neoplastic diseases have proliferated (16) and at least 40 different plasma proteins have been identified as APPs (8). Their use as marker of homeostasis perturbation provides some advantages compared with traditional parameters like the white blood cell (WBC) counts. Compared to WBC count, the diagnostic sensitivity of APPs is higher and the change in concentration is faster (17). Moreover, their stability in serum/plasma is high, so it is possible to measure APPs in frozen samples (18). One limitation of the APPs is the poor diagnostic specificity, for this reason they cannot be used as primary diagnostic test for a specific disease, but they were successfully used to detect subclinical diseases and to monitor clinical evolution and to assess the response to treatment (5). Additionally, the combined measurement of several APPs provides more information than the evaluation of a single protein: in the "APP value index," proposed by Gruys et al. (1), sensitivity and specificity are improved by combining response of both positive and negative major and minor APPs.

Marine mammals are a group of around 130 mammalian species which depend on water environment for most of their needs. They include 3 orders: Carnivora (pinnipeds, otters, and polar bear), Cetacea (dolphins, whale, and porpoise) and Sirenia (manatee and dugogons). Marine mammals are differently adapted to life in water, with some species, which are fully aquatic (cetaceans and sirenia), and others that spend part of their life on land (pinniped and polar bears) (19). From an immunological point of view, aquatic adaptation caused few differences in distribution and function of immune system between marine and terrestrial mammals (20). However, nowadays the marine mammal' immune system is deeply exposed to environmental pollution because they are a long-lived animals placed at the top of food chain, thus they are exposed to a progressive bioaccumulation of fat-soluble pollutants, such as PCBs, which affect both innate and adaptive immune function (21). For these reasons, increasing knowledge in cellular and humoral immune response is continuously required to understand their immune system and in particular its relationship with infectious pathologies and the environmental pollution (22). Furthermore, marine mammals live also in controlled environment like aquaria, rehabilitation facilities and research center where health assessment is fundamental to evaluate the correct management of animals and to monitor the response to therapy during rehabilitation. From this perspective, the availability of new markers to asses immune functions is fundamental both for medical care and research purpose (20).

ACUTE PHASE REACTION AND ACUTE PHASE PROTEIN IN MARINE MAMMALS

Innate immune response represent the first line of response against pathological stimuli, it's very fast and it's based primarily on effector cells (e.g., mast cells, macrophages, neutrophils) and antimicrobial substances (e.g., complement, reactive oxygen, and nitrogen species). On the other hand, adaptive immune system is antigen-specific, it takes more days to be effective and it's based on different T-cells response and on B-lymphocytes which are responsible of humoral response mediated by the different subclass of immunoglobulin (IgG, IgM, IgA) (20). Several assays were proposed to evaluate both immune response in marine mammals, generally based on isolated leucocytes with the aim to evaluate the leukocytes response against *in vitro* stimuli (23).

To assess the response pattern of cetaceans' cellular innate immune system, the phagocytosis and the generation of reactive oxygen species of polymorphonuclear leukocytes were investigated. In particular, in vitro ingestion of latex beads and hydrogen peroxide production have been evaluated in beluga whales (Delphinapterus leucas) and in bottlenose dolphins (Tursiops truncatus) (24, 25) whereas phagocytosis and respiratory burst assay, using whole blood from bottlenose dolphins, were used to assess the antimicrobial activity (26). In addition, the investigation of APR by analyzing the cytokine expression gives important information on the functionality of lymphoid cells. The production of specie-specific antibodies allows the development of immunological assays for the quantification of cytokine expression useful to investigate the inflammatory response in whales and dolphins. The coding regions of IL-2, IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α gene of the beluga whale have been sequenced, and a cytokine-specific rabbit antisera have been produced (27-29). In harbor porpoise (Phocoena phocoena), the quantification of mRNA of IL-1β, IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, and TNF- α have been performed by RT-PCR (30), and the increase of IL-10 was seen in harbor porpoises suffering from long lasting infectious (31). Also in bottlenose dolphins, pacific white-sided dolphins (Lagenorhynchus obliquidens), and beluga whales, IL-2, IL-4, IL-10, IL-12, IL-13, IL-18, TNF-α, TGF-β, and interferon (IFN)-y quantification was performed using RT-PCR (32). An IL-2 receptor expression assay and an IL-6 ELISA were developed in bottlenose dolphins and killer whale (Orcinus Orca), respectively (33, 34).

Similarly, both innate and the cell-mediated response were studied in pinnipeds. To better understand the innate response, phagocytic activity of isolated peripheral blood leukocytes was evaluated in harbor seal (Phoca vitulina), gray seal (Halichoerus grypus), and harp seal (Phoca groenlandica) pups, in harbor seal female during lactation and in harbor seal pups admitted to rescue center (35, 36). The authors found an age-related variation in both pups and adults: phagocytosis increased with age in gray and harbor seal pups, while in female harbor seals decreased from sub-adult to adulthood. At the same time, pups after rehabilitation showed a decreased phagocytic activity, probably due to the decreased stimulation of innate response after therapy. Also cytokine response was evaluate in harbor seal. Pro-inflammatory cytokine mRNA (IL-1β, IL-6, IL-8, and IL-12) in pups in a rehabilitation center were higher at admission whilst IL-4 was higher before the release (37), demonstrating the recovery from inflammation. Recently, a multiplex canine cytokine assay was validate in harbor, gray and harp seal to measure proteins levels in cell culture supernatant of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) (38).

However, all these techniques are not generally applicable in a clinical setting in which the primary goal is a sensitive diagnostic tool with a rapid turnaround, even if give us important information on factors affecting cetaceans' immune system. For this reason, in the past years, several efforts were made to identify laboratory markers of disease in these animals. First parameters tested were WBC and erythrocyte sedimentation rate (39). However, even if they are inexpensive and rapid, they lack specificity and sensitivity. Moreover, changes in WBC occur after several hours after inflammatory stimuli. Thus, efforts were directed to identify inflammation at earlier stage (40). To examine the humoral response, species-specific antibodies against IgG were produced and used to evaluate serum IgG levels in killer whale by radial immunodiffusion assay (41) and by competitive ELISA in bottlenose dolphins (42, 43). The determination of IgG baseline values in free-ranging and in managed dolphins revealed higher levels of immunoglobulin in the first group with several values over the accurate range of the assay, probably due to the higher parasitic load in free-ranging dolphins (43).

Serum total protein, albumin, globulin and albumin:globulin ratio (A:G) are undoubtedly among the most measured markers in basic health assessment in domestic animals as well as in marine mammals. Serum protein electrophoresis is also broadly applied in veterinary medicine and it has the advantage to produce an accurate measurement of albumin and the visualization of globulin fractions (44). The interpretation of total proteins values and electrophoretic pattern of serum proteins is receiving increased attention also in marine mammals in which a typical pathologic pattern could be identified in inflammatory diseases (40). Reference intervals for these markers are available for free-ranging bottlenose dolphins (45) and, compared to these, recently data on managed dolphins showed slightly lower values of TP, α -globulins, and γ -globulins and higher albumin and albumin/globulins ratio (46).

It's interesting to note that Hp, α 1-antitrypsin, α 1antichymotripsin, and α 2-macroglobulin migrate in the α-globulins fraction, while the IgG and CRP migrate in the y-globulins fraction. Albumin acts as a negative acute phase protein since the synthesis of this protein is decreased during an inflammation (47). Thus, the lower concentration of positive APPs associated to a higher concentration of albumin and the consequent higher albumin/globulins ratio could reflect lower antigenic stimuli in managed population compared to the free-ranging populations (36). Serum total protein analysis were used to assess health status in several cetaceans species such as pantropical spotted dolphins (Stenella attenuata) (48), beluga (49), minke whales (Balaenoptera acutorostrata) (50) and killer whales (51) as well as in other marine mammals, like harbor seals (Phoca vitulina) (52) and walruses (Odobenus rosmarus) (53). In all these species, serum total protein analysis was demonstrated to be one of the most used and commonly accepted marker of inflammation.

However, specific APPs have demonstrated their superior role as early markers of inflammation, so based on the results obtained in humans and companion animals, several positive APPs were tested in marine mammals (**Table 1**). Published
TABLE 1 | Acute phase proteins: site of production, role and marine mammal species in which they are validated.

Acute phase protein	Site of production	Role	Positive/ negative	MAJOR APP IN	Validated in	References
CRP	Hepatocytes	Complement activation and opsonisation; modulation of monocytes and macrophages; cytokine production; binding of chromatin; prevention of tissue migration of neutrophils	Positive	DOG, HUMAN	Bottlenose dolphin; Harbor porpoise; Harbor seal	Cray et al. (54); Fonfara et al. (37); Müller et al. (55)
SAA	Hepatocytes	Transport of cholesterol from dying cells to hepatocytes; inhibitory effect on fever; inhibitory effect on the oxidative burst of neutrophilic granulocytes; inhibitory effect on <i>in vitro</i> immune response; chemotaxic effect on monocytes; polymorphonuclear leucocytes and T lymphocytes; induction of calcium mobilization by monocytes; inhibition of platelet activation	Positive	HORSE, PIG	Bottlenose dolphin; West Indian manatee	Cray et al. (54); Harr et al. (56); Cray et al. (57)
Hp	Hepatocytes	Binds hemoglobin dimers so that iron is not available to organisms; bacteriostatic effect; stimulation of angiogenesis; role in lipid metabolism; immunomodulatory effect; inhibition of neutrophil respiratory burst activity	Positive	COW, PIG	Bottlenose dolphin; Harbor porpoise; Harbor seal; Stellar sea lion; Ringed seal; West Indian manatee	Cray et al. (54); Frouin et al. (35); Fonfara et al. (37); Harr et al. (56); Müller et al. (55); Zenteno-Savin et al. (58); Rosenfeld et al. (59)
AGP	Hepatocytes	Several anti-inflammatory activities	Positive	CAT		Not validated
fibrinogen	Hepatocytes	Hemostasis	Positive		Bottlenose dolphin; West Indian manatee	Terasawa et al. (60); Harr et al. (56)
albumin	Hepatocytes	Major contributor to oncotic pressure, transports Ca2+, Mg2+, unconjugated bilirubin, fatty acids, thyroxine, and many other substances	Negative		Bottlenose dolphin; Spotted dolphin; White whales; Minke whales; Killer whales; Harbor Seals; North Atlantic walrus	Schwacke et al. (45); Gill et al. (46); St. Aubun et al. (48); Tryland et al. (49); Tryland and Brun (50); Robeck and Nollens (51); Greig et al. (52); Tryland et al. (53)
PON	Hepatocytes	Protection against oxidative stress; protection against organophosphate compounds	Negative			Not validated

works had the primary aims to evaluate the feasibility of the assays to measure the APPs, to validate the antibody-based assay and to determine the RIs. In bottlenose dolphins three APPs (CRP, SAA, and Hp) were tested, even if not always complete validation studies were performed (54, 61). For these APPs, the authors established the RIs in free-ranging and managed dolphins using automated assays (54) and they found significantly lower SAA and higher Hp levels in free ranging animals. The only clinical significance of these alteration was a higher ability to detect chronic inflammation for Hp. Regarding Hp, Segawa and colleagues validated commercially available Hp-ELISA and Hp-hemoglobin binding assay in bottlenose dolphins with "acceptable" intra- and inter-assay imprecision (CV: 3.3% healthy dolphins and 3.5% inflamed dolphins; CV: 10.4% healthy dolphins and 21.7% inflamed dolphins) and demonstrated that Hp levels in the serum increase under inflammatory conditions (62).

Positive APPs were tested also in Florida manatees (*Trichechus manatus latirostris*) to define the more accurate marker of inflammation. Five different APPs were tested: AGP, CRP, Hp, fibrinogen, and SAA. SAA showed the highest diagnostic

sensitivity and specificity (90% for both sensitivity and specificity) in the detection of inflammatory diseases, the diagnostic specificity of Hp and fibrinogen were 93 and 95%, respectively, while their diagnostic sensitivity were 60 and 40%, respectively, (56). When used in stranded manatee suffering from cold stress and trauma, SAA showed 93% of sensitivity and 98% of specificity in detecting diseased animals (57). By contrast, the Abs used for the determination of AGP and CRP did not cross-react in this species (56).

In harbor seal, an Ab anti-CRP and a competitive immunoassay was produced (63), but Hp is probably the APP most used in pinnipeds. A multispecies assay based on hemoglobin binding capacity was used to demonstrate as Hp is a sensitive marker of the health vs. disease status in harbor seal (64). In seal pups admitted in a rescue center. Hp, total protein, IgG and globulin values correlated positively, but Hp levels increased during the hospitalization, probably reflecting age-related changes (35). Hp is considered a health marker also in Steller sea lions (*Eumetopias jubatus*): significantly higher levels of Hp were found in declining population compared to more stable ones (58). However, also genetic differences between distant and isolated population of wild animals could be the causes of this difference, not only a pathological condition.

If some data on marine mammals positive APPs are available in literature, quite surprising are the lack of data available on negative APPs. For these reasons, the possibility to evaluate the usefulness of an "APP value index" is still far from being applied.

ACUTE PHASE PROTEIN IN MARINE MAMMALS: CHALLENGES AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

The availability of sensitive markers of inflammation both for free-ranging and managed marine mammals is nowadays considered fundamental to evaluate the health status and, in rehabilitation setting, to monitor the response to therapy and to define the prognosis. As serum markers, the APPs have several advantages: they have longer stability compared to other blood component such as WBC; they can be performed on frozen serum, thus the samples can be shipped to references laboratories; some assays can be automated to obtain results in an excellent turnaround time.

However, is important to consider that the knowledge about APPs in one species cannot be readily generalized to another species, in which healthy levels, response to inflammation or infection, and prognostic significance may be different (65). Moreover, the evolution of marine mammals and their adaptation throughout the millennia to an aquatic environment had led to a different physiology and metabolism compared to terrestrial mammals. Thus, the understanding of the genetic, phenotypical and biochemical properties of marine mammals APPs are essential prior to using them as a new biomarker.

An example of how the biochemical properties influence the analytic method is paroxonase-1 (PON1), a HDL-bound esterase which protects against organophosphate compounds, acts as negative APP and as oxidative stress marker. PON1 is usually assessed by enzymatic method and, based on the different PON1 functions, several substrates have been identified to evaluate serum PON1 activities. Nevertheless, both in humans as in some terrestrial mammals, PON1 gene polymorphisms highly influence the enzymatic activity toward different substrate: the single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) Leu55Met and Gln192Arg increase the paraoxonase activity (66) in humans and different PON1 genotypes influence activities toward paraoxon and phenyl-acetate in rabbit (67). Also in cows, some SNPs in the promotor region of PON1 gene are associated with serum PON1 activity (68). Recently, a phylogenetic study on convergent functional losses across marine mammals, has identified a PON1 functional loss in marine mammals, probably related to their different lipid metabolism and fatty acid oxidation due to adaptation to the marine environment and a high concentration of ω -3 fatty acids on their diet. As a consequence, in several marine mammals species paroxonase activity is very low, while enzymatic activity against other PON1 substrates is still present, such as arylesterase activity (69). For these reasons, the use of classical enzymatic assays is hampered in these animals and further studies are needed to elucidate the role of PON1 as possible negative APP, oxidative stress marker and the consequences of its inability to detoxify organophosphates compounds.

From an analytical point of view, another challenge in the evaluation of APPs in marine mammals is the need of speciesspecific assays, especially for the immunological assay, such as ELISA or immunoturbidimetry. This means the development of a *de-novo* method, often a time-consuming and expensive approach, or the validation of a commercial available assay used in other species (65). The latter approach is surely the most used in veterinary medicine, in which some human assays were validated for dogs, cats and horses (62). However, even if some APPs appeared highly conserved among species, an accurate validation of antibody cross reactivity is needed as well as species specific standards and control material (54). Among positive APPs, SAA is the most used across different species: it appeared as the most conserved APP in mammals even if some difference in circulating isoforms were reported (61) and it's considered a major APP in all the mammals in which it was investigated (65). Some commercial SAA assays showed good results also in marine mammals, such as bottlenose dolphin, manatee and striped dolphin (Stenella ceoreloualba) (54, 56, 70) and its use as diagnostic and prognostic marker appears nowadays the most promising.

To obtain accurate data, all the pre-analytical factors that could influence the results should be taken into consideration. The effect of storage, temperature and different anticoagulant had to be evaluated in a correct validation process as well as the interference of hemolysis and lipemia, as done in other species (5).

The application of a novel biomarker required a full evaluation of all the analytical performances and the clinical value. This process is usually divided in 4 steps: the assessment of analytical features (precision, accuracy, detection limits), the overlap performance (the ability to detect difference between healthy and diseased animals), the assessment of diagnostic capacity (sensitivity, specificity, accuracy, positive, and negative predictive values) and, at the end, the evaluation of the outcome of the new methods (which is the advantage of the test and its influence in the patient management) (65). In veterinary medicine, the validation studies do not always follow all these steps, mainly due to the lack of resources or technical limitation (44, 65). Also in marine mammals, the majority of studies had performed only some steps (44, 54, 56, 61, 62). This is mainly due to the limitation in species-specific reagents, the number of samples from animal with known health status and, last but not least, the capability to generate appropriate reference intervals, hampered the possibility to perform complete validation studies.

Population-based reference intervals derived from an appropriate group of reference individuals are usually required for diagnostic purpose (71). However, a number of biological factors have to be taken in consideration to select the appropriate reference population. Surely, age, sex and pregnancy could be used for partitioning (45, 72), but in marine mammals greater attention should be given to the difference between wild and managed animals. Serum protein electrophoresis values obtained in managed bottlenose dolphins showed lower total proteins and higher albumin levels compared to reference intervals derived from free-ranging (46) while 9 wild-caught manatees, apparently clinically healthy, had SAA level above reference limit (56). These data could indicate a trend to an inflammatory status or the presence of subclinical inflammation in free-ranging animals which are more exposed to immunological stimuli. In any case, this highlights the need to define appropriate reference intervals for animals living in different environment to have an accurate toll for the evaluation of clinical condition.

Compared to human and companion animals, the use of APPs in marine mammals is just getting started. The increasing need of knowledge on immune system and its response against infectious diseases or chemical pollutants and the request of more sensitive inflammation markers have increased the effort of researchers to study the APR and APPs. Even if APPs are considered a sensitive, but non-specific marker of inflammation, some studies revealed that, in some infectious diseases, APPs showed a specific behavior and biochemical features. One example is the modification of the glycan moiety of AGP in feline infectious peritonitis, FIV and FeLV, influencing the host-pathogens interaction and the immune response (73–75). Currently, some of the greatest threats for wild marine mammals is pathogens, like *Morbillivirus*, *Herpesvirus*, *Brucella ceti*, and *Toxoplasma gondii* (76): the evaluation of APR and APPs patterns during these infectious

REFERENCES

- Gruys E, Toussaint MJM, Niewold TA, Koopmans SJ, Van Dijk E, Meloen RH. Monitoring health by values of acute phase proteins. *Acta Histochem*. (2006) 108:229–32. doi: 10.1016/j.acthis.2006.03.009
- Van Dyke TE, Kornman KS. Inflammation and factors that may regulate inflammatory response. J Periodontol. (2008) 79:1503–07. doi: 10.1902/jop.2008.080239
- Medzhitov R. Origin and physiological roles of inflammation. *Nature*. (2008) 454:428–35. doi: 10.1038/nature07201
- Libby P. Inflammatory mechanisms: the molecular basis of inflammation and disease. Nutr Rev. (2007) 65:140–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1753-4887.2007.tb00352.x
- Cerón JJ, Eckersall PD, Martínez-Subiela S. Acute phase proteins in dogs and cats: current knowledge and future perspectives. *Vet Clin Pathol.* (2005) 34:85–99. doi: 10.1111/j.1939-165X.2005. tb00019.x
- Koj A. Initiation of acute phase response and synthesis of cytokines. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis.* (1996) 1317:84– 94. doi: 10.1016/S0925-4439(96)00048-8
- Eckersall PD, Bell R. Acute phase proteins: biomarkers of infection and inflammation in veterinary medicine. *Vet J.* (2010) 185:23–7. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2010.04.009
- Murata H, Shimada N, Yoshioka M. Current research on acute phase proteins in veterinary diagnosis: an overview. Vet J. (2004) 168:28– 40 doi: 10.1016/S1090-0233(03)00119-9
- Paltrinieri S. The feline acute phase reaction. Vet J. (2008) 177:26– 35. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2007.06.005
- Petersen HH, Nielsen JP, Heegaard PMH. Application of acute phase protein measurements in veterinary clinical chemistry. *Vet Res.* (2004) 35:163– 87. doi: 10.1051/vetres:2004002
- Schrödl W, Büchler R, Wendler S, Reinhold P, Muckova P, Reindl J, et al. Acute phase proteins as promising biomarkers: perspectives and limitations for human and veterinary medicine. *Proteomics Clin Appl.* (2016) 10:1077– 92. doi: 10.1002/prca.201600028
- 12. Johnson HL, Chiou CC, Cho CT. Applications of acute phase reactants in infectious diseases. J Microbiol Immunol Infect. (1999) 32:73–82.

diseases could lead to the identification of a distinctive response of the immune system and increase the understanding of hostpathogen interaction.

Secondly, for managed or rescued animals, the forthcoming needs are the increase of automated assays, the standardization of procedures across laboratories and the discovery of new markers, for example negative APPs, to generate an APP index also in marine mammals. These new tools will certainly increase the diagnostic and prognostic skills for health assessment and, especially for stranded animals, the development of new "health status" markers will provide valuable resources in evaluating the response to treatment and rehabilitation prior to the release into the wild.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MG and FB analyzed the literature review, designed, and wrote the review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The literature review presented in the manuscript is partially included in Ph.D. thesis of Bonsembiante (77), supported by a Ph.D. Grant from the University of Padova.

- Eckersall PD, Conner JG, Harvie J. An immunoturbidimetric assay for canine C-reactive protein. Vet Res Commun. (1991) 15:17–24. doi: 10.1007/BF00497786
- Conner JG, Eckersall PD, Wiseman A, Aitchison TC, Douglas TA. Bovine acute phase response following turpentine injection. *Res Vet Sci.* (1988) 44:82–8. doi: 10.1016/0034-5288(88)90018-5
- Pepys MB, Baltz ML, Tennent GA, Kent J, Ousey J, Rossdale PD. Serum amyloid A protein (SAA) in horses: objective measurement of the acute phase response. *Equine Vet J.* (1989) 21:106–9. doi: 10.1111/j.2042-3306.1989.tb02108.x
- Eckersall PD, Schmidt EM. The final hurdles for acute phase protein analysis in small animal practice. J Small Anim Pract. (2014) 55:1– 3. doi: 10.1111/jsap.12168
- Kjelgaard-Hansen M, Mikkelsen LF, Kristensen AT, Jensen AL. Study on biological variability of five acute-phase reactants in dogs. *Comp Clin Path.* (2003) 12:69–74. doi: 10.1007/s00580-003-0477-z
- Solter PF, Hoffmann WE, Hungerford LL, Siegel JP, St Denis SH, Dorner JL. Haptoglobin and ceruloplasmin as determinants of inflammation in dogs. *Am J Vet Res.* (1991) 52:1738–42.
- Berta A, Sumich JL, Kovacs KM (Eds). Chapter 1 Introduction. In: Mar Mammals: Evolutionary Biology. 3rd ed. Academic Press (2015) p. 1–14.
- Levin M. Marine mammal immunology. In: Dierauf LA, Gulland FMD, Whitman KL, editors. CRC Handbook of Marine Mammal Medicine. 3rd ed. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press (2018). p. 209–30.
- Desforges JP, Sonne C, Levin M, Siebert U, De Guise S, Dietz R. Immunotoxic effects of environmental pollutants in marine mammals. *Environ Int.* (2016) 86:126–39. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2015.10.007
- Di Guardo G, Centelleghe C, Mazzariol S. Cetacean host-pathogen interaction(s): critical knowledge gaps. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2815. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02815
- Beineke A, Siebert U, Wohlsein P, Baumgärtner W. Immunology of whales and dolphins. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2010) 133:81–94. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2009.06.019
- Noda K, Aoki M, Akiyoshi H, Asaki H, Shimada T, Ohashi F. Evaluation of the polymorphonuclear cell functions of bottlenose dolphins. *J Vet Med Sci.* (2003) 65:727–9. doi: 10.1292/jvms.65.727

- De Guise S, Bernier J, Dufresne MM, Martineau D, Beland P, Fournier M. Immune functions in beluga whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*): evaluation of mitogen-induced blastic transformation of lymphocytes from peripheral blood, spleen and thymus. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (1996) 50:117– 26. doi: 10.1016/0165-2427(95)05490-1
- Keogh MJ, Spoon T, Ridgway SH, Jensen E, Van Bonn W, Romano TA. Simultaneous measurement of phagocytosis and respiratory burst of leukocytes in whole blood from bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) utilizing flow cytometry. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2011) 144:468– 75 doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2011.08.017
- 27. Denis F, Archambault D. Molecular cloning and characterization of beluga whale (*Delphinapterus leucas*) interleukin-1beta and tumor necrosis factoralpha. *Can J Vet Res.* (2001) 65:233-40.
- St-Laurent G, Archambault D. Molecular cloning, phylogenetic analysis and expression of beluga whale (*Delphinapterus leucas*) interleukin 6. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol*. (2000) 73:31–44. doi: 10.1016/S0165-2427(99)00150-6
- St-Laurent G, Béliveau C, Archambault D. Molecular cloning and phylogenetic analysis of beluga whale (*Delphinapterus leucas*) and grey seal (*Halichoerus grypus*) interleukin 2. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (1999) 67:385–94. doi: 10.1016/S0165-2427(99)00009-4
- Beineke A, Siebert U, van Elk N, Baumgärtner W. Development of a lymphocyte-transformation-assay for peripheral blood lymphocytes of the harbor porpoise and detection of cytokines using the reverse-transcription polymerase chain reaction. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2004) 98:59– 68. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2003.10.002
- Beineke A, Siebert U, Müller G, Baumgärtner W. Increased blood interleukin-10 mRNA levels in diseased free-ranging harbor porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*). Vet Immunol Immunopathol. (2007) 115:100–6. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2006.09.006
- Sitt T, Bowen L, Blanchard MT, Smith BR, Gershwin LJ, Byrne BA, et al. Quantitation of leukocyte gene expression in cetaceans. *Dev Comp Immunol.* (2008) 32:1253–9. doi: 10.1016/j.dci.2008.05.001
- 33. Erickson KL, DiMolfetto-Landen L, Wells RS, Reidarson T, Stott JL, Ferrick DA. Development of an interleukin-2 receptor expression assay and its use in evaluation of cellular immune responses in bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*). J Wildl Dis. (1995) 31:142–9. doi: 10.7589/0090-3558-31.2.142
- Funke C, King DP, McBain JF, Adelung D, Stott JL. Expression and functional characterization of killer whale (*Orcinus orca*) interleukin-6 (IL-6) and development of a competitive immunoassay. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2003) 93:69–79. doi: 10.1016/S0165-2427(03)00055-2
- Frouin H, Haulena M, Akhurst LM, Raverty SA, Ross PS. Immune status and function in harbor seal pups during the course of rehabilitation. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2013) 155:98–109. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2013.06.011
- Frouin H, Lebeuf M, Hammill M, Fournier M. Phagocytosis in pup and adult harbour, grey and harp seals. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2010) 134:160–8. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2009.08.017
- Fonfara S, Kakuschke A, Rosenberger T, Siebert U, Prange A. Cytokine and acute phase protein expression in blood samples of harbour seal pups. *Mar Biol.* (2008) 155:337–45. doi: 10.1007/s00227-008-1031-y
- Levin M, Romano T, Matassa K, De Guise S. Validation of a commercial canine assay kit to measure pinniped cytokines. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2014) 160:90–6. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2014.04.001
- Bossart GD, Reidarson TH, Dierauf LA, Duffield DA. Clinical Pathology. In: Dierauf LA, Gulland FMD, editors. CRC Handbook of Marine Mammal Medicine. 2nd ed. Boca Raton, FI: CRC Press (2001). p. 383–436.
- King DP, Aldrige BM, Kennedy-Stoskopf S, Stott JL. Immunology. In: Dierauf LA, Gulland FMD, editors. CRC Handbook of Marine Mammal Medicine. 2nd ed. Boca Raton, Fl: CRC Press (2001). p. 237–52.
- Taylor BC, Brotheridge RM, Jessup DA, Stott JL. Measurement of serum immunoglobulin concentration in killer whales and sea otters by radial immunodiffusion. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2002) 89:187– 95. doi: 10.1016/S0165-2427(02)00208-8
- Nollens HH, Green LG, Duke D, Walsh MT, Chittick B, Gearhart S, et al. Development and validation of monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies for the detection of immunoglobulin G of bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*). J Vet Diagn Invest. (2007) 19:465–70. doi: 10.1177/104063870701900502

- Ruiz CL, Nollens HH, Venn-Watson S, Green LG, Wells RS, Walsh MT, et al. Baseline circulating immunoglobulin G levels in managed collection and freeranging bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*). *Dev Comp Immunol.* (2009) 33:449–55. doi: 10.1016/j.dci.2008.09.002
- Cray C, Zaias J, Altman NH. Acute phase response in animals: a review. Comp Med. (2009) 59:517–26.
- 45. Schwacke LH, Hall AJ, Townsend FI, Wells RS, Hansen LJ, Hohn AA, et al. Hematologic and serum biochemical reference intervals for free-ranging common bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) and variation in the distributions of clinicopathologic values related to geographic sampling site. *Am J Vet Res.* (2009) 70:973–85. doi: 10.2460/ajvr. 70.8.973
- 46. Gili C, Bonsembiante F, Bonanni R, Giordano A, Ledda S, Beffagna G, et al. Detection of hereditary bisalbuminemia in bottlenose dolphins (Tursiops truncatus, Montagu 1821): comparison between capillary zone and agarose gel electrophoresis. *BMC Vet Res.* (2016) 12:172. doi: 10.1186/s12917-016-0801-x
- 47. Stockham SL, Scott MA. Fundamentals of Veterinary Clinical Pathology. Amse, IA: Blackwell Pub (2008) p. 376.
- 48. St. Aubin DJ, Forney KA, Chivers SJ, Scott MD, Danil K, Romano TA, et al. Hematological, serum, and plasma chemical constituents in pantropical spotted dolphins (*Stenella attenuata*) following chase, encirclement, and tagging. *Mar Mammal Sci.* (2013) 29:14–35. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-7692.2011.00536.x.
- Tryland M, Thoresen SI, Kovacs KM, Lydersen C. Serum chemistry of freeranging white whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*) in Svalbard. *Vet Clin Pathol.* (2006) 35:199–203. doi: 10.1111/j.1939-165X.2006.tb00114.x
- Tryland M, Brun E. Serum chemistry of the minke whale from the northeastern Atlantic. J Wildl Dis. (2001) 37:332– 41. doi: 10.7589/0090-3558-37.2.332
- Robeck TR, Nollens HH. Hematological and serum biochemical analytes reflect physiological challenges during gestation and lactation in killer whales (*Orcinus orca*). Zoo Biol. (2013) 32:497–509. doi: 10.1002/zoo.21083
- 52. Greig DJ, Gulland FMD, Rios CA, Hall AJ. Hematology and serum chemistry in stranded and wild-caught harbor seals in central california: reference intervals, predictors of survival, and parameters affecting blood variables. J Wildl Dis. (2010) 46:1172–84. doi: 10.7589/0090-3558-46.4.1172
- Tryland M, Lydersen C, Kovacs KM, Thoresen SI. Serum chemistry reference values in free-ranging North Atlantic male walruses (*Odobenus rosmarus rosmarus*) from the *Svalbard archipelago*. *Vet Clin Pathol*. (2009) 38:501– 6. doi: 10.1111/j.1939-165X.2009.00154.x
- Cray C, Arheart KL, Hunt M, Clauss T, Leppert LL, Roberts K, et al. Acute phase protein quantitation in serum samples from healthy Atlantic bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*). J Vet Diagn Invest. (2013) 25:107– 11. doi: 10.1177/1040638712467986
- 55. Müller S, Lehnert K, Seibel H, Driver J, Ronnenberg K, Teilmann J, et al. Evaluation of immune and stress status in harbour porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*): can hormones and mRNA expression levels serve as indicators to assess stress? *BMC Vet Res.* (2013) 9:145. doi: 10.1186/1746-6148-9-145
- Harr K, Harvey J, Bonde R, Murphy D, Lowe M, Menchaca M, et al. Comparison of methods used to diagnose generalized inflammatory disease in manatees (*Trichechus manatus latirostris*). J Zoo Wildl Med. (2006) 37:151– 9. doi: 10.1638/05-023.1
- Cray C, Rodriguez M, Dickey M, Brewer LB, Arheart KL. Assessement of serum amyloid a levels in the rehabilitation setting in the florida manatee (*Trichechus manatus latirostris*). J Zoo Wildl Med. (2013) 44:911– 7. doi: 10.1638/2012-0270R.1
- Zenteno-Savin T, Castellini MA, Rea LD, Fadely BS. Plasma haptoglobin levels in threatened Alaskan pinniped populations. J Wildl Dis. (1997) 33:64– 71. doi: 10.7589/0090-3558-33.1.64
- Rosenfeld H, Lassen S, Prange A. Characterization of haptoglobin in the blood plasma of harbor seals (*Phoca vitulina*). J Proteome Res. (2009) 8:2923– 32. doi: 10.1021/pr900035s
- Terasawa F, Arai T, Tokura T, Ohshita I. Fibrinogen concentrations in captive bottlenose dolphins during pregnancy. J Vet Med Sci. (2008) 70:1277– 9. doi: 10.1292/jvms.70.1277
- 61. Segawa T, Otsuka T, Itou T, Suzuki M, Karatani N, Sakai T. Characterization of the circulating serum amyloid A in bottlenose dolphins. *Vet*

Immunol Immunopathol. (2013) 152:218-24. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2012. 12.006

- Segawa T, Amatsuji H, Suzuki K, Suzuki M, Yanagisawa M, Itou T, et al. Molecular characterization and validation of commercially available methods for haptoglobin measurement in bottlenose dolphin. *Results Immunol.* (2013) 3:57–63. doi: 10.1016/j.rinim.2013.05.003
- Funke C, King DP, Brotheridge RM, Adelung D, Stott JL. Harbor seal (*Phoca vitulina*) C-reactive protein (C-RP): purification, characterization of specific monoclonal antibodies and development of an immuno-assay to measure serum C-RP concentrations. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (1997) 59:151–62. doi: 10.1016/S0165-2427(97)00059-7
- 64. Kakuschke A, Erbsloeh H-B, Griesel S, Prange A. Acute phase protein haptoglobin in blood plasma samples of harbour seals (*Phoca vitulina*) of the Wadden Sea and of the isle Helgoland. *Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol.* (2010) 155:67–71. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpb.2009.10.002
- Kjelgaard-Hansen M, Jacobsen S. Assay validation and diagnostic applications of major acute-phase protein testing in companion animals. *Clin Lab Med.* (2011) 31:51–70. doi: 10.1016/j.cll.2010.10.002
- Mackness M, Mackness B. Human paraoxonase-1 (PON1): gene structure and expression, promiscuous activities and multiple physiological roles. *Gene*. (2015) 567:12–21. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2015.04.088
- Watson CE, Draganov DI, Billecke SS, Bisgaier CL, La Du BN. Rabbits possess a serum paraoxonase polymorphism similar to the human Q192R. *Pharmacogenetics*. (2001) 11:123– 34. doi: 10.1097/00008571-200103000-00003
- 68. Silveira PA, Schwegler E, Montagner P, Krause AR, Acosta DA, Halfen J, et al. Characterization of single nucleotide polymorphisms in the promoter region of the bovine paraoxonase 1 (PON1) gene affecting serum enzyme activity in dairy cows. *Vet J.* (2015) 205:101–3. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2015.04.028
- Meyer WK, Jamison J, Richter R, Woods SE, Partha R, Kowalczyk A, et al. Ancient convergent losses of Paraoxonase 1 yield potential risks for modern marine mammals. *Science*. (2018) 361:591–4. doi: 10.1126/science.aap7714
- Bonsembiante F, Centelleghe C, Rossi G, Giglio S, Madeo E, Gelain ME, et al. Clinico-pathological findings in a striped dolphin (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) affected by rhabdomyolysis and myoglobinuric nephrosis (*capture myopathy*). *J Vet Med Sci.* (2017) 79:1013–8. doi: 10.1292/jvms.17-0023

- Geffré A, Friedrichs K, Harr K, Concordet D, Trumel C, Braun JP. Reference values: a review. *Vet Clin Pathol.* (2009) 38:288–98. doi: 10.1111/j.1939-165X.2009.00179.x
- Venn-Watson S, Jensen ED, Ridgway SH. Effects of age and sex on clinicopathologic reference ranges in a healthy managed Atlantic bottlenose dolphin population. J Am Vet Med Assoc. (2007) 231:596– 601. doi: 10.2460/javma.231.4.596
- Paltrinieri S, Gelain ME, Ceciliani F, Ribera AM, Battilani M. Association between faecal shedding of feline coronavirus and serum alpha1-acid glycoprotein sialylation. J Feline Med Surg. (2008) 10:514–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jfms.2008.04.004
- Rossi G, Capitani L, Ceciliani F, Restelli L, Paltrinieri S. Hyposialylated α1-acid glycoprotein inhibits phagocytosis of feline neutrophils. *Res Vet Sci.* (2013) 95:465–71. doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2013.04.026
- Pocacqua V, Provasi E, Paltrinieri S, Gelain E, Comunian C, Ceciliani F. Glycan moiety modifications of feline alpha1-acid glycoprotein in retrovirus (FIV, FeLV) affected cats. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2005) 107:17– 26. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2005.02.021
- Bressem M Van, Van Bressem M-F, Raga JA, Di Guardo G, Jepson PD, Duignan PJ, et al. Emerging infectious diseases in cetaceans worldwide and the possible role of environmental stressors. *Dis Aquat Organ*. (2009) 86:143– 57. doi: 10.3354/dao02101
- 77. Bonsembiante, F. (2017). *Clinico-pathological investigation of serum proteins in odontocetes* (Ph.D. Thesis) Padova, IT: University of Padova.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Gelain and Bonsembiante. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Insights Into Cetacean Immunology: Do Ecological and Biological Factors Make the Difference?

Letizia Marsili^{1*}, Giovanni Di Guardo², Sandro Mazzariol³ and Silvia Casini¹

¹ Department of Physical, Earth and Environmental Sciences, University of Siena, Siena, Italy, ² Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Teramo, Teramo, Italy, ³ Department of Comparative Biomedicine and Food, University of Padua, Padua, Italy

The aim of this study was to evaluate the expression of Major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I chain-related protein A (MICA) in fibroblast cell cultures of cetaceans (skin biopsies of free-ranging specimens and skin samples of freshly stranded cetaceans) by an immunofluorescence technique and to outline possible variations in MICA expression linked to different ecological and biological factors, while also investigating MICA expression after in vitro treatments with different contaminants. Free-ranging or stranded specimens of cetaceans were sampled in the Sea of Cortez (Mexico) (Balaenoptera edeni, Delphinus capensis, and Orcinus orca) and in the Mediterranean Sea (Balaenoptera physalus, Physeter macrocephalus, Tursiops truncatus, and Stenella coeruleoalba). Cell cultures were treated with an OC mixture, flame retardants, PAHs, MeHg, and BPA. The three species from the Sea of Cortez showed higher basal activity of MICA and lower levels of DDTs and PCBs than the Mediterranean species. A Pearson's linear coefficient equal to -0.45 also confirmed this tendency to have high levels of MICA and low total OC levels. Treatment of cultured fibroblasts with different contaminants mostly resulted in the upregulation of MICA protein expression by at least one treatment dose; downregulation was also found in some species or treatments. MICA alteration indicates a state of stress of the organism and a modification of the immune system's response and can be proposed as a non-invasive immunological marker that can be measured in skin biopsy samples, thus offering a good alternative to blood measurements.

Keywords: MICA, cetaceans, OCs, PBDEs, PAHs, MeHg, BPA

INTRODUCTION

Studies on the immune system of cetaceans have followed one another over the years and focused on endpoints of innate and adaptive immunity, such as the evaluation of cellular and humoral immune responses (lymphocyte transformation assay, natural killer cell activity, phagocytotic activity, and respiratory burst humoral immune responses), insights into cytokines, and acute phase responses, immunophenotyping of cetacean lymphoid cells, morphology, and pathology of lymphoid organs, and immunotoxic effects of environmental contaminants (1–4). Almost all investigations have been conducted on blood or on cetaceans found freshly stranded. In bottlenose dolphin, the possibility exists to work on live specimens, not only with captive specimens but also with wild populations, whereas for other cetacean species, carrying out blood sampling is absolutely unthinkable if we exclude the specimens kept in captivity.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mike Criscitiello, Texas A&M University, United States

Reviewed by:

Luigi Abelli, University of Ferrara, Italy Hai-peng Liu, Xiamen University, China

> *Correspondence: Letizia Marsili letizia.marsili@unisi.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Comparative Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 08 January 2019 Accepted: 13 May 2019 Published: 31 May 2019

Citation:

Marsili L, Di Guardo G, Mazzariol S and Casini S (2019) Insights Into Cetacean Immunology: Do Ecological and Biological Factors Make the Difference? Front. Immunol. 10:1219. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01219 Having an in-depth knowledge not only on how the cetacean immune system is composed but also on how it is modulated in the natural environment according to biological and ecological factors, while also considering the effects deriving from environmental pollution, is important.

The information concerning "immunologic baseline data" in natural populations and the possible alterations and/or modulations linked to internal and external factors are lacking. Stranded organisms can have infections and/or suffer from other disease conditions so that the data found cannot always be considered as baseline. In most of the published studies, the immunotoxic effects of several contaminants or mixtures were investigated only *in vitro*.

In this context of objective limitations, only a few studies have provided information on possible diversity in the immune response, for example, between different species, or within the same species among populations living in different habitats. More information can be found in the literature regarding the differential responses to contaminants after *in vitro* leukocyte exposure.

An interesting study was conducted by Levin et al. (5), in which blood was sampled from belugas (Delphinapterus leucas) from the Mystic Aquarium (CT) and from bottlenose dolphins (Tursiops truncatus) from the U.S. Bottlenose Dolphin Navy Marine Mammal Program (San Diego, CA). Leukocytes were isolated and treated with different coplanar and non-coplanar polychlorobyphenils (PCBs) in different combinations and in combination with tetrachlorodibenzo(P)dioxins (TCDDs). The results showed a significant reduction in the phagocytic capacity of neutrophils and monocytes in both species, with a markedly greater percentage effect in dolphins compared to belugas. The dolphins, moreover, showed a markedly lower percentage of neutrophils and monocytes even in the untreated samples compared to the belugas. Uncertainties remain regarding basic differences between the two species or differences related to the animals' environmental status (captive/non-captive).

A study by Fair et al. (6) found an upregulation of several blood immune system analytes in wild bottlenose dolphins in comparison with under human care dolphins, allowing to hypothesize that variation in environmental conditions (temperature, nutrition, veterinary care, and pathogen/contaminant exposure) can modulate immune responses.

In most cases, contaminants were found to act as immunosuppressors in cetaceans, although some immune responses were also found to be upregulated after *in vitro* exposure to contaminants.

Ritz and Streibig (7) calculated the adverse effects of different concentrations of PCBs, Hg, methylmercury (MeHg) and Cd on lymphocyte proliferation in belugas and bottlenose dolphins; belugas seem less sensitive to PCBs than bottlenose dolphins but more sensitive to Hg and Cd.

Further immunotoxicological studies on the bottlenose dolphin showed that the treatment concentrations considered environmentally realistic for Hg, Cd, and Pb produced a significant reduction in lymphocyte proliferation, whereas Hg, Al, and Cd treatment resulted in decreased lymphocyte phagocytosis. Chromium did not show any effects on any immune assay at the concentrations tested (8).

In a field study conducted by Schaefer et al. (9) in *Tursiops truncatus* from the coasts of Florida and South Carolina, an inverse relationship was found between the Hg concentrations in blood and skin and the absolute numbers of lymphocytes, eosinophils, and platelets.

Following bottlenose dolphin exposure to perfluorinated compounds (PFCs), Fair et al. (10) found statistically significant positive associations between these contaminants and several immunological parameters: absolute numbers of CD2+ T cells, CD4+ helper T cells, CD19+ immature B cells, CD21+ mature B cells, CD2/CD21 ratio, MHCII+ cells, B cell proliferation, serum IgG1, granulocytic, and monocytic phagocytosis. No effects were found on natural killer (NK) cell activity.

In the same species, treatments with coplanar non-ortho-PCB congeners and butyltins (TNT and DBT) significantly reduced the proliferation response of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (11).

No effect was found on bottlenose dolphin natural killer (NK) cell activity and lymphocyte proliferation (T and B cell) after *in vitro* exposure of peripheral blood leukocytes to environmentally relevant perfluorooctane sulfonates (PFOS) and a penta-PBDE mixture (DE-71) concentrations (12, 13).

As previously stated, we presently have a fairly complete picture of the immune system of cetaceans and its interactions with the main classes of contaminants; however, great limitations in the study of natural populations and the modulation of their immune systems persist and are derived essentially from the typology of sampling and related tests developed and applied to date, which include blood sampling and use of freshly stranded animals. In vitro experiments are very useful to understand the dynamics of the interaction(s) between contaminants and the immune system but cannot completely illustrate what happens in wild populations. In vitro tests, in fact, cannot describe the whole-organism level processes, such as cell interactions and messenger molecules or chemical exposure, absorption, metabolism, and excretion. An urgent need exists, consequently, to search for new non-invasive tests that use more easily sampled tissues such as skin biopsies, which can provide information comparable to those obtained from blood tests but can be applied to all free-ranging cetacean species and populations, allowing for a high number of samples to be analyzed.

In this paper, we propose the use of the Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) Class I Chain-Related gene A (MICA) as a potential biomarker for the cetacean immune system. Information on Human MICA is available in the literature but nothing exists regarding its presence and behavior in cetaceans.

The Human MICA encodes for a 62-Kda cell surface glycoprotein, which is expressed on endothelial, dendritic and epithelial cells; as well as on fibroblasts; and on many neoplastic and virus-infected cells, serving as a target for cellular and humoral immune responses in transformed cells. The level of expression of MICA protein in epithelial tissues is normally low, but upregulation can occur due to several cellular stress stimuli, including heat shock proteins. MICA also functions as a ligand that is recognized by the activating receptor NKG2D, which is expressed on the surface of NK, NKT, CD8+, and TCR $\gamma\delta$ + T cells. Allelic variants of MICA can result in large differences in NKG2D binding. This differential affinity might affect NK cell activation thresholds and T cell modulation in autoimmune diseases and tumors (14, 15). Soluble forms of MICA molecules (sMICA) can also be found, and altered serum levels of sMICA have been reported in multiple health and disease conditions (16).

Zou et al. (17) documented MICA expression on freshly isolated human fibroblasts and a marked decrease when fibroblasts were grown to confluence in culture dishes. By contrast, increased MICA expression was found during the proliferation of fibroblasts, possibly acting as a support for the host response to injury.

Much interest exists in the study of the relationship of MICA with cancer. MICA was found to be expressed on the surface of several neoplastic cells, where it may enhance innate immunity by stimulating NK cells and participating in T cell immunity by costimulation of CD8+lymphocytes. Several tumors can release soluble MICA, and soluble MICA has been reported to inhibit the stimulating pathway mediated by NKG2D.

Cetacean morbilliviruses and papillomaviruses, as well as *Brucella* spp. and *Toxoplasma gondii*, are thought to interfere with population abundance by inducing high mortalities, lowering reproductive success or by synergistically increasing the virulence of other infectious pathogens. Severe cases of lobomycosis and lobomycosis-like disease (LLD) indicate that these infections may contribute to the death of some dolphins. Environmental contamination seems to play a role in these diseases because, as already reported, many pollutants are known as immunosuppressors and can adversely affect the immune status of cetaceans. The cetacean skin is an important tissue district of the immune system, and the MICA protein, which was used in this study as a toxicological stress marker of the immune system, is expressed in fibroblasts.

The aim of this study, in fact, was to evaluate MICA protein expression in fibroblast cell cultures of cetaceans (skin biopsies of free-ranging specimens and skin samples of stranded cetaceans within 2-12 h of death) by an immunofluorescence technique and to outline possible variations in MICA expression linked to differential ecological and biological factors, while also investigating MICA expression after in vitro treatments with different contaminants. Free-ranging or stranded specimens of cetaceans were sampled in the Sea of Cortez (Mexico) [Bryde's whale (B. edeni), long-beaked common dolphin (D. capensis), and killer whale (O. orca)] and in the Mediterranean Sea [fin whale (B. physalus), sperm whale (P. microcephalus), T. truncatus, and striped dolphin (S. coeruleoalba)], and the cell cultures were treated with organochlorine compound (OC) mixture, flame retardants, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), MeHg, and bisphenol A (BPA).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Sampling Methods Free-Ranging Cetaceans

Samples of skin biopsies (epidermis, dermis, and blubber) were obtained from free-ranging specimens of long-beaked common dolphin (MDC12) and striped dolphin (STG96) using an aluminum pole armed with biopsy tips (0.7 cm ø, 3.0 cm length), while skin biopsies from free-ranging specimens of Bryde's whale (MBE3), killer whale (MOO12), sperm whale (PMAs1 and PMAs2), fin whale (BPT1), and bottlenose dolphin (TTAs1) were obtained using a Barnett Wildcat II crossbow with a 150-pound test bow, using a biopsy dart with modified stainless steel collecting tip (0.9 cm ø, 4.0 cm length). Biopsy samples were taken in the dorsal area near the dorsal fin, with CITES authorization (CITES Nat. IT025IS, Int. CITES IT 007), in the Sea of Cortez (MDC12, MBE3, and MOO12) and Mediterranean Sea (PMAs1, PMAs2, BPT1, TTAs1, and STG96). A little biopsy fragment was immediately stored in cell medium for cell cultures.

Stranded Cetaceans

Skin tissue of stranded cetaceans (dead for only 2–12 h) was obtained from specimens found dead along the Italian coastline in the period 2005–2009. Samples were taken from beneath the dorsal fin of stranded specimens of fin whale (RT25) and striped dolphin (RT17 and RT23) and immediately placed in cell medium.

Sex Identification

Sex determination in cetaceans was performed by genetic investigations according to Berubè and Palsboll (18). The sex of specimens was as follows: MDC12 female (F), STG96 male (M), MBE3 (F), MOO12 (M), PMAs1 (M), PMAs2 (M), TTAs1 (F), RT25 (M), (BPT1 (F), RT23 (F), and RT17 (M).

Fibroblast Cell Cultures

The development of a non-invasive sampling method for obtaining viable tissue samples for cell cultures from skin biopsies of free-ranging and stranded cetaceans was described by Marsili et al. (19). Successful cell cultures were obtained from all the specimens.

After the animals were sampled, each skin sample was stored in sterile medium MEM Eagle Earle's salts w/L-glutamine and sodium bicarbonate + 10% gamma irradiated fetal calf serum + 1% MEM non-essential amino acids (NEAA) solution 100x + 1% Penicillin/Streptomycin 100x + 0.1% Amphotericin B 100x at room temperature and was processed within 24 h of collection. In the laboratory, each sample was washed with Earle's balanced salt solution (EBSS) containing antibiotic (Penicillin/Streptomycin 100x) and antimycotic (Amphotericin B 100x) solutions. All specimens were handled under strict sterility conditions. First, the collected tissue was cut into small pieces with curved surgical scissors, placed in 30-mm Petri dishes and incubated with Trypsin-EDTA solution 1x for 15 min at 37°C. The biopsy fragments were washed again and then placed in Falcon 25 flasks, moistened with medium. After 24 h at 37°C in an incubator with 5% CO₂, the cultures were covered with 1 ml of medium. Half of the culture medium was replaced every 48 h with fresh medium.

Indirect Immunofluorescence Technique

Fibroblast cell cultures (third generation) were subjected to this experimental protocol for 48 h. The preliminary test that we conducted concerned the treatment of fibroblasts with an inducer and a repressor of the immune system. We used cyclosporine A (CsA), a drug belonging to the category of immunosuppressants, along with β -glucan, a polysaccharide known to increase immune system response. For the main research the different cell lines were exposed as follows: (1) to a mixture of organochlorines (Arochlor 1260, pp'-DDT and pp'-DDE), solubilized in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (0.05%) (named OCs), at three doses: 0.01, 0.1, and $1 \mu g/ml$, plus a DMSO (0.05%) control; (2) to a mixture of benzo(a)pyrene (1 mM) and beta-naphthoflavone (20 mM), solubilized in acetone (0.1%) (named PAHs), at three doses: $C = (0.5 \,\mu M BaP + 10 \,\mu M BnF), B = (2.5 \,\mu M BaP +$ $50\,\mu\text{M}$ BnF), and A = (12.5 μM BaP + 250 μM BnF), plus an acetone (0.1%) control; (3) to a mixture containing 27 polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs), from mono- to decabrominated (BDE-MXE), solubilized in nonane (0.01 µg/ml) (named PBDEs) at three doses: 0.01, 0.05, and 0.1 µg/ml, plus a nonane $(0.01 \,\mu\text{g/ml})$ chemical control; 4) to bisphenol A (BPA) solubilized in ethanol (0.1%) (named BPA), at four doses: 0.1, 1, 10, and 100 μ g/ml, plus an ethanol (0.1%) control; and 5) to hydrosoluble and therefore solubilized in cultured medium methylmercury (MeHg), at four doses: 0.01, 0.1, 1, and 10 µM.

We applied immunofluorescence to fibroblast cell cultures for a qualitative and semiquantitative analysis of target protein MICA. After fixing and extraction with methanol and acetone at -20° C, we conducted a first reaction with the primary polyclonal antibody (Ab) (rabbit polyclonal anti-MICA Ab; Abcam), the cells were treated with the secondary Ab (Alexa Fluor 568 rabbit anti-goat IgG (H + L) for MICA) and labeled with redfluorescent Alexa Fluor dye. Immunofluorescence was quantified with a specially designed Olympus Soft Imaging Systems macro, DetectIntZ, which works with the image acquisition, processing and analysis system, analySIS^B (Olympus) (20). The image analysis procedure has the objective of quantifying, with an adimensional index generated for this purpose, the amount of Alexa Fluor localized on the cytoplasmic membrane of the various cell preparations. The cells under study were imaged using DAPI, and this image was presented to the operator for threshold selection of cytoplasmatic and nuclear regions of interest (ROI) across the field. The procedure then utilized these ROI to measure the fluorescence intensity with Alexa Fluor of the different cell samples and the results were summarized in a worksheet. The system generated index values that are unitless until compared with other units, such as number of cells to obtain mean fluorescence per cell or the area in which it was calculated to obtain the mean fluorescence per mm². Images were all obtained with a magnification of 20X, a calibration of 0.65 μ m/pixel and a resolution of 1,360 \times 1,024 x 8 pixel. Exposure times were fixed while reading MICA expression for each treatment. A series of images of each slide was acquired so that a minimum of 250 cells/slide could be counted. The total fluorescence revealed by the program was then divided by the number of cells to obtain an arbitrary unity of fluorescence (AUF) per cell. Several slides for MICA were made for each culture: one was a blank (cells treated only with primary and secondary antibodies), one was a secondary blank (cells treated only with the secondary antibody), one was a chemical blank (cells treated with contaminant carrier), and two were for each treatment dose of all contaminants. The former two blank samples enabled the natural presence of the target proteins in cultured fibroblasts to be checked, while the secondary blank enabled validation of the dose of secondary Abs without cross reaction, as the primary Ab was absent.

Organochlorine Analysis

Analyses for DDTs and PCBs were performed according to methods recommended by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) 8081/8082, with modifications (21, 22). The analytical method used was High Resolution Capillary Gas Chromatography with an Agilent 6890N and a 63Ni ECD and an SBP-5 bonded phase capillary column (30 m long, 0.2 mm i.d.). The carrier gas was nitrogen, with a head pressure of 15.5 psi (splitting ratio 50/1). The scavenger gas was argon/methane (95/5) at 40 ml/min. The oven temperature was 100°C for the first 10 min, after which it was increased to 280°C at 5°C/min. Injector and detector temperatures were 200 and 280°C, respectively. The extracted organic material (EOM%) from the freeze-dried samples was calculated in all samples. Capillary gas chromatography revealed op'- and pp'- isomers of DDT and its derivatives DDD and DDE and revealed \sim 30 PCB congeners. Total PCBs were quantified as the sum of all congeners. These congeners represented 80% of the total peak area of the PCBs in the samples. Total DDT was calculated as the sum of op-DDT, pp'-DDT, op'-DDD, pp'-DDD, op'-DDE and pp'-DDE. The results were expressed in nanograms per gram of lipid weight (ng/g l.w.).

Statistical Analysis

Shapiro-Wilks test has been used to evaluate if the population is normally distributed (p > 0.05). Findings showed that all the investigated groups were non-normal distributed. Descriptive statistics (mean, standard deviation, minimum, and maximum) was used to summarize the data. The Spearman's rank correlation coefficient (r-Spearman) was instead used in order to measure the degree of association between This indicator ranges from +1 to -1. A value of 0 indicates that no association exists between the two variables. A value greater/lower than 0 indicates a positive/negative association between the variables investigated. Finally, the non-parametric tests of Kruskal-Wallis (p < 0.05) and Kolmogorov-Smirnov (p < 0.05) were used to determine if the levels of MICA, DDTs, and PCBs significantly differ between specimens and if the levels of MICA in the cells significantly differ between doses and type of treatments.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Basal Levels of MICA in Different Species

The basal level of MICA, evaluated with immunofluorescence technique in the fibroblasts of different cetacean species, is the first important result to indicate the immune status of the specimens sampled in different areas. In particular, these data were compared to DDT and PCB levels detected in the blubber samples of the same specimens. The mean values, expressed as immunofluorescence for cell (AUF/nucleus) for MICA and as ng/g lipid weight for OCs, are presented in **Figure 1**.

The three species from the Sea of Cortez (B. edeni, D. capensis, and O. orca) exhibited a basal activity of MICA higher than the Mediterranean species, except for the freeranging striped dolphin STG96, and correspondingly lower levels of DDTs and PCBs. Despite the low total sample number, a Spearman's rank correlation coefficient equal to -0.59 also confirmed this tendency for high levels of MICA and low total OC levels (Figure 2). In fact, in the guidelines to interpreting Spearman's rank correlation coefficient, this association is medium. Interestingly, in the Mexican species, the PCB levels did not exceed the estimated toxicity threshold (17 mg/kg l.w.) for deleterious health effects set by Jepson et al. (23) and Kannan et al. (24) (Figure 1); this indicates that, in this area the toxicological risk for these marine mammals is low, regardless of their position in the trophic chain. Instead, the basal activity of MICA in species of the Sea of Cortez seems to be related to their different diets, with an enhanced activity parallel to the increase of their trophic level, while noting that B. edeni feeds mainly on blue fish and is not strictly plankton-eating as B. physalus is in the Mediterranean Sea. However, the total OC levels of B. edeni were the lowest, showing that plankton intake is not negligible in the diet. In the Sea of Cortez, the specimens had been sampled while free-ranging, by skin biopsy, so they were all supposedly healthy; consequently, the differences both in the accumulation and in the immune response were most likely linked to ecological and biological factors and not to a more or less compromised health condition, as in the case of stranded specimens. In the Mediterranean Sea, instead, three samples came from specimens found stranded alive and then died (B. physalus RT25 and S. coeruleoalba RT17 and RT23), while five came from free-ranging specimens (P. microcephalus PMAs1 and PMAs2, T. truncatus TTAs1, *B. physalus* BPT1, and *S. coeruleoalba* STG96). Regardless of the type of sampling (free-ranging or stranded), the health condition, the position in the trophic chain, and the sex, all the herein investigated specimens had consistent tissue levels of both DDTs and PCBs. The latter xenobiotics far exceeded the toxicity threshold of 17 ppm, except for the free-ranging fin whale BPT1, and the MICA response was globally much lower than in the Sea of Cortez species.

Since MICA has a non-parametric distribution, evaluated with the Shapiro-Wilks test (p < 0.00156), a non-parametric statistical analysis was used to compare the different variables. Using the Kruskal-Wallis test and putting the data together according to the sampling area, without considering the single species, we verified that MICA expression was significantly different (p = 0.0247) between the Sea of Cortez and the Mediterranean Sea samples. The same occurred with the levels of DDTs and PCBs (p = 0.0412).

Based upon the results of the present study, we can affirm that the environment in which the specimens live and, accordingly, the anthropogenic stress "magnitude" to which they are subjected, are key determinants in MICA protein-based immune responses. It is well-known that the Mediterranean Sea is highly contaminated by several anthropogenic activities, such as coastal urbanization and industrialization, oil tanker traffic and general maritime transport, fisheries, and agricultural waste (25). Sea of Cortez instead is considered close to a pristine environment, with a low anthropogenic impact (26). Therefore, it can be also inferred that the lower the anthropogenic stress of the specimens is, the higher is the basal activity of MICA.

Regarding the Mediterranean species, the two fin whale specimens had the lowest OC levels related to other species, and this is in line with what we have always found in this basin, depending on the different trophic position (21, 27). However, the *B. physalus* RT25 concentrations were very high compared to those found in *B. physalus* BPT1 (\sim 7 times for the DDTs



FIGURE 1 | Basal levels of immunofluorescence (AUF/nucleus) of MICA (line) in fibroblast cells and mean levels of DDTs and PCBs (ng/g lipid weight) (histograms) in blubber of *B. edeni, D. capensis, O. orca, P. macrocephalus, T. truncatus, S. coeruleoalba, and B. physalus.* The red dotted line represents the PCB threshold (17 ppm l.w.) indicated to produce deleterious effects in marine mammals.





and PCBs) and in other Mediterranean fin whale specimens, both stranded and free-ranging (25). The mysticete RT25, found stranded in January 2011 along the Tyrrhenian coast of Italy, showed an unprecedented coinfection by Dolphin Morbillivirus (DMV) and Toxoplasma gondii, together with high OC pollutant concentrations, with special reference to DDTs (28). Therefore, the basal activity of MICA might have been higher than that of a free-ranging fin whale as a function of a response to these multiple stress factors Instead, the free-ranging fin whale BPT1 had a higher MICA value, with considerably lower OC xenobiotic levels. Within such context, it is of interest that the hepatitis B virus (HBV), for example, suppresses the expression of MICA/B on hepatoma cells through the upregulation of transcription factors GATA2 and GATA3 to escape from NK cell immune surveillance (29), and a similar pathogenetic mechanism could also be shared by DMV and T. gondii. In addition, for the striped dolphin specimens, we obtained comparable results: RT17 and RT23, both stranded animals, had PCB levels higher than free-ranging STG96, but the opposite was true for MICA. Furthermore, the RT23 individual was also infected by DMV. The other specimens sampled by biopsy, belonging to bottlenose dolphin (TTA1) and sperm whale (PMAs1 and PMAs2) species, had MICA levels like the stranded striped dolphin and fin whale specimens. An explanation could be linked also to interspecies differences or to sex or age variability. In this respect, a nonparametric statistical test (Kolmogorov-Smirnov) showed that no significant differences existed between males and females in MICA levels, without considering the sampling area and the species. In the striped dolphin group, however, we had two specimens of different sex that were both stranded, with an adult and almost certainly sexually mature (190 cm) individual (RT23) and a male subadult (168 cm) (RT17). In these specimens, at similar tissue concentrations of OC pollutants, a similar level of MICA expression was found. All that we have highlighted with these results makes it difficult to explain if the activity of MICA has an upregulation or a downregulation with a toxicological stress. What we know is that, in humans (Homo sapiens sapiens), where it is most studied, MICA protein has a low level of expression in healthy epithelial tissues but is upregulated in many tumors (30-32) and under various cellular stress stimuli, including heat shock proteins, DNA damage, and viral infections (33-36). MICA also functions as a ligand recognized by the activating receptor Natural Killer Group 2D (NKG2D), which is expressed on the surface of Natural Killer (NK) cells, Natural Killer T cells (NKT), CD8+ T cells (often called cytotoxic T lymphocytes, or CTLs) and T-cell receptor (TCR) $\gamma\delta$ + T cells. McGilvray et al. (37) reported that NKG2D ligands were highly expressed in lymph node metastasis of stage I colorectal cancer samples, but they were expressed in lower amounts in Stage II, III, or IV tumors. A higher expression of MICA in colorectal cancer patients was associated with a good prognosis (38). MICA molecules exist also in soluble forms (sMICA) and altered serum levels of sMICA have been reported in multiple health and disease conditions. For example, in the case of hepatitis C virus (HCV)-associated hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) the control serum had soluble MICA values \leq 5 pg/ml, whereas the serum from diseased patients had values ≥ 5 pg/ml (39).

The higher level of sMICA in the blood serum from HCVinfected, HCC-affected patients highlighted the possible role of MICA as a tumor suppressor. However, the elevation of serum sMICA was shown to be associated with a poor prognosis in various cancer patients (40-43), thereby emphasizing once again the difficulty of interpreting the quantitative response. Nothing is known about the "stress" caused by environmental contaminants, although NKG2D expression has also been shown to be regulated by estradiol (44). Endometrial cells exposed to estradiol upregulated MICA protein expression (45). In this respect, the MICA promoter contains an estrogen receptor response element, suggesting that estrogens may increase MICA expression through transcriptional regulation. Consequently, provided that many of the xenobiotics accumulated by these marine mammals are known as endocrine-disrupting chemicals (EDCs), they could exert biologic activities similar to that of estradiol.

Since MICA expression has been extensively investigated in human studies, a comparison of the basal activity of MICA in cetacean fibroblasts with those of a human biopsy carried out for medical investigations was also deemed of interest. In human fibroblasts, the basal activity of MICA resulted in 11.863 AUF/nucleus and therefore was lower than that of all the herein investigated cetacean specimens. In the biomedical literature, no studies on MICA expression in human fibroblasts have been made available before the present investigation, that was carried out by means of an indirect immunofluorescence technique. Unfortunately, no subcutaneous adipose tissue was sampled in the human biopsy, so that we cannot correlate the levels of DDTs and PCBs with the values of MICA. Regardless of this, we can still infer that the levels of MICA in human fibroblasts are lower than those of all investigated cetacean species but very similar to those of the sperm whale PMAs1 and the striped dolphin RT17 and generally to most of the Mediterranean specimens.

However, given that even in humans, as already mentioned above, whether MICA showed an upregulation or a downregulation in the presence of a "generic" stress(or), is difficult to determine.

The results of each specimen whose cells were treated with the two compounds are expressed as index numbers (AUF Treatment: AUF BA = X Index Number: 100) and shown

TABLE 1 | Immunofluorescence of MICA, expressed as index numbers relative to the blank (BA), revealed in cultured fibroblasts of different cetacean species and humans treated with the immune response activator (β -glucan), and suppressor (Cyclosporine A).

	BA	Inducer 500 μg/ml	Repressor 0.8 μg/ml	Repressor 80 μg/ml
MOO12 (O. orca)	100	96	55	143
TTAs1 (T. truncatus)	100	61	69	66
RT23 (S. coeruleoalba)	100	95	112	All cells died
RT25 (B. physalus)	100	56	90	61
MA1 <i>(Homo sapiens)</i>	100	9	70	All cells died



in **Table 1**. The sample named BA is the blank or "basal activity sample," which is the cultured fibroblasts treated only with primary and secondary antibodies. The doses applied to induce and repress expression were established according to the literature (46–51).

The results were quite contradictory: in killer whales, in fact, MICA showed a downregulation with both the inducer and the lower dose of the repressor but upregulation with the higher dose of repressor; in striped dolphins, by contrast, the upregulation was already present at the lower dose of the repressor, whereas at the highest dose, we observed a complete cell death, with this same effects also occurring in humans, but with both the inductor and the low-dose repressor, downregulation occurs; finally, in bottlenose dolphins and in fin whales, downregulation occurred with all the treatments. Most likely, the choice of the two compounds, known to have such capabilities in relation to the immune system but not specifically in respect to MICA, should be reassessed.

MICA in Different Species After Treatment With OCs, PBDEs, PAHs, BPA, and MeHg

After the basal activity of the different specimens had been evaluated, trying to evaluate how much MICA was modified following treatment with some of the main environmental contaminants with which these animals come into contact in their living environment was deemed of interest. Since most of these toxicants are not water-soluble and therefore need a carrier (for example, DMSO, or nonane) to treat the fibroblasts, the basal activity with which the different treatments were compared is relative to that given by the carrier. This way of proceeding is correct because upregulation of MICA very often had already occurred with the solvent alone. The toxicity of different solvents to cells was previously demonstrated in other studies (20, 52).

In Figure 3, we reported the results of the mean levels of immunofluorescence of MICA, which was revealed in cultured fibroblasts of different species treated with OCs and expressed as index numbers relative to the solvent control (DMSO). According to Figure 3, the response was very different between the species and at different doses: killer whale and striped dolphin specimens showed no increase in MICA expression at any dose; in the long-beaked common dolphin, the MICA level remained unchanged until the highest treatment, where we had a downregulation; the two fin whale specimens showed neither upregulation nor downregulation at any dose; and only in the case of the sperm whale and Bryde's whale that we assisted we observed a clear upregulation effect on MICA due to OCs, compared to DMSO. The two specimens of sperm whale showed the same response curve, while the Bryde's whale had an equal response to that of man, that is, a bell-shaped response.

Figure 4 shows results of the mean levels of immunofluorescence of MICA, revealed in cultured fibroblasts of different cetacean species treated with the PBDEs, which are expressed as index numbers relative to the solvent control (nonane). In the sperm whale (PMAs2), striped dolphin, and fin whale specimens, the highest response of MICA was the one related to the flame retardant treatment, with a bell-shaped response in all species; the long-beaked common dolphin showed an upregulation at the highest dose; a discontinuous response was shown by sperm whale (PMAS1), whereas Bryde's whale and the killer whale showed a downregulation. Additionally, in this case, as for the OCs, the two striped dolphins responded in the same way, even if the flame retardants lead to upregulation and the OCs to downregulation.



FIGURE 4 | Mean values of immunofluorescence of MICA expressed as index numbers relative to the solvent control (nonane) revealed in cultured fibroblasts of different cetacean species treated with PBDEs. Red arrows indicate a significant upregulation respect to nonano control, yellow arrow a significant downregulation.



In **Figure 5**, the results are reported for the mean levels of immunofluorescence of MICA, which was detected in cultured fibroblasts of different species treated with PAHs and expressed as index numbers relative to the solvent control (acetone). Only two species, the long-beaked common dolphin and the sperm whale (PMAS1), were exposed to PAHs. In the sperm whale, a significant increase was present in the level of MICA, with a trend in the dose/response type. The long-beaked common dolphin showed a discontinuous response but overall a downregulation.

Figure 6 shows the results of the mean levels of immunofluorescence of MICA, found in cultured fibroblasts of different cetacean species treated with BPA and expressed as index numbers relative to the solvent control (ethanol). We investigated only two specimens: a fin whale and a striped dolphin. Their responses were markedly different, even if the higher dose caused the death of all cells in both animals, thus highlighting its toxicity. Only the fin whale fibroblasts exhibited an upregulation phenomenon compared to the solvent control.

Figure 7 shows results of the mean levels of immunofluorescence of MICA, found in cultured fibroblasts



FIGURE 6 | Mean values of immunofluorescence of MICA expressed as index numbers respect to the solvent control (ethanol) revealed in cultured fibroblasts of different cetacean species treated with BPA.



of different cetacean species and man treated with MeHg and expressed as index numbers with respect to the blank and represented by cells treated only with primary and secondary antibodies. Although the responses were different, in the two cetacean species compared to human skin fibroblasts, at least one dose of treatment with MeHg caused upregulation of MICA. Additionally, in this case, as for PAHs in cetaceans, the higher dose caused the death of all cells, while in man with this dose, an evident upregulation of MICA was documented.

Summary of Treatment Results

What we can summarize from all the herein presented results is shown in **Table 2**, where for each specimen, the results of upregulation, downregulation, or no MICA response, following a specific treatment, are reported.

Some specimens had the same response patterns even with different treatments, such as the killer whale (MOO12), which always underwent a downregulation with both OCs and PBDEs. In both cases, the differences between the carrier and the doses were statistically significant with the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test (p < 0.05). The long-beaked common

TABLE 2 Summary of response types with	ith different treatments in different
specimens.	

	OCs	PBDEs	PAHs	BPA	MeHg
Orcinus orca MOO12	\downarrow	\downarrow	n.t.	n.t.	n.t.
Delphinus capensis MDC12	\downarrow	↑	\downarrow	n.t.	n.t.
Balaenoptera edeni MBE3	\uparrow	\downarrow	n.t.	n.t.	n.t.
Physeter macrocephalus PMAs1	\uparrow	\downarrow	\uparrow	n.t.	n.t.
Physeter macrocephalus PMAs2	\uparrow	↑	n.t.	n.t.	n.t.
Stenella coeruleoalba RT23	\downarrow	\uparrow	n.t.	-	n.t.
Stenella coeruleoalba RT17	\downarrow	Ŷ	n.t.	n.t.	n.t.
Stenella coeruleoalba STG96	n.t.	n.t.	n.t.	n.t.	\uparrow
Balaenoptera physalus RT25	-	1	n.t.	\uparrow	n.t.
Balaenoptera physalus BPT1	-	n.t.	n.t.	n.t.	\uparrow
Man	\uparrow	n.t.	n.t.	n.t.	¢

Different color of box is related to different response of MICA: orange, upregulation; green, downregulation; yellow, no alteration; n.t., no treatment.

dolphin (MDC12) showed a downregulation with both OCs and PAHs, while simultaneously exhibiting an upregulation with PBDEs. Again, these responses were statistically significant. The Bryde's whale (MBE3) showed a MICA upregulation with OCs and a downregulation with PBDEs, both statistically significant. In the two specimens of sperm whale, the predominant response was an upregulation. Downregulation occurred in PMAs1 only for the PBDE treatment, but it was not statistically significant, unlike all others, both in PMAs1 and in PMAs2. RT23 and RT17 specimens of striped dolphins showed the same MICA behavior after treatments, with downregulation with PCBs and upregulation with PBDEs. Whereas, with PCBs, the reaction was statistically significant in both samples, for the PBDEs, it was not. With BPA in the RT23 striped dolphin, we did not observe a different response between the carrier and the doses. The STG96 striped dolphin treated with MeHg showed a statistically significant upregulation. The two specimens of fin whales (RT25 and BPT1) treated with OCs did not show a change in MICA levels between the carrier and the doses, whereas they constantly exhibited a statistically significant upregulation with the other treatments. Finally, in human fibroblast cell cultures, taken as a comparative study model, MICA upregulation occurred with OCs and with MeHg and, in both cases, it was statistically significant.

CONCLUSIONS

In conclusion, we can state that MICA expression has been extensively investigated herein and validated as an important immune response biomarker in cetaceans, with the possibility of being also evaluated in skin biopsies from free-ranging

REFERENCES

 Beineke A, Siebert U, Wohlsein P, Baumgärtner W. Immunology of whales and dolphins. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2010) 133:81–94. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2009.06.019 individuals, when it is not possible to have blood as the biological investigation material. The response of upregulation or downregulation in the presence of some of the main environmental contaminants needs to be explored further, both from an ecological and biological standpoint. In fact, factors such as the area in which cetaceans live, coupled with their position(s) within the marine food webs as well as their sex, age, and their general health condition(s) can strongly influence MICA expression patterns. However, equally evident is that MICA expression modifications/alterations occur both with an increase or with a decrease in ecotoxicological stress levels, indicating either a "stress condition" or an immune response alteration/modification. The main result of this study refers, therefore, to "ecotoxicological stress-associated MICA expression's modulation," and this is particularly interesting because these marine mammals are the main accumulators of liposoluble and persistent contaminants. If the accumulation of these substances joins the presence of infectious pathogens, such as DMV or T. gondii, these exposures and their deleterious effects could be potentially amplified, making the synergy of the two phenomena inseparable in the evaluation of the conservation status of these highly threatened and vulnerable species.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The cetaceans tissues collection procedure was carried out in strict accordance with the relevant national and international guidelines under CITES permits (CITES Nat. IT025IS, Int. CITES IT 007).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LM designed and provided the resources for the study and performed the sampling, in *vitro* experiments and laboratory analysis and also elaborated the data and wrote, reviewed, and edited the manuscript. GDG and SM provided scientific support in the interpretation of lab data and they also revised and critically reviewed the manuscript. SC collaborated in performing the *in vitro* experiments, lab investigations, and data analysis and also wrote and reviewed the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors particularly thank the valuable collaborators in the cetacean sampling: for the free-ranging cetaceans, Maria Cristina Fossi and Jorge Urban Ramirez with their teams, and for the stranded cetaceans, Fabrizio Cancelli, Tommaso Renieri, Fabrizio Serena, Cecilia Mancusi, and Giuliana Terracciano. They also thank Laura Carletti and Daniele Coppola for the laboratory investigations.

- Desforges JPW, Sonne C, Levin M, Siebert U, De Guise S, Dietz R. Immunotoxic effects of environmental pollutants in marine mammals. *Environ Int.* (2016) 86:126–39. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2015.10.007
- 3. Desforges JP, Sonne C, Dietz R, Levin M. Immunotoxic effects of environmental pollutants in marine mammals. In: Fossi MC,

Panti C, editors. Marine Mammal Ecotoxicology: Impacts of Multiple Stressors on Population Health. London: Elsevier (2018). p. 321-36. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-812144-3.00012-7

- Díaz-Delgado J, Groch KR, Ressio R, Riskallah IPJ, Sierra E, Sacchini S, et al. Comparative immunopathology of *Cetacean morbillivirus* infection in free-ranging dolphins from Western Mediterranean, Northeast-Central, and Southwestern Atlantic. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:485. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00485
- Levin M, Morsey B, Mori C, Guise S. Specific non-coplanar PCBmediated modulation of bottlenose dolphin and beluga whale phagocytosis upon *in vitro* exposure. J Toxic Environ Health A. (2004) 67:1517– 35. doi: 10.1080/15287390490486761
- Fair PA, Schaefer AM, Houser DS, Bossart GD, Romano TA, Champagne CD, et al. The environment as a driver of immune and endocrine responses in dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*). *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0176202. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0176202
- Ritz C, Streibig JC. Bioassay analysis using R. J Stat Softw. (2005) 12:1– 22. doi: 10.18637/jss.v012.i05
- Pellissó SC, Muñoz MJ, Carballo M, Sánchez-Vizcaíno JM. Determination of the immunotoxic potential of heavy metals on the functional activity of bottlenose dolphin leukocytes *in vitro*. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol*. (2008) 121:189–98. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2007.09.009
- Schaefer AM, Stavros H-CW, Bossart GD, Fair PA, Goldstein JD, Reif JS. Associations between mercury and hepatic, renal, endocrine, and hematological parameters in Atlantic bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) along the eastern coast of Florida and South Carolina. *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol.* (2011) 61:688–95. doi: 10.1007/s00244-011-9651-5
- Fair PA, Romano T, Schaefer AM, Reif JS, Bossart GD, Houde M, et al. Associations between perfluoroalkyl compounds and immune and clinical chemistry parameters in highly exposed bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*). *Environ Toxicol Chem*. (2013) 32:736–46. doi: 10.1002/etc.2122
- Nakata H, Sakakibara A, Kanoh M, Kudo S, Watanabe H, Nagai N, et al. Evaluation of mitogen-induced responses in marine mammal and human lymphocytes by *in-vitro* exposure of butyltins and non-ortho coplanar PCBs. *Environ Pollut.* (2002) 120:245–53. doi: 10.1016/S0269-7491(02)00155-0
- Wirth JR, Peden-Adams MM, White ND, Bossart GD, Fair P. *In vitro* exposure of DE-71, a penta-PBDE mixture, on immune endpoints in bottlenose dolphins (*tursiops truncatus*) and B6C3F1 mice. *J Appl Toxicol*. (2014) 35:191– 8. doi: 10.1002/jat.3008
- Wirth JR, Peden-Adams MM, White ND, Bossart GD, Fair PA. In vitro PFOS exposure on immune endpoints in bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) and mice. J Appl Toxicol. (2014) 34:658–66. doi: 10.1002/jat.2891
- Amroun H, Djoudi H, Busson M, Allat R, El Sherbini SM, Sloma I, et al. Early-onset ankylosing spondylitis is associated with a functional MICA polymorphism. *Hum Immunol.* (2005) 66:1057–61. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2005.09.004
- Douik H, Ben Chaaben A, Attia Romdhane N, Romdhane HB, Mamoghli T, Fortier C, et al. Association of MICA-129 polymorphism with nasopharyngeal cancer risk in a Tunisian population *.Hum Immunol.* (2009) 70:45– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2008.10.008
- Zain A, Medhat A. MICA (MHC Class I polypeptide-related sequence A). *Atlas Genet Cytogenet Oncol Haematol.* (2015) 19. Available online at: http:// atlasgeneticsoncology.org/Genes/MICAID41364ch6p21.html
- Zou Y, Mirbaha F, Stastny P. Contact inhibition causes strong downregulation of expression of MICA in human fibroblasts and decreased NK cell killing. *Hum Immunol.* (2006) 67:183–7. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2006. 02.018
- Berubè M, Palsboll P. Identification of sex in cetaceans by multiplexing wih three ZFX and ZFY specific primers. *Mol Ecol.* (1996) 5:283– 7. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-294X.1996.tb00315.x
- Marsili L, Fossi MC, Neri G, Casini S, Gardi C, Palmeri S, et al. Skin biopsies for cell cultures from Mediterranean free-ranging cetaceans. *Mar Environ Res.* (2000) 50:523–6. doi: 10.1016/S0141-1136(00)00128-8
- Marsili L, Casini S, Bucalossi D, Porcelloni S, Maltese S, Fossi MC. Use of immunofluorescence technique in cultured fibroblasts from Mediterranean cetaceans as new *"in vitro"* tool to investigate effects of environmental contaminants. *Mar Environ Res.* (2008) 66:151–3. doi: 10.1016/j.marenvres.2008.02.068

- Marsili L, Focardi S. Organochlorine levels in subcutaneous blubber biopsies of fin whales (*Balaenoptera physalus*) and striped dolphins (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) from the Mediterranean Sea. *Environ Pollut.* (1996) 91:1– 9. doi: 10.1016/0269-7491(95)00037-R
- Marsili L, Focardi S. Chlorinated hydrocarbons (HCB, DDTs and PCBs) levels in cetaceans stranded along the Italian coasts, an overview. *Environ Monitor Assess.* (1997) 45:129–80.
- Jepson PD, Bennett PM, Deaville R, Allchin CR, Baker JR, Law RJ. Relationships between polychlorinated biphenyls and health status in harbor porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*) stranded in the United Kingdom. *Environ Toxicol Chem.* (2005) 24:238–48. doi: 10.1897/03-663.1
- Kannan K, Blankenship AL, Jones PD, Giesy JP. Toxicity reference values for the toxic effects of polychlorinated biphenyls to aquatic mammals. *Hum Ecol Risk Assess*. (2000) 6:181–200. doi: 10.1080/10807030091124491
- Marsili L, Jimenez B, Borrell A. Persistent organic pollutants in cetaceans living in a hotspot area: the Mediterranean Sea. In: Fossi MC and Panti C, editors. *Marine Mammal Ecotoxicology: Impacts of Multiple Stressors* on Population Health. London: Elsevier/Academic Press (2018). p. 185– 212. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-812144-3.00007-3
- Fossi MC, Panti C, Marsili L, Maltese S, Coppola D, Jimenez B, et al. Could feeding habit and migratory behaviour be the causes of different toxicological hazard to cetaceans of Gulf of California (Mexico)? *Environ Sci Pollut Re.* (2014) 21:13353–66. doi: 10.1007/s11356-014-2574-8
- Fossi MC, Casini S, Marsili L. Potential toxicological hazard due to endocrine-disrupting chemicals on Mediterranean top predators: state of art, gender differences and methodological tools. *Environ Res.* (2007) 104:174– 82. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2006.06.014
- Mazzariol S, Marcer F, Mignone W, Serracca L, Goria M, Marsili L, et al. Dolphin Morbillivirus and Toxoplasma gondii coinfection in a Mediterranean fin whale (Balaenoptera physalus). BMC Vet Res. (2012) 8:20. doi: 10.1186/1746-6148-8-20
- Guan Y, Li W, Hou Z, Han Q, Lan P, Zhang J, et al. HBV suppresses expression of MICA/B on hepatoma cells through up-regulation of transcription factors GATA2 and GATA3 to escape from NK cell surveillance. *Oncotarget.* (2016) 7:56107–19. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.11271
- Pende D, Rivera P, Marcenaro S, Chang CC, Biassoni R, Conte R, et al. Major histocompatibility complex class I-related chain a and UL16-binding protein expression on tumor cell lines of different histotypes: analysis of tumor susceptibility to NKG2D-dependent natural killer cell cytotoxicity. *Cancer Res.* (2002) 62:6178–86.
- Friese MA, Platten M, Lutz SZ, Naumann U, Aulwurm S, Bischo F, et al. MICA/NKG2D-mediated immunogene therapy of experimental gliomas. *Cancer Res.* (2003) 63:8996–9006.
- Vetter CS, Groh V, thor Straten P, Spies T, Brocker EB, Becker JC. Expression of stress-induced MHC class I related chain molecules on human melanoma. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2002) 118:600–5. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1747.2002.01700.x
- 33. Groh V, Bahram S, Bauer S, Herman A, Beauchamp M, Spies T. Cell stressregulated human major histocompatibility complex class I gene expressed in gastrointestinal epithelium. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1996) 93:12445– 50. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.22.12445
- Groh V, Steinle A, Bauer S, Spies T. Recognition of stress-induced MHC molecules by intestinal epithelial gammadelta T cells. *Science*. (1998) 279:1737–40. doi: 10.1126/science.279.5357.1737
- Groh V, Rhinehart R, Randolph-Habecker J, Topp M, Riddell S, Spies T. Costimulation of CD8alphabeta T cells by NKG2D via engagement by MIC induced on virus-infected cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2001) 2:255– 60. doi: 10.1038/85321
- Gasser S, Orsulic S, Brown EJ, Raulet DH. The DNA damage pathway regulates innate immune system ligands of the NKG2D receptor. *Nature*. (2005) 436:1186–90. doi: 10.1038/nature03884
- McGilvray RW, Eagle RA, Watson NF, Al-Attar A, Ball G, Jafferji I, et al. NKG2D ligand expression in human colorectal cancer reveals associations with prognosis and evidence for immunoediting. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2009) 15:6993–7002. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-0991
- Watson NF, Spendlove I, Madjd Z, McGilvray R, Green AR, Ellis IO, et al. Expression of the stress-related MHC class I chain-related protein MICA is an indicator of good prognosis in colorectal cancer patients. *Int J Cancer*. (2006) 118:1445–52. doi: 10.1002/ijc.21510

- Kumar V, Yi Lo PH, Sawai H., Kato N, Takahashi A, Deng Z, et al. Soluble MICA and a MICA variation as possible prognostic biomarkers for HBV-induced hepatocellular carcinoma. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e44743 doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0044743
- Holdenrieder S, Stieber P, Peterfi A, Nagel D, Steinle A, Salih HL. Soluble MICA in malignant diseases. *Int J Cancer.* (2006) 118:684– 7. doi: 10.1002/ijc.21382
- Nückel H, Switala M, Sellmann L, Horn PA, Dürig J, Dührsen U, et al. The prognostic significance of soluble NKG2D ligands in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia*. (2010) 24:1152–9. doi: 10.1038/leu.2010.74
- Li K, Mandai M, Hamanishi J, Matsumura N, Suzuki A, Yagi H, et al. Clinical significance of the NKG2D ligands, MICA/B and ULBP2 in ovarian cancer: high expression of ULBP2 is an indicator of poor prognosis. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2009) 58:641–52. doi: 10.1007/s00262-008-0585-3
- Tamaki S, Sanefuzi N, Kawakami M, Aoki K, Imai Y, Yamanaka Y, et al. Association between soluble MICA levels and disease stage IV oral squamous cell carcinoma in Japanese patients. *Hum Immunol.* (2008) 69:88– 93. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2008.01.010
- Spear P, Wu MR, Sentman ML, Sentman CL. NKG2D ligands as therapeutic targets. *Cancer Immunity*. (2013) 13:8.
- Basu S, Pioli PA, Conejo-Garcia J, Wira CR, Sentman CL. Estradiol regulates MICA expression in human endometrial cells. *Clin Immunol.* (2008) 129:325– 32. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2008.07.005
- Horl WH, Wanner C, Riegel W, Schlosser W, Wilms H, Schollmeyer P. Reduction of degranulation of polymorphonuclear leucocytes by immunosuppression in patients following cadaveric renal transplantation. *Transplantation*. (1989) 47:144–8. doi: 10.1097/00007890-198901000-00032
- Exton MS, von Horsten S, Schult M, Voge J, Strubel T, Donath S, et al. Behaviorally conditioned immunosoppression using cyclosporine A: central nervous system reduces IL-2 production via splenic innervation. J Neuroimmun. (1998) 88:182–91. doi: 10.1016/S0165-5728(98)00122-2

- Anderson DP. Environmental factors in fish health: immunological aspects. In: Iwama G, Nakanishi T, editors. *The Fish Immune System: Organism, Pathogen and Environment.* San Diego CA: Accademic Press (1996). p. 289–310 doi: 10.1016/S1546-5098(08) 60277-0
- Sakai M. Current research status of fish immunostimulants. Acquaculture. (1999) 172:63–72. doi: 10.1016/S0044-8486(98)00436-0
- Cook MT, Hayball PJ., Hutchinson W, Nowak B, Hayball JD. The efficacy of a commercial β-glucan preparation, EcoActiva, on stimulating respiratory burst activityof head-kidney macrophages from pink snapper (*Pagrus auratus*), Sparidae. *Fish Shellf Immunol*. (2001) 11:661–72. doi: 10.1006/fsim.2001.0343
- Lowry VK, Farnell MB, Ferro PJ, Swaggerty CL, Bahl A, Kogut MH. Purified β-glucan as an abiotic feed additive up-regulated the innate immune response in immature chickens against Salmonella enteric serovar Enteritidis. Internat. J Food Microbiol. (2005) 98:309–18. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2004. 06.008
- Spinsanti G, Panti C, Bucalossi D, Marsili L, Casini S, Frati F, et al. Selection of reliable reference genes for qRT-PCR studies on cetacean fibroblast cultures exposed to OCs, PBDEs, and 17beta-estradiol. *Aquat Toxicol.* (2008) 87:178– 86. doi: 10.1016/j.aquatox.2008.01.018

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Marsili, Di Guardo, Mazzariol and Casini. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





T Helper Cell Subsets and Their Functions in Common Bottlenose Dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*)

Sylvain De Guise^{1,2*}, Milton Levin¹, Lindsay Jasperse¹, Guillermo Risatti¹ and Randall S. Wells³

¹ Department of Pathobiology and Veterinary Science, University of Connecticut, Mansfield, CT, United States, ² Connecticut Sea Grant College Program, University of Connecticut, Groton, CT, United States, ³ Sarasota Dolphin Research Program, Chicago Zoological Society and Mote Marine Laboratory, Sarasota, FL, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mike Criscitiello, Texas A&M University, United States

Reviewed by:

Hai-peng Liu, Xiamen University, China Tracy A. Romano, Mystic Aquarium and University of Connecticut, United States

> ***Correspondence:** Sylvain De Guise sylvain.deguise@uconn.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Comparative Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 28 November 2018 Accepted: 24 June 2019 Published: 20 August 2019

Citation:

De Guise S, Levin M, Jasperse L, Risatti G and Wells RS (2019) T Helper Cell Subsets and Their Functions in Common Bottlenose Dolphins (Tursiops truncatus). Front. Immunol. 10:1578. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01578

Considerable efforts have been made to better understand the immune system of bottlenose dolphins in view of the common environmental challenges they encounter, such as exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls, oil spills, or harmful algal bloom biotoxins. However, little is known about the identity and functionality of the Th1, Th2, and Treg T helper cell subsets in bottlenose dolphins. The present study aimed at validating assays and reagents to identify T helper cell subsets and their functions in a subset of dolphins from Sarasota Bay, Florida, USA, which have been long studied and often used as a reference population. A population of CD4+ FOXP3+ lymphocytes was identified representing an average <1% of blood lymphocyte population, which is in the range observed in for Treg cells in other species. The use of porcine reagents to measure TGFB, one of the key Treg cytokines, was further validated using the relatively high-throughput and highly standardized Luminex technology. The proportion of circulating Treg cells was not correlated with the serum concentrations of the Treg effector cytokines TGFB and IL-10, nor could it significantly contribute to predicting the variability of T lymphocyte proliferation, suggesting that not all dolphin circulating Treg cells are functional and active. However, stimulation of dolphin lymphocytes with TGFB and IL-2 increased the expression of the gene for TGFB and IL-10, and stimulation with IL-12 and IFN_Y induced a robust increase in the expression of the gene for IFN_{γ} , suggesting the potential for polarization and differentiation of dolphin T helper cells toward a Treg and Th1 response, respectively. The lack of an increase in the expression of the genes for the Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-13 upon stimulation with IL-4 may be due to the requirement for IL-2 for a Th2 polarization as described in mice. However, regression analysis and PCA suggested the potential ability of both the Th1 and Th2 response to be triggered upon acute inflammatory signals. These results may be useful in better understanding the mechanisms by which the dolphin immune system is affected upon exposure to environmental challenges and how it responds to pathogen challenges.

Keywords: T helper, Th1, Th2, Treg, cytokines, polarization, dolphin, immunology

INTRODUCTION

Considerable efforts have been made to better understand the immune system of marine mammals in general and of common bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) in particular (1), in view of the common environmental challenges they encounter, such as exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls or PCBs (2), oil spills (3), or harmful algal bloom biotoxins (4). However, little is known about the identity and functionality of different T helper cell subsets in these species.

It has long been recognized that naïve T cells can differentiate into T helper 1 (Th1) or T helper 2 (Th2) cells that play an important role in the adaptive immune system. The commitment toward a Th1 response is promoted by interferon gamma (INF_y) and interleukin (IL)-12, and Th1 cells in turn secrete INFy, which stimulates cell-mediated immunity to help combat intracellular pathogens (e.g., viruses), eliminate cancerous cells, and stimulate delayed-type hypersensitivity (DTH) skin reactions, while at the same time inhibiting Th2 differentiation (5). The commitment toward a Th2 response is promoted by IL-4, and Th2 cells in turn produce IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, and IL-13, which inhibit cell mediated (Th1) immunity and promote humoral (i.e., antibody mediated) immune responses to help combat extracellular pathogens (e.g., extracellular bacteria, parasites) (5). However, important additional Th cell subsets have more recently been recognized.

T regulatory (Treg) cells are specialized CD4+ T cells that function to maintain self-tolerance and immune homeostasis by suppressing the activation, proliferation, and effector functions of various immune cells (6). In humans, alterations in the number and function of Treg cells have been implicated in many diseases such as type I diabetes (7), graft vs. host disease (8), systemic lupus erythematosus (9), and rheumatoid arthritis (10). Treg cells can be identified based upon cell surface expression of CD4⁺CD25⁺CD127^{low} or by the intracellular transcription factor Forkhead box P3 (FOXP3) (11). The commitment toward a Treg response is promoted by TGF β , and Treg cells in turn secrete IL-10 and TGF β , which down-regulate immune responses (11, 12).

Several functions of the immune system in general, and of T lymphocytes in particular, are modulated by the balance of cytokines secreted by different T cell subsets. The differentiation and regulation of naive T cells into different T cell subsets with specific functions are in turn modulated by a number of critical signals including cell to cell interactions and cytokines (12). A recent report suggested the potential for dysregulation of the Th1/Th2 balance and changes in T lymphocyte proliferation that might be attributable to effects on Treg in bottlenose dolphins following exposure to oil after the *Deepwater Horizon* oil spill, but more in-depth studies were hindered by the lack of validated methods and reagents in this species.

The present study aimed to identify and assess the functions of Th1, Th2, and Treg cells in bottlenose dolphins. It clearly identified Treg cells from dolphin blood and their serum cytokines, demonstrated the functionality of Th1 and Treg dolphin cells, and assessed relationships among serum cytokines in wild bottlenose dolphins.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Source of Blood

Twenty long-term resident bottlenose dolphins from Sarasota Bay, FL, United States, were captured in June 2018, sampled, and released as part of health assessment programs (which included the immunological data presented here), as previously described in detail elsewhere (13, 14). The dolphins sampled included 10 males and 10 females, ranging in age from 2 to 48 years old (mean 17 years old), and likely represented a good cross section of the population sampled. Whole blood was collected in Vacutainer tubes (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, New Jersey, USA) with sodium heparin as part of the routine physical examinations, kept cool on ice packs and shipped overnight for functional immunological assays. In addition, 1 ml serum from each of those 20 dolphins was collected and immediately frozen prior to shipping on dry ice for cytokine analysis. Dolphin samples were collected under National Marine Fisheries Service Scientific Research Permit No. 20455, issued to RSW, as approved by the Mote Marine Laboratory Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC). All samples were received and experiments performed following approval from the University of Connecticut IACUC. Human whole blood was purchased from Biological Specialties Corporation (Colmar, PA 18915, USA) and bovine and ovine whole blood were purchased from Lampire Biological Laboratory (Pipersville, PA 18947, USA). Blood purchased from commercial sources was deemed exempt from IACUC oversight by the University of Connecticut IACUC.

Isolation of Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells

Dolphin blood samples were processed immediately upon receipt in the laboratory, within 24 h of collection. Blood samples from other species were also processed immediately upon receipt in the laboratory, however the collection time of samples from commercial sources was not known. Dolphin, human, bovine, and ovine whole blood was diluted 1:1 with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) with 2 mM EDTA (Miltenyi, Auburn, CA 95602, USA), layered on top of an equal volume of Ficoll-Paque Plus 1.077 (GE, Pittsburgh, PA 15264, USA), and centrifuged for 40 min at 400 g, as per manufacturer's instructions. The peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC) layer was collected, washed twice with Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM; Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY 14072, USA) supplemented with 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 100 mM non-essential amino acids, 25 mM HEPES, 2 mM L-glutamine, 100 U/mL, penicillin, 100 mg/mL streptomycin, and 0.25 mg/mL Fungizone (all from Thermo Fisher Scientific, Grand Island, NY 14072, USA), along with 10% fetal bovine serum (Hyclone, Logan, UT 84321, USA), hereafter referred to as complete DMEM, and cells were enumerated with their viability assessed using the exclusion dye trypan blue (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY 14072, USA). Cell viability was typically >90%. PBMC isolation after Ficoll-Paque centrifugation was confirmed using a BD FACScan flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ 07417, USA) using forward scatter (relative cell size) and side scatter (relative cell complexity) settings to assess the proportion of PBMCs in the sample.

Immunophenotyping

Table 1 lists the primary antibodies, as well as the isotype control antibodies, tested on bottlenose dolphin PBMCs. Human, ovine, and bovine PBMCs were used as positive controls to assure that expected labeling was observed in the species against which the antibodies were raised. For CD4 labeling, 1×10^6 PBMCs were labeled with 100 µl of either fluorochrome-conjugated or unconjugated primary antibodies, as well as with the isotype control antibodies (conjugated or unconjugated), at the dilutions listed in Table 1, for 30 min at 4°C in the dark. PBMCs were then washed with 1 ml PBS and centrifuged at 400 g for 5 min. For fluorochrome-conjugated primary antibodies, PBMCs were then re-suspended with 200 µl of 1% neutral buffered formalin in PBS. For unconjugated antibodies, PBMCs were re-suspended with the 100 μ l of a goat anti-mouse FITC conjugated secondary antibody (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY 14072, USA) for 30 min at 4°C in the dark. PBMCs were then washed with 1 ml PBS, centrifuged, and re-suspended in 200 µl of 1% neutral buffered formalin in PBS.

For CD25 labeling, PBMCs (2×10^5 cells/well) were plated in 96 well flat bottom plates (Fisher Scientific, Agawam, MA 01001, USA) with either no mitogen (complete DMEM alone) or the T cell mitogen, concanavalin A (ConA) at 1 µg/ml. PBMCs were incubated for 24 h at 37°C and 5% CO₂. Cells were pooled from five replicate wells (for a total of $\sim 1 \times 10^6$ cells) in a 5 ml conical tube. Tubes were centrifuged and the cells were re-suspended in 100 µl of either fluorochrome-conjugated or unconjugated primary antibodies, as well as with the isotype control antibodies (conjugated or unconjugated), at the dilutions listed in **Table 1**, for 30 min at 4°C in the dark. Afterwards, the procedures were the same as with CD4 labeling described above.

The fluorescence of approximately 10,000 lymphocytes was read using a FACScan flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ 07417, USA) and the automated CellQuest software (Becton Dickinson Immunocytometry System, San Jose, CA 95131, USA). Lymphocytes were identified by their relative size (forward-scattered light, FSC) and their complexity (sidescattered light, SCC). The percent of cells that were positive for CD4 or CD25 were compared to the isotype control for CD4 or CD25. Cells were considered positive for CD4 or CD25 if cell fluorescence was above the isotype control.

For intracellular FOXP3 labeling, 1×10^{6} PBMCs were incubated with 100 µl of a 1:100 dilution of the CD4 antibody, SIM.4, for 30 min at 4°C in the dark. Cells were then washed with 1 ml of eBioscienceTM flow cytometry staining buffer (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY 14072, USA) and centrifuged. PBMCs were then re-suspended with 100 µl of a goat anti-mouse FITC conjugated secondary antibody (1:100) (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY 14072, USA) for 30 min at 4°C in the dark and washed with eBioscienceTM staining buffer. Intracellular FOXP3 was labeled with FOXP3 Monoclonal Antibody (FJK-16s), APC, and the Foxp3/Transcription Factor Staining Buffer Set Kit (both from Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY 14072, USA), per Thermo Fisher Scientific's Protocol B: one-step protocol (intracellular (nuclear) proteins) instructions. For the isotype control, an APC labeled rat IgG2a kappa isotype control antibody (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY 14072, USA) was used at the same recommended dilution as for the FoxP3 antibody (1:20).

The fluorescence of approximately 10,000 lymphocytes was read using a BD Biosciences LSRFortessa X-20 Cell Analyzer (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ 07417, USA) and FACSDiva software (Becton Dickinson Immunocytometry System, San Jose, CA 95131, USA). Lymphocytes were identified by their relative size (forward-scattered light, FSC) and their complexity (side-scattered light, SCC). Two-color flow cytometry was used to identify cells that were positive for both CD4 and FOXP3. The percent of cells that were positive for FOXP3 was compared to the isotype control for FOXP3.

Cytokines

Dolphin serum cytokines were quantified using the Bio-Plex Pro^{TM} Human Cytokine Th1/Th2 Panel (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA 94547, USA) and the Millipore Porcine 3-plex Panel (Millipore, Billerica, MA 01821, USA), as previously described (3). The Th1/Th2 cytokine kit included antibodies to detect IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, IL-12, IL-13, IFN γ , TNF α , and GM-CSF. The porcine kit included antibodies to IL-1b, IL-4, and IL-8.

TGFB was quantified using the TGF beta-1 Porcine ProcartaPlexTM Simplex Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Grand Island, NY 14072, USA) or the Bio-Rad Bio-Plex ProTM TGFß Kit (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA 94547, USA), according to the manufacturers' instruction. To validate this kit, dolphin and porcine PBMCs were adjusted to 2×10^6 cells/ml and plated in 96 well flat bottom plates, in triplicate wells (2×10^5 cells per well). PBMCs were incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for a total of 48 h with purified Escherichia coli 0111:B4 LPS (lipopolysaccharide; Sigma, St. Louis, MO 63118, USA), a mitogen shown to induce secretion of TGFB (15), at a final concentration of $0.1 \,\mu$ g/ml in pigs, a concentration (referred to as suboptimal for graphic display) previously demonstrated to induce cytokine secretion in humans (16) and pigs (17), and 0.05 or 5.0 μ g/ml, which induced suboptimal and optimal B lymphocyte proliferation in bottlenose dolphins (3) and bracketed the concentration used for pigs to maximize the likelihood of detecting a response if one existed. In a separate set of wells, PBMCs were incubated with medium alone, i.e., unstimulated cells, to serve as negative control. At the end of 48 h, tissue culture supernatant was harvested and stored in multiple aliquots at -80° C until analysis.

After the incubation and conjugation process, the plates were measured on the Bio-Plex 200 system (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA 94547, USA), and analyzed using Bio-Rad Manager 5.0. The observed concentration (pg/ml or ng/ml) of each analyte for each sample was calculated using a curve fit generated for each analyte from seven or eight standards (depending on kit). If a sample concentration was extrapolated outside the standard curve and designated as "Value extrapolated beyond standard range" by the software, that sample concentration was accepted as the calculated value. If a sample concentration was reported as "out of range" by the software, that sample concentration was given a 0 pg/ml or 0 ng/ml value or the highest value on the

Primary antibody (clone)	Vendor	Documented species reactivity	Species tested as positive control	Isotype	Antibody dilution
RPA-T4 (CD4)	Thermo Fisher Scientific	Human	Human	lgG1	1:50
VIT4 (CD4)	Miltenyi	Human	Human	lgG2a	1:11
TR-204-33 (CD4)	Tracy Romano	Dolphin	Dolphin	lgG1	1:124
SIM.4 (CD4)	NIH-AIDS	Human	Human	lgG1k	1:100
CACT108A (CD25)	Kingfisher Biotech	Bovine	Bovine	lgG2a	1:100
CACT116A (CD25)	Kingfisher Biotech	Bison, bovine, caprine, ovine, water buffalo	Bovine	lgG1	1:100
MEM-181 (CD25)	Life Technologies	Human, mouse	Human	lgG1	1:100
MEM-140 (CD25)	Life Technologies	Human	Human	IgM	1:100
HI25a (CD25)	Abbiotic	Human	Human	lgG1	1:100
PC61.5-PE (CD25)	Life Technologies	Human, mouse	Mouse	lgG1	1:1,600
9.14 (CD25)	Bio-Rad	Ovine	Ovine	lgG1	1:100
BC96 (CD25)	eBioscience	Human	Human	lgG1	1:5
4E3 (CD25)	Miltyeni	Human, rhesus monkey, cynomolgus monkey	Human	lgG2b	1:50
FJK-16s (FOXP3)	Life Technologies	Bovine, dog, cat, mouse, pig, rat	Dolphin	lgG2a	1:20
Mouse IgG (isotype control)	Life Technologies	n/a	n/a	lgG	1:100
Mouse IgG1 FITC (isotype control)	Life Technologies	n/a	n/a	lgG1	1:5
Mouse IgG2a FITC (isotype control)	Miltyeni	n/a	n/a	lgG2a	1:11
Mouse IgG2b (isotype control)	Miltyeni	n/a	n/a	lgG2b	1:50
Rat IgG1k PE (isotype control)	Life Technologies	n/a	n/a	lgG1	1:1,600
Rat IgG2a kappa (isotype control)	Life Technologies	n/a	n/a	lgG2a	1:20

standard curve, depending on whether it was below or above the measurable range.

Prior to each use of the Bio-Plex 200 system, an instrument calibration and validation procedure using the Bio-Rad Validation and Calibration kit (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA 94547, USA) was performed to assure the instrument was performing properly, as per manufacturer's instruction. The instrument passed both calibration and validation tests prior to each use.

Lymphocyte Stimulation With Th1, Th2, or Treg Cytokines

In order to assess ability of dolphin lymphocytes to respond to a Th1, Th2, or Treg stimulus, dolphin PBMCs (2 \times 10⁶ cells/ml) were incubated in 96 well flat bottom plates with human recombinant cytokines at concentrations of 0 (unstimulated), 1, 10, and 25 pg/ml for 24 h. To assess a Th1 response, cells were stimulated with IL-12 (Millipore Sigma, Burlington, MA 01803, USA) and IFNy (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Grand Island, NY 14072, USA) and analyzed for IFNy expression. To stimulate a Th2 response, cells were stimulated with IL-4 (Millipore Sigma, Burlington, MA 01803, USA) and analyzed for IL-4 and IL-13 expression. To assess a Treg response, cells were stimulated with IL-2 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Grand Island, NY 14072, USA) and TGFB (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Grand Island, NY 14072, USA) and analyzed for TGF^β and IL-10 expression. After a 24 h incubation at 37°C and 5% CO2, cells were collected from the plates, centrifuged at 220 g for 10 min, re-suspended in RNAlater **TABLE 2** | Sequence of the forward and reverse primers used to amplify housekeeping and cytokine genes.

Cytokine		Sequence: 5' to 3'	References
S-9	Forward	GAGGATTTCTTGGAGAGACGCCTG	(18, 19)
	Reverse	CTTGCGGACCCTGATATGGCGC	
HPRT1	Forward	GTGGCCCTCTGTGTGCTC	(19)
	Reverse	ACTATTTCTGTTCAGTGCTTTGATGT	
IFNγ	Forward	CAGAGCCAAATAGTCTCCTTCTACTT	(18)
	Reverse	CTGGATCTGCAGATCATCTACCGGAATTTG	
IL-4	Forward	GGAGCTGCCTGTAGAAGACGTCTTTG	(18)
	Reverse	CTTCATTCACAGAACAGGTCATGTTTGCC	
IL-13	Forward	CCTCTACAGCCCTCAAGGAGC	(18)
	Reverse	CTTCCAGGGCTGAACAGTACATGT	
TGFB	Forward	GAGCTGCGCCTGCTGAGGCT	(18)
	Reverse	CCTCTATTTCCTCTCCGTGGGTC	
IL-10	Forward	GACTTTAAGGGTTACCTGGGTTG	(18)
	Reverse	TCCACTGCTTTGCTCTTGTTTTC	

solution (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Grand Island, NY 14072, USA) and stored at 4° C for up to 1 month. RNAlater samples were then moved to -20° C for long-term storage.

Primers

Primers were chosen based on published bottlenose dolphin primer sequences (18, 19). Primer sequences are reported in **Table 2**.

Gene Expression

RNA was extracted from dolphin PBMCs samples using a RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA 91355, USA), and genomic DNA was removed using a TURBO DNA-free kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Grand Island, NY 14072, USA). RNA concentration was determined using a Qubit fluorometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Grand Island, NY 14072, USA). After isolation and quantification, RNA was reverse transcribed into cDNA with 100 ng RNA per reaction using a high capacity cDNA reverse transcription kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Grand Island, NY 14072, USA). Real time PCR (gRT-PCR) reactions were performed using SYBR green (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Grand Island, NY 14072, USA) on a CFX96 Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA 94547, USA). All samples were analyzed for housekeeping genes HPRT1 and S-9. Cycling conditions for genes were 95°C for 10 min, 40 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 15 s and annealing at 63°C for 1 min, followed by a dissociation stage. For IL-4 and IL-10, the annealing temperature was 54°C. Reactions containing water, but no cDNA, were used as negative controls. Product specificity was monitored by analysis of melting curves. Gene expression data were analyzed using the Comparative $C_T (\Delta \Delta C_T)$ Method. Samples for which the amplification of the housekeeping genes were outside of the expected range were discarded, so as to not misinterpret a change in the expression of a target gene as an inadequate PCR reaction.

Mitogen-Induced T Lymphocyte Proliferation

Lymphocyte proliferation was evaluated as previously described (3). Briefly, lymphocytes were incubated with mitogens for 66 h in flat-bottom 96-well plates (Fisher Scientific, Agawam, MA 01001, USA) at 37°C and 5% CO2. Mitogens chosen included two T cell mitogens (ConA and phytohemagglutinnin A, or PHA). Mitogens were used at optimal as well as suboptimal concentrations, since suboptimal concentrations of mitogens allowed for higher sensitivity to subtle deficits when optimal concentrations of mitogens did not reveal differences (20). Lymphocyte proliferation was evaluated by the incorporation of 5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine (BrdU), a thymidine analog, detected with a monoclonal antibody and colorimetric enzymatic reaction (Cell Proliferation ELISA BrdU (colorimetric), Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim, Germany) as per manufacturer's instructions using an ELISA plate reader (Multiskan EX v.1.0) at 450 nm with a reference wavelength of 690 nm. Results were expressed as optical density (OD).

Cells from mice (one mouse for each experimental day) were assayed concurrently with dolphin samples for quality control, as previously described (2). After field sampling, mouse data were assessed for the presence of outliers using the SPSS software (IBM SPSS Statistics version 21, Armonk, NY 10504, USA). If outliers were detected, it was assumed that normal daily variability for the assay was exceeded, and the corresponding dolphin data for that assay on that day were eliminated from the dataset.

Statistical Analyses

Correlation and regression analyses as well as *t*-tests were conducted using the SPSS software (IBM SPSS Statistics version

21, Armonk, NY 10504, USA) and Principal Component Analysis was performed using the Minitab software v. 18.1 (Minitab, Inc., State College, PA 16801, USA).

RESULTS

In order to identify dolphin Treg cells, we tested a battery of antibodies to CD4, CD25, and FOXP3 (Table 1). Immunolabeling was observed for all antibodies in the species of origin (human, bovine, and ovine) used as a positive control (data not shown). A cross-reacting antibody to human CD4 (SIM.4) labeled on average 32% (SD = 8%) of bottlenose dolphin lymphocytes (n = 20), while an antibody generated against cetacean CD4 (TR202) labeled 23 and 36% of bottlenose dolphin peripheral blood lymphocytes in preliminary experiments (n = 2), when the fluorescence of isotype control was subtracted from that of cells labeled with a CD4 antibody (Figure 1), while three other antibodies to human CD4 did not cross-react. None of the nine antibodies to CD25 tested cross-reacted with dolphin lymphocytes, with or without ConA stimulation to induce expression as observed in positive control species (data not shown). The antibody to FOXP3 clearly labeled a distinct population of CD4+ lymphocytes not present in cells labeled with the isotype control (Figure 2). In Sarasota Bay dolphins, when isotype control was subtracted, 0.67 \pm 0.40% of all dolphin lymphocytes were FOXP3+, and 1.93 \pm 1.07% of dolphin CD4+ lymphocytes were FOXP3+. The proportions of lymphocytes were FOXP3+ and of dolphin CD4+ lymphocytes were FOXP3+ were not significantly different between males and females, and were not significantly correlated with age (data not shown).

In order to determine the functionality of dolphin Treg cells, we validated the use of human and porcine reagents to measure TGFß, the major Treg effector cytokine. To do so, we stimulated dolphin and porcine PBMCs with LPS in vitro to induce the secretion of TGFß in the tissue culture supernatant. Dolphin lymphocytes showed a concentrationresponse increase in TGFß production upon stimulation with LPS using the porcine reagents (34 and 61% increase in TGFß production with 0.05 and 5.0 µg/ml of LPS, respectively), as did porcine lymphocytes (31% increase in TGFß production with sub-optimal concentration, Figure 3). The use of human reagents did not allow the measurement of such an increase in the expression of TGFß in dolphin cells upon stimulation with LPS (data not shown). We therefore concluded that the porcine, but not the human reagents, cross-reacted in a specific manner with dolphin TGFß, and further experiments were performed using the porcine reagents.

The serum concentrations of TGFß in 20 wild bottlenose dolphins from Sarasota Bay ranged from 0 to 868 pg/ml, with an average of 170 pg/ml and a standard deviation of 106, while IL-10 ranged from 0 to 7 pg/ml, with an average of 0.62 pg/ml and a standard deviation of 1.01. The serum concentrations of TGFß were not significantly different between males and females, and were not significantly correlated with age (data not shown). In order to assess if the proportion of peripheral



FIGURE 1 | Identification of CD4+ bottlenose dolphin cells using flow cytometry. Dolphin PBMCs were labeled with the commercially available anti-human CD4 SIM.4 (left) or research anti-cetacean CD4 TR202 (right). The white histogram represents isotype control and the gray histogram represents CD4 labeling, and the dashed line discriminates positive (right) from negative (left) labeling, with isotype control consistently including <1% background. Both antibodies labeled ~30% of bottlenose dolphin peripheral blood lymphocytes.



blood FOXP3+ dolphin lymphocytes were representative of Treg function we tested the hypothesis that dolphins with more FOXP3+ lymphocytes had higher levels of serum TGFß and IL-10, the two major Treg effector cytokines. There was no significant correlation between either dolphin serum TGFß or IL-10 concentrations and the proportion of FOXP3+ lymphocytes, or with the proportion of CD4+ lymphocytes that were FOXP3+ (**Figure 4**).

In order to assess the capacity of dolphin Th cell subsets to respond to a Th1, Th2, or Treg stimulus, we tested the relative expression of effector cytokines upon *in vitro* stimulation with human recombinant cytokines, as previously done on a limited basis in cetaceans (21, 22). A robust 9.7 fold increase in the expression of the gene for IFN γ was observed upon stimulation

with 25 pg/ml IL-12 and IFN γ compared to unstimulated cells, with a clear dose-response pattern (**Figure 5**). An increase in Th2 cytokines was not observed upon stimulation with 25 pg/ml IL-4; rather, IL-4 down-regulated the expression of IL-4 and IL-13 to 68 and 44%, respectively, of the levels in unstimulated cells (**Figure 5**). This down-regulation was clearly dose-dependent for IL-13, but not for IL-4. Treg stimulation by IL-2 and TGF β resulted in nearly no change at 1 pg/ml, a modest up-regulation of the genes for TGF β and IL-10 (1.2 and 2.0 fold increase, respectively, at 10 pg/ml, and 1.3 and 1.5 fold increase, respectively, at 25 pg/ml), compared to unstimulated cells (**Figure 5**).

To understand the balance of cytokines in wild dolphins, we measured serum concentrations of 12 cytokines including



optimal (optLPS, $5.0 \mu g/ml$ for dolphin) concentrations, compared to no mitogen stimulation (NM). TGFB concentrations were measured using the Luminex platform with porcine reagents. Data are presented as mean and error bars represent standard error of the mean.

the Th1 cytokines IL-2, IL-12, and IFN γ , the Th2 cytokines IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13, the Treg cytokines IL-10 and TGF β , and the inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-8, TNF α , and GM-CSF, in 20 wild dolphins and performed Principal Component Analysis (PCA) to see how cytokines clustered (**Figure 6**). The plot of the first two components showed the Treg cytokines IL-10 and TGF β varying in the same general direction, which was also similar to that for IL-8. Further, IL-4 and IL-1 β , and to a lesser extent IL-12, varied in a similar direction, which was different from that for the previous cluster. IL-5 and IL-13 varied in different directions, which were also different from that for IL-4. GM-CSF varied in a direction which was closest to that for IL-13, and IL-2 varied in a direction that was closest to that for TGF β . Note the absence of IFN γ and TNF α that were removed from the analysis by the software as they did not include variance in this dataset.

We further assessed the relationship between serum cytokine concentrations in wild dolphins and the results of in vitro mitogen-induced T cell proliferation using regression analysis. The only cytokines that significantly contributed to explaining the variability in T cell proliferation were IL-4 upon sub-optimal and optimal stimulation with ConA and optimal stimulation with PHA, and IL-2, IL-10, and GM-CSF upon sub-optimal stimulation with PHA (Table 3). The R^2 for models explaining the variability of T cell proliferation with IL-4 upon sub-optimal and optimal stimulation with ConA and optimal stimulation with PHA were relatively low, whereas the R^2 for the model explaining the variability T cell proliferation with IL-2, IL-10, and GM-CSF upon sub-optimal concentration of PHA was considerably higher. Further, regression analysis did not find a significant contribution of the proportion of FOXP3+ lymphocytes in explaining the variability of mitogen-induced T lymphocyte proliferation using either sub-optimal or optimal concentrations of the mitogens ConA or PHA (data not shown).

DISCUSSION

We have, for the first time to the authors' knowledge, detected the presence of Treg cells in bottlenose dolphin blood, and shown the potential for bottlenose dolphins to mount a Th1, Th2, and Treg response. This represents a significant new step in fundamental and applied dolphin immunology, which will help us better understand the importance of these responses in health and disease.

Antibodies were used to label dolphin cell subsets. Studies requiring the use of antibodies in marine mammals are challenging given the paucity of reagents available, and the lack of commercially available marine mammal specific antibodies. In addition to a small number of antibodies developed against marine mammal leukocyte subset markers (23–29), several studies reported the use of cross-reactive monoclonal antibodies to label leukocyte subsets in marine mammals (30–38). This study used blood samples from original target species or species with documented cross reactivity as positive control, to assure quality control in documenting lack of cross-reactivity with dolphin cells.

We successfully detected a subset of CD4+ lymphocytes in dolphin blood samples. The specificity of SIM.4 for labeling beluga whale CD4 has previously been demonstrated through immunoprecipitation of a 56.4 kDa protein in beluga, in the range of the 53.5 kDa protein in human (30), and the proportion of lymphocytes labeled in bottlenose dolphins (X = 32.2%, SD = 8.3%) was similar to that previously reported in belugas (X = 29.8%, SD = 6.9%). This is not surprising since bottlenose dolphins and beluga whales CD4 molecules share 98% homology at the nucleotide level and 97% at the amino acid level (39). In addition, the proportion of CD4+ cells over the sum of CD2+ T lymphocytes and CD19+ B lymphocytes in "normal" dolphins was also 30% in a field study to quantify the immune changes in bottlenose dolphins with lobomycosis (26). Further, in this study, SIM.4 labeled a relatively similar proportion of lymphocytes as TR202, an anti-CD4 developed specifically against bottlenose dolphin CD4 (26, 27).

This study did not successfully identify CD25+ dolphin lymphocytes, despite the use of unstimulated and stimulated T cells to increase the frequency of those cells. No study has reported cross-reactive antibodies to marine mammal CD25, except for one study that tested one antibody in dolphins and stated that it cross-reacted but was not selected for further use because of "low detectability" without further explanation (40). A separate study also reported the lack of cross-reactivity in dolphin of two antibodies to CD25 (38), although they did not appear to test upon stimulation as we did. An earlier study used fluorochrome-labeled IL-2 to detect the increase in surface expression of IL-2 receptor on the surface of mitogen-activated bottlenose dolphin lymphocytes (41), however this reagent unfortunately appears to be no longer available commercially.

This study successfully identified FOXP3+ dolphin lymphocytes. Treg cells are generally defined as CD4+/CD25+/FOXP3+ lymphocytes (11). While we could not find a cross-reactive antibody to CD25, we observed the presence of a clear and distinct population of CD4+/FOXP3+ Treg cells





FIGURE 5] Helative gene expression of effector 1n1, 1n2, and Ireg cytokines upon polarizing stimulus with the 1n1 inducing cytokines IL-2 and IFNy, the 1n2 inducing cytokine IL-4, and the Treg inducing cytokines IL-2 and TGFB, all tested at 1, 10, and 25 pg/ml. Data are expressed relative to unstimulated cells (value of 1). Dolphin PBMCs responded most robustly to a Th1 stimulus, and to some extent to a Treg stimulus (at some but not all concentrations), but Th2 polarization with IL-4 resulted in a down-regulation, and not an enhancement, of the expression of the genes for IL-4 and IL-13. The number of dolphins tested for each stimulation condition, once samples with inadequate expression of housekeeping genes were removed, is indicated on the figure over the bars.



FIGURE 6 | Principal Component Analysis of Th1, Th2, Treg, and inflammatory cytokines in bottlenose dolphin serum (n = 20), according to the first two components (first component on the x axis and second component on the y axis).

TABLE 3 | Forward regression analysis to assess which cytokines contribute significantly to explaining the variability of T lymphocyte proliferation (n = 20).

Mitogen	Variables	Model R ²	Model p-value
Sub ConA	IL-4	0.284	0.015
Opt ConA	IL-4	0.310	0.011
Sub PHA	IL-2, IL-10, GM-CSF	0.737	0.008
Opt PHA	IL-4	0.264	0.025

in dolphin blood samples. The antibody to FOXP3 used in this study appeared to be broadly cross-reactive, with demonstrated labeling in cows (42), sheep (43), pigs (44), and dogs (45), in addition to the numerous species cited by the manufacturer, including cats, mice and rats (eBioscience/ThermoFisher Scientific). Dolphin CD4+/FOXP3+ Treg cells generally represented <1% of lymphocytes, a proportions very similar to what was observed in cows ($\sim 0.66\%$) (42), sheep (4.6%), (43), pigs (\sim 1.6%) (44), and dogs (1–2.6%) (45). The relatively small proportion of Treg cells labeled in this study is not a concern given the sensitivity and precision of the instrument used and the consistent specificity of the labeling (Figure 2). While we have not ruled out the possibility that some of the CD4+/FOXP3+ dolphin cells identified as Treg in this study are CD25-, the literature in other species consistently reports the vast majority of CD4+/FOXP3+ cells are CD25+ (42-45). Overall, the labeling pattern limited to CD4+ cells in dolphins, the proportion of PBMCs labeled, and the specificity of FOXP3 labeling for Treg cells (42, 44), altogether suggest the specificity of FJK-16s labeling for dolphin Treg cells.

Cytokines are important mediators of the immune response, and several studies have explored the use of cytokines to relate to health status of marine mammals in different manners. Amplification of mRNA for cytokines using quantitative reversetranscription polymerase chain reaction (gRT-PCR) to quantify cytokine expression in marine mammals, with or without stimulation of PBMCs, has been used in several studies (18, 46-53). While useful to measure responsiveness to a signal, the quantification of mRNA does not necessarily represent the circulating bioactive protein, which requires important steps, in which translation and secretion need to take place. One study used brefeldin to block secretion and flow cytometry with intra-cellular labeling for cytokines using cross-reactive monoclonal antibodies (54). While powerful at associating cytokine production with specific cell types using simultaneous extra-cellular labeling, this approach is tedious and time consuming, and allows the labeling for a relatively low number of cytokines at a time, in this case only two cytokines. Similarly, immunohistochemistry has been used to detect cytokines in cetacean tissue section (53, 55, 56). While informative on the distribution of the cell types secreting cytokines in different tissues, this method is limited to the use of tissues from dead animals, or biopsies in live animals, which would be a rather invasive procedure. ELISAs have been developed to measure killer whale-specific IL-6 (57) and dolphin-specific IFNy and TNF α (58) in serum and tissue culture medium. While sensitive and reproducible under stringent laboratory conditions, ELISAs are relatively time consuming and labor-intensive. This study focused on measuring bioactive cytokines circulating in serum using the relatively high-throughput Luminex technology and highly standardized commercial reagents for highly replicable results (3, 59). With the specificity of human and porcine reagents was validated based on the detection of the analytes in dolphin serum and in vitro cell responsiveness to stimuli similar to the species of origin (59), this new approach might significantly advance the use of cytokine measurements as part of marine mammal health assessment.

While bottlenose dolphin Treg cells could be identified and quantified, we also wanted to assess their functionality by measuring their effector cytokines. Our lab previously validated the use of human reagents to detect bottlenose dolphin IL-10 using the Luminex platform and human Th1/Th2 reagent kits (3). The present study validated the use of porcine, but not human reagents, to document a <2 fold increase in expression of TGFß upon *in vitro* stimulation with LPS, as seen using porcine PBMCs (**Figure 3**) and goat macrophages (15). This validation allowed the quantification of TGFß in the serum of free-ranging bottlenose dolphins, as a reference for future comparisons.

The evaluation of Treg should include their identification as well as their functions. Our inability to label CD25 on dolphin cells prevented us from sorting live CD4+ CD25^{hi} CD127^{low} Tregs for functional assays, as described by others (60). Intracellular labeling for FOXP3 required cell fixation and permeabilization, and cells could no longer be used in functional assays. However, we could induce the expression of the gene for TGFß and IL-10 upon stimulation with TGFß and IL-2, as expected for functional Tregs (11), demonstrating the functionality of Treg in bottlenose dolphins. Importantly, the clustering of serum IL-10 and TGFB using PCA in our subset of dolphins suggested the potential for actual in vivo Treg polarization and differentiation. The proportion of circulating Treg lymphocytes was not correlated with serum concentrations of the Treg effector cytokines TGFß and IL-10, or with mitogen-induced T lymphocyte proliferation, suggesting that not all circulating Treg cells are functional and active. This is not surprising given the demonstration that the proliferation (expansion of the pool) of Treg and their functional suppressive capacity are driven by different pathways (61). Further, while the effector T cell subsets Th1, Th2, and Th17 mostly draw their energy through glycolysis, Treg use fatty acid oxidative pathways for energy (62), and it is possible that qualitative or quantitative differences in serum lipids may affect the functioning of Treg cells in dolphins. With the diversity of emerging receptors and pathways involved in the modulation of Treg cells (63), it is also possible that the proliferation or functions of dolphin Treg may be affected by environmental contaminants such as dioxinlike PCBs via the Ah receptor. It is also understood that the regulatory functions of Treg cells are not solely modulated by their effector cytokines, and in part require cell-cell interactions (6, 64). The proportion of circulating FOXP3+ lymphocytes did not contribute to significantly explaining in vitro mitogeninduced T cell proliferation in our study, which may relate to the relatively small number of dolphins used and/or the use of mitogens that stimulate T cell proliferation in a manner that likely exceeds physiological stimuli. It would be valuable to find reagents to sort bottlenose dolphin live Treg cells for use in functional test for suppressive activity as described in humans (60). Additional studies are required to further characterize the functionality of Treg cells in bottlenose dolphins.

There is mounting evidence for the importance of the Th1/Th2 balance and functionality to appropriately respond to immunological challenges. While Th1 and Th2 cells have not been specifically identified or quantified in this study, we demonstrated a robust expression of the gene for IFN γ upon

stimulation with IL-12 and IFNy, as expected for Th1 cells (11), suggesting the potential for Th1 polarization and differentiation in bottlenose dolphin Th cells. Stimulation with IL-4, however, unexpectedly did not induce the expression of the genes for the Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-13. This may be due to the requirement for IL-2 for a Th2 polarization as described in mice (65). It is interesting that the Th2 cytokines IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 did not cluster closely using PCA, suggesting a potential disconnect between the different effector cytokines in the wild bottlenose dolphins sampled. However, IL-4, and to a lesser extent IL-12, clustered closely with the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1ß, suggesting the potential ability of both the Th1 and Th2 response to be triggered upon acute inflammatory signals, and the possibility that a Th2 response might be favored. Regression analysis including IL-4 as a significant contributor to explaining the variability in mitogen-induced T lymphocyte proliferation under three out of four scenarios may support a preference for a Th2 over Th1 response in bottlenose dolphin. Continued studies to better understand the relationships between Th1 and Th2 cytokines and immune responsiveness will be critical to better understand the functionality of the immune system in dolphins.

This study focused on live captures of wild dolphins, and the authors acknowledge that the chase and capture, with associated stress response, could have influenced some aspects of the immune functions measured. However, the focus on live captures of wild dolphins will allow direct comparisons with health assessments in other populations of wild dolphins, subjected to challenges such as exposure to environmental contaminants or disease outbreaks, that are also captured using similar methods.

Overall, this study for the first time demonstrated the ability to quantify FOXP3+ Treg cells in bottlenose dolphins, and the potential for polarization and functional differentiation of Th cells toward a Th1 or Treg response. While we have not directly demonstrated the polarization and functional differentiation of Th cells toward a Th2 response, we provided evidence for such potential, and the potential for a preferential Th2 over Th1 response in bottlenose dolphin in a relatively small subset of individuals from a well-studied reference population of bottlenose dolphins. These results may be useful in better understanding the mechanisms by which the dolphin immune system is affected upon exposure to environmental challenges and how it responds to challenges with pathogens.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Dolphin samples were collected under National Marine Fisheries Service Scientific Research Permit No. 20455, issued to RW. This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) at Mote Marine Laboratory and at the University of Connecticut. The protocol was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) at Mote Marine Laboratory and at the University of Connecticut. Human, bovine, ovine, and porcine blood purchased from commercial sources was deemed exempt from IACUC oversight by the University of Connecticut IACUC.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SD and ML are responsible for the study design. SD and RW participated in the dolphin captures and sampling, which was overseen by RW. ML and LJ performed the laboratory work, with advice from GR for experiments on gene expression. SD, ML, LJ, GR, and RW participated in the drafting and editing of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This research was made possible by a grant from the Gulf of Mexico Research Initiative (GoMRI) to the Consortium for Advanced Research on Marine Mammal Health Assessment (CARMMHA) under award # SA 18–12 from Ocean Leadership, under a Subaward with the National Marine Mammal Foundation (NMMF). Data are publicly available through

REFERENCES

- Levin M. Marine mammal immunology. In: Dierauf L, Gulland FMD, Whitman K, editors. CRC Handbook of Marine Mammal Medicine: Health, Disease, and Rehabilitation. 3rd ed. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press (2018), 209–229.
- Schwacke LH, Zolman ES, Balmer BC, De Guise S, George RC, Hoguet J, et al. Anaemia, hypothyroidism and immune suppression associated with polychlorinated biphenyl exposure in bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*). Proc Biol Sci. (2012) 279:48–57. doi: 10.1098/rspb. 2011.0665
- De Guise S, Levin M, Gebhard E, Jasperse L, Burdett Hart L, Smith CR, et al. Changes in immune functions in bottlenose dolphins in the northern Gulf of Mexico associated with the Deepwater Horizon oil spill. *Endang Species Res.* (2017) 33:291–303. doi: 10.3354/esr00814
- Schwacke LH, Twiner MJ, De Guise S, Balmer BC, Wells RS, Townsend FI, et al. Eosinophilia and biotoxin exposure in bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) from a coastal area impacted by repeated mortality events. *Environ Res.* (2010) 110:548–55. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2010.05.003
- 5. Kuby J. Immunology. 3rd ed. New York, NY: W.H. Freeman and Company. (1997).
- Yagi H, Nomura T, Nakamura K, Yamazaki S, Kitawaki T, Hori S, et al. Crucial role of FOXP3 in the development and function of human CD25+CD4+ regulatory T cells. *Int Immunol.* (2004) 16:1643–56. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxh165
- Aghili B, Amirzargar AA, Rajab A, Rabbani A, Sotoudeh A, Assadiasl S, et al. Altered suppressor function of regulatory T cells in type 1 diabetes. *Iran J Immunol.* (2015) 12:240–51.
- Beres AJ, Drobyski WR. The role of regulatory T cells in the biology of graft versus host disease. *Front Immunol.* (2013) 4:163. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00163
- Ohl K, Tenbrock K. Regulatory T cells in systemic lupus erythematosus. Eur J Immunol. (2015) 45:344–55. doi: 10.1002/eji.201344280
- Alzabin S, Williams RO. Effector T cells in rheumatoid arthritis: lessons from animal models. *FEBS Lett.* (2011) 585:3649–59. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2011.04.034
- Povoleri GA, Scotta C, Nova-Lamperti EA, John S, Lombardi G, Afzali B. Thymic versus induced regulatory T cells - who regulates the regulators? *Front Immunol.* (2013) 4:169. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00169
- Yamane H, Paul WE. Cytokines of the gamma(c) family control CD4+ T cell differentiation and function. *Nat Immunol.* (2012) 13:1037–44. doi: 10.1038/ni.2431

the Gulf of Mexico Research Initiative Information & Data Cooperative (GRIIDC) at https://data.gulfresearchinitiative. org (doi: 10.7266/n7-2wtd-hz89). The statements, findings, conclusions, and recommendations are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of Ocean Leadership or NMMF.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The following reagent was obtained through the NIH AIDS Reagent Program, Division of AIDS, NIAID, NIH: Anti-Human CD4 Monoclonal (Sim.4) from Dr. James Hildreth. The monoclonal antibody to cetacean CD4 was graciously provided by Dr. Tracy Romano, Mystic Aquarium. Dolphin samples were collected under National Marine Fisheries Service Scientific Research Permit No. 20455, issued to RW. This work would not have been possible without the help of countless volunteers who participated in the capture and sampling of dolphins.

- Schwacke LH, Smith CR, Townsend FI, Wells RS, Hart LB, Balmer BC, et al. Health of common bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) in Barataria Bay, Louisiana, following the Deepwater Horizon oil spill. *Environ Sci Technol.* (2014) 48:93–103. doi: 10.1021/es403610f
- Wells RS, Rhinehart HL, Hansen LJ, Sweeney JC, Townsend FI, Stone R, et al. Bottlenose dolphins as marine ecosystem sentinels: developing a health monitoring system. *EcoHealth*. (2004) 1:246–54. doi: 10.1007/s10393-004-0094-6
- Walia V, Kumar R, Mitra A. Lipopolysaccharide and concanavalin A differentially induce the expression of immune response genes in caprine monocyte derived macrophages. *Anim Biotechnol.* (2015) 26:298–303. doi: 10.1080/10495398.2015.1013112
- Eggesbo JB, Hjermann I, Lund PK, Joo GB, Ovstebo R, Kierulf P. LPS-induced release of IL-1 beta, IL-6, IL-8, TNF-alpha and sCD14 in whole blood and PBMC from persons with high or low levels of HDL-lipoprotein. *Cytokine*. (1994) 6:521–9. doi: 10.1016/1043-4666(94)90080-9
- Levin M, Jasperse L, Gebhard E, Rousselet E, Walsh C. Lack of cross-reactivity of human and porcine reagents to quantify manatee (*Trichechus manatus*) cytokines. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2018) 203:57–9. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2018.07.012
- Sitt T, Bowen L, Blanchard MT, Smith BR, Gershwin LJ, Byrne BA, et al. Quantitation of leukocyte gene expression in cetaceans. *Dev Comp Immunol.* (2008) 32:1253–9. doi: 10.1016/j.dci.2008.05.001
- Chen IH, Chou LS, Chou SJ, Wang JH, Stott J, Blanchard M, et al. Selection of suitable reference genes for normalization of quantitative RT-PCR in peripheral blood samples of bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*). Sci Rep. (2015) 5:15425. doi: 10.1038/srep15425
- Mori C, Morsey B, Levin M, Nambiar PR, De Guise S. Immunomodulatory effects of *in vitro* exposure to organochlorines on T-cell proliferation in marine mammals and mice. *J Toxicol Environ Health*. (2006) 69:283–302. doi: 10.1080/15287390500227472
- De Guise S, Ross PS, Osterhaus AD, Martineau D, Beland P, Fournier M. Immune functions in beluga whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*): evaluation of natural killer cell activity. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (1997) 58:345–54. doi: 10.1016/S0165-2427(97)00035-4
- 22. De Guise S, Bernier J, Dufresne M, Martineau D, Beland P, Fournier M. Immune functions in beluga whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*): evaluation of mitogen-induced blastic transformation of lymphocytes from peripheral blood, spleen and thymus. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (1996) 50:117–26. doi: 10.1016/0165-2427(95)05490-1
- 23. De Guise S, Erickson K, Blanchard M, Dimolfetto L, Lepper H, Wang J, et al. Characterization of a monoclonal antibody that recognizes a lymphocyte

surface antigen for the cetacean homologue to CD45R. *Immunology*. (1998) 94:207–12. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2567.1998.00483.x

- De Guise S, Erickson K, Blanchard M, DiMolfetto L, Lepper HD, Wang J, et al. Monoclonal antibodies to lymphocyte surface antigens for cetacean homologues to CD2, CD19 and CD21. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2002) 84:209–21. doi: 10.1016/S0165-2427(01)00409-3
- De Guise S, Erickson K, Blanchard M, DiMolfetto L, Lepper HD, Stott JL, et al. Characterization of F21.A, a monoclonal antibody that recognize a leucocyte surface antigens for killer whale homologue to β-2 integrin. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2004) 97:195–206. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2003.09.006
- Reif JS, Peden-Adams MM, Romano TA, Rice CD, Fair PA, Bossart GD. Immune dysfunction in Atlantic bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) with lobomycosis. *Med Mycol.* (2009) 47:125–35. doi: 10.1080/13693780802178493
- Romano TA, Ridgway SH, Felten DL, Quaranta V. Molecular cloning and characterization of CD4 in an aquatic mammal, the white whale *Delphinapterus leucas*. *Immunogenetics*. (1999) 49:376–83. doi: 10.1007/s002510050510
- Shirai K, Watanabe H, Weerasinghe A, Sakai T, Sekikawa H, Abo T. A monoclonal antibody, DL10, which recognizes a sugar moiety of MHC class I antigens expressed on NK cells, NK+ T cells, and granulocytes in humans. J Clin Immunol. (1997) 17:510–23. doi: 10.1023/A:1027379929042
- Shirai K, Sakai T, Fukuda M, Oike T. A monoclonal antibody against dolphin lymphocytes (6E9) which recognizes bovine MHC class II antigens. *J Vet Med Sci.* (1998) 60:291–3. doi: 10.1292/jvms.60.291
- De Guise S, Bernier J, Martineau D, Beland P, Fournier M. Phenotyping of beluga whale blood lymphocytes using monoclonal antibodies. *Dev Comp Immunol.* (1997) 21:425–33. doi: 10.1016/S0145-305X(97)00021-9
- Romano TA, Ridgway SH, Quaranta V. MHC class II molecules and immunoglobulins on peripheral blood lymphocytes of the bottlenosed dolphin, *Tursiops truncatus. J Exp Zool.* (1992) 263:96–104. doi: 10.1002/jez.1402630110
- Jaber JR, Fernandez A, Herraez P, Espinosa de los Monteros A, Ramirez GA, Garcia PM, et al. Cross-reactivity of human and bovine antibodies in striped dolphin paraffin wax-embedded tissues. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2003) 96:65–72. doi: 10.1016/S0165-2427(03)00158-2
- 33. Jaber JR, Perez J, Arbelo M, Herraez P, Espinosa de los Monteros A, Rodnguez F, et al. Immunophenotypic characterization of hepatic inflammatory cell infiltrates in common dolphins (*Delphinus delphis*). J Comp Pathol. (2003) 129:226–30. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9975(03)00008-2
- Beineke A, Siebert U, Wunschmann A, Stott JL, Prengel I, Kremmer E, et al. Immunohistochemical investigation of the cross-reactivity of selected cell markers from various species for characterization of lymphatic tissues in the harbour porpoise (*Phocoena phocoena*). J Comp Pathol. (2001) 125:311–7. doi: 10.1053/jcpa.2001.0509
- Zabka TS, Romano TA. Distribution of MHC II (+) cells in skin of the Atlantic bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*): an initial investigation of dolphin dendritic cells. *Anat Rec A Discov Mol Cell Evol Biol.* (2003) 273:636–47. doi: 10.1002/ar.a.10077
- Kawashima M, Nakanishi M, Kuwamura M, Takeya M, Yamate J. Distributive and phagocytic characteristics of hepatic macrophages in five cetaceans belonging to Delphinidae and Ziphiidae. J Vet Med Sci. (2004) 66:671–80. doi: 10.1292/jvms.66.671
- 37. Schwartz J, Aldridge B, Blanchard M, Mohr FC, Stott J. The development of methods for immunophenotypic and lymphocyte function analyzes for assessment of Southern sea otter (*Enhydra lutris nereis*) health. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2005) 104:1–14. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2004.06.005
- Elnaggar MM, Abdellrazeq GS, Venn-Watson SK, Jensen ED, Hulubei V, Fry LM, et al. Identification of monoclonal antibodies cross-reactive with bottlenose dolphin orthologues of the major histocompatibility complex and leukocyte differentiation molecules. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2017) 192:54–9. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2017.09.007
- Melnyk PC, Romano T, editors. Molecular cloning and sequencing of the gene encoding for the cell-surface glycoprotein CD4 from the bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*). In: *International Association for Aquatic Animal Medicine*. Tampa, FL (2001).
- 40. Nouri-Shirazi M, Bible BF, Zeng M, Tamjidi S, Bossart GD. Phenotyping and comparing the immune cell populations of free-ranging Atlantic bottlenose

dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) and dolphins under human care. *BMC Vet Res.* (2017) 13:78. doi: 10.1186/s12917-017-0998-3

- Erickson KL, DiMolfetto-Landon L, Wells RS, Reidarson T, Stott JL, Ferrick DA. Development of an interleukin-2 receptor expression assay and its use in evaluation of cellular immune responses in bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*). J Wildl Dis. (1995) 31:142–9. doi: 10.7589/0090-3558-31. 2.142
- Gerner W, Stadler M, Hammer SE, Klein D, Saalmuller A. Sensitive detection of Foxp3 expression in bovine lymphocytes by flow cytometry. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2010) 138:154–8. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2010. 07.009
- Rocchi MS, Wattegedera SR, Frew D, Entrican G, Huntley JF, McNeilly TN. Identification of CD4+CD25 high Foxp3+ T cells in ovine peripheral blood. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2011) 144:172–7. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2011.07.010
- Kaser T, Gerner W, Hammer SE, Patzl M, Saalmuller A. Detection of Foxp3 protein expression in porcine T lymphocytes. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2008) 125:92–101. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2008.05.007
- 45. Mizuno T, Suzuki R, Umeki S, Okuda M. Crossreactivity of antibodies to canine CD25 and Foxp3 and identification of canine CD4+CD25 +Foxp3+ cells in canine peripheral blood. *J Vet Med Sci.* (2009) 71:1561–8. doi: 10.1292/jvms.001561
- 46. Beineke A, Siebert U, van Elk N, Baumgartner W. Development of a lymphocyte-transformation-assay for peripheral blood lymphocytes of the harbor porpoise and detection of cytokines using the reverse-transcription polymerase chain reaction. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2004) 98:59–68. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2003.10.002
- Hofstetter AR, Eberle KC, Venn-Watson SK, Jensen ED, Porter TJ, Waters TE, et al. Monitoring bottlenose dolphin leukocyte cytokine mRNA responsiveness by qPCR. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0189437. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0189437
- Sitt T, Bowen L, Lee CS, Blanchard MT, McBain J, Dold C, et al. Longitudinal evaluation of leukocyte transcripts in killer whales (*Orcinus orca*). Vet Immunol Immunopathol. (2016) 175:7–15. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2016.04.011
- Chen IH, Chou LS, Chou SJ, Wang JH, Stott J, Blanchard M, et al. Sound exposure-induced cytokine gene transcript profile changes in captive bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*) blood identified by a probebased qRT-PCR. J Vet Med Sci. (2018) 80:601–5. doi: 10.1292/jvms. 17-0548
- Li WT, Wang LY, Chang HW, Yang WC, Lo C, Pang VF, et al. Th2 cytokine bias induced by silver nanoparticles in peripheral blood mononuclear cells of common bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*). *PeerJ.* (2018) 6:e5432. doi: 10.7717/peerj.5432
- Fonfara S, Siebert U, Prange A. Cytokine and acute phase proteins as markers for infection in harbour porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*). Mar Mammal Sci. (2007) 23:931–42. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-7692.2007.00140.x
- Beineke A, Siebert U, Muller G, Baumgartner W. Increased blood interleukin-10 mRNA levels in diseased free-ranging harbor porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*). Vet Immunol Immunopathol. (2007) 115:100–6. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2006.09.006
- Eberle KC, Waters TE, Jensen ED, Venn-Watson SK, Sacco RE. Development and application of specific cytokine assays in tissue samples from a bottlenose dolphin with hyperinsulinemia. *Front Endocrinol.* (2013) 4:134. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2013.00134
- Soloff AC, Wolf BJ, White ND, Muir D, Courtney S, Hardiman G, et al. Environmental perfluorooctane sulfonate exposure drives T cell activation in bottlenose dolphins. *J Appl Toxicol*. (2017) 37:1108–16. doi: 10.1002/jat.3465
- 55. Jaber JR, Perez J, Zafra R, Herraez P, Rodriguez F, Arbelo M, et al. Cross-reactivity of anti-human, anti-porcine and anti-bovine cytokine antibodies with cetacean tissues. *J Comp Pathol.* (2010) 143:45–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jcpa.2010.01.001
- Diaz-Delgado J, Ressio R, Groch KR, Catao-Dias JL. Immunohistochemical investigation of the cross-reactivity of selected cell markers in formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded lymphoid tissues of Franciscana (*Pontoporia blainvillei*). Vet Immunol Immunopathol. (2018) 200:52–8. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2018.04.009
- 57. Funke C, King DP, McBain JF, Adelung D, Stott JL. Expression and functional characterization of killer whale (*Orcinus orca*) interleukin-6 (IL-6) and

development of a competitive immunoassay. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2003) 93:69–79. doi: 10.1016/S0165-2427(03)00055-2

- Eberle KC, Venn-Watson SK, Jensen ED, LaBresh J, Sullivan Y, Kakach L, et al. Development and testing of species-specific ELISA assays to measure IFN-gamma and TNF-alpha in bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*). *PLoS ONE*. (2018) 13:e0190786. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0190786
- Levin M, Romano T, Matassa K, De Guise S. Validation of a commercial canine assay kit to measure pinniped cytokines. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2014) 160:90–6. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2014.04.001
- Canavan JB, Afzali B, Scotta C, Fazekasova H, Edozie FC, Macdonald TT, et al. A rapid diagnostic test for human regulatory T-cell function to enable regulatory T-cell therapy. *Blood.* (2012) 119:e57–66. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-09-380048
- Gerriets VA, Kishton RJ, Johnson MO, Cohen S, Siska PJ, Nichols AG, et al. Foxp3 and Toll-like receptor signaling balance Treg cell anabolic metabolism for suppression. *Nat Immunol.* (2016) 17:1459–66. doi: 10.1038/ni.3577
- Michalek RD, Gerriets VA, Jacobs SR, Macintyre AN, MacIver NJ, Mason EF, et al. Cutting edge: distinct glycolytic and lipid oxidative metabolic programs are essential for effector and regulatory CD4+ T cell subsets. *J Immunol.* (2011) 186:3299–303. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1003613
- Chen Y, Colello J, Jarjour W, Zheng SG. Cellular metabolic regulation in the differentiation and function of regulatory T cells. *Cells.* (2019) 8:188. doi: 10.3390/cells8020188

- 64. Hori S, Nomura T, Sakaguchi S. Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3. *Science*. (2003) 299:1057–61. doi: 10.1126/science.1079490
- Cote-Sierra J, Foucras G, Guo L, Chiodetti L, Young HA, Hu-Li J, et al. Interleukin 2 plays a central role in Th2 differentiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (2004) 101:3880–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0400339101

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer TR declared a shared affiliation, with no collaboration, with two of the authors, SD and ML, to the handling editor at the time of review. The reviewer TR provided the authors with a monoclonal antibody but was not otherwise involved in this work, nor in any on-going projects with the authors.

Copyright © 2019 De Guise, Levin, Jasperse, Risatti and Wells. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

